
 

 
Cambridge City Council 

 
 

 
 

 
i 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
To:   Councillors Brown (Chair), Rosenstiel (Vice-Chair), Birtles, Boyce, Ashton, 

Benstead, Herbert and Tucker 
Alternates: Pogonowski and Blackhurst 
 
Leader: Councillor Bick 
Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources:  
Councillor Smith  
 

Despatched: Wednesday, 27 June 2012 
  
Date: Monday, 9 July 2012 
Time: 5.00 pm 
Venue: Committee Room 1 & 2 - Guildhall 
Contact:  Glenn Burgess Direct Dial:  01223 457169 
 

AGENDA 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare at this stage any interests that they may 
have in an item shown on this agenda. If any member of the Committee is 
unsure whether or not they should declare an interest on a particular 
matter, they should seek advice from the Head of Legal Services before the 
meeting.  
   

3    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 1 - 16) 
 

 To approve minutes of the meetings held on 19 March 2012 and the  
24 May 2012.  
 

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

5    RECORD OF URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL AND THE EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR FOR CUSTOMER 
SERVICES AND RESOURCES   
 

 To note decisions taken by the Leader of the Council and the Executive 
Councillor for Customer Services and Resources since the last meeting of 
the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee.   
 

5a   Intelligent Energy Europe Bid re. Cambridge City District Heating Scheme  
(Pages 17 - 22) 
 

 
Items for Decision by the Executive Councillor, Without Debate 
These Items will already have received approval in principle from the Executive 
Councillor. The Executive Councillor will be asked to approve the recommendations 
as set out in the officer’s report. There will be no debate on these items, but 
members of the Scrutiny Committee and members of the public may ask questions 
or comment on the items if they comply with the Council’s rules on Public Speaking 
set out below. 
 
Items for Debate by the Committee and then Decision by the Executive 
Councillor 
These items will require the Executive Councillor to make a decision after hearing 
the views of the Scrutiny Committee. 
There will be a full debate on these items, and members of the public may ask 
questions or comment on the items if they comply with the Council’s rules on Public 
Speaking set out below 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
iii 

Decisions of the Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources 
 
Items for debate by the committee and then decision by the Executive 
Councillor for Customer Services and Resources 
 
6   2011/12 REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN, CARRY FORWARDS 

AND SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES - CUSTOMER SERVICES AND 
RESOURCES PORTFOLIO  (Pages 23 - 34) 
 

7   LOCALISATION OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX (Pages 35 - 48) 
 

8   CLAY FARM LAND DISPOSAL PROJECT - DELIVERY OF 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING BY THE CITY COUNCIL (Pages 49 - 58) 
 

9   THE PUBLIC SERVICES (SOCIAL VALUE) ACT 2012 AND RESPONSE 
TO COUNCIL MOTION ABOUT THE COUNCIL'S USE OF 
CONTRACTORS (Pages 59 - 72) 
 

10   RISK BASED VERIFICATION (Pages 73 - 88) 
 

11   CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL REVENUES & BENEFITS ESERVICES 
PROCUREMENT (Pages 89 - 100) 
 

12   ICT FACILITIES MANAGEMENT CONTRACT RE-TENDER  
(Pages 101 - 106) 
 

13   URBAN BROADBAND FUND - PHASE 2 GRANT APPLICATION  
(Pages 107 - 118) 
 

14   ANNUAL UPDATE FROM THE LOVE CAMBRIDGE PARTNERSHIP  
(Pages 119 - 124) 
 



 
iv 

15   UPDATE ON THE CBBID, BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PROJECT (BID) (Pages 125 - 150) 
 

16   LARGE HALL – LEADED WINDOW REFURBISHMENT – PHASE 1  
(Pages 151 - 158) 
 

 
 
Decisions of the Leader 
 
Items for debate by the committee and then decision by the Leader of the 
Council  
 
17   ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2011/12   

(Pages 159 - 174) 
 

18   2011/12 REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN, CARRY FORWARDS 
AND SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES - STRATEGY  (Pages 175 - 180) 
 

19   2011/12 REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN, CARRY FORWARDS 
AND SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES - OVERVIEW  (Pages 181 - 222) 
 

20   LOCAL GOVERNMENT RESOURCE REVIEW - BUSINESS RATES 
RETENTION POOLING OPTIONS (Pages 223 - 236) 
 

21   NORTH WEST CAMBRIDGE DEVELOPMENT - MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY FOR OPEN SPACES, SPORTS AND COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES  (Pages 237 - 252) 
 

22   RESTORATIVE JUSTICE PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 253 - 264) 
 

23   APPOINTMENT TO THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME 
PANEL (Pages 265 - 284) 
 



 
v 

24   CODE OF BEST PRACTICE ON CONSULTATION AND COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT (Pages 285 - 304) 
 

25   AREA WORKING - REVIEW OF PARTICIPATION PILOT  
(Pages 305 - 316) 
 

26   COMMUNITY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT  
(Pages 317 - 326) 
 

27   COMMUNITY RIGHT TO BID UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT  
(Pages 327 - 338) 
 

 
 
 

 
Information for the Public 

 
QR Codes 

(for use with Smart 
Phones) 

Location 
 
 
 

 

The meeting is in the Guildhall on the 
Market Square (CB2 3QJ).  
 
Between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. the building is 
accessible via Peas Hill, Guildhall Street 
and the Market Square entrances. 
 
After 5 p.m. access is via the Peas Hill 
entrance. 
 
All the meeting rooms (Committee Room 
1, Committee 2 and the Council Chamber) 
are on the first floor, and are accessible 
via lifts or stairs.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 
vi 

Public 
Participation 

Some meetings may have parts that will 
be closed to the public, but the reasons for 
excluding the press and public will be 
given.  
 
Most meetings have an opportunity for 
members of the public to ask questions or 
make statements. 
 
To ask a question or make a statement 
please notify the Committee Manager 
(details listed on the front of the agenda) 
prior to the deadline.  
 
• For questions and/or statements 

regarding items on the published 
agenda, the deadline is the start of 
the meeting. 

 
• For questions and/or statements 

regarding items NOT on the 
published agenda, the deadline is 10 
a.m. the day before the meeting.  

 
Speaking on Planning Applications or 
Licensing Hearings is subject to other 
rules. Guidance for speaking on these 
issues can be obtained from Democratic 
Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk or 
on-line: 
 
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/docs/
Having%20your%20say%20at%20meetin
gs.pdf 
 
The Chair will adopt the principles of the 
public speaking scheme regarding 
planning applications for general items, 
enforcement items and tree items. 
 
Cambridge City Council would value your 
assistance in improving the public 
speaking process of committee meetings. 
 

 



 
vii 

 
You are invited to complete a feedback 
form available in the committee room or 
on-line using the following hyperlink: 
 
http://www.surveymonkey.com/s/Y9Y6MV
8 
 

Filming, 
recording 

and 
photography 

The Council is committed to being open 
and transparent in the way it conducts its 
decision making. Recording is permitted at 
council meetings which are open to the 
public. The Council understands that some 
members of the public attending its 
meetings may not wish to be recorded. 
The Chair of the meeting will facilitate by 
ensuring that any such request not to be 
recorded is respected by those doing the 
recording.  
 

 

Fire Alarm In the event of the fire alarm sounding 
please follow the instructions of 
Cambridge City Council staff.  
 

 

Facilities for 
disabled 
people 

Access for people with mobility difficulties 
is via the Peas Hill entrance. 
 
A loop system is available in Committee 
Room 1, Committee Room 2 and the 
Council Chamber.  
 
Adapted toilets are available on the 
ground and first floor. 
 
Meeting papers are available in large print 
and other formats on request. 
 
For further assistance please contact 
Democratic Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

 



 
viii 

Queries on 
reports 

If you have a question or query regarding 
a committee report please contact the 
officer listed at the end of relevant report 
or Democratic Services on 01223 457013 
or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
General 

Information 
Information regarding committees, 
councilors and the democratic process is 
available at 
www.cambridge.gov.uk/democracy.  
 
 

  
 



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
Monday, 19 March 2012 

 

 
 
 

1 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 19 March 2012 
 5.00  - 6.05 pm 
 
Present:   
 
Scrutiny Committee Members: Councillors Boyce (Chair), Rosenstiel (Vice-
Chair), Al Bander, Ashton, Benstead, Brown, Herbert and Nimmo-Smith 
 
Executive Councillors: 
Deputy Leader and Executive Councillor for Housing: Councillor Smart 
Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources:  
Councillor McGovern 
 
Officers Present: 
Chief Executive: Antoinette Jackson 
Director of Resources: David Horspool 
Director of Customer and Community Services: Liz Bisset 
Head of Customer Services: Jonathan James 
ICT Client Manager: Tony Allen  
Strategy Officer: Chris Williams 
Strategy and Partnerships Manager: David Kidston  
Committee Manager: Glenn Burgess  
 
FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 
 

12/23/SR Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Reid and Pogonowski.    
 
Councillor Smart attended as Deputy Leader.   
 

12/24/SR Declarations of interest 
 
Councillor Item Interest 
 
Brown 
 

 
12/28/SR 

 
Personal: Executive Member of the LGBT 
Liberal Democrat Group 
 

  

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

2 

12/25/SR Public Questions 
 
None   
 

12/26/SR Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meetings held on 16 January 2012 and 3 February 2012 
were approved and signed as a correct record.  
 

12/27/SR Installation of solar thermal technology on City Council 
properties 
 
Matter for Decision: The supply and installation of solar thermal panels on 
selected Council properties to secure a guaranteed income through energy bill 
savings and heat tariff as part of the Government’s national Renewable Heat 
Incentive (RHI). 
 
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Deputy Leader resolved to: 
  
Financial recommendations:  
 

i. Approve commencement of the Solar Thermal Project, included in the 
Council’s Capital Plan - C2966, Installation of solar thermal panels 
and/or energy efficiency measures on non-housing Council properties 
(General Fund).  

 
The total capital cost of the project is £140,000. The revenue savings from the 
project are estimated at £15,000 per annum (savings proposal S2967) and 
these have been included in the revenue budget from 2013/14 onwards.  
 
Procurement recommendations:  
 

ii. Approve the procurement and installation of solar thermal panels and 
other necessary equipment under the Planned Maintenance Framework.  

 
 
 
 

Page 2



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

3 

Subject to:  
 
The permission of the Executive Councillor and Director of Resources being 
sought prior to proceeding if the quotation or tender sum exceeds the 
estimated contract value by more than 15%. 
 
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
N/A 
 

12/28/SR Single Equality Scheme 2012 - 2015 
 
Matter for Decision: The City Council has consulted on a new Single Equality 
Scheme that sets out how the organisation would challenge discrimination and 
promote equal opportunity in all aspects of its work over the next three years. 
The Executive Council is asked to approve the new scheme.  
 
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Deputy Leader resolved to: 
  

i. Approve the new Single Equality Scheme 2012 – 2015.  
 
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
The committee received a report from the Strategy Officer.  
 
The committee made the following comments on the report: 
 

i. Congratulated officers on the work around sexual orientation and 
transgender/gender reassignment.   

 

Page 3



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

4 

In response to member’s questions the Strategy Officer, the Director of 
Resources and the Chief Executive confirmed the following:  
 

i. The percentage of the City Council’s workforce from Black and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) communities currently stood at just over 7% (after a 
recent rise to 7.5%). The percentage of the workforce that had a 
disability currently stood at 4.1%. Work would continue through the 
Single Equalities Scheme Action Plan to meet the proposed targets of 
8.5% and 4.5% respectively. 

ii. Work continued with the Papworth Trust to identify potential job 
opportunities for disabled people and encourage the Trust’s disabled 
clients to apply for suitable positions at the City Council. 

iii. The Council’s policy is to prioritise staff in the redevelopment pool for 
vacancies. This would impact on the number of new employees who 
come into the organisation and how quickly representation from target 
groups changes.  

iv. As a result of the revised Accommodation Strategy council buildings 
would be more accessible for disabled people.  

v. The City Council would undertake a recruitment survey with BAME 
community groups in Cambridge, and was considering the most effective 
options for doing this.  

vi. Regular workforce monitoring was undertaken to monitor the proportion 
of minority employees at the different pay bands, including the proportion 
of candidates from minority communities progressing through the various 
stages of the recruitment process.  

vii. Officers recognised that the Chinese community was underrepresented 
and the recruitment survey would aim to specifically capture this data. 

viii. The City Council organises open evenings for prospective Councillors 
and has a dedicated ‘Would you like to be a Councillor?’ page on its 
website. Political groups also played an important role in encouraging 
more BAME and disabled people to stand as Councillors.  

 
The Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the recommendations by 5 
votes to 0. 
  
The Deputy Leader approved the recommendations. 
  
 
 
  
 

Page 4



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

5 

12/29/SR Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Enterprise 
Partnership: Incorporation as a Company limited by guarantee 
 
Matter for Decision: To consider the City Council becoming a corporate 
member of the Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) as part of its incorporation as a company limited by 
guarantee.  
  
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Deputy Leader resolved to: 
  

i. Agree the principle of the City Council becoming a corporate member of 
the LEP and to ask the Chief Executive to finalise the arrangements with 
the LEP Board.  

  
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
  
The committee received a report from the Chief Executive.  
 
The committee made the following comments on the report: 
 

i. Raised concern that, due to its geographical boundaries, the LEP could 
not be classed as a ‘local’ body.  

 
In response to member’s questions the Chief Executive confirmed the 
following:  
 

i. The Leader of Cambridge City Council had been elected as a Board 
member of the LEP by the other local authority members. This was a 
personal appointment and the City Council did not have a place on the 
Board as a right.   

ii. An Investment Sub-Group (consisting of 3 local authority members and 2 
private sector members) made recommendations to the LEP on how to 
spend public money.  

 
 
 

Page 5



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

6 

iii. Whilst the Leader of Cambridge City Council continued to push for 
greater openness and transparency, the LEP did not currently hold its 
meetings in public. Meeting papers were however published on their 
website. 

iv. The City Council currently contributed £8000 per annum to the LEP but 
this would be reviewed through the annual budget process. 

v. The Board had a private sector majority in line with Government’s policy 
aims for LEP’s.  

 
The Chief Executive agreed to email committee members with details of the 
term of office for Board members of LEP.  
 
The Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the recommendations by 5 
votes to 0. 
  
The Deputy Leader approved the recommendations. 
  

12/30/SR Desktop Upgrades 
 
Matter for Decision: Purchase and deployment of an upgraded ICT desktop 
environment for all staff, including replacement of up to 500 PC’s. 
  
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources resolved to: 
Financial recommendations:  
 

i. Approve the commencement of this scheme, which is already included in 
the Council’s Capital & Revenue Project Plan (SC541 Corporate PC 
Replacement Programme and PR020 ICT Infrastructure Programme).  

 
The total cost of the project is £700,000, funded from IT Infrastructure 
Replacement R&R fund, IT Software Replacement R&R fund and 
Departmental PC replacement R&R. There are no ongoing revenue 
implications arising from the project.  
  
This will be combined into one project with work already approved for the 
upgrade of MS Office, making a total project cost of £990,000.  
 
 

Page 6



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

7 

Procurement recommendations:  
 

ii. Approve the carrying out and completion of the procurement of hardware 
and software to support upgrades to ICT desktops, including upgrades to 
Windows and PC’s replacements.  

 
Subject to:  
 
The permission of the Director of Resources being sought prior to proceeding 
if the quotation or tender sum exceeds the estimated contract. The permission 
from the Executive Councillor being sought before proceeding if the value 
exceeds the estimated contract by more than 15%.  
 
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
  
The committee received a report from the ICT Client Manager.  
 
In response to member’s questions the ICT Client Manager and the Director of 
Resources confirmed the following:  
 

i. 50% of the PC’s currently located at the Guildhall were over 5 years old. 
ii. A number of PC’s across the City Council were between 9 and 10 years 

old, with one identified as over 11 years old.  
iii. The project would aim to move all machines over to Windows 7 as soon 

as possible.  
iv. A more structured approach to the provision and replacement of PC’s 

would better suit the needs of the organisation.  
v. The majority of the 500 replacement units would be thin client desktop 

devices. 
vi. As upgrades could now be performed centrally it was envisaged that the 

replacement units would last for up to 10 years. 
vii. As part of the Corporate Change Programme and new HR Policies the 

City Council would be looking to encourage more flexible working across 
locations.  

 
The ICT Client Manager agreed to email committee members with details of 
how the £700,000 would be split between upgrades and replacements.  
 

Page 7



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

8 

The ICT Client Manager agreed to investigate an issue raised by a Councillor 
regarding the level of service provided by Serco.   

 
The Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the recommendations by 5 
votes to 0. 
  
The Executive for Customer Services and Resources approved the 
recommendations. 
  

12/31/SR Project Appraisals: Customer Services Improvement Projects 
 
12/31a/SR  Customer Service Automatic Payment Machine 
 
Matter for Decision: The purchase and installation of an automatic payment 
machine at Mandela House. 
  
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources resolved to: 
Financial recommendations:  
 

i. Approve the commencement of this scheme, which is already included in 
the Council’s Capital & Revenue Project Plan (SC335).  

 
The estimated total cost of the project is £17,300, funded from the Technology 
Investment Fund. The revenue costs of the project are £2,000 for 2012/13 
onwards and will be met from the Customer Service revenue budget. (00094).  
 
Procurement recommendations:  
 

ii. Approve the invitation and evaluation of quotations and award of contract 
for the Automatic Payment Machines’ hardware and related software 
plus annual maintenance for the project.  

 
Subject to:  
 
The permission of the Executive Councillor and the Director of Resources 
being sought prior to proceeding if the tender sum exceeds the estimated 
contract value by more than 15%.   
 

Page 8



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

9 

Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
  
The committee received a report from the Head of Customer Services.  
 
In response to member’s questions the Head of Customer Services confirmed 
the following:  
 

i. Whilst the likely usage of the new payment machines was not yet known, 
they had been very successful in other local authority areas. 

ii. The information kiosks currently located in the Area Housing Offices 
could easily be converted to payment machines if the service proved 
successful.  

 
The Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the recommendations by 8 
votes to 0 (unanimously). 
  
The Executive for Customer Services and Resources approved the 
recommendations. 
  
 
12/31b/SR Customer Service Touch Screen Information Kiosks 
 
Matter for Decision: The purchase and installation of five Touch Screen 
Information Kiosks at locations to be confirmed. 
  
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources resolved to: 
Financial recommendations:   
 

i. Approve the commencement of this scheme, which is already included in 
the Council’s Capital & Revenue Project Plan (SC538).  

 
The total cost of the project is £25,000, funded from Reserves. The revenue 
costs of the project are £6,000 for 2012/13 onwards and will be met from the 
Customer Service revenue budget. (00094).  
 
 

Page 9



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

10 

Procurement recommendations:  
 

ii. Approve the invitation and evaluation of tenders and award of contract of 
the Touch Screen Information kiosks hardware and related software plus 
annual maintenance for the project.  

 
Subject to:  
  
The permission of the Executive Councillor and the Director of Resources 
being sought prior to proceeding if the tender sum exceeds the estimated 
contract value by more than 15%.   
  
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
  
The committee received a report from the Head of Customer Services.  
 
In response to member’s questions the Head of Customer Services confirmed 
the following:  
 

i. The revenue costs of the project would be £6000 for 2012/13 onwards 
and would be met from the Customer Service revenue budget. 

ii. The design and location of the information kiosks would ensure privacy 
for those using the telephone/video elements.  

 
The Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the recommendations by 8 
votes to 0 (unanimously). 
  
The Executive for Customer Services and Resources approved the 
recommendations. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

11 

12/31c/SR  Customer Service Centre Accommodation Works 
 
Matter for Decision: Purchase and Installation of an additional interview room 
and desk in the reception area of the Customer Service Centre. 
  
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources resolved to: 
  
Financial recommendations:  
 

i. Approve the commencement of this scheme, which is already included in 
the Council’s Capital & Revenue Project Plan (SC537).  

 
The total cost of the project is £25,000, funded from Reserves. There are no 
revenue costs arising from the project.  
 
Procurement recommendations:  
 

ii. Approve the invitation and evaluation of quotations and award of contract 
of an additional interview room and desk in the reception area of the 
Customer Service Centre.  

 
Subject to:  
  
The permission of the Executive Councillor and the Director of Resources 
being sought prior to proceeding if the quotation sum exceeds the estimated 
contract value by more than 15%.  
 
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
The committee received a report from the Head of Customer Services.  
 
In response to member’s questions the Head of Customer Services confirmed 
the following:  
 
 
 

Page 11



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Monday, 19 March 2012 
 

 
 
 

12 

i. The works would allow greater flexibility for the Customer Service Centre 
to provide Post Office related services. Discussions were ongoing with 
local authorities already provided these services and visits to Chelmsford 
and Reading were being planned.  

  
The Scrutiny Committee considered and approved the recommendations by 
8votes to 0 (unanimously). 
  
The Executive for Customer Services and Resources approved the 
recommendations. 
  

12/32/SR Benefit irrecoverable debts to be written off 
 
Matter for Decision: Write off of debt deemed irrecoverable.  
  
Decision of the Executive Councillor: 
  
The Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources resolved to: 
  

i. Approve the debt write off deemed irrecoverable as shown in the exempt 
Appendix ‘A’ to the officer’s report. 

 
Reasons for the Decision: As set out in the officer’s report 
  
Any alternative options considered and rejected: N/A 
  
Scrutiny Considerations 
 
N/A 
  
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 6.05 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 12



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 Thursday, 24 May 2012 
 

 
 
 

1 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 24 May 2012 
 12.05  - 12.07 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Brown (Chair), Rosenstiel (Vice-Chair), Birtles, Boyce, 
Ashton, Benstead, Herbert and Tucker 
 
Executive Councillors: 
The Leader: Councillor Bick 
Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources: Councillor Smith 
 
FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 
 

12/33/SR Appointment of Equalities Panel 
 
Resolved:  
The Scrutiny Committee agreed the four nominations below:  
 Cllrs:  Bick, Brown, Bird, Abbott  
  

12/34/SR Appointment of Joint Staff Employer Forum 
 
Resolved: 
The Scrutiny Committee agreed the membership of Joint Staff Employer 
Forum as below: 
 
Cllrs: Smart, Kightley, Swanson, Gawthrope, Dryden, Price 
Alternate: Boyce 
 
Agreed the Chair for the Forum: 
Cllr Smart  
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 13



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 24 May 2012 
 

 
 
 

2 

12/35/SR Appointment to outside bodies 
 
Resolved:  
The Scrutiny Committee approved the appointments to the outside bodies 
listed below.  
The Leader and the Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources agreed the appointments. 
  
City University Forum - ARU (5) 
Cllrs: Brown, Saunders, O’Reilly, Marchant-Daisley + 1 TBC 
 

 
LGA Urban Commission (2) 
Cllrs: Rosenstiel, Owers  
 
Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise Partnership 
(1) 
Cllr: Bick  
 
Local Government information Unit (1) 
Cllr: Rosenstiel  
 
 Public Toilet Working Party (5) 
Cllrs: Brown, Rosenstiel, Swanson, Price, Bird 
 
East of England Local Government Association (1) 
Cllr: Bick 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee  Thursday, 24 May 2012 
 

 
 
 

3 

LGA General Assembly (1) 
  
Cllr: Bick 
  
 
‘Love Cambridge’ Partnership (1) 
Cllr: Smith 
   
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.07 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
Record of Executive Decision 

 
Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE) Bid  re. Cambridge City District Heating 

Scheme 
 
Decision of:  The Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy Climate 

Change – Councillor Sian Reid 
Reference:  Special Urgency 
Date of decision:   23 April 2012 Recorded on: 24 April 2012  
Decision Type:   Key  
Matter for 
Decision:  

To support the IEE bid as described in the briefing note attached. 

Why the decision 
had to be made 
(and any 
alternative 
options): 

The IEE bid submission deadline is Monday 23rd April. 

The Leader’s 
decision(s): 

The Leader agreed to support the IEE bid as set out in the 
briefing note.  
 

Reasons for the 
decision: The reasons for the decision are explained in the briefing note by 

the Director of Environment and Head of Corporate Strategy 
which is attached. 

Scrutiny 
consideration: 

 The Chair of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
agreed that the decision of the Executive Councillor cannot be 
reasonably deferred.  The Chair’s agreement is a requirement 
under Special Urgency as stated in the Council’s Constitution 
paragraph 16 of  Part 4B Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

Report: Attached  
Conflicts of 
interest: 

None  

Comments:  
 

Agenda Item 5a

Page 17



 
 
 
BRIEFING NOTE  
 
Intelligent Energy Europe Bid  
Cambridge City District Heating Scheme 
 
1. Purpose of this Note  
 
1.1 On the 16th January 2012 the Executive Councillor for Strategy and Climate Change 

gave delegated authority for officers to negotiate and complete the IEE Bid subject 
to consultation on the proposed governance arrangements and formal financial 
details.  

 
1.2 The Intelligent Energy Europe Bid paperwork is being finalised and final agreement 

of the wording in the Bid is required before close of play on Monday the 23rd April. 
The purpose of this note is to report back on the outcome of the negotiations and to 
consult before the IEE Bid wording has been completed.  

 
1.3 The matter is being dealt with as an emergency item as there is a fixed deadline for 

submission of the IEE bid wording to Brussels and the terms of the bid have only 
today been finalized. 

 
2.  Background  
 
2.1 Cambridge City Council has been working with partners (principally Anglia Ruskin 

University, the Low Carbon Development Initiative, Cambridge University and the 
colleges) to develop proposals for a District Heating Scheme.   

 
2.2 For the City Council, the primary objectives from such a scheme would be: 
 

• Reduction of the Council’s own carbon footprint by using electricity and heat 
generated by the scheme (which is lower carbon than the sources we would 
otherwise be buying electricity from); and 

 
• Providing the potential for an income from selling the electricity and heat 

generated by the scheme to other users (expected to be primarily the University 
and colleges) for more than it costs to develop, set-up and run the scheme. 

 
2.3 There would secondary benefits of  

o helping to develop a scheme that would allow key partners (and therefore 
the city overall) to reduce the city’s carbon footprint through the use of 
this lower-carbon heat and electricity;  

o demonstrating the city’s commitment to being at the forefront of low 
carbon living and inspiring other agencies and the wider community to 
explore or invest in renewables and/or energy efficiency;  

o working in partnership to explore and develop new forms of investment in 
and delivery of renewable or low carbon technologies; and 

Page 18



o helping to offset the impact of future rises in electricity prices for the City 
Council.  

3. Proposed Scheme  
 
3.1 The full background to the scheme is set out in reports to Strategy and Resources 

Committee on 10th October 2011 and 16th January 2012.  
 
3.2 The proposals have been evaluated as part of a study by Aecom and are based on 

a single local energy centre that is gas fired close to the city centre or Mill Road. 
The total capital costs of the proposed scheme would amount to £22.2 million, 
which would include over £1 million of preliminary costs (including detailed design 
costs. Since the Aecom study, the LCDI advisor has recommended that the local 
energy centre should be future-proofed to allow carbon neutral energy generation 
and it is possible that a future proofing could lead to additional costs.   

 
4. Intelligent Energy Europe Bid 
 
4.1 The Intelligent Energy Europe Project, led by Cambridgeshire County Council, 

presents an opportunity to meet a portion of these development costs.  The City 
Council has a notional budget through this initiative of around €100,000 to pay for 
some staff time working on this scheme, if matched by the City Council’s own 
budget at a ratio of 3:1 (i.e. IEE would contribute €75,000 and the City €25,000 in 
staff time).  

 
4.2  The IEE Project also proposes to develop a financial model for securing large scale 

investment in renewable technologies in Cambridgeshire including an investment 
fund or funds for low carbon infrastructure; and to develop a delivery vehicle / 
vehicles (such as an Energy Services Company - ESCO) to deliver such schemes. 

 
4.3  It is proposed that the City Council element of the IEE Bid would  support the work 

of a Cambridge District Heating Delivery Vehicle and support the development of 
the Cambridge District Heating Scheme from the stage when LCDI has completed 
early development work (including a detailed financial viability assessment) to the 
point that a delivery partner is commissioned to prepare detailed designs; obtain 
planning permission and deliver the energy centre and network.  
  

4.4  It is proposed that the relationship between the Cambridge District Heating Delivery 
Vehicle and the IEE Project will follow the following principles: 

 
(a) the City Council, together with its chosen partner(s), will both 

determine the precise nature and governance of the Delivery Vehicle, 
and be in control of the decisions of that Delivery Vehicle; 

(b) there may be co-ordination between the Delivery Vehicle and the IEE 
Project and the details of this would be agreed between the City 
Council and partners; and 

(c) the Delivery Vehicle will be able to decide whether or not call on any 
available funding low carbon infrastructure funding held within the IEE 
Project. 

 
4.5 There are financial risks for the City Council in pursuing the Bid and these are 

twofold, firstly, if the Project does not reach procurement of the design and build 
project within 36 months then the City Council would have to pay back €75,000 

Page 19



(possibly with interest) that would have been received from IEE. It is proposed that 
any draw down of funding is phased to minimize this risk. Secondly, there would be 
a collective responsibility with the County Council and other local authority partners 
to the whole IEE Bid with the potential for the claw back of an additional payment of 
no more than €26,000.  

 
4.6 However it has been agreed through Cambridgeshire County Council that if the City 

Council withdrew from the IEE Project within the first three months from the start 
date, and decided not to draw down funds from the project, then there would be no 
clawback of any sum of money from the City Council including any of the moneys 
referred to in 4.5.  

 
5. Recommendations 
 
5.1 The Cambridge District Heating Scheme provides a significant opportunity to 

reduce carbon emissions and in both the medium term (through greater energy 
efficiency and local electricity generation) and in the longer term through the 
development of a carbon neutral energy centre.  

 
5.2 The Project is still at an early stage and a number of uncertainties remain. These 

uncertainties have been described in the previous reports to the Strategy and 
Resources Committee.  

 
5.3 It is recommended that the IEE Bid goes forward on the basis that within 36 months 

it may allow the procurement of a delivery partner that can design and build the 
scheme. The Executive Councillor for Strategy and Climate Change is requested to 
support the Bid on the terms expressed in 4.6.  

 
Simon Payne 
Director of Environment 
 
23 April 2012 

Page 20



Cambridge City CHP/District Heating Project 
Capital Costs 
The AECOM study identified the capital costs (excluding land costs) to be the order of : 

  
Note: The study examined in detail three network layout options as described in the table 
above: 
• Base case – A single scheme connecting Parkside Pool to ARU and a few other 

smaller sites around the East Road/Mill Road area.  The location of the energy 
centre housing the CHP plant for this option was the Kelsey Kerridge/Queen Anne 
Terrace car park area; 

• Option 1 – A single scheme comprising the base cased and a higher density 
western area comprising the New Museums Site, the Downing Site, Old 
Addenbrookes site and a number of other Council, University of Cambridge, 
College and private buildings in the city centre.  An energy centre could be located 
at the Kelsey Kerridge/Queen Anne Terrace car park area; 

• Option 2 – A single district heating scheme covering the same area as in Option 1, 
but with two energy centres, one located at the car park and the other located 
somewhere within the New Museums site/Downing Site. 

 
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To Executive Councillor for Customer Services & Resources: 
Councillor Julie Smith 

Report
by

Chief Executive, Director of Customer & Community Services, 
Director of Environment and Director of Resources 

Relevant Scrutiny 
Committee Strategy & Resources 9 July 2012

2011/12 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant 
Variances

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 This report presents a summary of the 2011/12 outturn position 
(actual income and expenditure) for services within the Customer 
Services & Resources portfolio, compared to the final budget for the 
year.  The position for revenue and capital is reported and variances 
from budgets are highlighted, together with explanations.  Requests 
to carry forward funding arising from certain budget underspends into 
2012/13 are identified. 

1.2 It should be noted that this report reflects the reporting structure in 
place prior to the recent changes in Executive reporting 
responsibilities.

2. Recommendations

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

a) To agree which of the carry forward requests, totalling £225,430
as detailed in Appendix C, are to be recommended to Council for 
approval.

b) To seek approval from Council to carry forward capital resources 
to fund re-phased net capital spending of £958,000 from 2011/12 
into 2012/13 and future years, as detailed in Appendix D.   

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 6

Page 23



3. Background

Revenue Outturn 

3.1 The outturn position for the Customer Services & Resources 
portfolio, compared to the final revenue budget, is presented in detail 
in Appendix A. 

3.2 Appendix B to this report provides explanations of the main 
variances.

3.3 Appendix C sets out the final list of items, for this portfolio, for which 
approval is sought to carry forward unspent budget from 2011/12 to 
the next financial year, 2012/13.  

3.4 The overall revenue budget outturn position for the Customer 
Services & Resources portfolio is set out in the table below: 

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio 
2011/12 Revenue Summary

£

Final Budget (5,071,090)

Outturn (6,364,161)

Variation – (Under)/Overspend for the year (1,293,071)

Carry Forward Requests: 

Customer Access Strategy 112,990

Revenue and Benefit Services 44,440

Human Resources 68,000

Total Carry Forward Requests 225,430

Net Variance (1,067,641)

The variance represents 21.1% of the overall portfolio budget for the 
2011/12 financial year. 

Report Page No: 2 Page 24



Report Page No: 3 

Capital Outturn 

3.5 Appendix D shows the outturn position for schemes and programmes 
within the Customer Services & Resources portfolio, with 
explanations of variances. 

3.6 An overall underspend of £998,000 has arisen.  £958,000 is due to 
slippage and re-phasing of the capital programmes is required to 
transfer the budget into 2012/13 and future years.  The remaining 
variance of £40,000 is a result of net underspends on individual 
capital schemes and programmes. 

4. Implications

4.1 The net variance from the final budget, after approvals to carry 
forward budget of £225,430 from 2011/12 to the next financial year, 
2012/13, would result in a reduced use of General Fund reserves of 
£1,067,641.

4.2 In relation to anticipated requests to carry forward revenue budgets 
into 2012/13, the decisions made may have a number of implications.  
A decision not to approve a carry forward request will impact on 
officers’ ability to deliver the service or scheme in question and this 
could have staffing, equal opportunities, environmental and/or 
community safety implications. 

5. Background papers

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

 ! Closedown Working Files 2011/12 
 ! Directors’ Variance Explanations – March 2012 
 ! Capital Monitoring Reports – March 2012 
 ! Budgetary Control Reports to 31 March 2012 

6. Appendices

 ! Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Outturn
 ! Appendix B - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances from Final 

Revenue Budgets 
 ! Appendix C - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests
 ! Appendix D - Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn 

Page 25



Report Page No: 4 

7. Inspection of papers

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Authors’ Names: Linda Thompson; John Harvey 
Authors’ Phone 
Numbers: Telephone: 01223 - 458144; 01223 - 458143 

Authors’ Email: linda.thompson@cambridge.gov.uk
john.harvey@cambridge.gov.uk

O:\accounts\Committee Reports & Papers\Strategy & Resources from July 2007\2012 June\Final\CS&R\S&R 
(CS&R) Final Outturn 2011-12 Report.doc 

Page 26



Appendix A

Original
Budget Final Budget Outturn

Variation
Increase /
(Decrease)

Carry Forward 
Requests - 

see Appendix 
C Net Variance

£ £ £ £ £ £
Resources
Finance - General (754,250) (655,270) (1,185,728) (530,458) 0 (530,458)
General Properties and Grand Arcade (7,518,170) (7,373,710) (7,612,910) (239,200) 0 (239,200)
Land Charges and Searches (33,110) (61,330) (85,859) (24,529) 0 (24,529)
Procurement 0 0 (2,589) (2,589) 0 (2,589)
City Services Trading Income (8,400) 35,940 46,605 10,665 0 10,665

(8,313,930) (8,054,370) (8,840,481) (786,111) 0 (786,111)
Other IT Spend
Flexible Working / IT Corporate Strategy / 
Document Image Processing 410,560 228,450 219,466 (8,984) 0 (8,984)

410,560 228,450 219,466 (8,984) 0 (8,984)
Human Resources
Employee Travel Plan 0 0 (2,287) (2,287) 0 (2,287)
Childcare Voucher Scheme 0 0 1,400 1,400 0 1,400
GMB 0 0 1,613 1,613 0 1,613
Unison 0 0 (1,660) (1,660) 0 (1,660)
Emergency Planning 0 0 (18,558) (18,558) 0 (18,558)
Health/Safety at Work 0 0 (8,367) (8,367) 0 (8,367)

0 0 (27,859) (27,859) 0 (27,859)
Chief Executive's
Democratic Services 264,580 253,660 245,940 (7,720) 0 (7,720)

264,580 253,660 245,940 (7,720) 0 (7,720)
Customer and Community
Cashiers 0 0 (2,578) (2,578) 0 (2,578)
Customer Access Strategy 0 133,850 20,864 (112,986) 112,990 4
Customer Service Centre 0 0 (12,705) (12,705) 0 (12,705)
Central Post Scanning Facility 0 322,230 316,424 (5,806) 0 (5,806)
Revenue and Benefit Services 2,380,290 2,005,630 1,707,970 (297,660) 44,440 (253,220)

2,380,290 2,461,710 2,029,975 (431,735) 157,430 (274,305)
Environment
Tourism 320,470 220,710 220,569 (141) 0 (141)
City Centre Management 61,390 134,850 127,083 (7,767) 0 (7,767)
Markets (343,480) (316,100) (338,854) (22,754) 0 (22,754)
Control of Street Trading 0 0 0 0 0 0

38,380 39,460 8,798 (30,662) 0 (30,662)

Direct Services Total (5,220,120) (5,071,090) (6,364,161) (1,293,071) 157,430 (1,135,641)

Support Services
 (net costs recharged to Departments)

Accountancy and Support Services 1,448,030 1,416,730 1,393,262 (23,468) 0 (23,468)
Other Support Services 263,720 251,570 249,511 (2,059) 0 (2,059)
Internal Audit 402,190 342,540 330,030 (12,510) 0 (12,510)
Human Resources 1,176,740 999,810 869,235 (130,575) 68,000 (62,575)
IT 3,020,810 2,628,080 2,603,903 (24,177) 0 (24,177)
Legal Services 861,980 963,890 958,790 (5,100) 0 (5,100)
Property and Building Services
(including Admin Buildings) 2,894,760 3,780,730 3,737,260 (43,470) 0 (43,470)

Architects 198,510 194,650 201,130 6,480 0 6,480
Support Services Total 10,266,740 10,578,000 10,343,121 (234,879) 68,000 (166,879)
Recharged to Departments (10,266,740) (10,578,000) (10,343,121) 234,879 0 234,879
Support Services (net) 0 0 0 0 68,000 68,000

Total Net Budget (5,220,120) (5,071,090) (6,364,161) (1,293,071) 225,430 (1,067,641)

Service Grouping

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget - 2011/12 Outturn

Page 27



Appendix A

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget - 2011/12 Outturn

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring
 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year
 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime
 - virements approved under the Council's constitution
 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted for

and are detailed and approved:

 - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)
 - in September (as part of the Medium Term Strategy (MTS))
 - in the January committee cycle (as part of the budget setting report)

 - and via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

Page 28



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount
£

Contact

Resources
Finance - General This variance is made up as follows:  £25,139 reduction in the 

contribution required for sundry debtor bad debt provision; 
£25,401 reduction in bank, giro and credit card charges 
compared with budget; £46,021 net overspend in relation to 
legal costs primarily in connection with The Belvadere S106 
action; £365,317 reduction in the impairment previously 
provided for in respect Icelandic Bank deposits (reflecting the 
latest Local Authority Account panel guidance on the timing of 
repayments and an anticipated 100% recovery of deposits 
with Landsbanki islands hf).  The remaining variance, 
£160,622 reflects additional income earned on investments as 
a consequence of higher levels of investment during the year 
and slightly higher interest levels achieved in the latter part of 
the year. 

(530,458) Julia Minns

General Properties 
and Grand Arcade

The underspend is mainly due to the receipt of backdated 
rental income following the completion of rent reviews and 
audits during the final quarter of the 2011/12 financial year.
Note that charges for Legal Services have been changed from 
a historic Service Level Agreement to an actual time-
recording basis for 2011/12 so, although these charges have 
been met from Council budgets overall, there may be 
variances within individual services and in this case the 
charges appear as a budget variance of (£63,670). 

(239,200) Phil Doggett

Land Charges and 
Searches

The variance is mainly due to over achievement of Land 
Charges fee income, which fluctuates with property market 
activity.

(24,529) Simon Pugh

Customer and 
Community

Customer Access 
Strategy

Payment protection continues into 2012/13 and final 
redundancies not yet agreed. Balance to be carried forward 
as agreed by Council 22.7.10:
item 10/41/CNLa.

(112,986) Jonathan 
James

Revenue and 
Benefit Services

The main variances are due to minor net subsidy differences 
of (£111,431) within overall expenditure of £41.4 million, 
unspent Homelessness Prevention Funding of (£44,440) for 
which a carry forward of budget is requested (see Appendix 
C), higher than forecast recovery of benefit overpayments 
from claimants no longer claiming benefits (£36,882) and 
higher than forecast Court costs recovered of (£70,742) - 
£252,252 collected against forecast of £181,510 (a one-off 
increase of £70,742).

(297,660) Alison Cole

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio / 
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 29



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount
£

Contact

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio / 
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Environment
Markets Variance due to an overachievement in income of £5.7k and 

an underspend on a variety of revenue codes; including 
cleaning costs where wash downs of the market have not 
been undertaken due to bad weather or staff shortages and 
savings on electricity costs as the Council has agreed a more 
competitive tariff. 

(22,754) Emma Thornton

Support Services

Accountancy and 
Support Services

This variance relates to a net underspending on employee 
budgets as a result of not covering for staff vacancies / 
reduced working hours and an underspending of the 
recruitment budget.

(23,468) Julia Minns

Human Resources The HR service underspend includes the balance of a 
corporate budget earmarked to support organisational change 
and there is a request to carry forward the balance of £68k to 
complete the programme.  The remaining £67k arose mainly 
due to vacant posts and holding open posts that were subject 
to restructuring.  Earlier implementation of the restructuring 
resulted in £28k of the £100k anticipated savings being 
delivered ahead of schedule.

(130,575) Deborah 
Simpson

IT The variance is mainly due to minor underspends on IT 
Contract costs.

(24,177) James 
Nightingale

Property and 
Building Services

The main variance relates to an over achievement of rental 
income.

(43,470) Jim Stocker

Page 30



Appendix C

Item Reason for carry forward request

Carry
Forward
Requests Contact

£

1
Customer Access Strategy
To meet the remaining estimated costs of redundancy, pay protection 
and early retirement (approved by Council on 22.7.10).

112,990
Jonathan
James

2

Revenue and Benefit Services
Request to carry forward unspent Homelessness Prevention funding 
of £44,440.

After the Budget announcement about Discretionary Housing 
Payment (DHP) funding, the Government announced some 
transitional protection measures to mitigate the effects of the Housing 
Benefit reforms. This, in turn, has led to less demand for DHPs in 
2011/12 than originally envisaged and more demand in 2012/13. 

The DWP accepts that, in these circumstances, there is a case for 
carry-over from 2011/12 to 2012/13.

44,440 Alison Cole

3

Human Resources
The HR service underspend includes the balance of a corporate 
budget earmarked to support organisational change and there is a 
request to carry forward the balance of £68k to complete the 
programme.

68,000
Deborah
Simpson

Total Carry Forward Requests for Customer Services & 
Resources Portfolio

225,430

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio /
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 31



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

S
C

36
1

D
is

ab
le

d 
A

cc
es

s 
an

d 
F

ac
ili

tie
s 

- 
G

ui
ld

ha
ll 

H
al

ls
S

 B
ag

na
ll

80
0

0
0

0
0

B
ud

ge
t r

e-
ph

as
ed

 to
 th

e 
20

12
/1

3 
fin

an
ci

al
 

ye
ar

.

S
C

33
5

C
us

to
m

er
 A

cc
es

s 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

- 
IT

 W
or

ks
tr

ea
m

C
 B

ol
to

n
0

12
2

23
(9

9)
76

(2
3)

C
ar

ry
 fo

rw
ar

d 
of

 b
ud

ge
t o

f £
76

k 
re

qu
ire

d 
fo

r 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
th

at
 w

ill
 b

e 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

20
12

/1
3 

fin
an

ci
al

 
ye

ar
. A

ny
 r

em
ai

ni
ng

 fu
nd

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
gi

ve
n 

ba
ck

 to
 C

A
S

 b
us

in
es

s 
ca

se
 a

t t
he

 e
nd

 o
f 

th
e 

20
12

/1
3 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r.

S
C

50
8

E
-B

en
ef

its
A

 C
ol

e
0

17
12

(5
)

5
0

C
ar

ry
 fo

rw
ar

d 
of

 £
5k

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
to

 m
ee

t 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

je
ct

 m
an

ag
em

en
t f

ee
s.

S
C

51
7

R
e-

Li
ne

 F
ue

l T
an

ks
D

 C
ox

0
30

22
(8

)
0

(8
)

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

19
2

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t L
an

d 
on

 th
e 

N
or

th
 S

id
e 

of
 K

in
gs

 H
ed

ge
s 

R
oa

d
P

 D
og

ge
tt

36
0

17
8

38
(1

40
)

14
0

0

T
he

 v
ar

ia
nc

e 
re

la
te

s 
to

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 
pr

of
ili

ng
 d

iff
er

en
ce

s 
fr

om
 th

e 
m

an
ag

in
g 

ag
en

t's
 o

rig
in

al
 e

st
im

at
es

 fo
r 

th
e 

20
11

/1
2 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r.
  B

ud
ge

t o
f £

14
0k

 n
ee

ds
 to

 
be

 r
e-

ph
as

ed
 to

 th
e 

20
14

/1
5 

fin
an

ci
al

 
ye

ar
 to

 c
or

re
sp

on
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

m
an

ag
in

g 
ag

en
t's

 r
ev

is
ed

 e
st

im
at

es
.

S
C

22
1b

Li
on

 Y
ar

d 
- 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

 
W

or
ks

 -
 P

ha
se

 2
P

 D
og

ge
tt

63
8

80
56

(2
4)

24
0

T
he

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
co

st
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

sc
he

m
e 

ar
e 

lik
el

y 
to

 b
e 

in
cu

rr
ed

 in
 th

e 
20

12
/1

3 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r.

  B
ud

ge
t o

f £
24

k 
ne

ed
s 

to
 

be
 r

e-
ph

as
ed

 to
 th

e 
20

12
/1

3 
fin

an
ci

al
 

ye
ar

 fo
r 

fu
tu

re
 s

ch
em

e 
co

st
s.

S
C

39
1

La
 M

im
os

a 
P

un
tin

g 
S

ta
tio

n
P

 D
og

ge
tt

10
10

0
(1

0)
10

0
In

ve
st

ig
at

in
g 

po
ss

ib
le

 m
at

ch
 fu

nd
in

g 
by

 
pu

nt
 o

pe
ra

to
rs

. 
S

C
45

8
C

ap
ita

 R
e-

Li
ce

nc
e

J 
Ja

m
es

0
1

1
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

50
9

E
le

ct
ric

 C
ou

rie
r 

V
an

J 
Ja

m
es

14
0

0
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

Page 32



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

S
C

42
7

O
ra

cl
e 

F
in

an
ci

al
s 

S
er

ve
r

J 
M

in
ns

0
50

44
(6

)
6

0

T
he

 n
ew

 s
er

ve
r 

w
as

 c
om

m
is

si
on

ed
 

du
rin

g 
M

ay
 a

nd
 th

e 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 b
ud

ge
t w

ill
 

be
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

to
 m

ee
t S

E
R

C
O

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

su
pp

or
t c

ha
rg

es
.

C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

of
 th

e 
ne

w
 s

er
ve

r 
w

as
 

de
la

ye
d 

so
 a

s 
to

 h
av

e 
m

in
im

um
 im

pa
ct

 
on

 2
01

1/
12

 a
cc

ou
nt

s 
cl

os
ur

e 
w

or
k.

S
C

32
9

C
or

po
ra

te
 D

oc
um

en
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t (

D
IP

 &
 E

D
R

M
)

J 
N

ig
ht

in
ga

le
35

8
10

4
19

(8
5)

85
0

T
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

of
 w

or
k 

is
 a

pp
ro

ac
hi

ng
 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 it

s 
fir

st
 m

aj
or

 p
ha

se
, w

ith
 th

e 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
of

 c
us

to
m

er
 a

cc
es

s 
re

la
te

d 
se

rv
ic

es
.  

It 
ha

d 
al

w
ay

s 
be

en
 p

la
nn

ed
 to

 
re

-e
xa

m
in

e 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t t
im

et
ab

le
 a

t t
hi

s 
tim

e,
 a

nd
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

th
e 

pr
io

rit
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r 

th
e 

ne
xt

 p
ha

se
s.

  W
or

k 
on

 
th

e 
re

m
ai

nd
er

 o
f t

he
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
is

 
th

er
ef

or
e 

be
in

g 
re

-p
la

nn
ed

, a
nd

 w
ill

 le
ad

 
to

 s
pe

nd
 la

te
r 

in
 th

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
th

an
 

or
ig

in
al

ly
 fo

re
ca

st
.

S
C

42
9

T
el

ep
ho

ny
 S

ys
te

m
 U

pg
ra

de
J 

N
ig

ht
in

ga
le

20
23

23
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

33
8

C
us

to
m

er
 A

cc
es

s 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

- 
W

eb
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

A
 P

er
ry

12
0

0
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

31
2

A
ut

om
at

ed
 E

ne
rg

y 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

S
ys

te
m

J 
S

to
ck

er
23

23
0

(2
3)

23
0

Is
su

es
 to

 b
e 

re
so

lv
ed

 r
eg

ar
di

ng
 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l o

bl
ig

at
io

ns
 fo

r 
da

ta
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
an

d 
m

on
ito

rin
g.

S
C

50
7

V
is

it 
C

am
br

id
ge

 W
eb

si
te

E
 T

ho
rn

to
n

30
30

20
(1

0)
10

0
P

ro
je

ct
 w

el
l u

nd
er

w
ay

 a
nd

 o
n 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

en
d 

M
ay

/e
ar

ly
 J

un
e.

 

1,
54

5
66

8
25

8
(4

10
)

37
9

(3
1)

T
o

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
s

Page 33



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

P
R

02
0

IC
T

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

J 
N

ig
ht

in
ga

le
64

2
87

9
37

5
(5

04
)

50
4

0

T
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

is
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

in
pu

t 
fr

om
 a

 r
an

ge
 o

f s
up

pl
ie

rs
.  

T
ec

hn
ic

al
 

de
la

ys
 a

nd
 r

es
ou

rc
in

g 
is

su
es

 h
av

e 
ca

us
ed

 p
ar

ts
 o

f t
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

of
 w

or
k 

to
 

sl
ip

.  
W

or
k 

is
 u

nd
er

w
ay

 o
n 

al
l 

co
m

po
ne

nt
s.

P
R

02
3

A
dm

in
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 A
ss

et
 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

m
e

J 
S

to
ck

er
68

58
35

(2
3)

23
0

T
he

 v
ar

ia
nc

e 
is

 d
ue

 to
 m

in
or

 ti
m

in
g 

di
ffe

re
nc

es
 to

 th
e 

w
or

k 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e.

P
R

02
4

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

pe
rt

ie
s 

A
ss

et
 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

m
e

J 
S

to
ck

er
30

6
63

11
(5

2)
52

0
T

he
 v

ar
ia

nc
e 

is
 d

ue
 to

 ti
m

in
g 

di
ffe

re
nc

es
 

to
 th

e 
w

or
k 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e.

P
R

00
3

C
ity

 C
en

tr
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

E
 T

ho
rn

to
n

20
20

11
(9

)
0

(9
)

U
nd

er
sp

en
d 

du
e 

to
 tw

o 
po

te
nt

ia
l 

sc
he

m
es

 n
ot

 c
om

in
g 

fo
rw

ar
d.

  T
he

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
 to

 b
e 

pr
om

ot
ed

 
am

on
gs

t t
he

 b
us

in
es

s 
co

m
m

un
ity

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
.

1,
03

6
1,

02
0

43
2

(5
88

)
57

9
(9

)

2,
58

1
1,

68
8

69
0

(9
98

)
95

8
(4

0)

C
ha

ng
es

 b
et

w
ee

n 
or

ig
in

al
 a

nd
 fi

na
l b

ud
ge

ts
 m

ay
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
:

 -
 r

e-
ph

as
ed

 c
ap

ita
l s

pe
nd

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
 -

 r
e-

ph
as

ed
 c

ap
ita

l s
pe

nd
 in

to
 fu

tu
re

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
ds

 -
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f n
ew

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
gr

am
m

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
je

ct
s

an
d 

ar
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

:

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ju
ne

/J
ul

y 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 c
yc

le
 (

ou
ttu

rn
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

an
d 

ca
rr

y 
fo

rw
ar

d 
re

qu
es

ts
)

 -
 in

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

(a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 M

ed
iu

m
 T

er
m

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
(M

T
S

))
 -

 in
 th

e 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 c
yc

le
 (

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 b
ud

ge
t s

et
tin

g 
re

po
rt

)

T
o

ta
l f

o
r 

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio

T
o

ta
l P

ro
g

ra
m

m
es

Page 34



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources: Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Alison Cole - Head of Revenues and Benefits 
Services

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

LOCALISATION OF COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The Government has decided that there will no longer be a national 
council tax benefit system from 1 April 2013. Instead the Council will 
need to introduce its own local council tax support system in the form 
of a council tax reduction scheme.

1.2 Following the last comprehensive spending review, the Government 
intends to reduce expenditure by 10% based on forecast council tax 
benefit expenditure for 2013-14. It will be for each local authority to 
decide how to manage the funding reduction. Cambridge City Council 
will receive approximately £0.63m less money from the Government 
as a result of this change.  

1.3 The Council will need to review a wide range of policy and financial 
issues in the design of the new system. There are important links to 
wider welfare reforms at a national level and existing Council policies 
such as the Child Poverty Strategy, Housing Strategy, Financial 
Advice and Inclusion, Customer Access and Digital Inclusion. It also 
has a significant bearing on the Council’s corporate plan objective of 
reducing inequality. 

1.4 The timelines set by the Government to develop and implement a new 
system are very challenging and there are a number of constraints on 
the choices available to the Council, which are outside the Council’s 
control. This report highlights some of the key issues that need to be 
considered and starts a process of strategic planning and widespread 
engagement and consultation to support the more detailed decisions 
that will be taken later in the year.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 7

Page 35



Report Page No: 2 

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 

2.1 Agree to seek to achieve the 10% reduction in Government grant by 
reducing discounts allowed for second homes and using new local 
powers to charge up to 100% on empty homes and up to 150% on 
long-term empty homes.  

2.2 Agree that officers should develop a draft local council tax reduction 
scheme for consultation in line with the recommendation set out in 
Appendix A.

2.3 Note the provisional timeline for decisions as set out in section 4. 

2.4 Note that there is key information and legislation that will not be 
available from the Government for many months meaning the 
timelines and assumptions in this report are provisional only and will 
be updated and improved as the year progresses. 

2.5 Agree the initial programme of engagement and consultation on the 
key issues set out in section 6.  

2.6 Agree that the initial £84,000 (and any subsequent payments) new 
burden Government funding towards implementation costs of the local 
scheme (already received) be fully utilised for that purpose. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Government is making major changes to the welfare benefits 
system. As part of this, housing benefit and council tax benefit are to 
be abolished; to be replaced with the centralised universal credit 
system and a localised system of council tax support respectively.   

3.2 Currently, any award of council tax benefit is paid for by a subsidy 
grant from Central Government. However, as part of the 
comprehensive spending, review the Government’s announced plans 
to reduce expenditure for localised systems of council tax support by 
10% from 1st April 2013. 

3.3 In Cambridge City Council, there were 7112 recipients of council tax 
benefit in 2011-12, for which £6.3M was received in Government 
subsidies. Therefore, the proposed 10% reduction equates to £0.63M. 
However, it is unclear at the present time what the actual reduction will 
be as consultation is still taking place and this report is based on the 
best estimates currently available. 

Page 36



Report Page No: 3 

Legalities

3.4 The Local Government Finance Bill, which is currently working its way 
through Parliament, will provide the structure for the new localised 
council tax support scheme. 

3.5 Each billing authority in England must design and provide a council 
tax reduction scheme for people of working age for the financial year 
2013-14 by 31 January 2013. Failure to do so will mean the 
Government will impose a default scheme that does not allow for the 
10% savings.  

3.6 The decision to introduce or revise a local scheme must be taken by 
full Council; the decision may not be delegated to committee or to 
cabinet members. It is suggested that authorities will probably want to 
amend schemes of delegation under their constitutions to make this 
clear.

3.7 The Secretary of State has the power to alter the commencement of 
these provisions. 

3.8 A detailed impact assessment will be required to be considered 
alongside the new scheme. There will also be a need for an internal 
and external appeals system. 

Pensioners Protection 

3.9 The Government has stated that council tax support for people of 
state pension credit age will not be reduced because the Government 
does not expect work to increase their income. Legislation will be 
provided to protect pensioners by keeping in place national rules. 

Vulnerable Groups 

3.10 The Council is required to protect vulnerable groups when designing 
the local scheme. The Government does not intend to prescribe how 
this is achieved, rather the Government draws the Council’s attention 
to existing responsibilities including the Child Poverty Act 2010, the 
Disabled Person Act 1986 and the Housing Act 1996 as well as the 
public sector equality duty in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

3.11 The decision about vulnerability will have to be made in the broader 
context of welfare reform. The Council will need to decide the benefits 
or not of a single view of vulnerability that is compatible with other 
national benefits. The Council will also need to look at other services 
that provide emergency payments, e.g. for the prevention of 
homelessness, support for vulnerable families and to prevent children 
entering the care system. 

3.12 The proposed approach to community engagement and consultation 
and Equalities Impact Assessment will be an important part of this 
process.

Page 37



Report Page No: 4 

3.13 The consequences of protecting pensioners and the vulnerable means 
that the 10% savings will have to come from less than half of those 
currently claiming council tax benefit. 

Work incentives 

3.14 The Council is required to take account of work incentives when 
designing the local scheme, which the Government expects to help 
move local taxpayers into work by complementing the universal credit 
scheme.

3.15 There are a number of ways that the Council could support work 
incentives, see Appendix A, however the Council will need to balance 
the financial cost of supporting incentives to work with the additional 
savings this would require from claimants out of work and its duties 
towards vulnerable groups. Understanding the options in this area and 
the potential consequences will be part of the next stage of analysis. 

Designing the scheme 

3.16 The scheme needs to be simple, transparent and fair and have regard 
to:

 ! Government requirements 

 ! Local economic conditions 

 ! Local policy priorities 

 ! Demographic changes 

 ! Compliance with legal duties and risk of legal challenge 

 ! Software constraints, particularly in the short term 

 ! The consequences of behavioural change by individuals 

3.17 The timescales for implementation are extremely challenging and 
there will be limits on the scheme design choices available to the 
Council at least in the short term. It will be important for the Council to 
closely monitor the impact of its first scheme in order to ensure it can 
be refined and improved over time. 

3.18 Three high level options have been identified: 

1. Retain the current scheme and absorb the 10% reduction, or 

2. Retain the current scheme and realise the 10% reduction from the 
council tax reforms for exempt dwellings and second homes, or 

3. Reduce levels of support and increase certain parameters to 
increase work incentives

4. A combination of options 2 and 3 above.

These are explained in more detail in Appendix A. 

Page 38



Report Page No: 5 

Working with neighbouring authorities 

3.19 Officers are liaising closely with neighbouring authorities; however, 
there are significant differences in the demographics and policy 
priorities in Cambridge City to those of our more rural neighbours. 
Given the complexity of precepting arrangements it is proposed that 
the Council designs its own scheme, at least initially. 

4. Timetable

4.1 Provisions for council tax support are included in the Local 
Government Finance Bill. Detailed draft regulations on the scheme 
were expected in June or July, with the regulations provisionally 
timetabled for autumn, however there are reports to suggest that this 
may be delayed further. 

4.2 The Finance Bill states that the Council must have a scheme in place 
by 31st January 2013. In practice this means an agreed scheme will 
need to be in place by the beginning of December 2012, not least due 
to software testing. 

4.3 A high level timetable for formal decision making and public 
engagement and consultation is proposed as follows: 

 ! July 2012 - Proposed draft scheme to be agreed by the Executive 
Councillor for Customer Services and Resources

 ! July/August 2012 - Formal consultation with precepting authorities on 
draft scheme

 ! August 2012 – Publish draft scheme 

 ! August/September 2012 - Formal public consultation on proposed 
scheme

 ! October 2012 - Final scheme agreed by full Council

 ! November/December 2012 - Software and systems design and Final 
financial implications included in budget planning for 2013/14  

 ! January 2013 - Testing for annual billing run - council tax base set - 
specific communication with affected households setting out changes 

 ! February 2013 - Council sets its budget 

 ! March 2013 - Council tax bills issued 

There is a detailed project plan that incorporates a wide range of other 
tasks.

Page 39



Report Page No: 6 

5. Implications

Financial Implications

5.1 The proposed changes in council tax support will have a significant 
affect on the income received by the authority. It may lead to council 
tax being collected from some of the most vulnerable members of our 
community who have not had to pay any council tax in the past at a 
time of reductions in welfare benefits and lower wages. This in turn is 
likely to lead to higher collection costs and the need for an increased 
write-off provision.  

5.2 It is not possible to quantify the full financial impact as it will be partly 
dependant on the impact on council tax collection levels. Any loss of 
income from reduced collection levels will be partly borne by the 
precepting authorities. 

5.3 The introduction of council tax support represents a significant transfer 
of “financial risk” from Central Government to Local Government. 

5.4 It should be noted that failure to make a scheme by 31st January 2013 
in the manner prescribed will lead to a default Government scheme 
being imposed upon the Council that takes no account of the 10% 
reduction in Government funding. 

Risk Management 

5.5 The Government has concluded in its own impact assessment that the 
key risks surround future need for council tax support. If demographic 
changes or economic circumstances mean that eligibility for council 
tax support increases significantly then the consequence of switching 
from a national to a local system will be that authorities bear more of 
the risk of a shortfall in funds.

5.6 The Council will need to closely monitor local social and economic 
changes to ensure that increased income from council tax reforms 
provides a surplus sum as a contingency for possible future shortfalls 
in funding and/or design a local scheme to allow for savings in excess 
of 10%.

Funding Arrangements 

5.7 Government funding for the localisation of council tax reduction 
schemes will be cut by 10%. This will be based on 90% of forecast 
council tax benefit expenditure for 2013-14. The funding will be an up- 
front allocation for all billing and major precepting authorities, and will 
not be ring-fenced. 

5.8 No account of unforeseen increased demand for support is taken into 
account when allocating the grant. The proposed fixed grant to local 
authorities represents a significant financial risk, as it will not include 
any provision to manage increased take up and demand. 

Page 40



Report Page No: 7 

5.9 The Council will also receive funding for the administration of the new 
council tax reduction scheme. There will be an increase in the 
administration costs for the Council of the new scheme and it is not 
clear whether this will be fully funded. 

5.10 The Council will have to design a new council tax reduction scheme 
that achieves a balance between delivering the expenditure reductions 
required and managing any adverse financial consequences on other 
council budgets, for example homelessness. 

Staffing Implications

5.11 Current levels of staff will need to be maintained initially.

Equal Opportunities Implications

5.12 Careful consideration will need to be given to the assessment of the 
equalities implications throughout the design and implementation of 
the new scheme. A thorough consultation and engagement process is 
being designed to support this. A full Equalities Impact Assessment 
will be prepared to support the decision on the proposed scheme and 
this will be refined following feedback from the formal consultation 
process and used to inform the decision on the final scheme. 

Environmental Implications

5.13 Nil.

Community Safety

5.14 Any reduction in council tax support will lead to a reduced income for 
those already in financial difficulty; which may have an impact upon 
crime and disorder. 

6. Consultation

6.1 Before the new scheme is made, the Council must in the following 
order:

 ! consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a 
precept to it, and 

 ! publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and  

 ! consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an 
interest in the operation of the scheme. 

6.2 These basic obligations may be supplemented by more detailed 
regulations, which impose requirements as to the preparation of a 
scheme, in particular for the publication of documents. 

6.3 A full consultation process is currently being prepared in accordance 
with legislative requirements, as they become known. In the event that 
the Council’s consultation policy is inconsistent with the legislative 

Page 41



Report Page No: 8 

requirements, full compliance will be given to the definition of a 
process of consultation as set out in R a Brent LBC ex p Gunnint. 

7. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Localising Support for Council Tax: A Statement of Intent 

Localising Support for Council Tax: Funding arrangements consultation 

Localising Support for Council Tax: Vulnerable people – key local authority 
duties

Localising Support for Council Tax: Taking work incentives into account 

All of which may be found on here: 

Communities and Local Government/Localising Council Tax Support

Local Government Finance Bill, which may be found here: 

Local Government Finance Bill.pdf

Technical Reforms to Council Tax 

Communities and Local government/Technical Reform to Council Tax

8. Appendices

Appendix A – Localised Council Tax Reduction – Scheme Options 

9. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Alison Cole

Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457701

Author’s Email: alison.cole@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 42



Appendix A - Localised Council Tax Reduction - Scheme Options 

 1

Financial support for council tax will no longer be part of the Social Security system; 
it will not become part of the universal credit, it will instead become a localised 
“benefit” in the form of a council tax reduction and be a local authority responsibility.  

Council tax support for pensioners is to be protected at existing levels with existing 
rules and will not be affected by this cut in spending. Local authorities will administer 
the scheme for pensioners using national rules. 

Local authorities have full discretion to design a scheme of their own choosing for 
working age people taking into account protection for vulnerable groups and local 
policies. 

The new local council tax reduction scheme must be in place by 31st January 2013.

Designing the scheme 
In designing the working age scheme, the Council is required to ensure vulnerable 
groups are protected and that no group is discriminated against due to disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation, 
and to: 

 ! comply with its general duties under: 

o The Equalities Act 2010, where the obligation is to "have due regard" to the 
need to tackle discrimination and not to eliminate discrimination to achieve 
results, and 

o The Child Poverty Act 2010, which imposes a duty on local authorities and 
their partners to have regard to and address child poverty, to reduce and 
mitigate the effects of child poverty in their local areas, and 

o The Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986, 
and Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, which include a range 
of duties relating to the welfare needs of disabled people, and 

o The Housing Act 1996, which gives local authorities a duty to prevent 
homelessness with special regard to vulnerable groups, and 

 ! increase work incentives, and 

 ! make 10% savings on the level of support offered or to realise those savings 
through the council tax base or absorb the 10% into the council’s budget. 

Additionally the Council will need to: 

 ! limit the impact on council tax collection, and

 ! effectively manage the financial risks that will inevitably be increased due to the 
introduction of this new scheme, and 

 ! consider software limitations, given the limited timescales to introduce the 
scheme.

Page 43



Appendix A - Localised Council Tax Reduction - Scheme Options 

 2

Local scheme options - working age only 

Option 1 - Retain current scheme and absorb 10% reduction 

Theoretically, the Council could decide upon a scheme, which retains the current 
level of outgoings and absorbs the 10% (£630k) reduction, although this would still 
have its own financial pressures and need its own criteria. This would also mean that 
the precepting authorities would also need to absorb their share of the 10% 
reduction in funding (Cambridge City’s reduction equates to approximately 11% of 
the overall reduction). 

Advantages of retaining most of the features of the current council tax benefit 
scheme is that: 

 ! it makes provision for many vulnerable groups through higher personal 
allowances and income disregards, and 

 ! it has also withstood equality challenges thus far, and 

 ! the software is already in place and has user defined parameters that allow for 
some minor adjustments to the scheme to be made without difficulty. 

Disadvantages of retaining most of the features of the current council tax benefit 
scheme is that: 

 ! it is complex, and 

 ! it acts as a disincentive to work, and 

 ! the reduction would have financial implications to other Council services. 

Option 2 - Retain current scheme and realise the 10% reduction from the 
council tax reforms for exempt dwellings and second homes 

Technical reforms to council tax contained in the Local Government Finance Bill will, 
if implemented, provide significant income so that it may be possible to continue with 
the same level of support for council tax as the current scheme.

Technical reforms of Council Tax 

The Government is making some technical reforms to council tax from 2012-13 that 
it says will enable local authorities to compensate the required 10% saving, these 
are:

 ! to allow billing authorities to levy up to 100% council tax on second homes, and 

 ! abolish class A exemption for empty dwellings under repair and class C 
exemptions for vacant dwellings and to allow a billing authority to instead give a 
discount of between 0% to 100% in each case, and 

 ! the option to levy an empty homes premium of up to 50% where a dwelling has 
been empty for at least two years. This means the maximum council tax could be 

Page 44



Appendix A - Localised Council Tax Reduction - Scheme Options 

 3

150% for long-term empty dwellings. Further financial modelling is required 
pending availability of software. 

For illustration purposes, the following amounts were awarded as council tax 
discounts and exemptions during 2011/12: 

 ! Class A = £68,304, empty dwellings under repair 

 ! Class C = £847,759 plus an additional £257,844 for unfurnished and unoccupied 
properties after 6 months 

 ! Second homes = £149,955 - furnished and not a sole or main residence 

It is envisaged that some form of council tax discount scheme will need to be 
retained for vacant dwellings. Therefore only a percentage of the above income 
levels may be realised.  

The discount for unfurnished and unoccupied dwellings will remain for a period of up 
to six months.  However, there will be flexibility to reduce the existing 100% discount 
to any value between 0% and 100%. 

This may also encourage property owners to bring their properties back into use as 
quickly as possible. This potential change in behaviour may lead to a reduction in 
empty dwellings. 

Although new residents will be liable for council tax, it is possible that a number of 
new residents may be dependent on a level of council tax support, thereby reducing 
income from council tax from these dwellings in future years. 

Further financial modelling will need to be carried out in order to identify the short-
term empty periods. It is anticipated that the software will be available within the next 
6-8 weeks. 

The Local Government Association is currently liaising with the relevant Government 
departments with regard to the potential impact on the calculation of the New Homes 
Bonus due to the council tax reform of discounts and exemptions. 

The advantages are as option 1 with the added advantage that the potential income 
from the council tax reforms is far in excess of the 10% reduction. 

The disadvantage of option 2 is that, like option 1, there is a lack of work incentives. 

It should also be noted that where the required savings can be achieved from the 
technical reforms alone; it does not detract from the Council’s obligation to make a 
council tax reduction scheme. 

Option 3 - Reduce levels of support and increase certain parameters to 
incentivise work

There are many possibilities open to the council when considering a council tax 
reduction scheme with the aim of reducing levels of support currently provided, by: 

1. amending various conditions to the means test in the current scheme, such as- 

a. increasing non-dependant reductions, and/or 

b. reducing the capital disregard, and/or 

c. reducing personal allowances, and/or 

Page 45



Appendix A - Localised Council Tax Reduction - Scheme Options 

 4

2. removing second adult rebate, and/or 

3. not allowing backdating and providing a one off hardship payment in only the 
most exceptional of circumstances, and/or 

4. removing underlying entitlement from the calculation of overpayments, and/or 

5. setting a minimum payment, such as £10 pw, so if entitlement was assessed at a 
level below this sum then no benefit would be payable, and/or 

6. setting a maximum eligible amount, e.g 80% of liability, or 

7. reducing the level of support by adding an extra final step into the calculation that 
make a further reduction of a set percentage across- 

a. all working age at say 18%, regardless of vulnerability, or

b. all those receiving jobseekers allowance or employment and support 
allowance (work-related activity group only) at say 25%, and/or 

8. set a maximum period of say 12 months (could be longer) entitlement for those fit 
enough to work, and/or 

9. excluding certain groups, home owners and the self-employed are two groups 
that have been mentioned. 

Work Incentives 

A key part of the welfare reform is to encourage people to go back into work or to 
increase the number of hours that they currently work to reduce the burden on the 
welfare state. 

The Council is required to take this into consideration when designing the local 
council tax support reduction scheme. 

The amount of earned income taken into account when calculating entitlement to 
council tax benefit has remained at the same level since the current scheme was 
introduced in 1988. It is recommended that earned income disregards be increased 
to increase the financial benefit of finding or increasing work. 

Conclusions 

In Cambridge, if the proposed reduction of 10% were spread equally across all 
working age claimants they would receive a reduction of 18% in their current level of 
support. This could easily be achieved by opting for 5, 6 or 7a above; this approach 
is often referred to as “equal pain”. 

However, this would mean starting to collect council tax from people who currently 
pay nothing because they qualify for a means-tested benefit, which is paid at safety 
net levels. Trying to collect small amounts of money from people in poverty often 
costs more to collect than the sum being collected.

Furthermore, the Council has a duty to protect the vulnerable so this would see the 
remaining working age group losing up to 25% of their current support. 

The Government has also made it very clear that work incentives should be at the 
heart of any scheme design; which makes it very difficult to reduce levels of support 

Page 46



Appendix A - Localised Council Tax Reduction - Scheme Options 

 5

to those who are in work. Indeed, improvements to work incentives such as an 
increase in the earned income disregards mean costs are likely to rise for this group 
of people rather than reduce. 

The last group, people receiving some council tax benefit who are not in work, do not 
receive enough council tax benefit in total to make it possible to reach the 10% 
savings target even if support were withdrawn completely.

It is therefore necessary to in some way reduce the current level of support for 
working age claimants getting full CTB.

Time limiting council tax reduction for those who are capable of work is perhaps an 
incentive for people to search for work or to take work that they would previously 
have refused to accept. It should be noted that if such a rule was accepted as part of 
the local scheme the Council could be expected to provide additional assistance with 
helping people to find work, especially those who have been long term unemployed. 
It can be difficult to persuade employers to take on the extra risk that come with 
employing certain people. This could potentially cost more in financial and human 
resources than is saved. 

The suggestion of excluding certain groups such as the self-employed or 
homeowners’ is fraught with difficulties. It might be necessary to “force” people to sell 
their home to realise some capital; that can take time and is controversial. It could 
mean those with little or no equity have no choice but to rent in the private sector, 
meaning both housing benefit and council tax reduction will be required at the new 
rented home.

To avoid making more people homeless, it would be necessary to carry out a 
property valuation and ascertain the value of any equity before deciding if it was cost 
effective in each case to restrict council tax support. This would be erroneous and 
costly.

It may also increase the burden on the Council of finding homes for families who 
become homeless due to such a policy, which would have an adverse effect on child 
poverty strategies. 

It does not appear however to be an equalities issue, but it could be open to 
challenge under the Human Rights Act. 

To exclude the self-employed would go against the Government’s policy of providing 
incentives for those who have been unemployed to start up their own business. 

If any of the above options for reducing the level of support were taken it would 
mean some very difficult decisions would have to be made. 

Recommendations

It is shown above that: 

 ! option 2 potentially provides the: 

o financial savings without introducing further “austerity” measures on those 
who claim help with their council tax, and 

o financial resources to fund the required work incentives, and 

 ! option 3 provides additional contingency savings to allow for: 

Page 47



Appendix A - Localised Council Tax Reduction - Scheme Options 

 6

o possible changes in Government policy intentions as the legislation 
passes through Parliament, or 

o forecasts that may be less than accurate due to the lack of current data in 
some areas, or 

o future changes in behaviour that may reduce the income from the council 
tax reforms 

It is therefore recommended that the Council adopt a combination of options 2 and 3, 
which includes some achievable amendments to the current scheme that would 
increase work incentives.

Page 48



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Strategy and Resources:  
Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Alan Carter – Head of Strategic Housing 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected:  All Wards 

CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL AFFORDABLE HOUSING AT CLAY FARM 
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The main purpose of this report is to highlight that under the new ‘self-
financing’ regime, the City Council now has the opportunity to retain 
ownership and management of the Affordable Housing on its land at 
Clay Farm. As this opportunity was not available when officers were 
given the approval to proceed with the project to dispose of its land in 
July 2011 it is appropriate to bring forward this report now. 

1.2 The report also provides an up-date to members of the Committee 
with progress on the project.

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

2.1 To approve, in principle, for the Council to own and manage up to 104 
Affordable Housing dwellings on the Council’s land at Clay Farm.

2.2 To delegate authority to the Director of Resources in liaison with the 
Director of Customer and Community Services and the Head of Legal 
Services to agree the transfer of land between the General Fund and 
the Housing Revenue Account under appropriate terms and 
conditions.

2.3 To note progress with the project to dispose of the Council’s land at 
Clay Farm.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background 

3.1 Cambridge City Council General Fund owns the freehold of 
approximately 2.73 hectares of land within the wider Clay Farm 
development area on the Southern Fringe.  This land will provide up to 
209 dwellings.   

3.2 In July 2011 the Executive Councillor gave approval for officers to 
pursue the disposal of the City Council’s land at Clay Farm with 
conditions placed on the sale in respect of quality design and higher 
standards of environmental sustainability and potentially the delivery 
of up to 50% Affordable Housing. Delegated authority was given to the 
Director of Resources and the Head of Legal Services to agree a 
procurement process to select a preferred partner to dispose of the 
land following consultation with the Leader; relevant Executive 
Councillors; and Opposition Spokespersons.

A report is required to be brought back to the Committee at the end of 
the procurement process to authorise that a contract be entered into 
with the preferred partner. Appendix 1 is a copy of a briefing paper 
sent recently to the Executive Councillor and Opposition 
Spokespersons that provides a progress report on the project.

3.3 The main purpose of this report is to highlight that under the new ‘self-
financing’ regime, the City Council now has the opportunity to retain 
ownership and management of the Affordable Housing itself and that 
this is due to be/has been considered by the Customer and 
Community Resources Committee on 28 June 2012 and the Executive 
Councillor for Housing has been requested to approve/has approved
delegated authority to pursue this option subject to the financially 
viability of the option.  

3.4 Under this option the Housing Revenue Account will purchase the 
Affordable Housing dwellings from the organisation selected through 
the procurement process.  This, in turn, will contribute to the land 
value the General Fund will receive from that organisation.

Page 50



Report Page No: 3 

4) Implications

a) Financial Implications

When a house-builder or developer brings forward a development 
proposal that is required through planning policy to include Affordable 
Housing it will offer the opportunity to Registered Providers (housing 
associations) to buy the Affordable Housing. These deals can take many 
forms and academically the value of the Affordable Housing land is 
assumed to be nil as part of the financial equation to keep the rents 
affordable.  

If the City Council is to provide the Affordable Housing on its land at Clay 
Farm it should be noted that the organisation that is selected through the 
procurement process will not have the opportunity to offer the Affordable 
Housing to the Registered Provider market. Therefore, independent 
validation of the price the Housing Revenue Account will pay for the 
Affordable Housing will be required to ensure that the General Fund 
receives the best value for its land taking in to account the conditions that 
have been applied by the Council to its sale.

(b) Staffing Implications

There are no staff implications associated with this report. The project to 
dispose of the Council’s land at Clay Farm is being taken forward by a 
officer project group. 

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

There are equal opportunities implications associated with this report.

(d) Environmental Implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report. The 
main project requires the Council’s land at Clay Farm to be developed as an 
exemplar in terms of environmental sustainability.  

(e) Consultation

Not applicable to this report. 

(f) Community Safety

Not applicable to this report. 

Page 51



Report Page No: 4 

5. Background papers 

Community Services Scrutiny Committee Report. Cambridge City Council 
Affordable Housing at Clay Farm. 28 June 2012. 

6. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Member Briefing Paper : Progress Report on Project to 
Dispose of the Council’s Land at Clay Farm.  

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Alan Carter
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457948
Author’s Email: alan.carter@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 52



Appendix 1 

Clay Farm – Land Disposal Project 

Briefing Note – June 2012

The Council’s ambitions for its land at Clay Farm

- a development of quality design 
- that sets exemplar sustainability standards 
- with 50% of the housing as Affordable Housing 
- that generates a capital receipt for the Council  
- with risk to the Council kept to a minimum 

1. The Project Group

A Project Group has been established with core membership of me 
(Project Lead); Sabrina Walston (Project Manager and Affordable 
Housing link); Emma Davies (Environmental Sustainability and 
Planning link); Phil Taylor (Property Service link); Debbie Quincey 
(Procurement); Chris Humphris (Principal Finance Officer) and 
Claire Walden (Legal link). Corresponding members include Glen 
Richardson (Urban Design); Patsy Dell (Head of Planning); 
Stephanie Fisher (Internal Audit); Chris Humphris (Principal 
Finance Officer); and Simon Pugh (Head of Legal). David Horspool 
is the ‘Project Champion’.

The Project Group has met on a monthly basis since July 2011.  

2. Project Timeline

Sabrina has worked up a detailed timeline for the project and this 
is monitored at monthly project meetings.  

Our key dates are

early June – issue OJEU Notice 
mid July – deadline for Pre-Qualification Questionnaire  
early August – issue Invitation to Tender 
early November – closing date for Tenders 
early February - award

25/06/2012 Page 1 of 6 Page 53



3. Collaboration Agreement

In 2006 it was approved we should enter into a Collaboration 
Agreement with Countryside Properties Limited whereby they, in 
effect, facilitate the outline planning approval and servicing of our 
site so that it fits with the rest of their Clay Farm development. 
Under the Collaboration Agreement we are due to pay Countryside 
Properties an estimated £5.4 million as our share of the costs of 
bringing the overall Clay Farm site forward for development. 

The Collaboration Agreement was first drafted before the 
completion of the section 106 agreement and the major planning 
appeal by Countryside in 2010 and prior to any start of works on-
site. A good deal of time has been spent over the last few months 
bringing the Collaboration Agreement up-to-date and it is important 
that the Agreement is signed off before we go much further with 
the land disposal project.

Two particular areas of attention have been; 

a. Negotiating with Countryside the upper limit of homes that 
can be provided on our land. If we were limited to 7% of the 
upper limit of 2250 homes that are due to be provided across 
the whole of Clay Farm as in the original draft of the 
Collaboration Agreement, we would only have been able to 
build 161 homes. The minimum density parameter for our 
site for planning purposes requires a development of a 
minimum of 191 homes to achieve a planning approval and 
we have agreed a limit of 209 homes.

b. Understanding the different options to pay our 7% 
contribution to the infrastructure costs and the detail behind 
what makes up the infrastructure costs.

Agreement has now been reached with Countryside on all of the 
main points and we are aiming to sign the Collaboration 
Agreement shortly. We have clarified that there is no restriction in 
either the section 106 agreement or the Collaboration Agreement 
that would prevent the Council, as landowner, requiring 50% 
Affordable Housing on our land. Also that if we do, other house-
builders will not be able ‘benefit’ by proving less than 40% 
Affordable Housing.

25/06/2012 Page 2 of 6 Page 54



4. Critical Friends 

In view of the Council’s high aspirations for the project we have felt 
it important to engage specialist external input to bring expert 
analysis to the project. To this end we have been working with 
three external consultants/organisations 

EYE (Lead Contact - Jon Sawyer) 

EYE is a small development and asset management consultancy 
that has gained a good reputation in facilitating award winning 
regeneration and new quality projects. When we met Jon Sawyer 
we were impressed with his sharp grasp of the main issues 
associated with our project and Eye have clear experience of 
delivering complex public sector projects. More information can be 
found on their web-site.

www.thisiseye.com

EYE has already been extremely helpful in providing us with the 
framework for our PQQ and ITT documents and examples of 
similar documents for similar projects.

Simon Carne 

Simon is a member of the Cambridgeshire Quality Panel. Simon is 
an architect and has agreed to spend two days to critique our initial 
draft tender documents and also to review the final draft 
documents. Simon has also offered to be part of the Evaluation 
Panel to look at the final submissions later this year.  

Glen Richardson has helped us get to know the above contacts 
and confirm that they are the right people to work with.

Building Research Establishment (Lead Contact – Kevin 
Scobell) 

Emma Davies has facilitated this contact and Kevin is interested in 
working with us to provide added expertise in respect of 
environmental sustainability. As former Chief Executive of the 
Hive, Kevin also has local contacts that should be helpful in 
developing our project.   

25/06/2012 Page 3 of 6 Page 55



5. Legals 

With the help of our internal legal colleagues we have secured the 
services of a single legal consultant, Sharpe Pritchard, to provide 
advice on the various dimensions to this project eg 

- provide an option appraisal of the legal routes to enforce our 
conditions on the land sale summarising the benefits and 
risks of each option 

- advise on VAT; Stamp Duty Land Tax and State Aid 
- advise on and action the consents we need from the 

government to dispose of the land 
- provide advice regarding procurement regulations
- advise and action the final land transactions

As Sharpe Pritchard has already acted on our behalf to develop 
the Collaboration Agreement and the section 106 planning 
agreement they are ideally placed to ensure there is no 
contradiction between these legal documents and any other that 
may be required to conclude the project.   

In going through the selection process to commission Sharpe 
Pritchard it became clear that disposal of the site by way of a 
Development Agreement and a build lease or licence was cited by 
most as the best way to meet our aspirations.  

6. Procurement Process 

We have begun to work up the tender documents. There will be 
three main stages to the Restricted Procedure tender process. 

Issue of the OJEU Notice. In effect the advertisement that will 
openly announce our project and invite organisations to register 
their interest. 

Pre-qualification Questionnaire (PQQ). The short-listing 
process. All interested organisations will submit information in a 
prescribed form to allow consistent analysis and evaluation. At this 
stage we are in particular testing bidders:  

 ! Commitment to high quality and sustainable development 
 ! Delivery skills and experience 
 ! Financial strength 

25/06/2012 Page 4 of 6 Page 56



We feel it would add weight to the PQQ if the covering letter is 
issued in the name of the Leader of the Council.  

Invitation to Tender (ITT). 5 organisations will be invited to submit 
their final costed bid. We still need to do more work on this 
document but in outline we will be testing organisations

Initial design proposal, for example; 

 ! A masterplan for the site, a design for across section of the 
development incorporating both residential and commercial 
uses and unit typologies. 

 ! A proposed phasing plan 

Financial Proposal, for example; 

We are anticipating  two options, either 100% up front or structured 
land payments.

Development Agreement 

 ! A mark up of our Development Agreement, in each case 
explaining the rationale for the change. The Council will have 
absolute requirements within this document that cannot be 
changed.

The production of the tender documents has been and will remain 
a team approach with input from legal, procurement, urban design 
and planning colleagues and external ‘critical friends’. 

6. Up-front Costs 

A budget of £117,000 has been approved to cover up-front costs 
such as legal costs; external specialist advice; procurement 
administration; quantity surveying; site surveys and other 
investigations.

25/06/2012 Page 5 of 6 Page 57



7. Member Engagement

Sabrina and I have found it helpful to have Member engagement at 
various stages of the project and we will strive to continue to do so 
in a way that is sensitive to the political balance of the Council. Our 
main briefings to date have been with the Leader and the 
Executive Councillor and I have also had one briefing with the 
Labour Group outside of any formal committee process. Recently 
we have briefed the Executive Councillor and Opposition 
Spokespersons on the terms and conditions of the Collaboration 
Agreement and took the opportunity to up-date them on progress 
with the project. We will continue to seek guidance from Members 
on when and how they would like to be briefed as we move 
forward with the project.  

Alan Carter 
Project Lead 

Sabrina Walston 
Project Manager

25/06/2012 Page 6 of 6 Page 58



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources: Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Director of Resources 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards

THE PUBLIC SERVICES (SOCIAL VALUE) ACT 2012 AND RESPONSE 
TO COUNCIL MOTION ABOUT THE COUNCIL’S USE OF 
CONTRACTORS

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

The purpose of this report is to advise the Executive Councillor and the 
Committee about an imminent change in legislation affecting procurement 
by the City Council, to recommend for approval the Council’s approach to 
fulfilling the new duty placed upon it by the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012 and to respond to the Notice of Motion (11/48b/CNLb) to Council 
on 21 July 2011 concerning the employment of contractors. 

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

2.1 To approve the process set out in this report to satisfy the duty placed 
on the Council by the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.  

2.2 For services procurements to which the Public Contracts Regulations 
2006 apply ie services procurement above the EU threshold, to instruct 
officers to: 

2.2.1 Identify ways in which the procurement might improve the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of Cambridge, when 
seeking authority to go out to tender; 

2.2.2 Conduct procurement processes with a view to securing the 
identified improvements; 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 9

Page 59



Report Page No: 2 

2.2.3 Take account of the Council’s Vision Statement, Environmental 
Objectives and Strategic Objectives identified in Portfolio Plans in 
considering how the “Social Value” duty is discharged. 

2.3 Instruct officers to consider the issues referred to in the Notice of 
Motion (11/48b/CNLb) in the light of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
2012 and to recommend appropriate provisions in the new Procurement 
Strategy which will be reported to the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee in October 2012.

3. Background 

3.1 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 (“the Act”) places a duty 
on public authorities to consider how a procurement for services might 
improve the economic, social and environmental well being of the “relevant 
area”, in our case, Cambridge (“the social values”). This consideration has 
to be exercised in advance of the formal start of the procurement (ie before 
the OJEU notice or any other advertisement is published). There are no 
penalties for non-compliance. 

3.2 The Act has not yet come into force but the Commencement Order is 
expected in the near future – together, we hope, with some clear guidance 
notes about the detailed application of the provisions of the Act. 

3.3 The Act only applies to services contracts to which the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006 apply ie those above the EU threshold 
(currently £173,934 over the life of the contract) but does not apply to 
service contracts that are “called off” from Framework contracts or to Works 
or Supplies contracts.  To give members an idea about the sort of contracts 
to which the Act applies, in the current year, if the Act is brought into effect, 
relevant procurements would be the ICT Management Contract, the Leisure 
Management Contract and the Cleaning Contract. The Act is therefore 
limited in application. 

3.4 The extent to which the Act can be applied to contracts is also limited 
by the requirements in the legislation for the economic, social and 
environmental improvements (the Social Value improvements) to be directly 
relevant to the subject matter of the contract and proportionate to its value. 
Establishing this direct connection will be essential to the legitimacy of any 
requirement and the extent to which it can be defended in the face of any 
challenge.

Page 60



Report Page No: 3 

3.5 The Act does not override either:

 ! the requirement on the Council to achieve value for money; or 

 ! the requirements of public procurement law (as set out in the relevant 
EU Directives and the Public Contracts Regulations 2006).  Therefore 
we must always act in ways that are non-discriminatory, fair and 
transparent when we conduct procurement exercises and award 
contracts.

These requirements, together with the restrictions in the legislation mean 
that some of the aspirations that members have for procurement – the use 
of local suppliers and local employees or, as can be seen below, trying to 
regulate a contractor’s staff terms and conditions of employment  - are likely 
still to be difficult to realise unless clear connectivity between such 
requirements and the purpose of the contract can be clearly established.

3.6 The Act does relax, to some extent, the rules about “non-commercial 
considerations” rules set out in s.17 of the Local Government Act 1988 
(“section 17”) and it is this relaxation that officers will explore in responding 
to the Notice of Motion referred to in the Executive Summary above. 

3.7 Section 17 places a specific duty on local authorities when awarding 
contracts for works, services or supplies, to exercise that function without 
reference to matters that are “non-commercial matters”.  The most 
significant non-commercial matters, as far as previous procurements have 
been concerned, have been those relating to the terms and conditions of 
employment by contractors of their workers and the country of or territory of 
origin of supplies to contractors.

3.8 Consideration of Social Values under the 2012 Act will not now be 
automatically treated as taking into account a prohibited non-commercial 
matter under the 1988 Act but only insofar as this is necessary to meet the 
duty under the Act to achieve the Social Value improvement in a way that is 
proportionate and relevant to the subject matter of the contract.  

As an example, if we were able to identify a direct relationship between an 
economic or social value improvement to Cambridge and the subject matter 
of a services procurement we might seek to regulate the contractor’s 
employee terms to achieve the improvement.  However the regulated terms 
would only apply to those employees of the contractor directly employed in 
the delivery of the service.  It would not apply to all of that contractor’s 
employees.

Page 61



Report Page No: 4 

3.9 We could choose to apply the principles of the Act voluntarily to more 
than the large services procurements but we could not rely on the protection 
given by the Act in the same way.  We would not have the freedoms with 
regard to the consideration of non-commercial matters referred to below for 
anything other than the large services procurements that are caught by the 
Act.

4. Examples of Social Value improvements

4.1 There is no definition of “social value” given in the legislation but in 
simple terms it means that the delivery of a service on behalf of the Council 
will leave the community in Cambridge better off, in economic, social and/or 
environmental terms than it was before contracted service was delivered. 

4.2 Social Value improvements can be achieved through our 
procurements in two ways.   

4.2.1 The first way, that we currently use, is to design the project 
procurement strategy appropriately.  For example, if one of our Social 
Value improvements for a project is to increase the involvement of 
smaller companies in the delivery of a service we could structure our 
procurement to make a large contract more accessible eg: 

 ! By dividing it into specialist Lots so that small specialist 
companies could apply for that Lot only; or 

 ! By dividing it into smaller, eg area based Lots, so that small 
companies could tender for a part of a contract only. 

Dividing a contract into Lots does not guarantee that a small company 
will succeed.  Such companies would have to compete on a level 
playing field with other, potentially larger, bidders but an appropriate 
structure increases the opportunity for smaller company participation. 
The practical consequences of having a number of smaller contracts 
to manage has to be considered by the procuring service. 

4.2.2 The second way, and the one to which the new Act refers, is to 
use a contractor to deliver the identified economic, social or 
environmental improvement through a contract.

4.3 The idea of securing what has previously been called “added value” 
through large procurements is not new to the Council. Most recently, Apollo, 
(the Planned Maintenance Contractor), has given commitments to provide 
the following: 

Page 62



Report Page No: 5 

 ! The creation of one apprentice per £2million annual spend. 
 ! One, two- week work placement per £1million of work per year.  

Working with local schools to improve interview techniques and job 
applications in general 

 ! A four-day Red Cross first training course for tenants.  One person per 
£1million of work per year.

4.3 Other examples of Social Value improvements cited in information 
about the new Act have included: 

 ! Local employment and/or employment from particular groups eg 
unemployed or disadvantaged groups 

 ! Sourcing of materials and goods from the local area 
 ! Improving employment standards and practices (eg the Living 

Wage).

What we might or might not be able to pursue as social value improvements 
will have to be considered on a case by case basis but it is likely that radical 
attempts to influence or regulate where a contractor recruits staff or sources 
materials from or how it employs its staff will fail for want of a clear, 
proportionate connection with the contract and therefore be open to 
challenge on the basis of anti-competitiveness. 

5. What we need to do 

5.1 In preparation for the Act coming into force the Council needs to do 
the following: 

 ! Be clear about the process that we will go through to satisfy the duty 
placed on us by the new Act; 

 ! Identify the basis for economic, social and environmental value 
improvements that the Council will pursue through its services 
procurements;    

 ! Review our Contract Procedure Rules and Procurement Strategy to 
incorporate reference to the duty, agreed process and basis for 
identifying project specific economic, social and environmental value 
improvements;

 ! Update the Equalities Impact Assessment template to reflect the 
requirement of the new duty. 

 ! Update procurement guidance – particularly relating to the evaluation 
of social value improvement commitments/projects and to the means 
of securing the improvement through the procurement process 

 ! Update appropriate report templates
 ! Provide briefing/training to colleagues/Members as required. 

Page 63



Report Page No: 6 

5.2 The Contract Procedure Rules (part 4G of the Constitution) will be 
reviewed as part of the bureaucracy busting work that is currently underway 
and the new draft Procurement Strategy (to replace the existing one that 
expires at the end of November 2012) will be reported to the next cycle of 
meetings. Subject to the 2012 Act being effective, the new strategy will set 
out the Council’s corporate social values and the procedure for setting 
project specific values for its major services procurements as set out below. 

6. The proposed process 

6.1 The following process is suggested for identifying the relevant Social 
Value improvements for each service procurement: 

a.  Prior to the publication of the OJEU notice or other advertisements, the 
relevant project team will identify ways in which the procurement might 
improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of Cambridge 
and consult as required; 

b.  The project team will consider whether the initiatives to deliver the 
improvement will be specified by the Council or whether bidders will be left 
to identify them; 

c.  The report seeking authority from the Executive Councillor (via the 
Scrutiny Committee) to go out to tender for a service will include 
recommendations for approval for the project specific Social Value 
improvements to be sought and the approach to be taken in the 
procurement; 

d.  The project team will incorporate appropriate provisions in the tender 
documents and contract to make delivery of the improvement a contractual 
commitment.

e.  The contract manager will monitor achievement of the improvement and 
report outcomes as part of the contract management monitoring process. 

6.2 It is recommended that the City Council’s corporate economic, social 
and environmental values, from which project specific improvements can be 
drawn, are as set out in the Vision Statement and the Strategic Objectives in 
each Portfolio Plan.

6.3 For example only, to show how the above process might work in 
relation to the forthcoming Leisure Management services procurement, one 
of our Social Value improvements could be “to enhance leisure and sports 
opportunities for disadvantaged young people in Cambridge” (derived from 
Vision Statement “A city which celebrates its diversity, unites in its priority 
for the disadvantaged and strives for shared community well being” and 

Page 64



Report Page No: 7 

Community Development and Health Strategic Objective 2 “Provide a high 
quality, universal service for children and young people of Cambridge”).  We 
could identify the bidders’ contribution to this eg:

 ! By providing free first aid training to a number of parents attending 
play groups in the City; or 

 ! By providing signing or other specialist training opportunities to 
swimming teachers to encourage attendance of hard of hearing 
children at swimming lessons. 

In both cases, the number of courses/individuals trained would be linked to 
the value of spend on contract services to satisfy the requirement for 
proportionality.

Alternatively we could leave bidders to identify their own ideas but making it 
clear that initiatives need to contribute to achieving the improvement and be 
measurable and monitorable. 

7.  Response to the Council Motion about the use of Contractors. 

7.1 A Notice of Motion was considered by Council at the meeting on 21 July 
2011, as set out below.

“The Council is committed to employing Contractors who treat their staff well, 
and who consistently and fully meet expected employment and health and 
safety standards. 

The Council calls on the Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources to bring forward a report to the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee to review its existing standards for contractors seeking future 
contracts, including,

- appropriate pay rate policies 

- pension scheme entitlement for all staff 

- health and safety, including provision and wearing of Personal 
Protective Equipment 

- trade union recognition 

- regular reporting of compliance with equalities and employment 
legislation, and 

Page 65



Report Page No: 8 

- appropriate wider terms and conditions for the work involved and to 
also minimise all inappropriate use of agency workers, whether by 
Contractors or by the Council.”

7.2 The current position 

Other than provisions relating to Health and Safety (including PPE), 
equalities and other relevant employment matters where there is a strong 
legislative framework, (and some limited exceptions referred to below), the 
current legal position is quite restrictive with regard to the extent to which a 
local authority can take account of a contractor’s terms and conditions of 
employment for their staff and sub-contractors because these are deemed to 
be ”non commercial matters”.  

As explained above, a council’s power to take account of non-commercial 
matters in carrying out it’s procurement activities are substantially restricted 
by the provisions of the 1988 Act.

The position with regard to non-commercial matters was relaxed to some 
extent by legislation in 2001 and these are the exceptions referred to above.  
This legislation made it clear that workforce considerations could be 
considered in two cases – but two cases only. 

The first case is where workforce issues are relevant to the cost and quality 
of services to be provided.  Guidance makes it clear that we can only 
consider such issues where they relate directly to “best value and the delivery 
of the contract”.  Case law has limited application of this but it does enable us 
to look, for example, at how (where/what and frequency) staff are trained to 
deliver the particular service in question. 

The second case is where the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment” Regulations 2006 (TUPE) applies.

7.3  The current position and the future 

As suggested above the 2012 Act may give more scope for consideration of 
Social Value improvements but the extent of this is far from certain. 

Set out below is a statement of the current position in relation to each item 
listed in the Motion. The limited potential for the position to be reviewed with 
regard to some of these matters in the light of the 2012 Act is considered at 
the end of this section: 

Page 66



Report Page No: 9 

a.  Appropriate Pay Policies

The council does not have pay rate policies applicable to contractors.  The 
requirement to pay the minimum wage is enforced by national legislation.  
The payment rates of a contractor’s employees are non-commercial matters.

Going forward there may be scope (depending upon guidance when 
published) for project specific requirements about pay policies to be 
developed for major services procurements if such requirements are 
demonstrably relevant and proportionate to the subject matter of the 
procurement.  If a connection can be made, any requirement would only 
apply to employees employed on the contract and not the contractor’s 
workforce as a whole.

The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 
(TUPE) protects terms and conditions of employees at the point of transfer 
when transferring between service providers.  When a TUPE transfer takes 
place, the new employer inherits the contracts of employment of the 
transferring staff existing immediately before the transfer took place. This 
includes pay related matters. As part of the contract award negotiations 
matters relating to the current contracts of employment, terms and conditions 
and collective bargaining agreements are discussed with the new employer 
and any proposed changes, referred to as ‘measures’ are subject to 
consultation with the trade unions.  

For temporary agency workers, the Agency Worker Directive 2011 requires 
equal treatment in respect of the 'relevant terms and conditions' ordinarily 
incorporated into the contracts of those working for the hirer. This means the 
relevant terms and conditions in collective agreements, relevant pay scales 
and terms generally included in employees' contracts of employment.  
Relevant terms and conditions' are defined as:

 ! pay (pay, plus any fee, bonus, commission, or other payment directly 
referable to the employment, such as overtime or unsocial hours 
payments);

 ! the duration of working time, night work, rest periods, rest breaks and 
annual leave.  

These rights are subject to a 12-week qualifying period.

b.  Pension Scheme entitlement for all staff

Pensions are non-commercial matters, except where TUPE applies.  Current 
legislation requires, where TUPE applies, that contractors must have either 
Admitted Body Status or a GAD (Government Actuarial Department) certified 
scheme.

Page 67



Report Page No: 10 

For temporary workers or consultants we are not required to consider 
pension requirements.

Changes to pension law mean that employers will be required to auto-enrol 
certain workers into a qualifying pension scheme and make contributions to 
the scheme on the workers' behalf. The auto-enrolment rules will be phased 
in from 1 October 2012, beginning with the largest employers. 

Employers will be required to register with the Pensions Regulator and will 
have a duty to provide certain information to their workers about the changes 
to workplace pensions and how they will be affected. 

Workers will be able to opt out of the pensions scheme once they have been 
automatically enrolled. Employers will have a duty to re-enrol those workers 
automatically every three years.

The pensions auto-enrolment provisions affect  'eligible jobholders', who 
satisfy certain requirements by reference to their age and earnings i.e aged 
between 22 and the state pension age, working or ordinarily working in the 
UK; and earning above a certain amount (currently set as £8,105 per 
annum).

c.  Health and safety, including provision and wearing of Personal Protective 
Equipment

Health and safety matters are covered by extensive legislation.  As part of the 
procurement process for contracts, health and safety matters are explored 
either at PPQ stage, or at tender stage through consideration of method 
statements.   Appropriate terms and conditions are included in individual 
contracts.  Health and safety considerations, including use of PPE where 
appropriate are monitored throughout the life of a contract.

Where temporary workers or consultants are working on behalf of the council, 
a first day health and safety induction process should be undertaken and 
arrangements are monitored through the assignment. 

d.  Trade union recognition 

This is currently a non-commercial matter.  For contracts where TUPE 
applies trade union recognition and arrangements are considered and agreed 
as part of the ‘measures’ discussions.  

Page 68



Report Page No: 11 

e.  Regular reporting of compliance with equalities and employment 
legislation, contract stage 

Equality and employment matters are covered by extensive legislation.  As 
part of the procurement process for contract, equality and employment 
matters are explored either at PPQ stage, or at tender stage through 
consideration of method statements.    

For contracts where TUPE applies employment matters are considered as 
part of the ‘measures’ discussions.

f.  Appropriate wider terms and conditions for the work involved and to also 
minimise all inappropriate use of agency workers, whether by Contractors or 
by the Council.

Any requirements relating to the terms on which an employer employees his 
staff that are additional to the current legislative requirements, are non 
commercial matters that, for the reasons set out above,  cannot be taken into 
account by procuring authority and cannot be enforced. 

Going forward there may be scope (depending upon guidance about the 
implementation of the 2012 Act) for project specific requirements about pay 
policies, pension policies and terms and conditions to be incorporated if such 
requirements are demonstrably relevant and proportionate to the subject 
matter of the procurement. As explained above, such regulation would only 
apply to the contractor’s employees directly involved in the delivery of the 
contract services.  Establishing a strong link between the matters referred to 
in this section and the subject matter of the contract is not always going to be 
easy or obvious. 

Even if connections can be made Members will, on each occasion, want to 
balance the financial and non-financial advantages and disadvantages of any 
particular approach when determining the most appropriate package to put to 
the market. 

8.  Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications arising from this report. However, the 
financial implications arising from a decision to pursue certain economic, 
social or environmental improvements through a procurement for services 
will need to be considered when reports seeking authority to go out to 
tender are put forward for approval. 

Page 69



Report Page No: 12 

In addition to the implications for the Council, the procuring service and 
Members will have to consider what impact improvement initiatives might 
have on the market, in particular on small/medium enterprises. 

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

None.
(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

An Equality Impact Assessment has been conducted on the process 
recommended in this report. 

(d) Environmental Implications

As part of this section, assign a climate change rating to your 
recommendation(s) or proposals. 

 ! Nil: the proposal has no climate change impact. 

(e) Consultation 

The Head of Legal Services, the Head of Human Resources and the 
Strategic Procurement Adviser have been consulted about this report. 

There will be consultation about the Procurement Strategy prior to reporting 
this to Strategy and Resources Committee in October. 

This report recommends the consultation to be undertaken in connection 
with each relevant procurement affected by this report. 

(f) Community Safety

There are no community safety implications 

9. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012
The Public Contracts Regulations 2006 
The Local Government Act 1988 
Equality Impact Assessment 
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/docs/Social-Value-Act-EqIA-
June2012.pdf

Page 70



Report Page No: 13 

10. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Deborah Simpson, Debbie Quincey and Simon 
Pugh

Author’s Phone Number: 01223 – 458101 or 01223 457400

Author’s Email: Deborah.simpson@cambridge.gov.uk or 
debbie.quincey@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources: Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Alison Cole - Head of Revenues and Benefits 
Services

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

Risk Based Verification 

1. Purpose of Report

This report is intended for the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee. Its purpose is to seek approval for the adoption of the Risk 
Based Verification (RBV) Policy in determining evidence requirements 
for the assessment of new Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
claims.

Appendices to Report: 

Appendix A – Evidence requirement for each risk category 

Appendix B – Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) Circular 

Appendix C – Legal framework 

2. Executive Summary

2.1 The Verification Framework Policy was initially introduced by the 
Department for Work and Pensions as guidance in line with the Social 
Security Administration Act 1992 for administering Housing and 
Council Tax Benefit claims. It recommended that local authorities 
obtain a substantial amount of documentary evidence, carry out 
numerous pre-payment checks and visits before making any payment. 
Although the old Framework policy was formally abandoned in 2006 (it 
had been shown to be both costly and the cause of significant delays in 
the processing of claims), Authorities still have a duty to secure the 

Risk Based Verification Page 1 of 15 1

Agenda Item 10

Page 73



gateway against fraud and error and provide assurances to 
Department for Work and Pensions and Auditors alike that measures 
are in place. So the old framework was retained, almost in it’s entirety, 
within Housing and Council Tax Benefits.

2.2 In 2011 the DWP piloted a new scheme – Risk Based Verification – 
with a small number of authorities.  This concentrates on the risk profile 
of each claimant, so that resources can then be targeted at the higher 
risk groups where most of the fraud and error occurs.

2.3 The success of the pilot resulted in the DWP confirming that all 
authorities can now adopt this approach from April 2012 (Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Circular S11/2011, attached at 
Appendix B).

2.4 It is intended that RBV will only apply to new Housing Benefit 
claims at the moment. However, discussions are taking place nationally 
with DWP about widening the approach to include changes in 
circumstances. The process can also be applied to reviews, 
overpayments and other similar processes within Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit. The DWP has recently stated, “we are trying to 
release the shackles and allow benefits services to do what they’ve 
sought to do for many years”. It is expected that RBV will continue to 
be used when Council Tax Benefit is replaced in April 2013 by a new 
scheme to be known as The Localisation of Council Tax Support.   

2.5 The experience of those local authorities involved in the pilot 
scheme showed that it reduced the burden on customers to provide 
excessive evidence and also reduced the cost of administering claims. 
The latter was achieved because there was not the same level of need 
to write to customers pursuing excessive evidence and the scanning of 
that evidence. Furthermore, it identified higher levels of error and 
potential fraud from some cases. 

3. Recommendation 

The Executive Councillor is recommended to –

3.1 Approve the RBV Policy and agree that RBV is implemented for 
new claims by the Council following consultation with External Audit, 
(start date to be agreed pending full testing) and for changes in 
circumstances when approval for this is given by DWP. 

Risk Based Verification Page 2 of 15 2Page 74



4. Background

4.1 Cambridge City Council must adhere to Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit legislation. The regulations within the legislation do 
not specify what information and evidence they should obtain from a 
benefit customer. However, it does require an authority to have 
information that allows an accurate assessment of a claimant’s 
entitlement, both when a claim is first made and when the award is 
reviewed. The legislation is supplemented by detailed guidance from 
Government and this must be applied. Failure to do so would lead to 
an adverse inspection report, possible audit sanctions and loss of 
subsidy.  

4.2 Given those requirements, quality assurance and detection of 
fraud are key aspects of the assessment process. This has led over a 
period of time to a complex and demanding process of verification.  

5. Risk Based Verification

5.1 Risk Based Verification is a method of applying different levels of 
checks to different circumstances depending on a complex 
mathematical risk profile given to each customer. The associated risk 
matrix is based on many years of experience and statistical information 
about what type of claim represents what type of risk. The higher the 
deemed risk, the more resources that will be allocated to establish that 
the claim is genuine.  

5.2 The pilots have demonstrated that this type of approach is very 
effective in identifying higher levels of fraud and error and reducing the 
overall cost of verifying claims. It has had an immediate impact on work 
processes in that resources can be better targeted. Overall timescales 
for processing new claims have improved in the pilots, including those 
deemed to be higher risk. DWP intend to use a similar RBV process 
when Universal Credit is introduced in late 2013. 

6. How Cambridge City Council Will Apply Risk Based Verification 

6.1 It is intended to implement an IT solution for Risk Based 
Verification. The provider of the software is Coactiva Aspiren Ltd who 
already provide the software to the 16 local authorities currently using 
RBV. This will establish the level of risk for verification purposes and 

Risk Based Verification Page 3 of 15 3Page 75



rank this risk into one of three categories – these being Low, Medium 
or High Risk.  The table at Appendix A shows the requirement to be 
upheld dependent on the risk grouping. In all cases, irrespective of the 
risk group, evidence of a person’s National Insurance number and 
identity must be provided.  

Low Risk
The only checks that need to be carried out on such a case are 
evidence of identity, confirmation of a National Insurance number and, 
if they are a student, formal confirmation of that status would be 
required.

Medium Risk
Claims in this category must have the same checks as low risk claims, 
plus documentary evidence of every type of income and capital is also 
required.

High Risk 
All high risk claims must have the same checks as low risk and 
medium risk. In addition, all claims will have a Credit Reference Check 
(CRA) completed to determine if there are any discrepancies between 
the information provided by the customer and the information available 
via CRA checks. Assessment Officers who will be trained to analyse 
the information from these checks will carry out the CRA checks. 
Additionally, 10% of the high risk claims will have a visit. 

7. Recording, Monitoring and Training

7.1 In line with the Department of Work and Pensions guidance, it is 
expected that around 55% of claims could be Low Risk, 25% Medium 
and 20% High. 

7.2 Detailed records of all risk scores will be maintained and reviewed 
to ensure compliance with the Regulations and that the Council is 
maintaining proper quality control and fraud interventions and for audit 
inspection.

7.3 Risk scores cannot be downgraded at any time by an Assessment 
Officer, but they can be upgraded with approval from a Team Leader. 
All cases that are upgraded will be recorded along with an explanation 
for this, so that this information can be fed through to the software 
parameters if errors are found. Reasons for upgrading a claim may 

Risk Based Verification Page 4 of 15 4Page 76



include previous fraud, previous late notification of changes in 
circumstances, or where there is good reason to doubt the veracity of 
the information provided. 

7.4 The Council will monitor the effect of RBV on the fraud and error 
rates by comparing it to the current baseline rate. It is expected that the 
levels of fraud and error will be small in the Low Risk group, increasing 
in the Medium Risk group and then further increasing in the High Risk 
group.  Furthermore, Cambridge City Council also undertakes a 
minimum of 4% checks across all assessments to make sure guidance 
is adhered to correctly. 

7.5 Training will be provided for all officers using RBV to ensure the 
agreed processes, procedures and guidelines are adhered to. 
Discussions will take place with all internal and external stakeholders, 
including fraud staff, housing staff, social landlords and the voluntary 
sector so that they are fully aware of the change. 

7.6 In terms of audit requirements, the DWP has confirmed that RBV, 
properly applied, will meet audit requirements. We shall maintain a 
dialogue with our external auditors to ensure that we are not placing 
the Council at risk through the adoption of this policy. Internal audit 
processes will also have to be amended.

8. Financial Implications

8.1 The cost of the software is £14,500 per annum for an initial two-
year period. This will cover the Council up to the point at which 
Universal Credit is due to be introduced and this sum can be found 
within the existing budget for Revenue and Benefit Services.

8.2 The experience of other local authorities that have adopted Risk 
Based Verification is that more fraud and error has been identified at 
the Benefits Gateway. This is fraud and error that would otherwise 
have entered the Benefits system. This could then become subject to 
investigative work and result in the need to collect overpayments. 
Alternatively it could remain unidentified at an ongoing cost to the 
public purse. By identifying more fraud and error at the gateway we 
reduce these costs, and risk based verification provides the means to 
achieving this result. The solution we adopt will allow us to quantify the 
result of this approach. 

Risk Based Verification Page 5 of 15 5Page 77



8.3 In addition to the above benefits, introducing RBV and the software 
that will facilitate it, can also be used for the new Council Tax Support 
Scheme.

9. Staffing Implications

9.1 Nil.

10. Environmental Implications

10.1 Nil.

11. Equalities Impact

11.1 Risk Based Verification will apply to all New Claims for Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Benefit. A mathematical model is used to 
determine the Risk score for any claim. This model does not take into 
account any of the protected characteristics dealt with by the Equalities 
Act.

11.2 The course of action to be taken in respect of the risk score is 
governed by this policy and as such there should not be any equalities 
impact.

11.3 It is possible that people with certain protected characteristics may 
be over or under represented in any of the risk groups. As such 
monitoring will be carried out to ascertain whether this is the case. As 
this is a new approach to verifying benefit claims, there is no baseline 
monitoring we can use as a comparison.

12. Legal Implications

12.1 The Risk Based Verification Policy we are proposing to adopt, 
complies with the recommendations from the Department of Works and 
Pensions (DWP) outlined in Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
Circular HB/CTB S11/2011. This Circular can be found at Appendix B. 
It should be noted that this policy will be the basis on which we are 
audited in the future. Providing that we comply with this policy, we will 
be deemed to be verifying claims in the correct way. For this reason, 
the Council’s Section 151 Officer must approve the policy. In the 

Risk Based Verification Page 6 of 15 6Page 78



Risk Based Verification Page 7 of 15 7

Circular the DWP also require this policy be approved by Elected 
Members.

12.2 The relevant legal framework for verification of Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Benefit claims is provided in Appendix C.

13. Inspection of Papers

13.1 To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on 
the report please contact: 

Name and contact details of author: - 
Alison Cole 
Head of Revenue and Benefit Services 
Tel No. 01223 457701 
Email: Alison.cole@cambridge.gov.uk 

Page 79



Appendix A – Evidence Checklist

Type of Evidence Sub-category of evidence Low Risk Medium Risk High Risk 

Identity and S19 Identity Originals or 
Photocopies  

Originals or 
Photocopies 

Originals 
required 

S19 Originals or 
Photocopies 
accepted 

Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Residency/Rent Private Tenants Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Social Landlords Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Public Sector 

Registered Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Household Composition Partner ID/S19/Income/Capital Originals or 
Photocopies 
accepted  

Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Dependants under 18 Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Non-dependants - remunerative work Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Non-dependants – passported benefit 

Non-dependant - student Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Non-dependant - not in remunerative work/other Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Income State Benefits 

Earnings/SMP/SSP Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Self employed earnings Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Child Care Costs Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Student Status Income also required Originals or 
Photocopies 
accepted 

Originals or 
Photocopies 

Originals 
required 

Capital Below lower capital limit Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 
if over £5500 for 
Working Age or over 
£9500 for Elderly - not 
required if under 
these amounts  

Originals if over 
£5500 for 
Working Age or 
over £9500 for 
Elderly - not 
required if under 
these amounts 

Above lower capital limit Originals or 
Photocopies  

Originals 
required 

Property Originals or 
Photocopies accepted 

Originals 
required 

Risk Based Verification Page 8 of 15 8Page 80



Appendix B – DWP Housing Benefit  & Council Tax Benefit 
Circular S11/2011

Risk-Based Verification of HB/CTB Claims Guidance

Introduction

1. This guidance outlines the Department’s policy on Risk-Based 
Verification (RBV) of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
(HB/CTB) claims.  

Background

2. RBV allows more intense verification activity to be focused on 
claims more prone to fraud and error. It is practiced on aspects of 
claims in Jobcentre Plus (JCP) and the Pension Disability and 
Carers Service (PDCS). Local authorities (LAs) have long argued 
that they should operate a similar system. It is the intention that 
RBV will be applied to all Universal Credit claims.

3. Given that RBV is practised in JCP and PDCS, the majority (up 
to 80%) of HB/CTB claims received in an LA may have been 
subject to some form of RBV. Already 16 LAs operate RBV. 
Results from these LAs have been impressive. In each case the % 
of fraud and error identified has increased against local baselines 
taken from cells 222 and 231 of the Single Housing Benefit Extract 
(SHBE), monthly data collection regime to DWP. In addition, in 
common with the experience of JCP and PDCS there have been 
efficiencies in areas such as postage and storage and processing 
times have improved.

4. We therefore wish to extend RBV on a voluntary basis to all 
LAs from April 2012.
This guidance explains the following;  

  What is RBV?

  How does RBV work?

  The requirements for LAs that adopt RBV.

Risk Based Verification Page 9 of 15 9Page 81



  How RBV claims will be certified.

  What are the subsidy implications?

What is RBV? 

5. RBV is a method of applying different levels of checks to benefit 
claims according to the risk associated with those claims. LAs will 
still be required to comply with relevant legislation (Social Security 
Administration Act 1992, section 1 relating to production of 
National Insurance numbers to provide evidence of identity) while 
making maximum use of intelligence to target more extensive 
verification activity on those claims shown to be at greater risk of 
fraud or error.

6. LAs have to take into account HB Regulation 86 and Council 
Tax Benefit Regulation 72 when verifying claims. The former 
states:

“a person who makes a claim, or a person to whom housing 
benefit has been awarded, shall furnish such certificates, 
documents, information and evidence in connection with the claim 
or the award, or any question arising out of the claim or the award, 
as may reasonably be required by the relevant authority in order to 
determine that person’s entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to 
housing benefit and shall do so within one month of being required 
to do so or such longer period as the relevant authority may 
consider reasonable.” 
Council Tax Benefit Regulation 72 is similar.  

7. These Regulations do not impose a requirement on authorities 
in relation to what specific information and evidence they should 
obtain from a claimant. However, it does require an authority to 
have information which allows an accurate assessment of a 
claimant’s entitlement, both when a claim is first made and when 
the claim is reviewed. A test of reasonableness should be applied.

Risk Based Verification Page 10 of 15 10Page 82



How does RBV work? 

8. RBV assigns a risk rating to each HB/CTB claim. This 
determines the level of verification required. Greater activity is 
therefore targeted toward checking those cases deemed to be at 
highest risk of involving fraud and/or error.

9. The classification of risk groups will be a matter for LAs to 
decide. For example, claims might be divided into 3 categories:  

Low Risk Claims: Only essential checks are made, such as 
evidence of identity. Consequently these claims are processed 
much faster than before and with significantly reduced effort from 
Benefit Officers without increasing the risk of fraud or error.

Medium Risk Claims: These are verified in the same way as all 
claims currently, with evidence of original documents required. As
now, current arrangements may differ from LA to LA and it is up to 
LAs to ensure that they are minimising the risk to fraud and error 
through the approach taken.

High Risk Claims: Enhanced stringency is applied to verification. 
Individual LAs apply a variety of checking methods depending on 
local circumstances. This could include Credit Reference Agency 
checks, visits, increased documentation requirements etc. 
Resource that has been freed up from the streamlined approach to 
low risk claims can be focused on these high risk claims.

10. We would expect no more than around 55% of claims to be 
assessed as low risk, with around 25% medium risk and 20% high 
risk. These figures could vary from LA to LA according to the LA’s 
risk profiling. An additional expectation is that there should be 
more fraud and error detected in high risk claims when compared 
with medium risk claims and a greater % in medium risk than low 
risk. Where this proves not to be the case the risk profile should be 
revisited.

11. LAs may adopt different approaches to risk profile their 
claimants. Typically this will include the use of IT tools in support of 
their policy, however, the use of clerical systems is acceptable.  

12. Some IT tools use a propensity model1 which assesses 
against a number of components based on millions of claim 

Risk Based Verification Page 11 of 15 11Page 83



assessments to classify the claim into one of the three categories 
above. Any IT system2 must also ensure that the risk profiles 
include ‘blind cases’ where a sample of low or medium risk cases 
are allocated to a higher risk group, thus requiring heightened 
verification. This is done in order to test and refine the software 
assumptions.  

13. Once the category is identified, individual claims cannot be 
downgraded by the benefit processor to a lower risk group. They 
can however, exceptionally, be upgraded if the processor has 
reasons to think this is appropriate.  

The requirements for LAs that adopt RBV 

14. RBV will be voluntary. However, all LAs opting to apply RBV 
will be required to have in place a RBV Policy detailing the risk 
profiles, verification standards which will apply and the minimum 
number of claims to be checked. We consider it to be good 
practice for the Policy to be examined by the authority’s Audit and 
Risk Committee or similar appropriate body if they exist. The 
Policy must be submitted for Members’ approval and sign-off along 
with a covering report confirming the Section 151 Officer’s (section 
85 for Scotland) agreement/recommendation. The information held 
in the Policy, which would include the risk categories, should not 
be made public due to the sensitivity of its contents.  

15. The Policy must allow Members, officers and external auditors 
to be clear about the levels of verification necessary. It must be 
reviewed annually but not changed in-year as this would 
complicate the audit process.

16. Every participating LA will need a robust baseline against 
which to record the impact of RBV. The source of this baseline is 
for the LA to determine. Some LAs carry out intensive activity 
(along the lines of the HB Review) to measure the stock of fraud 
and error in their locality. We suggest that the figures derived from 
cells 222 and 231 of SHBE would constitute a baseline of fraud 
and error currently identified by LAs.  

17. Performance using RBV would need to be monitored monthly 
to ensure its effectiveness. Reporting, which must be part of the 
overall Policy, must, as a minimum, include the % of cases in each 
risk category and the levels of fraud and error detected in each.

Risk Based Verification Page 12 of 15 12Page 84



How RBV claims will be certified? 

18. Auditors will check during the annual certification that the 
subsidy claim adheres to the LA’s RBV Policy which will state the 
necessary level of verification needed to support the correct 
processing of each type of HB/CTB claim. The risk category will 
need to be recorded against each claim. Normally the LA’s benefit 
IT/clerical system will allow this annotation.

Other considerations

19. The sample selection for HB/CTB cases will not change i.e. 20 
cases will be selected for each headline cell on the claim form. The 
HB COUNT guidance used by the external auditors for certification 
will include instructions for how to deal with both non-RBV and 
RBV cases if selected in the sample. For non-RBV cases, the 
verification requirements will remain the same i.e. LAs will be 
expected to provide all the documentary evidence to support the 
claim.

What are the subsidy implications? 

20. Failure by a LA to apply verification standards to HB/CTB 
claims as stipulated in its RBV Policy will cause the expenditure to 
be treated as LA error. The auditor will identify this error and if 
deemed necessary extrapolate the extent and, where appropriate, 
issue a qualifying letter. In determining the subsidy implications, 
the extrapolation of this error will be based on the RBV cases 
where the error occurred. For this reason, it is important that RBV 
case information is routinely collected by ensuring that LA HB 
systems incorporate a flag to identify these RBV cases. If sub-
populations on RBV cases can not be identified, extrapolations will 
have to be performed across the whole population in the particular 
cell in question.

21. We will now work with the respective audit bodies to 
incorporate this into the COUNT guidance. If you have any queries 
please contact Manny Ibiayo by e-mail 
HBCTB.SUBSIDYQUERIES@DWP.GSI.GOV.UK

Risk Based Verification Page 13 of 15 13Page 85



Appendix C – Legal Framework 

Housing Benefit Regulation 86 states (CTB equivalent is 72); 

“a person who makes a claim, or a person to whom housing benefit 
has been awarded, shall furnish such certificates, documents, 
information and evidence in connection with the claim or the award, 
or any question arising out of the claim or the award, as may 
reasonably be required by the relevant authority in order to 
determine that person’s entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to 
housing benefit and shall do so within one month of being required 
to do so or such longer period as the relevant authority may 
consider reasonable.”  

Furthermore, Section 1 of the Social Security (Administration) Act 1992 
dictates a National Insurance number must either be stated or enough 
information provided to trace or allocate one. This legislation applies to 
both customers and their partners. 

(1A) No person whose entitlement to any benefit depends on his 
making a claim shall be entitled to the benefit unless subsection 
(1B) below is satisfied in relation both to the person making the 
claim and to any other person in respect of whom he is claiming 
benefit.

(1B) this subsection is satisfied in relation to a person if– 

(a) The claim is accompanied by– 

(i) a statement of the person’s national insurance number and  
information or evidence establishing that that number has 
been allocated to the person; or 

(ii) information or evidence enabling the national insurance 
number that has been allocated to the person to be 
ascertained; or 

(b) the person makes an application for a national insurance number 
to be allocated to him which is accompanied by information or 
evidence  enabling such a number to be so allocated. 

Risk Based Verification Page 14 of 15 14Page 86



These requirements are at the core of the process for administering 
claims and so shall, of course, be adhered to at all times. They 
therefore needed to be integrated into the Quality Assurance checks 
completed on benefit claims assessed. 

Risk Based Verification Page 15 of 15 15Page 87



Page 88

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11

Page 89



Page 2 of 11 

Financial recommendations:

Recommendation/s

Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources: Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Jonathan James / Chris Bolton 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 

Wards affected: All

Project Appraisal and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation
Project Name: Revenues & Benefits, eRevenues and eServices modules 

 ! The Executive Councillor is asked to approve the 
commencement of this project, which is already included in 
the Council’s Capital & Revenue Project Plan (SC335).   

 ! The total capital cost of the project is £59,000 funded from 
the Technology Investment Fund and repairs and renewals 
fund contributions. 

 ! The ongoing revenue costs of the project are £10,750 funded 
from the Customer Service Centre’s existing budget 
provision. 

Procurement recommendations:

 ! The Executive Councillor is asked to approve the carrying 
out and completion of the procurement of eRevenues and 
eServices modules for the Northgate Revenues & Benefits IT 
system.

 ! Serco will carry out the procurement of the replacement 
server in accordance with the provisions of its contract with 
the Council. 

 ! If the quotation or tender sum exceeds the estimated 
contract value by more than 15% the permission of the 
Executive Councillor and Director of Resources will be 
sought prior to proceeding. 

Page 90



Page 3 of 11 

1 Summary

The purchase and installation of the eRevenues and eServices 
online self-service modules for the Northgate Revenues & Benefits 
IT system. 

Full background details and a more detailed explanation are 
provided within section 2.1.

1.1 The project 

Target Dates: 

Start of procurement July 2012 

Award of Contract August 2012 

Start of project delivery September 2012 

Completion of project November 2012 

1.2 The Cost

Total Project Cost £     59,000

Cost Funded from: 

Funding: Amount: Details:

Reserves £

Repairs & Renewals £6,000 Customer Service Centre 
Repairs and Renewals Fund

Developer
Contributions 

£

Other £53,000 Technology Investment 
Fund

Page 91



Page 4 of 11 

Ongoing Revenue Cost 

Year 1 £10,750 £8,750 Northgate costs 
£2,000 Serco costs 

Ongoing £10,750

The ongoing revenue costs of the project will be funded from the Customer 
Service Centre’s existing budget provision. 

Future savings are not quantifiable at this stage, but will be reviewed on 
completion of the capital project. 

1.3 The Procurement 
The Northgate eRevenues and e-Services modules will be procured via 
Northgate Information Solutions through Serco. However, Northgate will be 
responsible for the installation, testing and set-up of the modules with Serco 
supporting the implementation project. 

The estimated total cost of the purchase of the Northgate eRevenues and 
eServices modules is £47,000 with ongoing annual support and maintenance 
charges of £8,750.  (We have negotiated a £10,000 discount on the products 
list price a saving of 22% on the original quote.)

Following the implementation of the scheme, the cost of the annual support 
and maintenance charges will be funded from the Customer Service Centre’s 
existing budget provision. 

The total value of the Northgate procurement is £90,750.  (Northgate capital 
cost of £47,000 plus 5 years annual support and maintenance charges 
totalling £43,750).  The Director of Customer and Community Services will be 
asked to approve an exemption of the requirement in the Contract Procedure 
Rules to go out to tender on the grounds set out in Rule 5.1.5C that the new 
software and maintenance can only be provided by Northgate as the 
additional modules (and maintenance) relate to software systems provided by 
Northgate and the systems need to integrate. 

The estimated Serco capital costs are £12,000 and will be purchased via 
existing contract arrangements. The estimated ongoing Serco revenue 
support costs are £2,000 and will be funded from existing budget provision. 

Page 92



Page 5 of 11 

2 Project Appraisal & Procurement Report 

2.1 The Project

Customers have higher and higher self-service expectations than ever. They 
want more control over their own accounts and activities. They want to 
choose how and when they receive account information and perform 
sophisticated transactions without the need to talk to someone. They expect 
24/7 availability and no constraints on access. Many commercial 
organisations already use e-billing and customers are increasingly expecting 
self-service interactions to make the user experience more convenient.

The project is for the procurement of software (Northgate eRevenues and e-
Services modules). The Northgate eRevenues and eServices modules are 
designed to assist claimants and Customer Services Advisors to receive 
applications for Council Tax and to carry out benefits assessment interviews 
more quickly at the first point of contact. 

The provision of eServices has been identified as a key enabler by the Head 
of Customer Services in the 2012 Customer Services service plan, in 
providing customers of Cambridge City Council the choice of how they access 
Council services and opt for ebilling. It will also enable staff and administration 
savings to be made by reducing customer contact and paper billing. 

The Cambridge city eServices will give access to a full range of features and 
interactive services to residents and customers giving them greater choice 
between face to face or undertaking the transactions themselves in their own 
time, reduce queuing times and speeding up transaction times. Residents will 
be able to set up direct debits, check council tax/business rates balances, pay 
and request paperless billing. 

eRevenues is a rule-based system that lets non-experts conduct Revenues 
interviews, and get all the information right first time. 

It shortens interview time by prompting the interviewer to ask only relevant 
questions.

In terms of the efficiencies gained it will:  

 ! Reduce supplies and services costs including expenditure on agency 
staff.

 ! Eliminate the need to scan paper claim forms. 
 ! Cut the cost of producing paper forms
 ! Reduce the likelihood of errors caused by the re-keying of data. 
 ! Speed up processing times as the need for scanning and re-keying of 

data is eliminated. 

Page 93



Page 6 of 11 

 ! It lets you assess new liabilities for Council Tax, and check discounts 
and exemptions that might apply.  

 ! It allows changes in circumstances to be updated. 
 ! Improve customer satisfaction; using the customer satisfaction tool 

GovMetric will test this. 
 ! Provide for greater flexibility with service delivery, as claims can be 

taken face-to-face or via the telephone.
 ! Extend access to the system for staff [back & front office], claimants, 

housing, housing associations and welfare support groups. 
 ! Integrate directly with our Northgate back office benefits system, which 

will speed up our average processing time for new claims and changes 
in circumstance. 

The benefits of ebilling include: 
• Convenience - bills can be viewed securely at one or more locations, such 
as home, at work or on a laptop. 
• Unlimited Access - You can access your bills 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year.
• Flexibility - While viewing your bill, you have the option of: printing a hard 
copy, retrieving an archived copy of the bill. 
• Timeliness - e-bills are available almost the instant they are produced. 
• Security - e-bills are available via your e-billing account. Unlike paper bills 
that could be lost, destroyed or temporarily misplaced, e-bills can be viewed 
securely online, 24 hours a day. 
• Environmentally friendly - ebilling reduces the use of paper, envelopes, toner 
and inks along with the associated delivery and staff costs. 
Whilst the Council is committed to providing a choice of access channels for 
customers, we will also need to encourage customers to use access channels 
that are more appropriate to the transaction and cost effective for the Council. 

The eRevenues and e-Services modules will provide a more customer-
friendly effective and efficient service, which will help to further improve our 
processing times.

2.2 Aims & objectives

 ! Investing in projects to reduce our carbon footprint and our energy bills;
 ! Improving the efficiency of council services to maintain high standards 

and value for money;

Customer Services and Revenues & Benefits Services are looking to deliver 
the following overall outcomes: 

 ! Improved customer experience for all. 
 ! Reduce staff costs. 
 ! Alignment of Council, agencies and partner services – seamless 

delivery of services. 

Page 94



Page 7 of 11 

 ! Implementation of technology and communication to allow self-service. 
 ! Services accessible by all. 
 ! Innovation in service delivery. 

We also need to maximise the efficiency of our ICT systems and projects 
such as transactional web portal, e-council tax and cashiering kiosks will all 
help in moving customer to self serve which is the cheapest form of 
transaction.

The introduction of the eRevenues & eServices modules will: - 

 ! Minimise customer waiting times. 
 ! Reduce pressure on cashiers. 
 ! Provide choice for customers. 
 ! Allow the reallocation of resources in the customer service centre.

2.3 Major issues for stakeholders & other departments

Other Sections [Customer Services & City Homes] will be able to provide 
online support to claimants from any location, completing applications online 
and submitting the data into the Northgate core Revenue & Benefits Services 
application. 

2.4 Summarise key risks associated with the project  

 ! Availability of resources to project manage, competing demands of 
other projects.

 ! Staff and/or customers not adapting to new ways of working and the 
use of technology. 

 ! Proposed savings would be compromised if delays in project 
implementation occur 

 ! Individuals will be able to authenticate themselves and be able to 
communicate securely with the authority. It is essential therefore that 
the authentication process is robust and secure before use. We are 
using known standardised technology in order to minimise the risks.

 ! Insufficient marketing of the new e-billing functionality limits take up 
and delays payback of investment and the making of staff savings. 
Marketing of the new functionality is essential for the enhanced web 
services to be a success. 

2.5 Financial implications 

a. Appraisal prepared on the following price base: 2012/13 

b. Specific grant funding conditions are: N/A 

Page 95



Page 8 of 11 

c. Other comments 

As part of the overall project, Northgate will lead in terms of the 
implementation to include the full testing of interfaces with the Northgate core 
product used within the authority.  Serco will have a support role.  

It is estimated the there will be no requirement for additional internal staffing 
resources from the Customer Services or Revenue & Benefit Services. 
Training on the use of the new Northgate eRevenues and e-Services modules 
to non Housing & Council Tax Benefit staff will be carried out from within 
existing resources using a train the trainer model.

2.6 Capital & Revenue costs 
(See also Appendix A for spread across financial years) 

(a) Capital £ Comments

Building contractor / works  

Purchase of vehicles, plant & 
equipment 

Professional / Consultants fees 12,000 Serco support costs 

IT Hardware/Software 47,000

Other capital expenditure

Total Capital Cost 59,000

(b) Revenue £ Comments
Maintenance per annum 10,750 £8,750 Northgate costs 

£2,000 Serco costs 

Total Revenue Cost    10,750

The ongoing revenue costs of the project will be funded from the Customer 
Service Centre’s existing budget provision. 

2.7 VAT implications 

Page 96



Page 9 of 11 

This scheme will not present the Council with any VAT issues. 

2.8 Environmental Implications 

Climate Change impact +H

The ability of residents to be able to use the online eRevenues and eServices 
modules will: -

 ! Reduce the City Council's energy consumption and reduce energy 
consumption by others in Cambridge, as documents such as Council 
Tax bills will not now have to be printed off in bulk and delivered to 
residents.

 ! Reduce the level of work related motor vehicle use by City Council staff 
commuting or operations and reduce the level of motor vehicle 
journeys by others in Cambridge, as residents will be able to complete 
any applications for Council Tax etc online and not have to travel to the 
Customer Service Centre. 

 ! Reduce the amount or increase the level of recycling of the City 
Council's own waste and reduce the amount of waste or increase the 
level of recycling by others in Cambridge as form wills be available, 
completed and sent electronically.

2.9 Other implications

Council Tax services will still be available to those that are not web enabled 
via the telephone or face to face, these could be among some of the most 
disadvantaged groups in the City. An EQIA has been undertaken. 

2.10 Staff required to deliver the project 
Implementation of the project is expected to be completed using current 
resources.

2.11 Dependency on other work or projects 

Not applicable 

Page 97



Page 10 of 11 

2.12 Background Papers 

Briefing Note June 2012 

2.13 Inspection of papers 

Author’s Name Jonathan James / Chris Bolton 

Author’s phone No. 8601 / 8603 

Author’s e-mail: jonathan.james@cambridge.gov.uk / 
chris.bolton@cambridge.gov.uk 

Date prepared: 30th May, 2012

Page 98



P
ag

e 
11

 o
f 1

1 

C
ap

it
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 A
p

p
ra

is
al

 –
 C

ap
it

al
 C

o
st

s 
an

d
 F

u
n

d
in

g
 

P
ro

fi
lin

g
A

p
p

en
d

ix
 A

 

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£
£

£
£

£
C

ap
it

al
 C

o
st

s
B

ui
ld

in
g 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
 / 

w
or

ks
 

P
ur

ch
as

e 
of

 v
eh

ic
le

s,
 p

la
nt

 a
nd

 
eq

ui
pm

en
t 

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l /
 c

on
su

lta
nt

s 
fe

es
12

,0
00

S
er

co
 s

up
po

rt
 c

os
ts

 
O

th
er

 c
ap

ita
l e

xp
en

di
tu

re
 

47
,0

00
T

o
ta

l C
ap

it
al

 C
o

st
 

59
,0

00

C
ap

it
al

 In
co

m
e/

F
u

n
d

in
g

G
ov

er
nm

en
t G

ra
nt

 
D

ev
el

op
er

 C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 

R
&

R
 fu

nd
in

g 
6,

00
0

C
us

to
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
 

C
en

tr
e 

re
pa

irs
 a

nd
 

re
ne

w
al

s 
fu

nd
 0

10
89

 
E

ar
m

ar
ke

d 
fu

nd
s 

53
,0

00
T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
In

ve
st

m
en

t 
F

un
d 

24
61

3 
E

xi
st

in
g 

ca
pi

ta
l p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
fu

nd
in

g 
R

ev
en

ue
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 
T

o
ta

l I
n

co
m

e 
59

,0
00

N
et

 C
ap

it
al

 B
id

 
0

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources

Report by: James Nightingale, Head of ICT Client Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9th July 2012

Wards affected: All

ICT Facilities Management Contract Re-Tender

Key decision 

1. Executive summary

Cambridge City Council has an ICT support contract with Serco, which 
runs until the end of June 2013.  A project team has been set up to 
undertake the work of re-tendering the contract.  This paper seeks 
approval to progress with the project, to agree member input to the 
process and to obtain the appropriate authority to award the contract.

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

 ! To authorise the procurement of a new corporate ICT contract for a 
term of up to 10 years if required. 

 ! To agree proposals for member involvement. 

 ! To delegate authority to the Director of Resources in consultation 
with the Executive Councillor, Chair and Spokes of the Strategy 
and Resources Scrutiny Committee to identify relevant social value 
improvements for the service if the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012 is implemented before any public procurement 
commences

 ! To agree authority for the Director of Resources to authorise award 
of the contract, in consultation with the Executive Councillor and 
the Head of Legal Services. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 12

Page 101



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background 

Background

The ICT FM contract  was last let in 2006, and the award was made to 
Serco for five years with  an optional two year extension.  Following a 
review in 2011 the additional two years were also agreed, but no further 
extension is now possible, so a new arrangement must be in place by 
July 2013. 

Two options are being explored: a full EU tender with a commercial 
partner and a possible shared service arrangement with other authorities.
Both are being explored in parallel, due to the timescales involved. 

The shared services option would require specific decisions to be agreed 
by the Council, and so would be presented back to committee for 
decision.  The commercial contract will require the ability to award the 
contract, subject to the appropriate consultations and approvals 

The value of the current service contract is circa £950,000, excluding 
additional project work. 

Objectives for the project are contained in the Project Brief document. 

The scope of the current contract includes the following items. The 
detailed scope of the new contract or service is being reviewed as part of 
the project work, but is expected to be broadly similar.

 !Helpdesk support 
 !Server Operational Support 
 !Network Support 
 !Database Administration 
 !Desktop Support (including hardware support) 
 !Application Support and Development 
 !Telephone Services and PABX Operational Support 
 !Project Management and Consultancy 
 !Administration/Procurement
 !Training

Work to date

A project team has been set up to run the project, with representatives 
from departmental service users, Legal, Procurement and Finance.
External  support is also being provided from ESPO for support of the EU 
tender process, and Mouchel Consulting for  market analysis and 

Page 102



Report Page No: 3 

requirements specification.  The Project Champion is the Director of 
Resources.

The project team will assist with the evaluation of both shared service 
and commercial options.

This is a mature contract has been tendered on more than one occasion 
previously and the broad scope is fairy well defined.  An initial review of 
the services provided have indicated that the scope is likely to remain 
largely the same. 

The opportunity for inclusion of other services has been reviewed as part 
of the Council’s work on resource optimisation, and no other services 
have been identified for inclusion in the procurement exercise. 

Two potential routes for delivery of the required services have been 
identified:  a commercial contract or shared services with other 
authorities.

A broad market analysis is underway using external consultants.  The 
aim is to use the market analysis to provide context for any decision on 
shared services and for any commercial tender. 

Various discussions have taken place over the past year with potential 
shared service partners, and proposals are being drawn up with one 
possible partner. 

Proposals for member involvement

It is proposed that the project team continue this work, which is 
necessary to ensure a new contract is in place in time.  Member 
involvement will be included in the process through: 

 !A briefing session being arranged for interested members, to 
outline key features of the proposed contract and the procurement 
process.

 !Progress reports being copied to the Executive Councillor, Chair 
and Spokes for Strategy and Resources on a monthly basis 
throughout the duration of the project, and at key stages of the 
project, (such as final supplier selection).   

 !The Executive Councillor, Chair and Spokes are invited to supplier 
presentations as part of final selection. 

Page 103



Report Page No: 4 

The Public Service (Social Value) Act 2012 

This new Act has not yet come into effect but this is expected imminently.
Once the Act is effective the Council will be under a duty to consider how 
a procurement for services that is covered by the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006, such as this one, might improve the economic, social 
and environmental well being of the relevant area (Cambridge). 

It is proposed in another report on this agenda, that, in identifying how 
the Council’s social value duty is met for individual service procurements, 
officers should take account of the Council’s Vision Statement, 
Environmental Objectives and the Strategic Objectives.   As, at the time 
of writing this report, the operational date for the new Act is not known, it 
is proposed that authority to identify the social value improvements to be 
sought for this procurement (if any) is delegated to the Director of 
Resources if necessary. 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications
   

The maximum value of the contract will be around £2m per annum, 
over a potential  10 year period.  

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

See below

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

None identified.

(d) Environmental Implications

No direct implications 

(e) Consultation

A project team has been set up with representatives from across the 
Council, to  seek input to scope and requirements

(f) Community Safety

No direct implications 

5. Background papers 

Page 104



Report Page No: 5 

Project Brief 

6. Appendices 

None

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: James Nightingale
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457641
Author’s Email: James.nightingale@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources :  Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Director of Resources 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9 July 2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

URBAN BROADBAND FUND – PHASE 2 GRANT APPLICATIONS

Key decision 

1. Executive summary

Cambridge City Council is one of 27 cities which has been identified as 
eligible to bid for funding under Phase 2 of the Urban Broadband Fund 
Super-Connected Cities Initiative – designed to create cities with ultrafast 
broadband and ubiquitous high-speed wireless connectivity.  The recent 
publication of guidance on this round of funding has identified that bids 
need to be submitted by 17 September 2012.

This paper outlines the background to the initiative and the key aspects 
of the initial guidance, and seeks to put in place appropriate 
arrangements to determine if the City should submit a bid and, if so, the 
content of that bid.

2. Recommendations

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

 ! To authorise officers to undertake work to determine the 
opportunities and implications of submitting a bid under Phase 2 of 
the Urban Broadband Fund. 

 ! To agree to proposals outlined for Member involvement. 

 ! To delegate authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Executive Councillor, Chair and Spokes of the Strategy and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee to determine whether the Council 
should submit a bid for Phase 2 funding and, if so, what the basis 
of the bid should be. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 13

Page 107



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background

The National Broadband Strategy

The Government’s National Broadband Strategy: “Britain’s Superfast 
Broadband Future” was launched on 6 December 2010.  This strategy 
set out the Government’s vision for broadband in the UK – this being to 
ensure that the UK has the best superfast broadband network in Europe 
by 2015.  This was based on the belief that an excellent communications 
network is an essential element of recovery and will help grow the 
economy, a well as enabling more efficient and cost effective delivery of 
public services and increased inclusivity.   

The Government has committed £530m of funding, administered by its 
broadband delivery arm – Broadband Delivery UK (BDUK), towards 
delivering this broadband vision for the UK; as well as encouraging 
further investment by the public and commercial sectors. 

Superfast Broadband Projects

A key objective of the strategy is to ensure a framework is in place which 
will better support the roll-out of Superfast Broadband (SFBB) and 
improved basic broadband.  The vision for this is that: 

a) the majority of residential and business premises are able to 
receive broadband services with speeds of more than 24Mbits/s, 
targeting as many premises as possible to have Next Generation 
Access (NGA) capable of delivering access line speeds in excess 
of 30Mbits/s; and

b) there is a Universal Service Commitment (USC) to provide access 
line speeds of at least 2Mbits/s to every premise 

Within Cambridgeshire a ‘Connecting Cambridgeshire’ project has been 
created in response to this challenge.  The project recognises the need 
for the socio-economic benefits that broadband access brings to the 
region, whilst also acknowledging that the market, under normal 
conditions, is unlikely to deliver SFBB to 100% of the premises in the 
region as it may not prove commercially attractive to do so. 

The project seeks to deliver superfast broadband to at least 90% of 
premises in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area and basic 
broadband (at least 2Mbts/s) to all premises.  To achieve this funding of 
up to £23m of funding from the local authority partners has been 

Page 108



Report Page No: 3 

committed, together with £6.75m of funding which has been awarded by 
BDUK.  Funding is also anticipated from the private sector. 

The project will seek to influence and, where permitted, intervene in the 
market to ensure that its objectives can be delivered by 2015.  The 
project seeks to create an open access infrastructure, and will be 
technology-neutral.

The project has included work to identify both current and expected NGA 
broadband provision within the area. This has identified areas based on 
the European Commission definitions of: 

a) Black – where more than one NGA operator exists now, or are 
planned to exist by 2015. 

b) Grey – where one NGA operator exists now, or is planned to exist 
by 2015 

c) White – where no NGA operator exists now, or is planned to exist 
by 2015 

The White category identifies areas where there is market failure to 
provide broadband to the specified levels, and where there is no 
evidence to suggest that this would happen by 2015 without intervention.
These are the areas targeted by the project. 

There are limited ‘White’ areas within Cambridge City, these areas 
mostly occurring in the more rural parts of the county area.  This is 
demonstrated in the maps attached as Appendices A and B. 

These improvements to broadband provision are anticipated to: 

a) Support economic growth 
 ! Supporting small businesses growth 
 ! Supporting the rural economy 
 ! Improving inward investment 
 ! Improving business productivity 
 ! Supporting low carbon growth 
 ! Supporting key growth sectors 

b) Facilitate the transformation of public services 
 ! education and skills support 
 ! business support 
 ! delivering telehealth in rural communities 

c) Increase social inclusion   
 ! reducing digital exclusion 
 ! building new communities and sustainable developments 

Page 109



Report Page No: 4 

Ultrafast Broadband

The 2011 Autumn Statement by the Chancellor announced the creation 
of a new £100m Urban Broadband Fund (UBF), the aim of which was to 
create up to 10 Super-Connected Cities across the UK with Ultrafast (80-
100Mbits/s) broadband connectivity. 

The Super-Connected Cities initiative is designed to help UK cities to 
become highly connected at ultrafast speeds to facilitate correspondingly 
innovative business, public sector and social environments; thus driving 
economic growth.

Ultrafast broadband is being targeted as it has several potential 
advantages over standard and superfast broadband.  The guidance 
specifically highlights: 

- faster download speeds meaning that larger volumes of data 
can be transmitted and managed; 

- greater symmetry between upload and download speeds so 
that active two-way communication is facilitated; 

- users experience the faster speeds as lower latencies or 
delays, which allows more rapid reaction to changes in data. 

The Government has targeted cities on the basis that they provide 
excellent prospects for creating and tapping new productive networks 
and offer: 

- the scope for significant economies of scale in investment 
- as large population of business and residential customers, so 

that benefits of scale can accrue and be widely shared 
- an area sufficient to attract multiple businesses in different 

sectors who would benefit from improved connectivity and 
with the potential to develop innovation clusters, stimulating 
economic growth 

- a high density of citizens, allowing the public sector to 
leverage their demand for services to best effect and achieve 
economise of scale in the provision of new, high quality 
services delivered online 

The announcement identified 10 cities as being eligible to apply for the 
funding, with Belfast, Cardiff, Edinburgh, London, Birmingham, Bradford, 
Bristol, Leeds, Manchester and Newcastle being successful in receiving 
funding approvals. 

Page 110



Report Page No: 5 

These cities are aiming to maximise the availability of ultrafast broadband 
by adding to the planned roll-outs of commercial communications 
providers, in much the same way as the earlier superfast broadband 
projects.  They are also seeking to achieve city-wide high-speed wireless 
connectivity.  In doing this they are developing detailed plans to drive 
take-up from both residents and businesses, with a focus on Small / 
Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and strategic employment zones to support 
economic growth.

In Budget 2012, the Chancellor announced an extension to the Fund with 
a further £50m of funding for Phase 2 with the aim of enabling smaller 
cities to become super-connected.  Eligibility for this phase was restricted 
to cities with Royal Charters and more than 45,000 core urban dwellings 
– this included Cambridge (and Peterborough), among a group of 27 
cities.

The Government has now published the Guidance and template for cities 
which wish to submit a bid under Phase 2 of the Super-Connected Cities 
Programme.

Bids must plan to deliver connectivity across the whole of the urban area, 
offering: 

- fixed ultrafast broadband at headline download speeds as 
close to 80-100Mbits/s as is currently possible – or higher.  
These areas must add to, not overlay, the published roll-outs 
by broadband suppliers); and 

- high speed wireless (mobile) connectivity 

Bids must relate to contiguous urban areas inside the city boundary.  
Areas which have already received funding under the BDUK Rural 
Programme cannot be included for funding. 

Bids will be based on submission of a Local Broadband Plan.  The 
amount of resources that cities undertake to commit as part of their plans 
(funding and other contributions) will form part of the assessment 
process, with cities bringing more resources to their projects being 
scored more highly.  

Bids must relate to contiguous areas, therefore although both Cambridge 
and Peterborough are eligible to bid a combined bid would not be 
possible. 

The timescale for the submission of bids is very tight, compared with 
previous rounds.  BDUK are holding a workshop on 14 June and a 
workshop / surgery session on 5 July to help support cities who are 

Page 111



Report Page No: 6 

exploring and developing potential bids.  Final completed bids must be 
submitted by 17 September 2012. 

It is expected that the outcome of the bidding will be announced as part 
of the Autumn Statement (i.e. in late November / early December 2012).    

Successful cities will then be required to complete the procurement and 
delivery of the plan by 31 March 2014. 

Issues for Consideration

Whilst there are significant benefits to be obtained by making a bid, the 
Council will also need to consider a significant number of issues which 
will need to be addressed.  These include: 

- research of the current and future roll-out plans by providers 
needs to be undertaken, identifying the degree of under-
provision by the market 

- how would this project most effectively relate to the work 
already planned across the county area as a whole 

- opportunities afforded by the provision of ultrafast broadband 
would need to be determined (economic, social as well as for 
the City and other public sector bodies)  

- UBF funding is for capital expenditure only, so any bid would 
need to demonstrate how revenue consequences could be 
funded

- a procurement route would need to be identified which takes 
into account any requirements to demonstrate competition 
from a State Aid perspective 

- opportunities for collaboration in the approach to obtaining 
State Aid clearance 

- education, profile-raising and demand stimulation options 
- the Government timetable does not allow consideration of 

whether to submit a bid, or its details, through the normal 
scrutiny committee arrangements

The bidding guidance issued to date is still quite limited, and it is hoped 
that the forthcoming workshops will help to provide greater detail and 
clarity, enabling consideration of the full implications of a bid by the City. 

Whilst the guidance makes it clear that Phase 2 funding is only available 
to the named eligible cities and that the funding must be clearly 
separated from that awarded under earlier initiatives, a joined-up 
approach across the County area (building on the work done through 

Page 112



Report Page No: 7 

Connecting Cambridgeshire) in terms of public and business consultation 
and awareness would offer advantages. 

Also, given the pressures resulting from the Government’s timescales it 
would seem sensible to ensure that any duplication of time or costs with 
work already being undertaken through the Connecting Cambridgeshire 
initiative is avoided.  Officers have already undertaken outline 
discussions with lead officers on this project to identify relevant issues 
and opportunities.  

It is recommended that officers continue to develop the outline of a 
potential bid, based on the guidance published and the additional 
information available from the DCMS workshops.

This can then be considered in determining whether a formal bid is to be 
submitted by the required date of 17 September 2012.  As this does not 
allow for Member consideration through the normal scrutiny committee 
process it is intended that a briefing session be arranged for interested 
Members, to outline key features of the proposed bid. 

Authority would then be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Executive Councillor, Chair and Spokes of the Strategy and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee to determine whether the Council should 
submit a bid for Phase 2 funding and, if so, what the basis of the bid 
should be. 

Future Cities

In addition to the UBF Phase 2 grants, the Technology Strategy Board is 
also running a competitive process to support it’s stated intention to 
invest up to £25m in a large-scale demonstrator for future cities.

The project will demonstrate at scale, and in use, the additional value 
that can be created by integrating city systems. The project will enable 
businesses to test, in practice, new solutions for connecting and 
integrating city systems, and will allow UK cities to explore new 
approaches to delivering a good local economy and excellent quality of 
life, whilst reducing the environmental footprint and increasing resilience 
to environmental change.

This will be a two-stage competition process, and cities have been invited 
to bid for funding to carry out a feasibility study and develop their 
demonstrator project proposal. Up to 20 grants of £50k will be available 
and will be funded at 100% of eligible costs. A requirement of the 100% 

Page 113



Report Page No: 8 

public funding is that a publicly available report is produced on the results 
of the feasibility study.

In the second stage, cities will then complete their feasibility study report 
and can also submit a proposal for the large-scale demonstrator. Up to 
£24m is available for the project. The demonstrator will attract 100% 
public funding of eligible costs. To achieve the scale required to 
effectively test the value of integrating city systems, the TSB intends to 
fund a single demonstrator project. A requirement of the 100% public 
funding is that the results of the demonstrator project are made publicly 
available and are widely disseminated.  

This is a competition for cities, and is subject to even tighter timescales.
With Stage 1 having been launched on 11 June 2012, applications had to 
be submitted by noon on 5 July 2012. Feasibility study reports and full 
stage 2 applications from successful applicants would then be required to 
be submitted by noon on 14 November 2012.

At time of report publication, officers are working with partners to develop 
a Stage 1 application.  As the timescales involved do not permit a 
Member decision through the normal scrutiny committee process, if the 
work recommends that a bid is submitted this will need to be authorised 
through Urgency Action; but will be reported to the scrutiny committee as 
appropriate.

Page 114



Report Page No: 9 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications
   

The assessment of any bid for Urban Broadband Fund support would 
include consideration of the scale of it’s own capital, revenue and non-
cash resources that the City will include.  The level of funding required 
to deliver the Plan for the City will only become clear once detailed 
research work has been undertaken, and the potential to draw-in 
private sector funding has been considered. 

The guidance also notes that funding is only available for capital 
expenditure, and so alternative funding sources would need to be 
identified for any associated revenue costs.

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

Resources would need to be identified to undertake the initial project 
work to formulate a bid, if this is approved, including specialist support 
in a number of professional areas.

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

A key aim of the project would be to seek to improve digital inclusion.

(d) Environmental Implications

Innovation in online and remote digital services should serve to 
contribute to the City’s Carbon Management Plan, and have wider 
environmental benefits for the City. 

(e) Consultation

Consultation and registration of demand would be an important 
indicator to potential suppliers in terms of the existence of a 
sustainable and commercially viable market for their investment. 

(f) Community Safety

No direct implications 

5. Background papers

DCMS Papers:

Page 115



Report Page No: 10 

- Super-Connected Cities Initiative (December 2011). 
- Super-Connected Cities Programme: Guidance (May 2012) 
- Super-Connected Cities Programme: Template (May 2012)

6. Appendices

Appendix A - Connecting Cambridgeshire: Basic Broadband Coverage 

Appendix B – Connecting Cambridgeshire: Superfast Broadband 
Coverage

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: David Horspool
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457007
Author’s Email: david.horspool@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 116



Figure A.2: Basic broadband Black Grey White (BGW) map [Source: Analysys Mason, 
Operators, BDUK, 2012] 

 

 

 

                Basic black                                    Basic grey                                    Basic White  

 

Appendix A

Page 117



Figure A.3: NGA Black Grey White (BGW) map [Source: Analysys Mason, Operators, BDUK, 
2012] 

 

Peterborough

Fenland

Huntingdonshire
East Cambridgeshire

Cambridge

South Cambridgeshire

 

 

                2 or more SFBB operator                   One SFBB operator                    No SFFB operator 

 

Appendix B

Page 118



Annual Review
2011/2012

www.love-cambridge.co.uk Love our city...

Love Cambridge has just completed it’s third year of operation and this document reviews 
the successes of 2011/12 and looks forward to upcoming projects in 2012/13. It has 
been a busy year for Love Cambridge, in which the partnership has delivered a very 
comprehensive work programme, working with an increasing number of businesses.

Agenda Item 14

Page 119



2
3

Lo
ve

 o
ur

 c
it

y.
..

w
w

w
.lo

ve
-c

am
br

id
g

e.
co

.u
k

C
ha

ir
m

an
’s

 S
ta

te
m

en
t

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

g
e 

- Y
ea

r 
Th

re
e

I a
m

 d
el

ig
ht

ed
 t

o 
w

el
co

m
e 

yo
u 

to
 t

he
 

th
ird

 a
nn

ua
l r

ev
ie

w
 o

f L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

. 
Th

is
 r

ev
ie

w
 s

et
s 

ou
t 

ho
w

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 
op

er
at

es
, h

ig
hl

ig
ht

s 
th

e 
su

cc
es

se
s 

of
 t

he
 

pa
st

 y
ea

r 
an

d 
ou

tli
ne

s 
th

e 
pa

th
 fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 fu
tu

re
 s

uc
ce

ss
. L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 is

 t
he

 
tr

ad
in

g 
na

m
e 

fo
r 

th
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 C

ity
 C

en
tr

e 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
. O

ur
 m

em
be

rs
hi

p 
is

 s
te

ad
ily

 
gr

ow
in

g 
an

d 
de

riv
ed

 fr
om

 a
 d

iv
er

se
 r

an
ge

 o
f 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
ns

 a
ll 

w
ith

 o
ne

 p
ur

po
se

 in
 m

in
d,

 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
of

 a
ll 

us
er

s 
of

 t
he

 
ci

ty
 o

f C
am

br
id

ge
.

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 is

 d
yn

am
ic

, i
nc

lu
si

ve
 a

nd
 

ac
tio

n 
or

ie
nt

at
ed

, c
on

si
st

en
tly

 d
el

iv
er

in
g 

re
su

lts
 a

ga
in

st
 a

n 
ev

er
 e

xp
an

di
ng

 b
us

in
es

s 
pl

an
 th

at
 is

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 a

fte
r 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

w
ith

 
ou

r 
m

em
be

rs
 a

nd
 a

gr
ee

d 
by

 th
e 

B
oa

rd
.

In
 th

is
, o

ur
 th

ird
 y

ea
r, 

w
e 

ha
ve

 n
ot

 o
nl

y 
bu

ilt
 

 !
"#

$%&
'$
()
*
$+"

 #
,-

%."
#/
$0-
.,
$,
"1

#$
.#
$"
 )
$

()
/%
$%1

"$
2'
-)
/3
$4
 %
$1
.%&
$0.
*
.%'
,$
)'
/"
 )
5'
/$

w
e 

ha
ve

 g
on

e 
on

 to
 d

el
iv

er
 a

n 
ev

en
 g

re
at

er
 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 p

ro
je

ct
s,

 a
ll 

of
 w

hi
ch

 h
av

e 
ha

d 
a 

po
si

tiv
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

n 
C

am
br

id
ge

. 

I a
m

 h
ap

py
 to

 b
e 

ab
le

 to
 s

ay
 th

at
 o

ur
 

m
em

be
rs

hi
p 

co
nt

in
ue

s 
to

 g
ro

w
 a

nd
 e

ac
h 

m
on

th
 w

e 
re

ce
iv

e 
ne

w
 a

pp
lic

at
io

ns
 fr

om
 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
ns

 w
an

tin
g 

to
 g

et
 in

vo
lv

ed
 a

nd
 b

e 
pa

rt
 o

f L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

. I
n 

th
is

 y
ea

r 
w

e 
ha

ve
 

se
cu

re
d 

re
co

rd
 le

ve
ls

 o
f i

nv
es

tm
en

t i
nt

o 
Lo

ve
 

C
am

br
id

ge
 th

ro
ug

h 
sp

on
so

rs
hi

p 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 

an
d 

w
or

ke
d 

w
ith

 m
an

y 
ne

w
 b

us
in

es
se

s,
 a

ll 
of

 
1
&"

*
$&
-6
'$
)'
5'
.6
',

$5
0'
-)
$4
'#
'(
%/
$+)
"*

$4
'.
#7

$
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 o
ur

 p
ro

je
ct

s.

O
ne

 o
f t

he
 k

ey
 s

uc
ce

ss
es

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

 w
as

 
th

e 
C

om
m

un
ity

 F
un

d 
w

e 
or

ga
ni

se
d 

to
 h

el
p 

us
 d

el
iv

er
 th

e 
B

ig
 S

w
itc

h 
O

n 
in

 C
am

br
id

ge
 

at
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 2
01

1.
 W

or
ki

ng
 m

ai
nl

y 
w

ith
 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
ns

 n
ew

 to
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 w

e 
se

cu
re

d 
7 

co
m

m
un

ity
 fu

nd
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

 th
at

 e
na

bl
ed

 u
s 

to
 d

el
iv

er
 a

 fa
nt

as
tic

 c
om

m
un

ity
 e

ve
nt

 a
nd

 
tu

rn
 o

ur
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 L
ig

ht
s 

on
 u

si
ng

 O
ra

ng
e’

s 
qu

ic
k 

ta
p 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 –

 
5'
)%
-.
#0
2$
-$
()
/%
$+"

)$
8
-*

4)
.,
7'

$-
#,

3$1
'$
4'

0.'
6'
$#
-%
."
#-
002
9

O
ve

r 
th

e 
la

st
 y

ea
r 

w
e 

ha
ve

 a
dd

ed
 

%1
"$
/.
7#

.(
5-
#%
$!
)"
:'
5%
/$
.#
%"
$"
 )
$1
")
;$

pr
og

ra
m

m
e,

 th
e 

Fa
sh

io
n 

&
 B

ea
ut

y 
W

ee
ke

nd
 a

nd
 th

e 
S

pr
in

g 
&

 S
um

m
er

 
P

ub
lic

at
io

n,
 b

ot
h 

of
 w

hi
ch

 h
av

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 

ou
r 

m
em

be
rs

 w
ith

 a
 n

um
be

r 
of

 w
ay

s 
to

 
)-
./
'$
%&
'.
)$
!)
"(
0'
$-
#,

$-
%%)
-5
%$#

'1
$4
 /
.#
'/
/9

Th
e 

en
er

gy
 a

nd
 c

om
m

it
m

en
t 

of
 o

ur
 m

em
be

rs
 a

t a
 lo

ca
l  

le
ve

l h
as

 o
nc

e 
ag

ai
n 

en
ab

le
d

 
us

 to
 h

av
e 

a 
ve

ry
 su

cc
es

sf
ul

 y
ea

r a
nd

 m
or

e 
im

po
rt

an
tl

y 
al

lo
w

s u
s t

o 
se

t a
n 

am
bi

ti
ou

s 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 d
el

iv
er

y 
fo

r n
ex

t y
ea

r a
nd

 b
ey

on
d

.

M
ov

in
g 

in
to

 2
01

2/
13

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 w
ill 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 d

el
iv

er
 a

 v
er

y 
am

bi
tio

us
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
of

 p
ro

je
ct

 d
el

iv
er

y,
 a

ttr
ac

t n
ew

 m
em

be
rs

 a
nd

 
en

su
re

 th
at

 w
e 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 a

ttr
ac

t i
nv

es
tm

en
t i

nt
o 

th
e 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
n 

to
 a

llo
w

 u
s 

to
 d

o 
th

is
. A

 k
ey

 p
ro

je
ct

 w
hi

ch
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 w

ill 
be

 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

th
is

 y
ea

r 
is

 th
e 

C
B

bi
d 

B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t D
is

tr
ic

t 
pr

oj
ec

t. 
It 

ha
s 

be
en

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
’s

 m
ed

iu
m

 te
rm

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
to

 e
xp

lo
re

 th
e 

fe
as

ib
ilit

y 
of

 a
 B

us
in

es
s 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t D

is
tr

ic
t f

or
 

C
am

br
id

ge
 a

s 
a 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 fo

r 
de

liv
er

in
g 

a 
lo

ng
 te

rm
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

m
od

el
 fo

r 
C

ity
 C

en
tr

e 
M

an
ag

em
en

t i
n 

C
am

br
id

ge
. 

A
bo

ve
 a

ll w
e 

w
ill 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 s

tri
ve

 fo
r p

ro
je

ct
 d

el
ive

ry
 th

at
 m

ee
ts

 o
ur

 c
or

e 
ob

je
ct

ive
 ‘t

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

of
 a

ll u
se

rs
 o

f t
he

 c
ity

 o
f C

am
br

id
ge

’ 

S
ig

ne
d

Ia
n

 S
an

d
is

o
n

C
ha

irm
an

M
em

b
er

sh
ip

Th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 m

em
be

rs
hi

p 
ha

s 
gr

ow
n 

ov
er

 th
e 

pa
st

 1
2 

m
on

th
s 

an
d 

is
 m

ad
e 

up
 o

f a
 

br
oa

d 
ra

ng
e 

of
 in

te
re

st
 g

ro
up

s 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

ci
ty

 
in

cl
ud

in
g:

< 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il

< 
C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il

< 
In

de
pe

nd
en

t a
nd

 M
ul

tip
le

 R
et

ai
le

rs
< 

S
ho

pp
in

g 
C

en
tr

es
< 

R
es

id
en

ts
 A

ss
oc

ia
tio

ns
< 

U
ni

ve
rs

ity
 o

f C
am

br
id

ge
< 

A
ng

lia
 R

us
ki

n 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

< 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 C
ol

le
ge

s
< 

Fu
rt

he
r 

E
du

ca
tio

n 
C

ol
le

ge
s

< 
P

ro
pe

rt
y 

O
w

ne
rs

< 
S

po
rt

s 
C

lu
bs

< 
Lo

ca
l C

om
m

un
ity

 G
ro

up
s

< 
M

us
ic

 G
ro

up
s

< 
H

ot
el

s
< 

Th
ea

tr
es

< 
Tr

an
sp

or
t C

om
pa

ni
es

< 
Lo

ca
l M

ed
ia

< 
M

us
eu

m
s

< 
P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l S

er
vi

ce
s

< 
N

ig
ht

-t
im

e 
ec

on
om

y

P
ro

je
ct

 D
el

iv
er

y 
in

 2
01

1/
12

B
ui

ld
in

g 
on

 th
e 

su
cc

es
s 

of
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t d
el

iv
er

y 
in

 2
01

0/
11

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 h
as

 c
on

tin
ue

d 
to

 
w

or
k 

w
ith

 m
em

be
rs

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

ts
 w

e 
de

liv
er

 m
ee

t t
he

ir 
ne

ed
s 

an
d 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
of

 th
e 

ci
ty

 u
se

rs
. T

he
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

se
ts

 o
ut

 a
n 

ov
er

vi
ew

 
of

 th
e 

pr
oj

ec
ts

 th
at

 w
e 

ha
ve

 w
or

ke
d 

on
 in

 th
e 

pa
st

 1
2 

m
on

th
s:

M
ar

ke
ti

n
g

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
s

1.
 F

am
ily

 o
f 

G
u

id
es

Th
e 

Fa
m

ily
 o

f G
ui

de
 P

ro
je

ct
 w

as
 la

un
ch

ed
 in

 
20

09
 a

nd
 is

 o
ne

 o
f L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
’s

 m
os

t 
vi

si
bl

e 
ou

tp
ut

s,
 c

on
si

st
in

g 
of

 5
 in

di
vi

du
al

 

gu
id

es
 c

ov
er

in
g 

th
e 

D
ay

 &
 N

ig
ht

 o
ffe

r, 
S

ho
pp

in
g,

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
, 

M
ar

ke
ts

 a
nd

, i
n 

20
11

/1
2 

a 
br

an
d 

ne
w

 5
th

 G
ui

de
, T

he
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 V

ou
ch

er
 B

oo
k.

 T
he

 g
ui

de
s 

ha
ve

 p
ro

ve
d 

ve
ry

 s
uc

ce
ss

fu
l 

an
d 

ar
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
on

 fr
ee

 p
ic

k 
up

 a
cr

os
s 

a 
ne

tw
or

k 
of

 h
ot

el
s 

an
d 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

pr
ov

id
er

s,
 s

ho
pp

in
g 

ce
nt

re
s,

 v
is

ito
r 

at
tr

ac
tio

ns
, 

co
lle

ge
s 

an
d 

co
nf

er
en

ce
 v

en
ue

s 
to

 n
am

e 
bu

t a
 fe

w
. 

In
 2

01
1/

12
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 h

as
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

lly
 

de
liv

er
ed

 e
di

tio
n 

2 
of

 th
e 

D
ay

 &
 N

ig
ht

 G
ui

de
, w

ith
 

su
pp

or
t f

ro
m

 V
is

it 
C

am
br

id
ge

 a
nd

 a
ls

o 
ed

iti
on

 
2 

of
 th

e 
S

ho
pp

in
g 

G
ui

de
.  

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 w

e 
ha

ve
 

al
so

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 a

 n
ew

 5
th

 g
ui

de
 to

 re
pl

ac
e 

th
e 

or
ig

in
al

 C
ity

 C
irc

le
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
as

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

ce
as

ed
 o

pe
ra

tio
n.

 T
he

 n
ew

 5
th

 G
ui

de
 is

 th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 V

ou
ch

er
 B

oo
k,

 p
ro

du
ce

d 
in

 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
w

ith
 C

am
br

id
ge

 N
ew

s 
an

d 
co

nt
ai

ni
ng

 
a 

gr
ea

t m
ix

 o
f o

ffe
rs

 d
es

ig
ne

d 
to

 e
nc

ou
ra

ge
 

pe
op

le
 to

 s
pe

nd
 m

or
e 

tim
e 

in
 C

am
br

id
ge

. 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 w

as
 a

ls
o 

de
lig

ht
ed

 w
he

n 
th

is
 

pr
oj

ec
t w

as
 a

nn
ou

nc
ed

 a
s 

th
e 

w
in

ne
r i

n 
th

e 
M

ar
ke

tin
g,

 P
ro

m
ot

io
ns

 
an

d 
Ev

en
ts

 c
at

eg
or

y 
at

 th
e 

A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

of
 T

ow
n 

C
en

tre
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
(A

TC
M

) a
w

ar
ds

 h
el

d 
du

rin
g 

th
ei

r n
at

io
na

l c
on

fe
re

nc
e 

in
 C

am
br

id
ge

 in
 

Ju
ne

 2
01

1.

2.
 E

 B
u

lle
ti

n
Th

e 
fre

e 
m

on
th

ly
 E

-b
ul

le
tin

 c
on

tin
ue

s 
to

 b
e 

a 
po

pu
la

r r
es

ou
rc

e 
fo

r L
C

 
m

em
be

rs
 to

 s
ha

re
 th

ei
r n

ew
s,

 o
ffe

rs
 a

nd
 e

ve
nt

s.
 P

ub
lis

he
d 

at
 th

e 
st

ar
t 

of
 e

ve
ry

 m
on

th
 a

nd
 e

m
ai

le
d 

to
 a

ll 
m

em
be

rs
, i

t i
s 

a 
gr

ea
t m

ec
ha

ni
sm

 fo
r 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 to

 u
pd

at
e 

m
em

be
rs

 o
n 

ou
r a

ct
iv

ity
 a

nd
 a

ls
o 

fo
r o

ur
 

m
em

be
rs

 to
 u

pd
at

e 
ea

ch
 o

th
er

. I
t i

s 
gr

ow
in

g 
in

 p
op

ul
ar

ity
 a

nd
 d

ur
in

g 
20

11
/1

2 
w

e 
ha

ve
 h

ad
 a

 s
te

ad
y 

st
re

am
 o

f p
eo

pl
e 

si
gn

in
g 

up
 to

 re
ce

iv
e 

it 
ea

ch
 m

on
th

. W
e 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 p

os
t t

he
 E

 B
ul

le
tin

 o
nt

o 
th

e 
Lo

ve
 

C
am

br
id

ge
 F

ac
eb

oo
k 

pa
ge

 a
nd

 p
os

t s
to

rie
s 

to
 tw

itt
er

 e
ac

h 
m

on
th

 to
 

in
cr

ea
se

 re
ad

er
sh

ip
.

3.
 S

o
ci

al
 n

et
w

o
rk

in
g

D
ur

in
g 

th
is

 y
ea

r w
e 

ha
ve

 c
on

tin
ue

d 
to

 u
se

 th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 

+-
5'
4"
";
$-
#,
$%1

.%%
')
$-
55
" 
#%
/$
%"
$)-
./
'$
%&
'$
!)
"(
0'
$"
+$=
"6
'$
8
-*

4)
.,
7'
$

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

e 
ou

r k
ey

 m
es

sa
ge

s.
 D

ur
in

g 
ou

r F
as

hi
on

 &
 B

ea
ut

y 
W

ee
ke

nd
 in

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
2 

w
e 

us
ed

 fa
ce

bo
ok

 a
nd

 tw
itt

er
 h

ea
vil

y 
to

 u
pd

at
e 

on
 w

ha
t w

as
 h

ap
pe

ni
ng

. T
he

 n
um

be
r o

f f
ol

lo
w

er
s 

w
e 

ha
ve

 in
cr

ea
se

s 
da

ily
 

th
er

ef
or

e 
gi

vin
g 

us
 a

 w
id

er
 a

ud
ie

nc
e 

to
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
e 

w
ith

.
 

P
ic

tu
re

 c
ou

rt
es

y 
of

 C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s

Page 120



4
5

4.
 W

eb
si

te
D

ur
in

g 
20

11
/1

2 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 m
ad

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 o
ur

 w
eb

si
te

 to
 m

ak
e 

it 
m

or
e 

us
er

 fr
ie

nd
ly.

 W
e 

in
st

al
le

d 
ne

w
 h

om
e 

pa
ge

 
ic

on
s 

to
 e

na
bl

e 
us

er
s 

to
 q

ui
ck

ly
 a

cc
es

s 
th

e 
ar

ea
 th

ey
 w

an
te

d 
an

d 
al

l o
ur

 m
ai

n 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

ns
, 

th
e 

fa
m

ily
 o

f g
ui

de
s,

 o
ur

 C
hr

is
tm

as
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
an

d 
ou

r S
pr

in
g 

&
 S

um
m

er
 m

ag
az

in
e 

ar
e 

al
l 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
to

 d
ow

nl
oa

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
ou

r w
eb

si
te

W
e 

ha
ve

 w
or

ke
d 

ha
rd

 to
 k

ee
p 

th
e 

si
te

 u
p 

to
 d

at
e 

an
d 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
it 

is
 c

on
te

nt
 ri

ch
 s

o 
it 

co
nt

in
ue

s 
to

 b
e 

a 
ve

ry
 g

oo
d 

so
ur

ce
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fo

r o
ur

 m
em

be
rs

 a
nd

 u
se

rs
 o

f t
he

 
 !
"#
$%&

'(
!)
*%
+,

--
.-
+%
/
0%
12
/
%!)
 (
02
10
3%
"(2

45
 %

th
ro

ug
h 

ou
r w

eb
si

te
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ra
n 

co
m

pe
tit

io
ns

 
in

 o
ur

 C
hr

is
tm

as
 a

nd
 S

pr
in

g 
&

 S
um

m
er

 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

ns
 a

s 
co

m
pe

tit
io

ns
 e

nt
rie

s 
w

er
e 

do
ne

 
on

lin
e.

 Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
us

ab
ilit

y 
of

 o
ur

 w
eb

si
te

 
an

d 
in

cr
ea

si
ng

 v
is

ito
r n

um
be

rs
 w

ill 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 
be

 a
 k

ey
 p

rio
rit

y 
fo

r 2
01

2/
13

.

5.
 C

am
b

ri
d

g
e 

M
ar

ke
ts

D
ur

in
g 

20
11

/1
2 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 c

on
tin

ue
d 

to
 

su
pp

or
t C

am
br

id
ge

 M
ar

ke
ts

 th
ro

ug
h 

a 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 m
ar

ke
tin

g 
an

d 
pr

om
ot

io
na

l a
ct

iv
iti

es
. 

C
am

br
id

ge
 M

ar
ke

ts
 fe

at
ur

ed
 h

ea
vi

ly,
 b

ot
h 

ed
ito

ria
lly

 a
nd

 th
ro

ug
h 

pr
od

uc
t p

la
ce

m
en

ts
, 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
C

hr
is

tm
as

 P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

an
d 

al
so

 th
e 

S
pr

in
g 

&
 S

um
m

er
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n.
 W

e 
ha

ve
 a

ls
o 

(0
6(
!)
"0
3%
"7
0%
8
2(
90
"1
%:0
2;
0"
<%"
72
"%!
1%
62

("%
=4
%"7

0%
Fa

m
ily

 o
f G

ui
de

s 
pr

oj
ec

t, 
du

rin
g 

20
11

/1
2 

to
 

en
su

re
 c

op
ie

s 
ar

e 
re

ad
ily

 a
va

ila
bl

e.
 

O
ve

r t
he

 la
st

 y
ea

r L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 h
as

 a
ls

o 
pr

od
uc

ed
 b

an
ne

rs
 a

dv
er

tis
in

g 
C

am
br

id
ge

 
M

ar
ke

ts
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 d

is
pl

ay
ed

 a
t a

ll 
P

ar
k 

&
 R

id
e 

si
te

s 
an

d 
in

 s
om

e 
of

 th
e 

ci
ty

 c
en

tre
 

ca
r p

ar
ks

. 

6.
 F

as
h

io
n

 &
 B

ea
u

ty
 W

ee
ke

n
d

Th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 F

as
hi

on
 &

 B
ea

ut
y 

W
ee

ke
nd

 in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

ith
 S

ty
le

 M
ag

az
in

e 
ra

n 
fro

m
 3

0t
h 

M
ar

ch
 –

 1
st

 A
pr

il 
20

12
. T

hi
s 

ye
ar

s 
ev

en
t b

ui
lt 

up
on

 th
e 

co
nc

ep
t d

ev
el

op
ed

 
in

 2
01

1 
by

 C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s,

 W
or

ki
ng

 
in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ith

 S
ty

le
 M

ag
az

in
e,

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 c
re

at
ed

 a
 c

oo
rd

in
at

ed
 m

ar
ke

tin
g 

pl
at

fo
rm

 w
hi

ch
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
co

ul
d 

ta
ke

 
ad

va
nt

ag
e 

of
 a

t n
o 

co
st

. 

W
e 

pr
od

uc
ed

 8
0,

00
0 

co
pi

es
 o

f t
he

 F
as

hi
on

 &
 

>
02
'"
#%
?
00
90
)3

%:0
2;
0"
%2
)3

%
th

es
e 

w
er

e 
di

st
rib

ut
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

M
ar

ch
 e

di
tio

n 
of

 S
ty

le
 M

ag
az

in
e 

an
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
  

S
pr

in
g 

& 
S

um
m

er
 P

ub
lic

at
io

n.
  

A
 d

ed
ic

at
ed

 F
as

hi
on

 &
  

B
ea

ut
y 

W
ee

ke
nd

 w
eb

si
te

  
w

w
w

.fa
bw

ee
ke

nd
.c

o.
uk

  
w

as
 c

re
at

ed
 a

nd
 h

os
te

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 s
ite

. T
hi

s 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

a 
fu

ll l
is

tin
gs

 g
ui

de
 fo

r t
he

 
3 

da
ys

. A
s 

a 
pa

rtn
er

sh
ip

 w
e 

al
so

 ra
n 

a 
se

rie
s 

of
 s

tri
p 

ad
ve

rts
 w

ith
 s

el
ec

te
d 

C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s 

tit
le

s 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

m
on

th
 o

f M
ar

ch
 to

 ra
is

e 
aw

ar
en

es
s 

an
d 

in
cr

ea
se

 fo
ot

fa
ll t

o 
th

e 
w

eb
si

te
. O

ve
ra

ll t
he

 w
ee

ke
nd

 w
as

 a
 h

ug
e 

su
cc

es
s 

w
ith

 o
ve

r 4
0 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tin
g 

bu
si

ne
ss

es
 a

nd
 lo

ts
 o

f p
os

itiv
e 

fe
ed

ba
ck

. W
e 

ar
e 

lo
ok

in
g 

to
 g

ro
w

 th
e 

ev
en

t y
ea

r o
n 

ye
ar

 a
nd

 th
e 

Fa
sh

io
n 

& 
B

ea
ut

y 
W

ee
ke

nd
 h

as
 n

ow
 b

ee
n 

ad
de

d 
to

 th
e 

an
nu

al
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 b

us
in

es
s 

pl
an

 a
nd

 w
ill 

be
 d

el
ive

re
d 

ag
ai

n 
in

 2
01

3.
 

7.
 S

p
ri

n
g

 &
 S

u
m

m
er

 P
u

b
lic

at
io

n
@
(=
3'

 0
3%
!)
%6
2(
")
0(
17
!6
%/
!"7
%A
2B

C(
!3
*0
%D
0/

1%
"7
0%
5(
1"
%E
3!
"!=
)%
=4
%

th
e 

S
pr

in
g 

& 
S

um
m

er
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
w

as
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

in
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

2.
 T

he
 

gu
id

e 
w

as
 p

la
nn

ed
 a

nd
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 a
s 

a 
‘s

is
te

r’ 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

Lo
ve

 
C

am
br

id
ge

 L
ov

e 
C

hr
is

tm
as

 m
ag

az
in

e 
w

hi
ch

 is
 in

 it
s 

4t
h 

ye
ar

 a
nd

 
hu

ge
ly

 s
uc

ce
ss

fu
l. 

Th
e 

S
pr

in
g 

& 
S

um
m

er
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
pu

lls
 to

ge
th

er
 a

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 lis
t o

f w
ha

t i
s 

ha
pp

en
in

g 
in

 C
am

br
id

ge
 o

ve
r t

he
 s

um
m

er
 

pe
rio

d 
an

d 
is

 d
es

ig
ne

d 
to

 e
nc

ou
ra

ge
 p

eo
pl

e 
to

 c
om

e 
in

to
 C

am
br

id
ge

 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

su
m

m
er

 p
er

io
d.

 W
ith

 s
tro

ng
 e

di
to

ria
l c

on
te

nt
 a

nd
 

th
em

ed
 p

ro
du

ct
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
 th

e 
S

pr
in

g 
& 

S
um

m
er

 P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

w
as

 v
er

y 
w

el
l r

ec
ei

ve
d 

in
 th

e 
m

ar
ke

tp
la

ce
. E

nt
rie

s 
to

 th
e 

co
m

pe
tit

io
ns

 w
as

 g
oo

d 
an

d 
sh

ow
ed

 b
re

ad
th

 o
f r

ea
de

rs
hi

p 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

di
st

rib
ut

io
n 

ar
ea

.

F
G0
(2
::%
2%
1"
(=
)*

%5
(1
"%0

3!
"!=
)%
"7
2"
%*
2G
0%
H=

G0
%A
2B

C(
!3
*0

%!)
 (
02
10
3%

br
an

d 
aw

ar
en

es
s 

du
rin

g 
a 

hi
st

or
ic

al
ly

 q
ui

et
er

 ti
m

e 
of

 y
ea

r. 
Th

e 
S

pr
in

g 
&

 S
um

m
er

 g
ui

de
 h

as
 a

ls
o 

no
w

 b
ee

n 
ad

de
d 

to
 th

e 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 
an

nu
al

 b
us

in
es

s 
pl

an
 a

nd
 w

ill 
be

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 a

ga
in

 in
 2

01
3.

A
cc

es
s 

&
 E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t

1.
 S

ki
lls

m
ar

t 
Lo

ca
ti

o
n 

M
o

d
el

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 w

as
 d

el
ig

ht
ed

 to
 s

ec
ur

e 
a 

£2
5k

 in
ve

st
m

en
t f

or
 

su
pp

or
tin

g 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t b
us

in
es

se
s 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

S
ki

lls
m

ar
t r

et
ai

l lo
ca

tio
n 

m
od

el
. S

ki
lls

m
ar

t R
et

ai
l is

 th
e 

S
ec

to
r S

ki
lls

 C
ou

nc
il f

or
 R

et
ai

l, 
w

hi
ch

 
op

er
at

es
 u

nd
er

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t l

ic
en

ce
. T

he
 p

ur
po

se
 o

f t
he

 L
oc

at
io

n 
M

od
el

 
is

 to
 g

iv
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t r

et
ai

le
rs

, a
nd

 a
 ra

ng
e 

of
 s

ta
ke

ho
ld

er
s,

 th
e 

rig
ht

 
in

te
llig

en
ce

 a
nd

 a
 s

er
ie

s 
of

 p
ra

ct
ic

al
 re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 to

 c
on

tri
bu

te
 to

 
th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f a

 d
iv

er
se

 re
ta

il s
ec

to
r. 

Th
e 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

M
od

el
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
of

 re
se

ar
ch

 in
 C

am
br

id
ge

 c
om

pr
is

ed
 tw

o 
w

av
es

 o
f m

ys
te

ry
 s

ho
pp

in
g,

 c
ov

er
in

g 
30

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t r

et
ai

le
rs

, 4
 m

ar
ke

t 
tra

de
rs

 a
nd

 s
ix

 h
os

pi
ta

lity
 e

st
ab

lis
hm

en
ts

 p
lu

s 
10

5 
st

re
et

 in
te

rv
ie

w
s 

w
ith

 
m

em
be

rs
 o

f t
he

 p
ub

lic
, c

on
du

ct
ed

 w
ith

 s
ho

pp
er

s 
in

 th
e 

to
w

n 
ce

nt
re

 a
nd

 
5)
2:
:#%
2%
"=
/
)%
 0
)"
(0
%2
11
01
1B

0)
"<%
 =
)3

' 
"0
3%
C#
%2
%"(
2!
)0
3%
(0
10
2(
 7
0(
<%

Lo
ve

 o
ur

 c
it

y.
..

w
w

w
.lo

ve
-c

am
br

id
g

e.
co

.u
k

ta
ki

ng
 in

to
 a

cc
ou

nt
 v

ar
io

us
 a

sp
ec

ts
 o

f t
he

 to
w

n’
s 

re
ta

il o
ffe

r.

C
am

br
id

ge
 In

de
pe

nd
en

t r
et

ai
le

rs
’ a

ve
ra

ge
 

m
ys

te
ry

 s
ho

pp
in

g 
sc

or
e 

(9
0.

8%
) r

an
ke

d 
1s

t 
ag

ai
ns

t 8
2 

be
nc

hm
ar

ke
d 

m
ys

te
ry

 s
ho

pp
in

g 
st

ud
ie

s 
fro

m
 o

th
er

 U
K

 to
w

ns
 a

nd
 c

iti
es

 w
hi

ch
 

w
as

 a
 fa

nt
as

tic
 a

cc
ol

ad
e 

fo
r C

am
br

id
ge

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 th

e 
ve

rb
at

im
 s

um
m

ar
y 

fro
m

 th
e 

to
w

n 
ce

nt
re

 a
ss

es
so

r w
as

: ‘
O

ve
ra

ll, 
C

am
br

id
ge

 is
 a

 
to

w
n 

th
at

 I 
w

ou
ld

 w
an

t t
o 

re
tu

rn
 to

 a
nd

 w
ou

ld
 

re
co

m
m

en
d.

 It
 fe

el
s 

as
 if

 it
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
gr

ea
t 

lo
ca

tio
n 

to
 e

xp
lo

re
 a

s 
a 

to
ur

is
t, 

to
 s

ho
p 

in
, a

nd
 

to
 g

o 
ou

t f
or

 fo
od

. T
he

 e
nd

-t
o-

en
d 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
in

 to
w

n 
w

as
 a

 p
le

as
an

t o
ne

.’

2.
 L

o
ve

 C
am

b
ri

d
g

e 
A

w
ar

d
s

In
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
01

1 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 h
os

te
d 

ou
r a

nn
ua

l A
w

ar
ds

 C
er

em
on

y, 
as

 p
ar

t o
f o

ur
 

AG
M

, a
t t

he
 R

oy
al

 C
am

br
id

ge
 H

ot
el

. I
n 

ea
rly

 
20

10
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 in

tro
du

ce
d 

th
e 

Lo
ve

 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ha

rte
r w

hi
ch

 is
 a

im
ed

 a
t e

nc
ou

ra
gi

ng
 

ci
ty

 c
en

tre
 o

rg
an

isa
tio

ns
 to

 c
om

m
it 

to
 d

el
ive

rin
g 

ex
ce

lle
nt

 c
us

to
m

er
 s

er
vic

e,
 ta

kin
g 

pr
id

e 
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 
su

rro
un

di
ng

 th
ei

r o
rg

an
isa

tio
ns

 a
nd

 to
 c

on
tri

bu
te

 
po

sit
ive

ly 
to

 re
du

ci
ng

 th
e 

ci
ty

’s 
ca

rb
on

 fo
ot

pr
in

t. 
Th

is
 

C
ha

rte
r t

he
n 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
an

 a
w

ar
ds

 s
ch

em
e 

th
at

 
re

co
gn

ise
s 

in
di

vid
ua

ls 
an

d 
bu

sin
es

se
s 

th
at

 e
xc

el
 

in
 c

er
ta

in
 a

re
as

. T
hi

s 
ye

ar
 th

e 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 
aw

ar
ds

 c
on

sis
te

d 
of

 fo
ur

 c
at

eg
or

ie
s,

 w
hi

ch
 w

er
e:

I 
B

es
t A

m
ba

ss
ad

or
 fo

r C
am

br
id

ge
I 

B
es

t O
ve

ra
ll 

C
us

to
m

er
 E

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
fo

r a
n 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t B

us
in

es
s

I 
B

es
t O

ve
ra

ll 
C

us
to

m
er

 E
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

fo
r a

 N
on

-
In

de
pe

nd
en

t B
us

in
es

s
I 

C
on

tri
bu

tio
n 

to
 re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
ci

ty
’s

 c
ar

bo
n 

 
fo

ot
pr

in
t

Th
e 

A
w

ar
ds

 c
er

em
on

y 
al

so
 in

cl
ud

es
 th

e 
W

ay
 

to
 B

e 
A

w
ar

ds
, w

hi
ch

 a
re

 ru
n 

by
 C

am
br

id
ge

 
C

ity
 C

ou
nc

il,
 a

nd
 a

n 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
w

ay
 in

 
C

am
br

id
ge

 to
 re

co
gn

is
e 

go
od

 s
er

vi
ce

 to
w

ar
ds

 
di

sa
bl

ed
 p

eo
pl

e.

O
ur

 a
nn

ua
l A

w
ar

ds
 c

er
em

on
y 

re
ce

ive
d 

gr
ea

t 
pu

bl
ic

ity
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
lo

ca
l m

ed
ia

 a
nd

 is
 a

 w
el

l 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
ev

en
t i

n 
th

e 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 
ca

le
nd

ar
. R

ec
ip

ie
nt

s 
of

 o
ur

 a
w

ar
ds

 h
av

e 
di

sp
la

ye
d 

th
em

 in
 th

ei
r b

us
in

es
s’

 p
re

m
is

es
 w

hi
ch

 
is

 a
 g

re
at

 te
st

im
on

y 
to

 h
ow

 w
el

l t
he

y 
ar

e 
re

ce
ive

d.

3.
 C

o
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 w

or
ks

 w
ith

 p
ub

lic
 b

od
ie

s 
lik

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 
C

ou
nc

il 
an

d 
C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 o

ur
 m

em
be

rs
 

an
d 

us
er

s 
of

 th
e 

ci
ty

 w
ith

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ab
ou

t c
on

su
lta

tio
ns

 th
at

 a
re

 
be

in
g 

un
de

rta
ke

n.
 O

ur
 w

eb
si

te
 a

nd
 e

bu
lle

tin
, p

lu
s 

re
gu

la
r e

m
ai

ls
 

to
 M

em
be

rs
, r

em
ai

n 
ke

y 
so

ur
ce

s 
of

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ab
ou

t o
n 

go
in

g 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

ns
 a

nd
 h

ow
 m

em
be

rs
 c

an
 h

av
e 

th
ei

r s
ay

. 

C
A

M
B

A
C

C
A

M
B

A
C

 la
un

ch
ed

 in
 A

ug
us

t 2
00

7 
an

d 
m

em
be

rs
hi

p 
ha

s 
si

nc
e 

do
ub

le
d.

 C
A

M
B

A
C

 a
ttr

ac
ts

 
m

em
be

rs
hi

p 
fro

m
 a

 v
ar

ie
ty

 o
f s

ec
to

rs
, n

ot
 ju

st
 

re
ta

ile
rs

 a
nd

 li
ce

ns
ee

s.
 In

 2
01

1/
12

 C
A

M
B

A
C

 h
as

 a
ttr

ac
te

d 
ov

er
 2

5 
ne

w
 m

em
be

rs
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

9 
w

ith
 ra

di
os

 a
nd

 2
0 

fro
m

 E
ly

 P
ub

w
at

ch
. 

In
 J

ul
y 

20
11

 C
A

M
B

A
C

 la
un

ch
ed

 a
nd

 n
ow

 m
an

ag
e 

N
ig

ht
sa

fe
 w

hi
ch

 g
iv

es
 li

ce
ns

ee
s 

th
e 

ab
ilit

y 
to

 b
an

 
tro

ub
le

so
m

e 
in

di
vi

du
al

s 
on

 th
e 

sp
ot

 fo
r 6

 m
on

th
s 

vi
a 

th
e 

on
lin

e 
cr

im
e 

sy
st

em
 S

IR
C

S
.

D
ur

in
g 

20
11

 C
A

M
B

A
C

 h
as

 a
ls

o 
la

un
ch

ed
 

an
d 

m
an

ag
ed

 th
e 

pi
lo

t o
f t

he
 S

af
et

y 
G

ua
rd

ia
n 

pa
tro

l w
hi

ch
 is

 a
n 

ev
en

in
g 

pa
tro

l 
be

tw
ee

n 
9-

11
pm

 o
n 

in
te

rn
at

io
na

l s
tu

de
nt

 
ni

gh
ts

 in
 th

e 
ci

ty
 c

en
tre

 th
at

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
he

lp
 

an
d 

as
si

st
an

ce
 to

 lo
st

 a
nd

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

. T
hi

s 
w

or
k 

st
ill 

co
nt

in
ue

s 
in

 
la

te
 n

ig
ht

 v
en

ue
s 

on
 in

te
rn

at
io

na
l s

tu
de

nt
s 

ni
gh

ts
 a

nd
 is

 o
rg

an
is

ed
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
lic

en
se

e 
of

 N
us

ha
 B

ar
.

O
ve

r t
he

 la
st

 y
ea

r C
A

M
B

A
C

 h
as

 o
rg

an
is

ed
 a

 n
um

be
r o

f t
ra

in
in

g 
se

ss
io

n 
fo

r m
em

be
rs

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
se

ss
io

ns
 o

n 
R

ai
si

ng
 th

e 
B

ar
, M

an
ag

in
g 

A
=)

;!
 "
<%A

='
)"
0(
J"
0(
(=
(!1
B
%2
)3

%:=
11
%6
(0
G0
)"
!=
)$

C
AM

B
AC

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
in

st
ru

m
en

ta
l in

 o
rg

an
isi

ng
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

in
g 

a 
nu

m
be

r o
f 

pe
rs

on
al

 s
af

et
y 

an
d 

se
ns

ib
le

 d
rin

ki
ng

 c
am

pa
ig

ns
 a

nd
 c

on
tin

ue
s 

to
 m

aa
ng

e 
th

e 
Lo

ss
 P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
Te

am
 a

nd
 th

e 
Ta

xi 
M

ar
sh

al
l p

ro
je

ct
s 

in
 th

e 
ci

ty
 c

en
tre

.

C
A

M
B

A
C

 h
as

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
as

si
st

an
ce

 a
nd

 g
ui

da
nc

e 
to

 s
et

 u
p 

B
us

in
es

s 
C

rim
e 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

in
 P

et
er

bo
ro

ug
h 

an
d 

El
y 

w
ith

 th
e 

ai
m

 
of

 a
ll 

si
m

ila
r p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

in
 C

am
br

id
ge

sh
ire

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
to

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
pr

ot
oc

ol
s 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
. I

n 
th

e 
fu

tu
re

 th
e 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
s 

w
ill 

be
 lo

ok
in

g 
in

to
 th

e 
po

ss
ib

ilit
y 

of
 c

ou
nt

yw
id

e 
ci

vi
l b

an
ni

ng
 o

rd
er

s 
fo

r p
er

si
st

en
t 

th
ie

ve
s 

an
d 

tro
ub

le
m

ak
er

s.

C
A

M
B

A
C

 a
re

 a
ls

o 
re

co
gn

is
ed

 a
t a

 n
at

io
na

l l
ev

el
, r

ep
re

se
nt

in
g 

th
e 

ea
st

 
R

eg
io

n 
on

 th
e 

N
at

io
na

l R
et

ai
l C

rim
e 

S
te

er
in

g 
G

ro
up

, l
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

H
om

e 
F
45
 0
%2
)3

%>
(!"
!1
7%
K
0"
2!
:%A

=)
1=
("!
'B

$

Fo
r m

or
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

pl
ea

se
 v

is
it 

w
w

w
.c

am
b

ac
.c

o
.u

k

Page 121



6
7

C
h

ri
st

m
as

1.
 T

he
 B

ig
 

S
w

it
ch

 O
n

H
el

d 
on

 S
un

da
y 

20
th

 N
ov

em
be

r 
20

11
, t

he
 

B
ig

 S
w

itc
h 

O
n 

at
tra

ct
ed

 
th

ou
sa

nd
s 

of
 

pe
op

le
 in

to
 th

e 
ci

ty
 c

en
tre

 to
 e

nj
oy

 
th

e 
en

te
rta

in
m

en
t 

pr
ov

id
ed

. T
he

 
B

ig
 S

w
itc

h 
on

 2
01

1 
co

ul
d 

no
t h

av
e 

ha
pp

en
ed

 
w

ith
ou

t t
he

 s
up

po
rt 

of
 o

ur
 C

om
m

un
ity

 F
un

d 
pa

rtn
er

s,
 J

oh
n 

Le
w

is,
 C

am
br

id
ge

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
So

ci
et

y,
 

C
am

br
id

ge
 W

at
er

 C
om

pa
ny

, S
ka

ns
ka

 R
es

id
en

tia
l 

 
!
"#$
%&
'(
)"
#*
+)
,-
'.
#&
'/
#0
12
)#
34
)'
5.
6#7
8%
91
'(
#

in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

ith
 o

ur
 C

om
m

un
ity

 F
un

d 
m

em
be

rs
, C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il a

nd
 H

ea
rt 

FM
, T

he
 B

ig
 S

w
itc

h 
O

n 
sa

w
 g

re
at

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

en
ga

ge
m

en
t w

ith
 e

nt
er

ta
in

m
en

t t
hr

ou
gh

ou
t t

he
 

da
y 

ac
ro

ss
 4

 s
ta

ge
s 

lo
ca

te
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
ci

ty
 c

en
tre

. 

:
.#
&#
-%
.5
#,8
%#*
&2
;%
1/
()
#&
'/
#1'
/)
)/
#<
)#
;)
=1)
4)
#

na
tio

na
lly

, t
he

 2
01

1 
B

ig
 S

w
itc

h 
O

n 
ha

pp
en

ed
 

us
in

g 
O

ra
ng

e’
s 

qu
ic

k 
ta

p 
te

ch
no

lo
gy

 w
hi

ch
 

le
ad

 to
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

pu
bl

ic
ity

 fo
r b

ot
h 

th
e 

S
w

itc
h 

O
n 

an
d 

C
am

br
id

ge
 a

s 
a 

de
st

in
at

io
n,

 d
ur

in
g 

th
is

 c
rit

ic
al

 tr
ad

in
g 

pe
rio

d.
 

2.
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 M
ar

ke
ti

ng
 C

am
p

ai
g

n
D

ra
w

in
g 

on
 th

e 
su

cc
es

s 
of

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
s,

 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 a
ga

in
 p

ar
tn

er
ed

 w
ith

 
C

am
br

id
ge

 N
ew

s 
to

 p
ro

du
ce

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 
Lo

ve
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 2
01

1.
 T

he
 g

ui
de

 is
 a

 k
ey

 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
to

ol
 to

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 a
s 

th
e 

ci
ty

 o
f c

ho
ic

e 
ov

er
 th

e 
fe

st
iv

e 
pe

rio
d.

 O
ve

r 
20

0,
00

0 
co

pi
es

 o
f t

he
 g

ui
de

 a
re

 p
rin

te
d 

w
ith

 
85

%
 o

f t
he

m
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

le
tte

rb
ox

es
 

al
on

gs
id

e 
th

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 N
ew

s 
tit

le
s.

Th
e 

gu
id

e 
sh

ow
ca

se
s 

al
l t

ha
t i

s 
ha

pp
en

in
g 

ac
ro

ss
 th

e 
ci

ty
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
fe

st
iv

e 
se

as
on

 
an

d 
th

e 
fo

cu
s 

of
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

n 
is

 o
n 

st
ro

ng
 

ed
ito

ria
l a

nd
 p

ro
du

ct
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
. 

>+
1.
#?
)&
%"#
,8
%#5
+)
#-
%.
5#5
12
)"
#<
)#
1'
@=
A/
)/
#B
#

co
m

pe
tit

io
ns

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
C

hr
is

tm
as

 P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

Th
e 

B
us

in
es

s 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t D
is

tri
ct

 (B
ID

) m
od

el
 

is
 a

 re
la

tiv
el

y 
ne

w
 a

nd
 in

no
va

tiv
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

. 
B

ID
 le

gi
sl

at
io

n 
w

as
 in

tro
du

ce
d 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 

an
d 

W
al

es
 in

 2
00

4 
an

d 
to

 d
at

e 
th

er
e 

ha
ve

 
be

en
 o

ve
r 1

70
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

l B
ID

 b
al

lo
ts

. A
 

B
ID

 is
 a

 m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 th

at
 a

llo
w

s 
bu

si
ne

ss
es

 
to

 p
oo

l r
es

ou
rc

es
 a

nd
 c

ol
le

ct
iv

el
y 

fo
cu

s 
on

 
.C
)@
1-
@#
C%
8D
)@
5.
#58
#12
C%
84
)#
5+
)1
%#5
%&
/1
'(
#

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t. 

Th
e 

re
ce

nt
 P

or
ta

s 
R

ev
ie

w
 –

 A
n 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t r

ev
ie

w
 in

to
 th

e 
fu

tu
re

 o
f o

ur
 h

ig
h 

.5
%)
)5
."
#1/
)'
51-
)/
#E
F0
.#
&.
#&
#9
)?
#2
8/
)=
#&
'/
#

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

ei
r f

ur
th

er
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

   
 

Th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

lly
 

se
cu

re
d 

EU
 fu

nd
in

g 
to

 g
ive

 lo
ca

l b
us

in
es

se
s 

th
e 

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
 to

 e
xp

lo
re

 th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l o
f a

 B
ID

 in
 

C
am

br
id

ge
. A

 B
ID

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t M
an

ag
er

 w
as

 
ap

po
in

te
d 

in
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
2 

an
d 

w
or

k 
is

 u
nd

er
w

ay
 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
th

e 
is

su
es

 a
nd

 p
rio

rit
ie

s 
fo

r b
us

in
es

se
s 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
p 

po
te

nt
ia

l p
ro

je
ct

s 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

es
 th

at
 

co
ul

d 
be

 d
el

ive
re

d 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
B

ID
 m

od
el

.

:
'#
1'
151
&=
#E
F0
#.
5A
/?
#&
%)
&#
<
&.
#1/
)'
51-
)/
#&
'/
#

ev
er

y 
bu

si
ne

ss
 w

as
 s

en
t a

 q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
 in

 
su

m
m

er
 2

01
1.

 W
e 

ha
d 

go
od

 fe
ed

ba
ck

 fr
om

 
th

es
e 

su
rv

ey
s,

 w
hi

ch
 s

ho
w

ed
 th

at
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

po
si

tiv
e 

vi
ew

s 
on

 th
e 

ci
ty

 b
ut

 th
at

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
st

ill 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 b
e 

m
ad

e.
 A

 w
or

ks
ho

p 
at

te
nd

ed
 b

y 
ov

er
 6

0 
bu

si
ne

ss
es

 w
as

 h
el

d 
in

 
O

ct
ob

er
 w

ith
 p

re
se

nt
at

io
ns

 fr
om

 th
e 

N
at

io
na

l 
B

ID
s 

A
dv

is
or

y 
S

er
vi

ce
 a

nd
 C

B
bi

d.

In
 J

an
ua

ry
 fu

ll c
on

su
lta

tio
n 

ac
tiv

ity
 b

eg
an

. 
A

na
lys

is
 fr

om
 th

e 
su

rv
ey

s 
an

d 
w

or
ks

ho
ps

 w
er

e 
us

ed
 to

 d
ev

el
op

 p
ot

en
tia

l w
or

k 
st

re
am

s 
fo

r a
 

B
ID

. T
w

o 
fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

p 
m

ee
tin

gs
, w

ith
 a

ro
un

d 
20

 
bu

si
ne

ss
es

 a
t e

ac
h 

ev
en

t, 
w

er
e 

he
ld

 to
 te

st
 th

e 
w

or
k 

st
re

am
s.

 K
ey

 a
re

as
 o

f f
oc

us
 w

er
e 

ag
re

ed
 

as
: S

af
e 

an
d 

C
le

an
; F

rie
nd

ly 
an

d 
Vi

br
an

t; 
P

rid
e 

an
d 

P
ro

m
ot

io
n;

 B
us

in
es

s 
S

up
po

rt.

A
 B

ID
 T

as
k 

Fo
rc

e 
w

as
 fo

rm
ed

 in
 F

eb
ru

ar
y.

 
Th

is
 g

ro
up

 is
 m

ad
e 

up
 o

f 1
3 

bu
si

ne
ss

es
/

st
ak

eh
ol

de
rs

 re
pr

es
en

tin
g 

di
ffe

re
nt

 s
ec

to
rs

 a
nd

 
ar

ea
s 

of
 th

e 
B

ID
 a

re
a.

 T
he

 T
as

k 
Fo

rc
e 

m
ee

ts
 

m
on

th
ly

 a
nd

 o
ve

rs
ee

s 
th

e 
B

ID
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

w
or

k.
 In

di
vi

du
al

 m
ee

tin
gs

 w
ith

 b
us

in
es

se
s 

an
d 

fu
rth

er
 b

us
in

es
s 

gr
ou

p 
ev

en
ts

 to
ok

 p
la

ce
 in

 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 a

nd
 M

ar
ch

 a
nd

 a
 fu

ll 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
of

 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
is

 p
la

nn
ed

 b
ef

or
e 

a 
B

ID
 B

us
in

es
s 

an
d 

re
ce

ive
d 

ov
er

 2
20

0 
en

tri
es

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 w

eb
si

te
. 

Th
os

e 
pl

ac
in

g 
th

e 
co

m
pe

tit
io

ns
 w

er
e 

ve
ry

 p
le

as
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

le
ve

l o
f 

re
sp

on
se

s 
an

d 
th

e 
in

cr
ea

se
d 

fo
ot

fa
ll t

o 
ou

r w
eb

si
te

 m
ea

nt
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

vis
ib

ilit
y 

ov
er

al
l f

or
 o

ur
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 p
ag

es
.

3.
 4

th
 A

nn
ua

l S
p

ar
kl

e 
&

 S
hi

ne
 B

al
l

In
 N

ov
em

be
r 2

01
1 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 h

os
te

d 
th

e 
4t

h 
an

nu
al

 S
pa

rk
le

 
&

 S
hi

ne
 B

al
l a

t t
he

 C
ro

w
ne

 P
la

za
 C

am
br

id
ge

. C
ro

w
ne

 P
la

za
 b

ot
h 

ho
st

ed
 a

nd
 s

po
ns

or
ed

 th
e 

ev
en

t a
nd

 th
ey

 c
ho

se
 W

hi
zz

ki
dz

 a
s 

th
ei

r 
ch

os
en

 c
ha

rit
y.

 T
hi

s 
ye

ar
’s

 b
al

l w
as

 th
e 

m
os

t p
op

ul
ar

 to
 d

at
e 

w
ith

 
al

l b
ut

 a
 h

an
df

ul
 o

f t
ic

ke
ts

 b
ei

ng
 s

ol
d.

 T
he

 b
al

l r
ai

se
d 

ov
er

 £
30

00
 

fo
r L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
, w

hi
ch

 w
as

 re
in

ve
st

ed
 in

to
 th

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 a
t 

C
hr

is
tm

as
 c

am
pa

ig
n.

 O
n 

th
e 

ni
gh

t w
e 

ha
d 

a 
ta

rg
et

 o
f £

60
00

 to
 ra

is
e 

fo
r W

hi
zz

ki
dz

 a
nd

 w
e 

ac
hi

ev
ed

 th
is

, e
na

bl
in

g 
th

em
 to

 p
ur

ch
as

e 
a 

m
ot

or
is

ed
 w

he
el

ch
ai

r.

>+
)#
)4
)'
5#1
.#
'8
<
#-
%2
=?
#)
.5
&;
=1.
+)
/#
1'
#5+
)#
*
&2
;%
1/
()
#@
&=
)'
/&
%#&
'/
#

no
t o

nl
y 

pr
ov

id
es

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 w
ith

 a
 g

re
at

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 to
 ra

is
e 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y 
fu

nd
s 

fo
r t

he
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 c
am

pa
ig

n 
bu

t a
ls

o 
en

su
re

s 
th

at
 fu

nd
s 

ar
e 

ra
is

ed
 fo

r a
 lo

ca
l c

ha
rit

y.
 T

he
 e

ve
nt

 a
ls

o 
pr

ov
id

es
 a

 g
re

at
 n

et
w

or
ki

ng
 

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
 fo

r c
ity

 c
en

tre
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
a 

gr
ea

t p
la

tfo
rm

 
fro

m
 w

hi
ch

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 c
an

 la
un

ch
 C

hr
is

tm
as

 in
 C

am
br

id
ge

. 

4.
 W

in
d

o
w

 D
re

ss
in

g
 C

o
m

p
et

it
io

n
In

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ith

 C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s,

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 ra
n 

a 
W

in
do

w
 

D
re

ss
in

g 
co

m
pe

tit
io

n 
in

 D
ec

em
be

r f
or

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t B

us
in

es
se

s 
ac

ro
ss

 th
e 

ci
ty

. L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 in
vi

te
d 

In
de

pe
nd

en
ts

 to
 re

gi
st

er
 to

 
be

 in
vo

lv
ed

 a
nd

 th
en

 a
 te

am
 o

f j
ud

ge
s 

to
ok

 to
 th

e 
st

re
et

s 
to

 ju
dg

e 
th

e 
w

in
do

w
 d

is
pl

ay
s.

 T
he

 8
 s

ho
rtl

is
te

d 
w

in
do

w
s 

w
er

e 
th

en
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

in
 

th
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s 

w
ho

 ra
n 

an
 o

nl
in

e 
co

m
pe

tit
io

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
ge

ne
ra

l 
pu

bl
ic

 to
 c

ho
os

e 
th

e 
w

in
ni

ng
 w

in
do

w
. B

re
ez

e 
on

 T
rin

ity
 S

tre
et

 w
on

 
in

 2
01

1 
an

d 
re

ce
iv

ed
 g

re
at

 c
ov

er
ag

e 
in

 th
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 N

ew
s.

 T
hi

s 
co

m
pe

tit
io

n 
is

 v
er

y 
po

pu
la

r a
m

on
gs

t I
nd

ep
en

de
nt

s 
an

d 
in

 2
01

1 
w

e 
ha

d 
a 

re
co

rd
 n

um
be

r r
eg

is
te

r t
he

ir 
in

te
re

st
. L

oo
ki

ng
 fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 2
01

2 
w

e 
ai

m
 to

 ru
n 

th
e 

co
m

pe
tit

io
n 

in
 th

e 
sa

m
e 

fo
rm

at
 a

ga
in

. 

C
B

b
id

 –
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

en
t 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
P

ro
je

ct

Th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

lly
 s

ec
ur

ed
 E

R
D

F 
(E

ur
op

ea
n 

R
eg

io
na

l D
ev

el
op

m
en

t F
un

d)
 in

 th
e 

sp
rin

g 
of

 2
01

1 
to

  
gi

ve
 lo

ca
l b

us
in

es
se

s 
th

e 
op

po
rtu

ni
ty

 to
 e

xp
lo

re
 th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l o

f a
  

B
ID

 in
 C

am
br

id
ge

.

W
hi

ls
t t

he
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 h

as
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

th
e 

le
ve

l o
f 

C%
14
&5
)#
.)
@5
8%
#,A
'/
1'
(#
.1
('
1-
@&
'5
=?
#.
1'
@)
#15
#<
&.
#)
.5
&;
=1.
+)
/#
1'
#G
HH
I"
#

as
 a

 v
ol

un
ta

ril
y 

fu
nd

ed
 m

od
el

 it
s 

po
si

tio
n 

is
 s

til
l v

ul
ne

ra
bl

e.
 It

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
pa

rt 
of

 th
e 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

’s
 m

ed
iu

m
 te

rm
 s

tra
te

gy
 to

 e
xp

lo
re

 th
e 

fe
as

ib
ilit

y 
of

 a
 B

us
in

es
s 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t D

is
tri

ct
 fo

r C
am

br
id

ge
 a

s 
a 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 fo

r 
de

liv
er

in
g 

a 
lo

ng
 te

rm
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 m

od
el

 fo
r C

ity
 C

en
tre

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

in
 C

am
br

id
ge

.

P
la

n 
is

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 in

 A
ug

us
t a

nd
 it

 is
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 th
at

 th
e 

B
ID

 
pr

op
os

al
 w

ill 
be

 p
ut

 to
 a

 fo
rm

al
 b

al
lo

t i
n 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

2.

Th
e 

fu
tu

re
 ro

le
 o

f t
he

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ill 

be
 re

vi
ew

ed
 

al
on

g 
si

de
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f t

he
 B

ID
.  

L
o

o
ki

n
g

 f
o

rw
ar

d
 t

o
 2

01
2/

13

20
11

/1
2 

ha
s 

se
en

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 d
el

ive
r a

 n
um

be
r o

f n
ew

 in
itia

tiv
es

 
al

on
gs

id
e 

th
e 

re
gu

la
r p

ro
je

ct
s.

 L
oo

ki
ng

 fo
rw

ar
d 

to
 2

01
2/

13
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

a 
nu

m
be

r o
f n

ew
 in

itia
tiv

es
 th

at
 w

e 
w

ill 
be

 w
or

ki
ng

 o
n 

in
 a

dd
itio

n 
to

 th
os

e 
pr

oj
ec

ts
 w

e 
ha

ve
 a

lre
ad

y 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 to
 d

el
ive

rin
g.

 2
01

2/
13

 p
ro

m
ise

s 
to

 b
e 

th
e 

bu
sie

st
 y

ea
r f

or
 L

ov
e 

C
am

br
id

ge
 to

 d
at

e 
so

 w
e 

lo
ok

 fo
rw

ar
d 

to
 w

or
ki

ng
 

w
ith

 y
ou

 o
n 

it.
 S

om
e 

of
 th

e 
ne

w
 in

itia
tiv

es
 y

ou
 s

ho
ul

d 
lo

ok
 o

ut
 fo

r i
nc

lu
de

:

1.
 In

d
ep

en
d

en
ts

 W
ee

k
In

de
pe

nd
en

t’s
 D

ay
 is

 a
 n

at
io

na
l i

ni
tia

tiv
e 

la
un

ch
ed

 b
y 

S
ki

lls
m

ar
t 

R
et

ai
l l

as
t y

ea
r t

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
In

de
pe

nd
en

t B
us

in
es

se
s 

on
 th

e 
4t

h 
Ju

ly.
 

In
sp

ire
d 

by
 th

is
 n

at
io

na
l i

ni
tia

tiv
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
, i

n 
pa

rtn
er

sh
ip

 
w

ith
 C

am
br

id
ge

 E
di

tio
n 

an
d 

In
de

pe
nd

en
t C

am
br

id
ge

 a
re

 la
un

ch
in

g 
In

de
pe

nd
en

ts
’ W

ee
k 

to
 c

el
eb

ra
te

 th
e 

di
ve

rs
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

 In
de

pe
nd

en
ts

 
w

e 
ha

ve
 h

er
e 

in
 C

am
br

id
ge

.

R
un

ni
ng

 fr
om

 4
th

 –
 1

0t
h 

Ju
ly

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 w
ill 

pr
ov

id
e 

a 
co

or
di

na
te

d 
m

ar
ke

tin
g 

pl
at

fo
rm

 fr
om

 w
hi

ch
 w

e 
ca

n 
pr

om
ot

e 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 

be
in

g 
or

ga
ni

se
d 

by
 In

de
pe

nd
en

t B
us

in
es

se
s.

 L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 w
ill 

in
vi

te
 a

ll 
In

de
pe

nd
en

ts
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 M
ar

ke
t T

ra
de

rs
, t

o 
ge

t i
nv

ol
ve

d 
by

 
ho

ld
in

g 
ev

en
ts

, r
un

ni
ng

 s
pe

ci
al

 o
ffe

rs
, s

al
es

 p
ro

m
ot

io
ns

 o
r a

ny
th

in
g 

el
se

 th
ey

 w
is

h 
to

 s
ho

w
ca

se
 th

ei
r b

us
in

es
s 

an
d 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
pe

op
le

 to
 

sh
op

, e
xp

lo
re

 a
nd

 c
el

eb
ra

te
 o

ur
 In

de
pe

nd
en

ts
.

A
 fu

ll 
lis

t o
n 

w
ha

t i
s 

ha
pp

en
in

g 
w

ill 
be

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
on

 th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 

w
eb

si
te

 –
 w

w
w

.lo
ve

-c
am

b
ri

d
g

e.
co

.u
k

2.
 L

o
ve

 y
o

ur
 lo

ca
l M

ar
ke

t 
C

am
p

ai
g

n
Lo

ve
 y

ou
r L

oc
al

 M
ar

ke
t i

s 
a 

na
tio

na
l in

itia
tiv

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

to
 p

ro
m

ot
e 

lo
ca

l 
M

ar
ke

ts
 a

nd
 ru

nn
in

g 
fro

m
 2

3r
d 

Ju
ne

 –
 8

th
 J

ul
y. 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 w

ill 
w

or
k 

cl
os

el
y 

w
ith

 th
e 

M
ar

ke
ts

 te
am

 a
t C

am
br

id
ge

 C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il t

o 
de

ve
lo

p 
a 

m
ar

ke
tin

g 
pl

an
 th

at
 p

ro
m

ot
es

 C
am

br
id

ge
 M

ar
ke

ts
 d

ur
in

g 
th

is
 p

er
io

d.

To
ge

th
er

 w
e 

ar
e 

ho
pi

ng
 to

 la
un

ch
 a

 q
ui

z,
 a

 lo
ya

lty
 c

ar
d 

fo
r C

am
br

id
ge

 
M

ar
ke

ts
 a

nd
 a

ls
o 

ru
n 

a 
co

m
pe

tit
io

n 
as

ki
ng

 h
ow

 y
ou

 s
ee

 C
am

br
id

ge
 

M
ar

ke
ts

. M
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

ill 
be

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
on

 w
w

w
.c

am
b

ri
d

g
e.

g
o

v.
uk

/m
ar

ke
ts

 a
nd

 w
w

w
.lo

ve
-c

am
b

ri
d

g
e.

co
.u

k 

3.
 B

es
t 

o
f 

B
ri

ti
sh

 S
um

m
er

 P
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
To

 c
el

eb
ra

te
 a

ll t
hi

ng
s 

B
rit

is
h 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
S

um
m

er
 o

f 2
01

2 
Lo

ve
 C

am
br

id
ge

 
w

ill 
be

 c
re

at
in

g 
a 

de
di

ca
te

d 
ar

ea
 o

f o
ur

 w
eb

si
te

 to
 p

ro
m

ot
e 

pr
od

uc
ts

, 
sp

ec
ia

l m
en

us
, a

nd
 e

ve
nt

s 
th

at
 a

re
 h

ap
pe

ni
ng

. L
ov

e 
C

am
br

id
ge

 w
ill 

th
en

 
us

e 
th

e 
eb

ul
le

tin
, f

ac
eb

oo
k 

an
d 

tw
itt

er
 to

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
th

is
 a

ct
ivi

ty
.

Lo
ve

 o
ur

 c
it

y.
..

w
w

w
.lo

ve
-c

am
br

id
g

e.
co

.u
k

 !
"#
$
%&
#'
(
%)*
!#
+
,

-.
/0
#1
/2
2#.
/)
#&
/%
3"
#%,
4%
3"

5
!0
%4
)6

74
#'
!.
11

%,
&

8
9)
",
3"
3#
.1

",
%,
&#
!.
/0
4#
7*
0.
44
#)!
"#
*%
):
#)!
0.
/&
!.
/)
#;
"*
"6

<"
0

=
%22#
>
.7
3#
?
%,
)"
0#
@7
%0

A
#3
7:
#.
B#*
"2
"<
07
)%.
,

C
%B)
4#
C
72
.0
"

D
/,
30
"3
4#
.B
#&
%B)
#%3
"7
4#
%,
4%
3"

5
!0
%4
)6

74
#'
!.
(
4

?
!7
)#(

%22#
:.
/#
4"
"#
)!
%4
#*
!0
%4
)6

74
E

Lo
ve

 C
hr

is
tm

as
...

Lo
ve

 C
hr

is
tm

as

w
w

w
.lo

ve
-c

am
br

id
g

e.
co

.u
k

w
w

w
.c

am
br

id
g

e-
ne

w
s.

co
.u

k

-.
/0
#C
/%
3"
#).

#5
76

<0
%3
&"
#)!
%4
#5
!0
%4
)6

74
FFF

In
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

it
h

Lo
ve
 C
hr
is
tm
as
...

w
w
w
.lo
ve
-c
am
br
id
g
e.
co
.u
k
w
w
w
.c
am
br
id
g
e-
ne
w
s.
co
.u
k

 !
"#
$%
"&
'(
$)!
$*
+,
-#
&'
.(
$)/
&0
$*
/#
&0
),
+0
111

In
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 w
it
h Page 122



8

www.love-cambridge.co.uk Love our city...

Love Cambridge,
The Guidlhall
Market Square
Cambridge
CB2 3QJ

Tel 01223 457198
info@love-cambridge.co.uk

Love Cambridge would like to thank the following organisations 
for their ongoing support

advertising  |  marketing  |  design  

Financial Summary
1st April 2010 – 31st March 2011

2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

Income £ £ £

Core Funding
from a number of public & private
sector partners across the city

91,820 91,820 98,820

Project Funding
from a number of public & private 
sector partners across the city

53,090 8,698 33,145

Christmas Lights/Tree Contributions 32,041 34,446 25,475

Fundraising Ball 9,610 6,581 5,720

Total Income 186,561 141,545 163,155

Expenditure

Projects

Marketing & Communications 29,527 2,652 24,657

Transport & Access - - 224

Environment & Public Realm 1,248 4,234 5,333

Performance & Evaluation - 762 96

Christmas 63,630 60,934 57,629

Design - - 860

Other Projects 48,965 1,035 -

Sub total - project expenditure 143,370 69,617 88,799

Expenditure Administration/Personnel 49,722 43,482 59,042

Other Expenses 6,762 10,182 9,922

Subtotal- other expenditure 56,484 53,664 68,964

Surplus carried forward – before tax -13,293 18,264 5,392

Surplus carried forward – after tax -13,293 14,429 4,260

Page 123



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources

Report by: Emma Thornton- Head of Tourism and City Centre 
Management

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

Wards affected: Market Ward 

CBbid- Business Improvement District Project 
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The report provides the background to, and an update on, the CBbid 
Business Improvement District Project (BID). It sets out a proposal for 
the introduction of a Business Improvement District in Cambridge and 
the opportunities for increased investment in the management of the 
city centre. It also sets out the timeline that will lead to the BID ballot in 
October 2012. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 Following receipt of an update on the CBbid project the Executive 
Councillor is recommended to: 

 ! Support the Council’s continued engagement in this project, pending a 
full report and recommendations coming to Committee on 15th

October 2012 shortly before the BID ballot. 

 ! To agree the mechanism through which the Council will exercise its 
vote.

3. Background 

3.1  The BID model – The National context 

3.1.1 BIDS legislation was introduced in 2004 following a successful pilot 
scheme and in response to the need to develop a long-term 
sustainable model for delivering effective town and city centre 
management. This was required because to date Town and City 
Centre Management Partnerships had depended on voluntary funding 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 15

Page 125



Report Page No: 2 

which could not be guaranteed, and there was a need to develop a 
more equitable funding model. This voluntary model is the one that 
has been in use in Cambridge since the first Council- led, City Centre 
Partnership was established in 1995, and subsequently with Love 
Cambridge since April 2009. 

3.1.2 A BID (Business Improvement District) is a defined geographical area 
within which businesses/ stakeholders vote to pay an additional levy 
for the delivery of projects and services to improve their trading 
environment. The projects and services are defined by the 
businesses/ stakeholders and can include anything provided that it is 
additional to any services provided by public agencies.

3.1.3 The BID legislation states that BID status will be determined by a BID 
Ballot. Ballot arrangements are defined in the 2004 BID Regulations 
and are conducted through a 28-day postal ballot. If the majority vote 
in favour of the BID the levy is compulsory for all eligible businesses.  
To secure a positive BID ballot, of those that vote, it is necessary for 
over 50% of the rateable value and 50% of the business rate payers 
within the BID area to vote in favour. This double trigger ensures that 
the vote is representative of businesses of all sizes. A separate BID 
company limited by guarantee is set up to deliver the BID Business 
Plan and the levy is collected by the Local Authority and passed to the 
BID company.

3.1.4 There have been over 170 successful BID ballots since the legislation 
was introduced in 2004. Over 40 of these have been renewal ballots 
where a BID has delivered its first BID Business Plan and businesses 
have voted a second time in favour of a second term of 5 years. The 
recent “Portas Review” – an independent review into the future of our 
high streets, commissioned by Government, identified BIDs as an 
important model for improving our town and city centres, and 
recommended support for their further development. 

3.2  Background to the CBbid project and progress to date 

3.2.1 The Love Cambridge Partnership successfully secured ERDF 
(European Regional Development Fund) funding in the spring of 2011 
to give local businesses the opportunity to explore the potential of a 
BID in Cambridge.  Cambridge is one of 3 locations ( Norwich and 
Lowestoft are the other 2) that are involved in this ATCM ( Association 
of Town Centre Management) led project to support BID development 
in the Eastern region. 

Page 126



Report Page No: 3 

3.2.2 The Love Cambridge Partnership was formally established in April 
2009. One of the key objectives in establishing this arms length public 
private sector partnership was to strengthen the previous model and to 
provide a structure, which would enable all stakeholders to have a say 
in how the city centre evolved. Another key objective was to attract 
increased private sector investment to the partnership.  

3.2.3 Whilst the Love Cambridge Partnership has increased the level of 
private sector funding significantly since it was established in 2009, as 
a voluntarily funded model its position is still vulnerable. It has been 
part of the Partnership’s medium term strategy to explore the 
feasibility of a Business Improvement District for Cambridge as a 
mechanism for delivering a long term sustainable model for City 
Centre Management in Cambridge.  

3.2.4 The future role of the Love Cambridge Partnership will be reviewed 
along side the development of the BID.  No detailed discussion on its 
future can take place until there is much greater clarity on the projects 
that a BID might deliver. 

3.2.5 The CBbid project began in June 2011. An initial BID study area was 
identified and every business in the BID study area was sent an initial 
questionnaire in the summer of 2011. There was good feedback from 
these surveys, which showed that there were positive views of the city 
but that there were areas where businesses were keen to see 
improvements. A workshop attended by over 60 businesses was held 
in October 2011. A BID Development Manager was then appointed in 
January 2012 to lead on the project.   

3.2.6 Careful consideration has been given to defining the proposed BID 
area. This is very important in ensuring that the area is not so large 
that the benefits of the projects become diluted, or that the number of 
businesses included is not so great that effective ongoing 
communication and engagement is difficult to achieve. It is important 
to recognise that if the CBbid project is supported there could be the 
potential for subsequent BIDs in other parts of the city in the future.  

3.2.7 In January 2012 full consultation activity began. Analysis from the 
surveys and workshops were used to develop potential work streams 
for a BID. Two focus group meetings, with around 20 businesses at 
each event, were held to test the work streams. Key work streams 
were agreed as: Safe and Clean; Friendly and Vibrant; Pride and 
Promotion; Business Support.

Page 127



Report Page No: 4 

3.2.8 Individual meetings with businesses and further business groups took 
place in January, February and March this year and will continue 
throughout the summer. In April, 15 business meetings were held 
across the city and all businesses within the BID area were invited to 
participate in one of these meetings. There has been excellent input 
from those businesses that have participated in the consultation to 
date and four themes have been agreed together with a list of 
potential projects that could be delivered through the BID model. 

3.3 Proposed themes for the BID: 

 ! Delivering a coordinated and effective approach, to ensure a safe and 
pleasant experience for all users of the city centre 

 ! Creating a welcoming and well-managed and vibrant street scene 
encouraging visitors to stay longer and spend more (maximising the 
economic benefits of our visitor economy). 

 ! Marketing and promotion

 ! Ensuring the BID provides on going support to local businesses 
developing projects that help them to remain competitive and 
sustainable. 

3.3.1 The proposed BID area has now been further defined and is shown in 
Appendix 1. The BID area will not be finalised until the publication of 
the Business plan in August. 

3.4 Potential projects: 

• Evening wardens & taxi marshalling 
• Evening Economy Manager 
• Steam cleaning & chewing gum removal 
• Street Ambassadors/ Rangers 
• Focussed promotion of our independent businesses highlighting the 

diversity of the retail offer 
• Events 
• Christmas Lights 
• Customer facing website 
• Advertising/radio campaigns 
• Voucher scheme/loyalty card 
• Sector promotions e.g. dining week, hair & beauty
• Collaborative Procurement 

– Reduced utility bills 
– Trade waste removal

Page 128



Report Page No: 5 

– Recycling
– Delivery service plans (coordination and consolidation of 

deliveries for small businesses) 

3.5  Who is overseeing the development of the BID? 

3.5.1 A BID Task Force was formed in February. This group is made up of 
13 businesses/stakeholders representing different sectors and areas 
of the BID area. The Task Force meets monthly and oversees the BID 
development work. 

3.5.2 In addition to the consultation undertaken to date, a full programme of 
consultation is planned before a BID Business Plan is developed in 
August. It is currently anticipated that the BID proposal will be put to a 
formal ballot in October 2012. The ATCM led ERDF project is a 3 year 
project and has set out that the BID ballots should take place in the 
summer/ autumn of 2012. 

3.6  How will the BID be funded?  

3.6.1 Businesses/stakeholders pay an agreed levy based on the rateable 
value of the premises. This is proposed at 1% for Cambridge for all 
properties with a rateable value above £20,000. This pooled business 
resource will be managed by a newly setup Cambridge BID company. 
The Board will be made up of levy payers (which would include the 
City Council) and the company will be responsible for implementing 
the BID business plan and will be accountable to the BID levy payers.

3.6.2 Businesses/stakeholders within the identified BID area will pay the 
levy so that everyone who benefits will have paid towards the BID 
services. This ensures a fair and equitable funding model. 

3.7  Summary of CBbid key milestones and development timetable

3.7.1 August 2011 - Businesses surveyed 
October 2011 – CBbid Business Workshop 
November 2011 – First CBbid Newsletter circulated 
January 2012 – CBbid Business Focus Groups 
February 2012 – CBbid Task Force formed 
April 2012 – 15 Business meetings 
May to July 2012 – Business consultation/Business Plan development 
September 2012 – Business Plan Launched 
October 2012 – BID Ballot

Page 129



Report Page No: 6 

Once the BID business plan is published in September it will be
important to identify any implications/ opportunities for the City    
Council.  For example, should the BID be supported, it might be
beneficial to the City Council to tender for the delivery of additional  
services to the BID company and  this would need to be built into the  
Council’s 2013/14 budget process. 

A summary of the CBbid project and its progress to date has recently
been published in an Information booklet for businesses. This is  
included as Appendix 2 to this report. 

4. Implications 

4.1  Financial Implications  

4.1.1 Based on the current proposed BID area and an exemption threshold 
of £20,000, the total income generated by the BID levy would be in the 
region of £800,000 and would include around 750 businesses. This 
represents a significant private sector investment in the management 
of the city centre. Taking into account the rateable value of City 
Council owned/ occupied properties within the proposed area, the 
anticipated financial liability for the City Council would be around 
£40,000 and provision would need to be made within the Council’s 
ongoing budget to meet this additional cost. This will need to be 
considered in the MTS and as part of the 2013/14 budget process. 

4.1.2 It is proposed that a full report will be brought back to Committee on 
15th October 2012, which will include the published BID business Plan. 
It is at this point that the City Council will be asked to confirm its 
support for the BID. It is proposed that this decision will be made by 
the Executive Councillor for Customer Services and Resources in 
consultation with the Leader. 

4.2  Staffing implications 

4.2.1 There are currently 2 PTE members of City Council staff who are 
seconded to the Love Cambridge Partnership. If 
businesses/stakeholders vote in favour of the BID it is likely that the 
role of Love Cambridge Partnership will change.  In this event any 
implications for these members of staff will be handled in line with the 
City Council’s organisational change policy. If a BID were to be 
supported it is likely that there will be opportunities within the new BID 
company, which would be open to them. 

Page 130



Report Page No: 7 

4.3  Equal opportunities implications 

4.3.1 If a positive BID ballot is secured a full Equalities Impact Assessment 
will be undertaken ahead of the launch of the BID company in 2012.

4.4  Environmental Implications 

4.4.1 A key strand of the CBbid project has been a focus on sustainable 
procurement. The ERDF funding has provided support from both LRS, 
a specialist environmental consultancy that works with businesses and 
organisations to improve sustainable resource management, and the 
University of Westminster to investigate the development of delivery 
service plans (DSPs - coordinating deliveries for businesses in order 
to reduce delivery traffic in the city centre). At this stage it is not 
possible to classify the climate change rating for the CBbid project but 
this should be possible once the business plan is published and will be 
detailed in the report, which will come to committee in October. 

4.5  Consultation  

4.5.1 A summary of the consultation undertaken to date and the 
consultation planned is set out in sections 3.2.5, 3.2.7 and 3.2.8. 

4.6  Community Safety 

4.6.1 Through the consultation undertaken to date it is clear that businesses 
are keen to see projects that will improve the management of the 
nighttime economy in Cambridge. In other BID locations this has been 
delivered in a variety of ways including the introduction of a night time 
economy manager and/ or taxi marshalls.  The detail of the projects 
that the BID could deliver, and how this could significantly improve 
community safety in Cambridge will become clear once the business 
plan is published in August. 

4.7  Other  

4.7.1 In this extremely challenging and uncertain economic climate, the 
CBbid project offers a real opportunity for the City Council to 
collaborate with the private sector and to develop a long-term 
sustainable model for effective on going City Centre Management.   
The CBbid project, if supported, will result in significant investment in 
the management of the city centre and the potential for subsequent 
BIDs in other parts of the city. 

Page 131



Report Page No: 8 

4.7.2  The growth agenda for Cambridge present some real challenges for 
the city as it adapts to meet the needs of its growing population. In 
recognition of the worldwide reputation of Cambridge for its high 
technology cluster and as a centre of innovation, it is essential that we 
maintain and strengthen the local economy's competitive edge. We 
need to ensure that Cambridge continues to be an attractive place in 
which to live and work, and to visit. The CBbid Project will help the 
City Council to achieve  this.

5. Background papers 

None

6. Appendices 

Appendix 1  - Map of the proposed BID area
Appendix 2 -CBbid Information booklet – June 2012 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the 
background papers or if 
you have a query on the 
report please contact: 

Author’s Name: Emma Thornton Head of Tourism and City Centre 
Management

Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457464
Author’s Email: Emma.thornton@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 132



33

40

38

34

26

FB

P
ath

Bridge

DW

Posts

25to30

10

FB

9.7m

FB

DW

St Mary's Church

11

Court

N
ew

n
h

am
M

ill

P
ath

5

2

5

Bowling Green

10.3m

Fitzwilliam

Hostel

Posts

40

37

Coe Fen

First C
ourt

3

Laundress Green

7.7m

FB

El

7.0m

N
E

W
N

H
A

M
R

O
A

D

THE FEN CAUSEWAY

D
rain

Play Area

Cattle Grid

Post

Robinson
C

rusoe
Island

31
to

42

1to24

Tennis

Path and Cycle Track

Posts

Court

Museum

House

DW

U
n

d
er

p
as

s

14

7.6m

FB

Pavilion

8.3m

Posts

6.9m

The Malting

Sheep's Green

Path

Mill Pit

45

Posts

7.1m

Vicarage

N
ew

nham
Terrace

P
ath

1

13

Crusoe

7.5m

Posts

52

9.1m

9.2m

Post

T
h

e
L

o
f t

R
ID

L
E

Y
H

A
L

L
R

O
A

D

Ridley Hall

Church Rate Corner

W
O

R
D

S
W

O
R

T
H

G
R

O
V

E

5

5

Court

Brookfield

2

Middleton Cottage

8.7m

Fr
o

st
la

ke

1

9.2m

Path

9.4m

1

3

Newnham House

(Founded AD 1882)

Lammas Land

Surgery

(private)

9.3m

Caius College Fellows' Garden

Posts

LB

Springfield

23

Pe
rs

e
A

lm
sh

ou
se

s

Path

Summerfield

Pigthle

g

1

Tennis

9.8m

Gonville and Caius College Playing Field

6

6

Stone

1

C
o

tt
ag

e

Dashwood

Chapel

House

1

The

25

3

1to5

2

Little Newnham

MALTING LANE

12

Path
and Cycle Track

TCB

Newnham

N
EW

N
H

A
M

R
O

A
D

NEWNHAM WALK

3

SUMMERFIELD

Stone

Post

6

4

Whytherton

C
hu

rc
h

R
at

e
W

al
k

Paddling

FB

Pool

FB

16

PC

26

7.0m

Path

7.6m

7.9m

Drain

C
lu

b

17

Drain

19

Swimming

23

14

7.0m

CHAUCER ROAD

Post

Post

Dra
in

Car Park

FB

FB

Sluice

Coe Fen Straits

R
iv

er
C

am

FB

Paradise Nature Reserve

22

Pool

P
os

ts

Vicar's Brook

Pond

25

Issues

Pa
th

Fen

Pavilion

Playing Field

FB

Posts

P
ath

Coe

7.9m

54

79

5

26

NEWNHAM CROFT

9.4m

36

D
E

R
B

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

7

37

1

24

FIELD

G
R

A
N

T
C

H
E

S
T

E
R

9.4m

CHEDWORTH STREET

20
15

9.1m

20

1

32

51

35
a

6

8.2m

17

14

12
19

19

3 4

67

Maitland

10

El Sub Sta

D
ra

in

1

46

TRUM
PINGTON

STREET

(founded 1284)

Little

Post

44

8.6m

Chapel

Garden House

13 12

Sluice

Sheep's Green

Path

River Cam

Hotel

Sub Sta

25

9

Posts

FB

Fellows' Garden

Posts

36

DW

DW

39

35

Andersons

2

Cosin

30

Causewayside

4

H
obson's ConduitPeterhouse

GRANTA
PLACE

B
oat

H
ouse

Posts

Gisborne Court

D
rain

53

51

The Old
Oast House

The Lodge

Old Court

Canham's(founded 1964)

Lodge

Ashton

D
rain

GroveHouse

36a

PH

Darwin College

FB

9

1

FB

Laboratories

42

Peterhouse

Yard

Court

35

Church

26

14

Drain

37

4

4

1

2

H
all

4

to20

10

50

Cloister

30b

28

St

Court

SD

PH

Bishop

W
hewell's

Court

Bridge

GREEN STREET

11

8.5m

El Sub
Sta

16

6.7m

El Sub Sta

12

Lodge

New Court

T
R

IN
IT

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

24

Bridge

13

Garret

1

17

Statue

9

Posts

PCs

Half

Forecourt

17

3

8.5m

Mary's

Benton Court

9

33

14

7

El Sub
Sta

14

Bin
Bro

ok

37

1

7.3m

27

34

9.4m

18

TCB

First Court

Pitt Club

19

10

29

2
to

7

21

30

25

Moon Yard

70

11

(founded 1546)

Prim
ary

School

Park
Stre

et C of E

Trinity

Court

FB

Second Court

PH

PH

6

NEW
PARK

9

14

Bin
Brook

34

Trinity College

1

(founded 1350)

48

16

New Court

4

31

9

49

Church

11

Chapel Court

35

7

5

11

Cripps Building

8

(private)

(founded 1348)

24

E
lS

u
b

S
ta

H
enry

M
artyn

Caius

20

9.4m

17

32

36

9

30a

Post

Third Court

Great Court

36

19
to

22

Place

STREET

Caius College

Bank

Master's

10

The Old Vicarage

21

22

Chapel

18

37

Sub
Sta

El

Trinity

R
ose

C
rescent

3

23a

S
t

C
le

m
en

ts
G

ar
d

en
s

Master's Garden

TCB

Little

Court

8.5m

JE
SUS

LANE

8

LOWER PARK STREET

7

Posts

PA
R

K
S

TR
E

E
T

28
26

to
27

Wolfson Building

14

31

Hall Court

4

G
IFFO

R
D

P
LA

C
E

5 to
7

9.1m

24

16

9.4m

SID
N

EY
STR

EET

Trinity Hall

8.8m

Synagogue

71

All S
ain

ts
' P

as
sag

e

Gonville

69

7.
0m

5

36

Sepulchre

12

9.2m

12
to

15

51

Market Passage

54

28

10

16

(G
re

at
Brid

ge
)

Holy Trinity

1

TRINITY LANE

30

M
as

te
r'

s
L

o
d

g
e

GARRET HOSTEL LANE

Master's

Chapel

PW

Multistorey Car Park

8.2m

Master's Lodge

2

68

27

Bateman

Gonville and

Nevile's Court

All Saints' Passage

23

22a

23

14 to 15

73

52

The Blue Boar

Po
rt

ug
al

Po
rt

ug
al

15

29

35

Holy

53

Church

9

9.1m

Garden

St Clement's

1

9.4m

3

3837

17

M
al

lo
ry

C
o

ur
t

N
ew

C
o

u
rt

B
ri

d
g

e

12

St
re

et30

15

Chapel

16

19

Quayside

LB

17

16

4

10

11

20

31

16

32c

16

El Sub Sta

8

38

6.7m

Cross

BRID
G

E
STREET

Cherry Tree Court

PO

St Michael's

T
h

e
F

is
h

er
B

u
ild

in
g

to

37

12

5

Riv
er

Cam

S
T

JO
H

N
'S

S
TR

E
E

T

5to7

(private)

67a

5.8m

The Backs

W
A

LK

4

Master's Garden

(founded 1511)

BLACKMOOR
HEAD

YD

fountain

27

S
h

ip
L

an
e

25

8 14

House

18

1

65

63

Owlstone

16

30

7
to

NHAM CROFT STREET

40

42

Newnham Croft

18

65

66

O
W

L
S

TO
N

E
R

O
A

D

Croft

The Grove

6

10

20

31

1 to 3

13

41

School

13

5
13

23

21

House

(Queens

18
10

15
16

27

College)

25

LAMMAS

S
T

R
E

E
T

9

Paradise

22

2

1

Lammas Field
Pavilion

33

2
1

26

1

33

5

Drain

53

52

26

5
to

El Sub Sta

Hall

15

9.4m

32

6

7.7m

13

Church

15

ADC
Theatre

3

2

Court

66

Post

7.0m

University

9

Master's Lodge

32

21 to 24

28

ROUND
CHURCH

STREET

12

33a

19

23

8

1

El Sub Sta

23

31

(private)

5

Chapel Court

Cambridge Union Society

16

16

7

Angel
Court

4

35

35

2

MARKET STREET

1

Pond
Webb's Court

Corpus Christi

22

PH

Provost's Garden

Old Court

11

Queens' College

United Reformed

12

Fellows' Garden

Old Court

16

(founded 1347)

El Sub Sta

32

Friars Court

President's Garden

T
h

e
B

ack s

7

Master's

The Grove

Ivy Court

8.2m

H
obson's C

onduit

1

1

38

21

5a

LB

Drain

King's College Chapel

King and Martyr

St G
eorge

Posts

21a

17

7a

6

2

4

Bank

Lodge

9.8m

1a

8

Church

G
U

ILD
H

A
LL

S
TR

E
E

T

28

1

9.1m

1

College

Sub Sta

Pond

6

3

Cripps Court

4

Posts

House

4

18

S
E

N
A

T
E

H
O

U
S

E

(private)

K
IN

G
'S

P
A

R
A

D
E

PEMBROKE STREET

5

Church

54

2

(founded 1352)

21

7.9m

Guildhall

Master's Lodge

LBs

St Edward's Passage

9

Front Court

Mill Pit

Lodge

12a
13

Fisher House

Master's

59

Market Place

Church of St Mary

(founded 1346)

29

Emmanuel

3

Court

13

1BENE'T STREET

1

the Great

Walnut Tree Court

Botolph Court

10

King's College

20

Clare

Pembroke College

4

C
orn

Exchange

12

30

58

10.1m

LB

37

Posts

T
R

U
M

P
IN

G
TO

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

PA
R

SO
N'S

C
O

U
R

T

2

Porter's

20

(private)

8.8m

8

9

Fountain

First Court

Statue

TCBs

Passage

S
t

E
d

w
ar

d
's

Old Schools Site

56

(PH)

Master's Lodge

(founded 1446)

H
IL

L

Clare College

Arts Theatre

13

Laun
d

ress
Lan

e

5

West Court

Bodley's Court

Dra
in

BOTOLPH LANE

R
iver

C
am

El

Great Lawn

70
to

72

(priv
ate)

8.8m

Post

King's College Fellows' Garden

7.0m

Posts

Posts

7.3m

8.5m

7.9m

(Gonville and Caius College)

West

Harvey Court

Master's and Fellows' Garden

Posts Garret Hostel Lane

Drain

Q
U

E
E

N
'S

R
O

A
D

Finella

rial Court

Clare College

6.7m

Drain

Clare Hall Piece

D
rain

Drain

Posts

Post

Posts

Newnham Cottage

1

College

Finella East

24

Glenoven

86

13
9a

14
.3

m

Sub

Post

122

20

Institute

183

13

PH

153

Florence

81

2

18

13
9b

12

2

14.0m

62

Beaconsfield Terrace

79
81

12

FI
SH

E
R

S
TR

E
E

T

1

HILDA STREET

182 to 186

2

1
to

11

14.6m

TCB

El

1

154

SEARLE STREET

2

1 to 38

VICTORIA ROAD

80

Primrose

1

98

89

177

85

117

141

1

1

7

68

Croft

47

7

65

6

13.1m

65

57

53

1

12

16.8m

S
T

LU
K

E
'S

S
TR

E
E

T

A
R

TH
U

R
S

TR
E

E
T

18

84

Villa

Court

2

25

8

76

181

50

2

180

29

129

82

73

165

H
O

L
L

A
N

D
S

T
R

E
E

T

St John's College

15

8

29

10

47

North Court

40

North Court

65

Bowling Green

St John's

57

36

64

Old Bridge

Po
st

Jord
an's Yard

LB

Court

to

B
A

C
H

EL
O

R
'S

Hostel

Tree Court

Merton House

D
ra

in

32

D
ra

in

Q
U

E
E

N
'S

R
O

A
D

38

Merton Cottage

Posts

9.2m

LB

ellows' Garden

NORTHAMPTON STREET

TCB

St John's College Fellows' Garden

FB

Path (um)

7.6m

D
ra

in

7.6m

or Wilderness

Merton Hall

Shelter

Cottage

B
in

B
ro

ok

Posts

Merton Hall

THE AVENUE

7.6m

Posts

30

27

3

Laboratories

Senate House Passage

Master's Garden

1

Lyons Court

13

St Bene't's

Landing

1to8

Chapel

14

Sherlock

Old Court

Master's Garden

LB

12

New Court

Posts

5

(founded 1441)

10

(PH)

8

Chapel

SILVER STREET

Lodge

Fisher Court

P
itt B

uilding

32

(private)

WHEELER STREET

LB

14

New Museum Site

St Edward
10.1m

Pond

19

Club

10

Laboratories

Provost's

9.1m

Church of

5

17

2

30

Master's

St Mary's Passage

31

St Botolph's

Master's Garden

Lion
Yard

4

10.4m

10.1m

Posts

74

PC

Chapel

Scholars' Garden

P
E

A
S

H
IL

L

MILL LANE

Hall

Cloister Court

Bridge

6
55

4

President's Lodge

(private)

6

34

7

Stage

3

Fountain

15

16

Church

Fn

Stuart

Market Hostel

House

TCBs

7

St Catharine's

FR
E

E
S

C
H

O
O

L
LA

N
E

Posts

M
aster's

L
o

d
g

e

Laboratories

Fellows' Garden

Q
U

E
E

N
S

' L
A

N
E

7

7.9m

Chapel

3

(founded 1475)

Pump

Court

Garden
1

15

Petty Cury

Court

LITTLE ST MARY'S LANE

8.5m

Cobble

36

The Bath

27

Queens' Green

(C
am

bridge
U

niversity
Press)

PH8

Lodge

3

LB

Senate House

Bank

New Court

Chapel

33

1

Bridge

LB

10.1m

Posts

Laboratories

King's

4

68

G
uildhall Place

Q
ueens' B

ridge

2

2

8

South

Weir

Small
Bridge

15

College

15

9

11.0m

1

9

Sub

20

66

Offices

12

Sta

W
essex

Place

17Bowling Green

1

7

9

25

Motte

14

7

LB

6.
7m

12

Second Court

10.4m

CASTLE
STREET

13

13

48

10a

1

M
AG

RATH

Tennis Courts

1

13

12

5

75

Church

Church

47

Carlyle

53

54

AV
ENUE

14

71

56

21

64

NORTHAMPTON STREET

County Council

21

15

12.5m

2

42

M
A

G
R

ATH
AVEN

U
E

63

17

Kettle
s Yard

Ppg Sta

Jesus Green

40

P
la

ce

Hall

MAGDALENE
STREET

69

21

67

15

9.0m

8

18

Bowling Green

8.8m

19

5

23

ST
JO

HN
'S

RO
AD

Alexandra Gardens

(founded 1542)

31

Sheraton

39

Pavilion

Posts

6
to

8

22

9

P
at

h

5

18

Bishop Bateman Court

St Mary Magdalene College

17

28

D Fn

26

PH

36

10

14

Folk
Museum

TCBs

to

Stones

(Private)

PH

55

Church

28

GRASMERE GARDENS

23

78

Sub

15

M
al

lo
ry

Cou
rt

9
to

13

12

4

1

10.2m

55

H
O

NEY
HIL

L

52

14

83

9

17

11

20
to

14

3

17

HERTFORD
STREET

St Peter's

Stones

6.4m

St Giles's

19

90

C
H

E
ST

ER
TO

N
LA

N
E

PH

11

Cory
House7

15

34

Civil W
ar Earthworks

CHESTERTON ROAD

First Court

10.7m

7

74

9

1a

23

54

25

9.1m

Castle Hill

Shire

8.2m

33

El

26

Sunday School

17

14

71

6.4m

Riv
er

 C
am

Hillside

1

Hotel

19

PO
R

TU
G

A
L

ST
R

EE
T

33

El

16

House

83

60

Maltings Yard

TCB

R
ic

hm
on

d
Te

rr
ac

e

41

7

Garage

47 to
61

63

3

Govt Offices

13a

71a

3

CARLYLE ROAD

7

5

18a

11

13

28

22

38

34

36

77
to

81

4

Westminster College

4

PO
U

N
D

H
ILL

65

7

12

ST
JOHN'S

PLACE

SHELLY
GARDEN

40

17

13

9

Station

18

18.0m

29

17

16

39

25

18

57

10

CASTLE
STREET

(R
egister

9

Castle Park

ALBION
YARD

20

7

21

School

11

12

18.6m

Storey's

House

9

10

15

35

10

8

4

48

15.2m

1

HAYMARKET ROAD

18.6m

9.7m

60

16

59

Posts

53

28

4

Sub

House

Abacus

102

5

County Council Offices

2

15

10.1m

Sundial

Peter Maitland Court P
R

IM
R

O
S

E
S

T
R

E
E

T

H
A

LE
S

TR
E

E
T

V
IC

TO
R

IA
P

A
R

K

105

28

33

B
u

ild
er

's
Y

ar
d

23

121

13

10

88

1

139

26

43

7

19

6

166

38

27

& Community Centre

14
6

95

3

41

5

E
l S

u
b

S
ta

New Chesterton

Bermuda Terrace

16.5m

1

74

4

77

Vicarage

1

43

37

2

2

Sta

123

5

24

36

23

2

23

79a

St Luke's Church

23

3

Tr
ac

k

3

38

14.6m

152

CLARE
STREET

83

15.5m

90

24

30
31

St Luke's Mews

14

21

El

15

6

8

99a

6

49

B
ea

uf
or

t

2

27

Chapel

14

102

27

PARK
PARADE

13

Weir

22

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
S

LA
N

E

1

34

Sluice and Footbridge

17

24

55

26

2

3

22

14

20

11

43

1

P
os

ts

12

15

EAST HERTFORD
STREET

10

19

ALPHA
ROAD

7

5to
9

15

Sub Sta

29

1to45

97

El Sub Sta

87

22

99

4

6

Pavilion

40

14

6.4m

21

40

1

1

22

16

House

50

1

Recreation

Horse

House
Titan

Westminster College Bounds

Honey Hill

52

1

1

5

241

ST PETER'S STREET

1

14

Black

1

7

ANT

Hall

59

TCB

45

55

4

M
OUNT

PLEASANT
W

ALK

46

71

75

C
ra

n
w

el
l C

o
u

rt

Ps

58

8

56

4

10

7

M
ount P

leasant H
ouse

3

5

Car Park

21.0m

8

63

45

16

30

67

Sta

1

32

to

47

Hall

5

42

LB

17

9

Prince Henry

14

57

9

69

Godwin House

21

El

House

LB

13

17

21.0m

E
l S

ub
S

ta

S
H

ELLY
R

O
W

41

51

27

Oldham

1

House

18.9m

House

10

22

12.5m

6

El
Sub

17

5

AD

38

6

2

House

19

9

31

2

14.9m

10

33

Caminus

The Knott

4

(p
ri

va
te

)

11

Park House

3

The Gables

2

47

26

97

PH

25

House

Edward
House

ALBIO
N

ROW

8

3

26

13

1

Mission

13

265

2

Old Police

55

2

Offices)

36

43

50

15

C
h

ap
el

2

83
1

27

9

Bell's Court

3

9

3

e

Poseidon

8

CASTL
E

RO
W

8

28

Castle
End

16.8m

HONEY HILL MEWS

Court

18

8

Sub Sta

14

61

PH

O
ffice)

PH

14

6

Whyman's
Lane

Castle

Pound Hill

12

49

12.8m

Ground

68

20

53

253

1

Babbage

1

2

7
to

LA
D

Y
M

A
R

G
A

R
E

T
R

O
A

D

8

(County Council

39

44

6
7

The Terrace

34

13

15

C
astle

Lodge

1

82

7

5

11

18

37

Court

20.4m

2

85

1

to

54

El

1

Sta

29

8

1

House

1
to

78

El Sub Sta

6

Tennis Courts

6

11.9m

11

1

45

8

60

ST PAUL'S
ROAD

4

98

6

13.1m

56

24

7

36

4

15

26

Posts

51

34

16

34

42

10

G
EO

R
G

E
IV

STR
EE

T

14

8

1

PH21

4

8

House

6

M
A

W
S

O
N

R
O

A
D

16a

YMCA

18

H
o

u
se

11
.9

m

54

15

80

Hall

105

16

25

104

LYNDEWODE ROAD

Place

El Sub
Sta

7

32

3

PH

1

48

3

2

2

9

2

44

48

71

12.5m

Sub Sta

H
anover C

ourt

66

GRESHAM
ROAD

48

El

1

95

13

ST
PAUL'S

PLACE

St Paul's
W

alk

CORONATION STREET

19

5

58

Health Centre

Alm
shouses

19

25

Hughes Hall

Ly
nd

ew
o

de

LB

92

19

59

13

12.2m

3

81

7

10
5

13

50

23

127

47

4

54

16

SM

19a

15

7

5

Elie

35

Pavilion

17
7

57

PH

12

Chesterton Recreation Ground

11

24

ELIZA
B

E
TH

W
AY

88

34

7.0m

14
8

49
a

House

House

70

10 to 15

15.8m

101

96

56

RAVENSWORTH GARDENS

65 to 70

32

89

44

75 to 80

Sub

40

54

Sta

23

nk

Great

Murdoch

Sub 

31

50

57 to 62

Hotel

to

T
E

N
IS

O
N

R
O

A
D

El

El

39

38

1to6

Eastern

TCB

Car Park

51

FS

El Sub Sta

Shelters

15
8

43

L
Tw

r

90 to 95

81

Playground

13
8

C
am

br
id

ge
S

ta
tio

n

51

Car Park

to

50

50a

STATION ROAD

3
to

21

39

Pavilion

44

47

St Andrew's Chu

L
Tw

r

33to34

84

32

14.9m

35
to

38

11
a

7.6m

54

Multistorey

12

NELSON

20

5

Nursery

DW

5

SUN STREET

10

to

PH

14

D
o

n
eg

al

Post

30

Posts

Wellington

11.9m

1

Court

141

30

18
1

Posts

18
7

Posts

8

11.6m

Sub
w

ay

1

Brunswick

6

House

38

87

P
ath

C
O

U
R

T

1

Posts

El Sub Sta

7

Athlone

NEWMARKET ROAD

EA
ST

R
O

A
D

7

S
T

6

Varsity

S
h

en
sto

n
e

H
o

u
se

Subway

TC
B

E
n

field

16

3

Compass

LB

1

H
ild

ersto
n

e
H

o
u

se

PARKER'S
TERRACE

77

2

3

7

O
C

C
U

P
A

T
IO

N
R

O
A

D

29

4

5

10

BECHE

Garage

9

8

1

YOUNG STREET

Fazeley

29

S
T

M
A

T
T

H
E

W
'S

C
O

U
R

T

37

3

23

4
P

o
st

26

5

to

P
o

st

120

M
A

T
T

H
E

W
'S

1

1

1

28

7

116

9.4m

9

5

Wellington

In
veran

73 75

85

E
V

E
N

IN
G

B
ray

Court

7

12

Works

92

36

Remains of

13

S
E

V
E

R
N

P
L

A
C

E

to

16

5

GELDART STREET

91

50

9

126

S
TU

R

(Augustinian)

3

Surgery

16

P
R

IO
R

Y
R

O
A

D

20

26

16

69

56

2

6.7m

C
A

P
S

TA
N

C
L

O
S

E

C
U

T
T

E
R

F
E

R
R

Y
 C

L
O

S
E

to

E
L

IZ
A

B
E

T
H

W
A

Y
4

68

74

10

67

27
a

21to27

ST ANDREW'S
ROAD

58

37

PH

Midsummer

Boat House

29

15

11

11

20

Barnwell Priory

63

9

15

House

3

1

24

8

Posts

Albert

29

P
o

st

5

Rooms

Club

133

School

1

129

F
arran

9

2

7

Stud

Vicarage

6

ROAD

95

60

S
T

R
E

E
T

Church

78

12.2m

124122

78

Court

8

Parish

1

12

3

4

9

Multistorey Garages

19

32

Sub
w

ay

120

PETWORTH STREET

Dock

El

Nursery

4.9m

70

LB

82

46

2a

Posts

Posts

Pavilion

33

22
to

39

16

66

8

1

57

37

W
A

L
N

U
T

TR
E

E
A

V
E

N
U

E

41

55

43

TCB

42

15

Car Park

35

6.7m

8

14

68

Posts

21

The
E

ights
M

arina

1

9

1

36

15

TCB

P
o

st

13

8

16

68

Car Park

Rexbury

34

101

13

S
TA

F
F

O
R

D
S

H
IR

E
S

T
R

E
E

T

House

P
o

st
s

Subway

5

El Sub Sta

1

St Matthew's

Ramp

G
len

m
o

re

to

4

CLOSE

Wheaton House

8

119

8

9

77 to 81

E
L

IZ
A

B
E

T
H

W
A

Y

19
1

74

11.3m

21

1

Abbey House

12

to

C
arlo

w

Posts

5

15

Posts

19
3

19

House

2

12
5

93

Subway

47

Bowling Green

65

C
ycle

Track

El Sub Sta

75

Works

Path

73

17

6.1m

Sub Sta

Garage

7.
0m

6.7m

35

30

Indoor

36

9

19

31
24

LO
G

A
N

'S
W

A

12

47

4.9m

2to12

43

40

11
a

49

A
B

B
E

Y
R

O
A

D

46

LB

20

FS

26

MILL ROAD

36

68

73

69

58

48

Tenison Court

97

22

24

1

76

G
W

Y
D

IR
S

T
R

E
E

T

47 to 53

40

104a

102

38

75

10

55

91

54

86

1

73

104

Church

2

95

118

1

1

6

14

Dukes

2

14

DW

40

20

11

18

70

15

8

8

11.9m

20

31

11

1

6

40

H
o

llym
o

u
n

t

A
B

B
E

Y
R

O
A

D

7

Posts

VICARAGE TERRACE

Passage

Bowling Green

30

MARIN
ER'S

WAY

5

Court

Posts

78

37

Salvation Army

83

PH

27

5

102

54
a

22

15.2m
52

91

42

77

4

2

Hostel

DEVONSHIRE ROAD

T
E

N
IS

O
N

R
O

A
D

100

79

59

TCB

20

156

57

73a

55

51

1

LB

106

67

Bank

86

25

108

15.5m

74

51
to

101

15
7

97

55

21

45

41

40

90a

7

104

2

12

12
4

S
T

B
A

R
N

A
B

A
S

R
O

A
D

52

78

88

Depot

78

81

180

Mosque

91

The

2

13
6

Stas

Th
e

B
at

h
H

ou
se

PCs

87

94

92

LB

16
7

FELTON STREET

96

44

56

88

30

4

63

192

12
8

3

98

18

85 to 89

100

D
E

V
O

N
S

H
IR

E
R

O
A

D

90

47

42

30

15.5m

PH

93

35

32

15.2m

74

15

168

48

81a

89

17

80

19

12

96

10
6

63

64

El

72

76

86

60

20

11
6

MILL STREET

103

8

102

49

Vicarage

Hall

28

96a

10

107

5 to 15

93

1

15

82

D
IT

C
H

B
U

R
N

P
LA

C
E

35

Sub

24

83

101

103

37

Shelter

14.9m

St Barnabas

Youth

M
A

W
S

O
N

R
O

A
D

39

10

Church

15.2m

Citadel

PH

106

WILKIN STREET

56
a

75

66

25

76

40

23

70

44

11

81

95

73

1

45

62

ANGUS

72

TE
N

IS
O

N
R

O
A

D

11
a

Car Park

3

16

36

1

21

29

80

75

24

Carers

H
E

R
B

E
R

T
S

T
R

E
E

T

52

to

Centre

15

Westbrook

1

36

Mayfair

9

25

Yard

1
11

21

Warehouse

12a

Whichcote

28

16

SPRINGFIELD

34

Builder's

7.9m

47

151

Hilltop

Court

1

11

46

1

49

62

4.9m

B
oa

t H
ou

se

10
21

2

House

29

Emmanuel College

27

Midsummer Common

Midsummer

2

Boat

27

61

AYLESTONE ROAD

P
R

E
T

O
R

I A
R

O
A

D

23

6

B
oa

t H
ou

se

7.0m

Boat House

MONTAGUE ROAD

13

B
E

LV
O

IR
R

O
A

D

38

21

29

17

18

11
2

10
0

Presbytery

H
obson's Conduit

1

17

20

1a

TCB

UNION ROAD

14

LENSFIELD ROAD

Laboratory

Gateway

Posts

Posts

94

72

71

8a

11.9m

2

93

11.6m

4

10
4

55

2

19

Tennis Court

10.7m

Research Institu
te

The
English

M
artyrs

El Sub Sta

4

Sundial

11.0m

11.6m

24

28

11.9m

5

1

Statue

H
ob

so
n

's
C

on
d

u
it

S
T

 E
L

IG
IU

S
P

L

Tennis Court

5

59

10

to

1

10.7m

19

PH

Terrace

Site

1

22

1

16

P
E

M
B

E
R

TO
N

12

10
6

6a

Chapel

23

FITZWILLIAM
STREET

10

46

1

Fellows' Garden

W
es

tc
o

tt

9

17

Epworth Court

98

New Court

14

Courts

7.3m

4

94

7

89

2a

E
M

M
A

N
U

E
L

R
O

A
D

PH

8.0m

LB

23

88

1 to 31

Posts

39

Master's Garden

Master's

H
o

u
se

to

PH

Second Court

V
I C

T
O

R
IA

A
V

E
N

U
E

Fellows' Garden

7.9m

Tennis

1

29

67

6

1

Manor Place

(private)

Vicarage

Jesus College

2

Jesus Close

Area

115

1 to 5

Chapel

6.1m

El

Westcott House

LB

5
622 to 26

33

22

24 to 29

Sidney Sussex

2

Christ's Pieces

1b

20

1

1

101

17to21

8

Conveniences

7.9m

4

Trinity Hall

ACREFIELD

28

Peterhouse

B
oa

t H
ou

se

HUMBERSTONE ROAD

Pentlands Court

21

Po
st

s

4.9m

Fi
tz

w
ill

ia
m

41

32

80

66

25

26

LB

H
ouse

29

41

45

BANHAM
S

CLO
SE

13

25

48

33

13

18

13

37

1

34

Boat House

Sub Sta

49

36to40

Boat

34

20

24

39

32

24

43

63

37

12

31

1b

13

17

PENTLANDS

Pembroke

3

14

16

CUTTER

11

60

28

38

68

14

C
oach

FB

3

25 40
22

CLOSE

Hostel

The Singer Building

CORONATION STREET

1

1

1

22

R
EG

EN
T

S
TR

E
ET

Research

1
to

3

Master's Garden

Cosin

8

Fn

7

The

PH

26
29

TR
U

M
P

IN
G

TO
N

STR
E

ET

11.6m

11.6m

C
atholic

C
hurch

81

6

7

TCB

11.3m

11
0

3

57

Downing

18

20

Court

St Peter's
Terrace

12

16

65

30

1

B
R

O
O

K
S

ID
E

40

HYDE

REGENT
TERRACE

1

P
o

st

36

Lloyds House

The Judge Institute
of

20

11.6m

Hanover

6

75
to

79

R
o

yal C
am

b
rid

g
e

H
o

tel

LB

53

41

24a

6

57

23

2

16

SAXON STREET

77a

4

11.3m

Bentinck

5

PA
N

T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

M
ilt

on
's

W
al

k

2

18

32

2

17

61

P
os

ts

30

KING STREET

1
to

9

105

Public

42

Court

129

16

4

6 to 10

(Private)

35 to 40

13

19

Diana

Garden

Post

16

Chapel

44

31

57

65 to 70

(Founded 1596)

Wesley House

70

All Saints' Church

13
to

15

Post
s

Master's Garden

Posts

Third Court

Second Court

El Sub Sta

7

F
la

ts

S
T

R
E

E
T

53

72

TCB

27

1a

18 to 23

W
es

le
y

C
h

u
rc

h

44

29

Lodge

34

31

Lodge

41

LB

JESUS LANE

Th
e

C
h

im
n

ey

Chapel Court

PH

21
to

22

84
96

22

Master's Garden

35
33

Cromwell Court

7

College

62a

14

65

2

15

El

15

32

9

33

Bridgacre

19

Hou
se

38

47

19

16

House

25

7.3m

6.4m

7.3m

Boat House

3

19

4

26

50

FB

M
A

N
H

A
T

TA
N

D
R

IV
E

14

17

Corpus Christi

BEAULANDS CLOSE

FERRY

34

17

13

2

88

16

River Cam

Towing Path

61

35

Clare

1

87

31

17

26a

2

25

30

22

34

LANE

57

1 4 a

50

10

18

42

10

57

25

23

College

8

50

of O
ur Lady

and

T
R

U
M

P
IN

G
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

91

92

NEWTOWN

14

Hotel

24

Centre

67
to

73

69

34

King George V

FB

70

74

Multis
torey Garages

1

1

Brook

7

El Sub Sta

Hermitage

11.3m

89

5

20

Laboratories

6

47
to

53

TE
N

N
IS

C
O

U
R

T
R

O
A

D

TCB

P
L

A
C

E

36

85

82

11.6m

67

16

Management Studies

Lodge

Perse School

48

80

88

16

11
4

PARK

78

Fellows' Garden

El Sub Sta

11.0m

30

5

THE FEN CAUSEWAY

15

7

10
2

11.9m

11.9m

4

3

CORNER

Downing College

11.3m

(founded 1800)

Panton Hall

19

8

5

27

20

Sub Sta

S
H

O
R

T

Fellows' Garden

34

1

9.4m

5

M
A

N
O

R
S

T
R

E
E

T

College

Master's

PH

40

8.5m

11

32

Sub Sta

Posts

Posts

117 to 127

8.2m

7

34

Princess

22

First Court

52

18

1

Chapel

45

7 to 27 Shops

90

(Founded 1505)

PH

47

B
E

L
M

O
N

T
P

L
A

C
E

62

Milton Ho

(private)

27

Hobson's Passage

60

4

8.7m

11 to 16

49

2

H
O

B
S

O
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

M
A

L
C

O
L

M
S

T
R

E
E

T

37

Cloister

18

42 to 47

M
al

co
lm

P
la

ce

12

(Founded 1496)

LB

6
to

11

P
ik

e'
s

W
al

k

Round

22

ORCHARD STREET

ELM STREET

Church

FOUR LAMPS

Play

Almshouses

1

Posts

TCB

19

Post

7.9m

Christ's College

2

Sub

62

Cutter Ferry Path

6

52

61

7.0m

44

2

69

47

14

HAMILTON ROAD

26

90

House

St
C

at
ha

rin
e'

s

50

5

14

12

Boat House

2

45

37

36

54

2

1

and Sidney

College

76

M
arina

10

9

14

39

47

D
E

F
R

E
V

IL
L

E
A

V
E

N
U

E

8

24

Boat House

Downing

Posts

Boat House

7.0m

80

15

22

49

91

13

36
46

Jesus College

1

Mayflower House

16

68

15

Post

51

35

P
at

h

45

Posts

10

16

Sussex Colleges

1

26

4

35

15.5m

24

Rock Garden

3323
25

Laboratory

62

Nursing Home

41

1

Sub Sta

77

25

40to42

40

GEORGE PATEMAN COURT

Pond

Daedalus

Kett House

17

54
1

44

6

3

16

18

37

21

21

2

12

NORWICH STREET

50

2

7

67 35

2

60

Hope

111

1

68

BATEMAN MEWS

7

BATEMAN STREET

11

House

Sub

7

10
4

82
to

88

11

82

24

H
ILLS

R
O

A
D

Bank

17

1

Shelter

18

3
5

1

26

Flats1to17

1

14

59

21

Brandon Court

26

Hall

Shelter

DOVER STREET

1

34

Fire Station

74

FS

31

Car

24

2
to

5

17

A
4

1

5

25

BRADMORE LANE

19

26

18

Petersfield

P
et

er
sf

ie
ld

M
an

si
on

s

13

36

1to16

33

1

Sub

18
5

30

PH

42

Sub

a
to

c

14

4

11
.9

m

Sub

A
m

b
leco

te

24

11

11
to

82

41

10

23

Club (above)

Park

PH

PH

El Sub Sta

47

C2

Play Area

Baptist

El

TCB

C
LA

R
E

N
D

O
N

S
TR

E
E

T

38

46
48

21

7

10

1

30a

29

27

18

7

Platform

Sta

26

59

35

2

22

14

G
ol

di
e

5

C
ol

le
ge

26

26

1

The
E

ights

17

11

23 20

16

15

B
roadm

eadow
s

48

5

55

1

11

House

Cycle Track

30

46

43

The

77

56

Boat House

38

36

89

12

36

(FB)

42

27

13

83

Boat

Boa
t H

ou
se

1

Cutter Ferry

56

El

26

24

1

32

K
IM

B
E

R
L

E
Y

R
O

A
D

42

39

House

20

9

7.3m

First Trinity

1a

58

49

35

55

43

47

20

13

25

19

38

90

Leda

63

1

TC
B

72
to

80

34

23

32

37

Shelter

21

15.2m

Memorial

16
2

26

3

99

27

Demeter

13

63

1

12

7

5

6

14

Surgery

1

12.5m

House

24

9

STATION ROAD

12

19

13.7m

House

31

27

50

D
W

28

29

El

Old

36

3

31 4

43
to

44

62

12

37

55

19b

13

Orchard Street

Chancellors

PH

Warkworth

COLLIER ROAD

30

6

67

7

A
D

A
M

A
N

D
EV

E
S

TR
EE

T

M
el

bo
ur

ne
P

la
ce

Su
rg

er
y

49

31

25c

Sta

20

4a

Parkside Community College

H
ou

se

18
0

B2

12

1a

5

12.8m

El

26

16

43

H
ou

se

27

1

39

A
2

39

Statue

37

Theatre

23

PA
LM

ER
S

W
A

LK

B4

40
33

1

7

1

Th
e

Tr
am

Ya
rd

21

15

Play Area
2

S
he

lte
r

1

19
0

31

16

26

42

14

11

1

22

1

12.5m

7

3

40

30a

DRIV
E

30

34

16

19
to

C
R

O
FT

H
O

LM
E

LA
N

E

Path

Posts

141

15
to

25

13

College

1 5

14
to

18

Victoria Bridge

2

101

7

Lock

House Christ's

Boat House

2 4

7.9m

Sta

CHESTERTON ROAD

House

14

Towing Path

(PH)

Posts

4

Bank

1 1a

Riverside Court

8

103

England

3

Playground

16

24
a

Path

Posts

24

Sluice

91

14

Ditch

11

1

TRAFALGAR STREET

Jesus Close

Jesus

18

60

P
osts

46

T ra ck

House

Swimming Pool

56

4.6m

Court

34

121

PH

Bank

V
IC

TO
R

IA
A

V
E

N
U

E

25

Court

24

39

Sta

War

1

4

El Sub Sta

20

59

to

17

31

7

10
8

11

1a

PH

13

26

33

21

85

15

56

39

36

75

4

17

22

1

Highsett

1

30

House

71

29

98to100

MS

30

3

52

18

76

16

8

26

81

63

22

59

11

41

55

Salisbury Villas

2

27

4

51

21

El

14

34

The Royal Albert Homes

6

123

3

11

14
.0

m

St Matthew's Primary School

36a

M
O

R
TI

M
E

R
R

O
A

D

25

12

B3

11.9m

CAMBRIDGE

25a

3

Eve House

A
6

University

P
at

h

W
IL

LI
S

R
O

A
D

38

W
A

R
K

W
O

R
TH

TE
R

R
A

C
E

8

11.9m

44

A
3

5

D
1

to
D

6

G
U

E
S

T
R

O
A

D

1

El

2

JOHN STREET

44

17

25

23

31

C1

23

WARKWORTH STREET

C
o

m
m

u
n

ity

MILL ROAD

Zion

1

Swinhoe

17
2

A
5

9

6

17
6

A
1

19
2

Anglia

W
ar

kw
or

th

Police Station

36

Court

Orchard Court

22

6

18

39

Church

23

10

Bradmore Court

1

Th
e

O
ld

St
ab

le
s

1
to

36

25

C4

19

9

LB

Boat House

14

F
err y

P
a th

32

8.2m

PH

VICTORIA ROAD

20

Lock

14

7

P
a th

Rouse Ball Pavilion

St George

38

6.7m

115

23

Posts

81

1

12

28

1

14

7

PC

Bank PH

Ferry

9.4m

Posts

8.2m

2

18

Jesus Green

River

Posts

31

19

7.3m

Posts

T
R

A
FA

L
G

A
R

R
O

A
D

1

1

24a

Path

35

Boathouse
Cam

22

6.1m

2

7

6.1m

13

Posts

Tennis

21

PH

Posts

7

1

Boat House

28

11

Boat

Shelter

Fort

129

North Court

2

Sub

12

CLAREMONT

PH

10

11

125

10
6

8

41

87

28

15

10 42

53

31

Jupiter

El

50

Cory Lodge

51

70

Hostel

19

9

29

13

6

St Pauls

40

19

5

S
helter

9

Play Area

FB

FB

3

12

47

45

PH

Posts

67

32

11.3m

Sports Hall

Ponds

6a

105

68

53

17

1

19

PC

49

57

B
elvoir

Terrace

6

4

1

13

CORONATION

Court

10

Rock

11

77

TCB

30a

2

9

5

17

Sta

38

1

Sta

BRANDON PLACE

43

28

16b

10

30

TCBs

14

51

EA
ST

R
O

A
D

LB

40

40

46to48

1

22

PROSPECT ROW

34

19a

BROAD STREET

45

13

2

1
to

21

22

Parkside Pools

6

8

W
el

lin
gt

on

18

20

35

13to17

25b

A
da

m
an

d
Ev

e
C

ou
rt

7

17

27

1

Ruskin

CAROLINE PLACE

B1

28

ELM
STREET

PH

21a

12.8m

16

6

16

24

Nursery

4

2

2

17
0

17

PARKSIDE

C
en

tr
e

C3

Parker's Piece

8

36

El Sub Sta

133

8.2m

39

LB

House

Queens' College

ALBERT
STREET

P
ath

Lady Margaret
Boat

8.5m

Pavilion

Caius College

in

El

8

Pump House

S
T

E
L

IG
IU

S
S

T
R

E
E

T

STREET

16

27

11.3m

7

LB

51

F
R

A
N

C
IS

PA
S

S
A

G
E

19

COURT

Perse Girls

University Botanic Garden

NORWICH STREET

Sluice

St Mary's

T
R

U
M

P
IN

G
TO

N

31

10.7m

38

47

6

FB

34

74

14

3

G
arag

e

P

Fn

49

72

11.6m

65

9

1

24

Hall

26

Pond

6

40

70

16

100

9

62

BATEMAN

41

84

Tennis

R
U

S
S

E
L

L

B
R

O
O

K
S

ID
E

L
A

N
E

6

23

72

New Bit

14

Path

47a

STREET

23

42

Church

11.9m

R
O

A
D

13

St Anthony's Walk

22

FB

23

The Old Forge

11.9m

1

12.8m

BRADMORE STREET

GRAFTON STREET

39
b

42

55

17

27

13

Lodge

10.4m

Lion

PH

7

11

20

1

37

2

20

EM
M

A
N

UEL
ST

R
EE

T

11.0m

44

Sedgwick Museum

37

House

Post
s

Bank

Hall

1

Cou
rt

15

5

38

DRUMMER

34

2

TCBs

Laboratories

4

11.6m

14

Posts

36

Church

1

Pond

19

1

35

33a

10.7m

Halls

Head Post Offic
e

Li
br

ar
y

Cou
rt

St Andrew's

Park

16

Fellows' Garden

The Great

10

7

19b

T
E

N
N

IS
C

O
U

R
T

R
O

A
D

11.9m

The

Bank

25

26

B
R

O
O

K
S

ID
E

FB

11

17

LB

20

98

H
obson's

Christian Science

77

1

91

1

Rock Garden

54

28

21

25

Coronation Place

6

50

FB

1

C
O

R
O

N
A

T
IO

N

12.2m

Junior School

10

Garden

School

5

3

El Sub Sta

1

2

P
A

N
T

O
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

18

Vicar's Brook

Posts

43

15

Tennis Court

1 to 5

75

M
E

W
S

37

96

PH

The Cottage

FB

Posts

C
onduit

P
o

sts

1

Path

TCBs

6a 39

25

40

35

6

PH

53

N
A

P
IE

R
S

T
R

E
E

T

Cinema

43

1

12

3to6

Hall

7

Hall

40

STREET

University Arms

Pavilion

PARKER STREET

41

1

Cinema (above)

DOWNING STREET

8

HotelLaboratories

Lodge

39

11.6m

Underground Car Park

PA
R

K
TE

R
R

A
C

E

(Founded 1584)

7

Master's
Lodge

Laboratories

PH

(site of)

EARL STREET

4

46
(above)

Unitarian

PH

35

Museum

Chris
t's

Lan
e

39

Downing Site

First Court

Pond

REG
EN

T
TERR

A
CE

TCBs

3

40

7

5

Jack Hobbs Pavilion

36

27

Baptis
t Church

TC
Bs

Court

35

19a

28

28

TCBs

VICTORIA STREET

20

15

H
otel

10.1m

Bank

CO
RN

EXCHANG
E

STREET

11.6m

Hotel

10

25

The Queen's Building

2

Paradise

3

P
o

st
s

Eden

20

5.5m

35

30a

Auckland

11

ROAD

6

12.8m

6

9

58

46

63

NEW SQUARE

10

46(above)

41

66

9

1

10

31a

8

53

1

5

5

8

38

3

13

50to51

14

26

165

4

3

47

33

50

10

40

30

34

5a

18

a

3

Shelter

13

1
to

8

36 to40

FAIR COURT

14

62

10

Clinic

36

1

33

Eden

Posts

22

25

Bank

W
E

L
L

IN
G

T
O

N

8

28

H
obson's C

onduit

New Court

S
t A

ndrew
s

H
ouse

North Court

Laboratories

TCB
10.7m

Barnwell Gate

32

1

War

Chapel

Posts

Bowling Green

East

Lion Yard

9
to

11

Post Offic
e Terrace

8.5m

7

PCs

14

7to8

27

St Columba's

TENNIS COURT TERRACE

19

TCB

23

Lab
oratories

13

ST
A

N
D

R
E

W
'S

STR
E

ET

33

27

Front Court

Drummer Street Bus Station

12.5m

DO
W

N
IN

G
PLAC

E

18

(priv
ate)

ST
TIBB'S

RO
W

8

United Reformed

44

above

18

Sec
on

d

55

36

Laboratories

31

14

R
E

G
EN

T
S

TR
EE

T

St Andrew's Stre
et

Foundress
C

ourt

Laboratories

1 to
5

5

Emmanuel College

11.9m

Church of

22

Molteno Institu
te

Camden House

4

22

30

CAMDEN COURT

Meml

63
to

64

55

64

36

11a

11.0m

65

23

36

Car Park

14

Cottages

46

21

TCB

71

30

25

Court

NEW SQUARE

22

Christ

2

22

37

61

P
assag

e

B
r u

n
sw

i c
k

W
al

k

8

14

JA
M

E
S

S
T

R
E

E
T

2

33

22

3a

(above)

57

E
D

E
N

S
TR

E
E

T
B

A
C

K
W

AY

FA
IR

34

PLACE

a

24a

JE
S

U
S

TE
R

R
A

C
E

2

14

EV
E

ST
R

EE
T

5

1

Posts

27

21

4

64 34

1a

50
48

24

7

33

2

68

44

1

47

39

18

54

BAILEY MEWS

18

10

Clinic

7a

5

Master's Lodge

1

10.4m

Lodge

12

Social Services

TCB

20

Cliftonville

16
a

78

The
Studio

16

5

180

186

213a

166

231

21

Somerville

MONTAGUE ROAD

23

116

94

V
icarage

9 a

21
3

128

53

130

43

Poynters

74

170
168

168a

132

8.5m

Honwill

D
E

F
R

E
V

IL
L

E

16

15

El

Court

32

20

3419

11.3m

PARADISE STREET

Denmore

C
au

sew
ay

30

C
H

R
IS

T
C

H
U

R
C

H
S

T
R

E
E

T

5

43

42

11

41

16

19

E
D

E
N

S
TR

E
E

T

Burleigh
Street

6

9 63

52

9

El Sub Sta

Butt Green

El

56

19 to 23

2

13

LB

31

45

7

14

1

10

38Brunswick

A
U

C
K

LA
N

D
R

O
A

D

4

15

44

71

37

House

10

43

20

29

6

Centre

El Sub Sta

Roof

Baptist

21

3

20

17

Chapel

58

31

23

42

47

9

37

11

Sub Sta

69

SANDY LANE

2

261

253

1 to 16

13

140

53

17
to

32

7.9m

241

Offices

128a

128b

203

Shelter

1

55

148

2

57

18

Midwinter Place

CHESTERTON ROAD

Whitwell

251

1

Hotel

241a

120

136

12to14

2

23

Fazeley House

45

5

6

49

25

Lodge

12

66

12

31

4

5

30

54

51

CRISPIN
PLACE

30a

Fitzroy Street

65

32

8.9m

B
R

U
N

S
W

IC
K

T
E

R
R

A
C

E

3
to

6

8

10

4

1
to

33

38

9a

A
D

A
M

A
N

D

4

9

39

12

32

36

1

15

924

Hostel

17

32

2

El Sub
Sta

7

31

27

North Terrace 51

7

30

53

14

5

17

3335

47

18

8

Surgery

7.3m

32

11

6

45

1to9

215

9

Murffitts

to

7.9m

to

13

67

Patch

144

15

Blennerville

7

14

1

33

G
E

O
R

G
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

9
6

60

108

A
V

E
N

U
E

The
B

akery

1

99

2

51

8

134

Dynevor

26

4

S
t R

egis

Lodge

10

1

81

School

2

El Sub Sta

CAMBRID
GE

PLACE

P
at

h

1

Mawson

35

7

17to20

12.5m

17

3

58

4

Bakery

14.6m

5

2

12.2m

16

28

C
O

V
E

N
T

G
A

R
D

E
N

36

10

5

Sub Sta

Fenner's

9

18

GONVIL
LE

PLA
CE

14.9m

27

50

22

117

4

23

(University Cricket Ground)

16

12

35

10

11

1

Hostel

4

S
M

Posts

3

10to12

52

22

12

University

2

8

Buildings

1

8
9

Lawn Tennis Club

57
56

20

14

PO

RUSSELL STREET

21

Fenners Lawn

Cobble Yard

6.7m

24

13

48

2

39

62
to

74

21

45

7

6

28

9 to 11

35

Car Park

7

27a

MAIDS CAUSEWAY

37

14

31

8

25

20

Allotment Gardens

34

17 to 20

48b

6

12

12

10

BURLEIGH
PLACE

41

S
u

rg
er

y

El Sub Sta

13

7

Multistorey Car Park

28

8

46

47

Sub

26 to 26a

40

24

WILLOW WALK

23

to

75

LANE

41

6.4m

Surgery

8

1

37

46

1

35

a

9

48

39

32a

PA
R

S
O

N
A

G
E

S
TR

E
E

T

20 to 21

S
T

R
E

E
T

FITZROY

1

to

2

229

53

5

201

7.6m

Highclere

33

4

102

Hotel

LB

122

176

152

3

1
25

Holbeck House

1

126

199

to

49

24

5

12

Victoria Homes

El

46

7.9m

Vicarage

40

39

10
4

5

Caius Terrace

2

33

Sancton Wood

28

Terrin
gton House

D
R

O
SIER

R
O

A
D

HARVEY ROAD

H
ILLS

R
O

A
D

10

31

31

25 to
29

38

30

25

12
2

Posts

91

34

TENISON AVENUE

2

11

15

93

36

37

1

14

4

12

CROSS STREET

2to4

9

Club

46

11
2

68

14

13.4m

27

14

G
LI

SS
O

N
R

O
AD

21

21

Gonville Hotel

13

Syndicate

25

20

12.8m

24

St Paul's
Church

S
helter

30

18
a

1

8

Cambridge University

32

3

92

79

47

18

2

15

35

E
de

n
S

tr
ee

t

17

S
T

R
E

E
T

43

13

6

2a

28 to 30

35

49

47
a

36

47

13

9

13

24

Grafton

PORTLAND

16
4

to
16

7

27

2

1

38

E
de

n
S

tr
ee

t
B

ac
kw

ay

13 to 15

52

42

80

43

11
to

12

23

45

41

1

LB

Sta

37

33

12.7m

37

7

E
l S

ub
S

ta

36

23
a

38

Church

16

28b

21

3

73

9

Auckland

4

19

2

38

23

Court

LB

1

9

48

11.3m

SALMON LANE

2

48a

33

Springfield

TCB

Centre

60

45

1

MILTON ROAD

21

25

L Twr

1

2

195

34

7

41

177

14

6

37

19

1

33

Ailsa Court

C
O

R
O

N
A

R
O

A
D16 179 to 185

El

11

4

9.4m

G
R

E
E

N
'S

R
O

A
D

26

Day and

187

28

Football Ground

38

72

39

11

CHESTERTON ROAD

23

R
eu

b
en

H
o

us
e

42
to

38

9

El

3

106

10

17

20

31

21

WOLLASTON ROAD

38

Post

13

9

B
E

N
TIN

C
K

S
TR

E
E

T

K
ellet

S
cro

o
p

e
Terrace

Terrace
L

an
e

DW

58

Statue

Scott Polar

1

30

El Sub Sta

Shelter

14

8

2

Benet

15

11

El Sub Sta

4

76

4

Laboratories

12

51

7b

28

64

37

6

11
6

29a

65

55

20

61

27

49

90

Princess
C

ourt

PEMBERTON TERRACE

Posts

10
8

1
to

77

Laboratories

PH

10

8

Place

15
to

19

7

Cottage

98

7

Tredgold La

PH

9

17

Stanton

PH

4a

14

9

26

11

41

17

1

41to44

1 to 4

25

6

26

NEWMARKET

9

14

5

5

10

B
R

U
N

S
W

IC
K

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

1

50

9

27

1

22

40

5 to 6

13

35

6b

28

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

50

51

36

25a

62

31 to 33 37

38

11

34

1

7

5

12a

5

38

48

55

26

1
to

8

12

Club

64

16
8

19

23

35

Cottages

27

1

29

4a

5

S
P

R
IN

G
FI

E
LD

R
O

A
D

2

29

14

TERRACE

22

Sub Sta

2

15

31

8

Works

15

30

14

Court

1to8

L Twr

Pa
th

M
IL

TO
N

R
O

A
D

5

2

8

12.5m

42

35

29

46

37

Sub Sta

8.2m

2

19

House

7

18

4

31

19

32

21

66

58

Superstore

Tutorial College

Cats Cambridge Arts &

(School)

Sciences Sixth Form &

University of

Cambridge
(HE)

St Andrew
's

(School)

St Alban's Catholic

The Leys School

Primary School

S
ix

th
F

o
rm

S
tu

d
ie

s

C
am

b
ri

d
g

e
C

en
tr

e
fo

r

St Pauls C of E

VA Primary School

Mander

Portman

Woodward
(School)

B
ellerb

ys
C

o
lleg

e
C

am
b

rid
g

e

Red Balloon
Learner Centre

(School)

CR

CR

ED & Ward Bdy

Path (um)

FB

FB

Tr

Tennis Court

Tra
ck

Track

Tr
ac

k

75

35

114

128

131

125

E
D

&
W

ard
B

dy

E
D

&
W

ar
d

B
dy

C
R

C
R

ED
&

W
ar

d
B

dy

C
R

E
D

&
W

ard
B

d
y

F
W

F
W

Def

F
F

F
F

CR

ED & Ward Bdy

ED
&

W
ard

Bdy

Und

CR

CR

C
R

ED
&

W
ar

d
Bdy

ED
&

W
ar

d
B

dy

ED & Ward Bdy
CR

CR

ED & Ward Bdy

PontoonTennis Court

45

El Sub Sta

Shelter

of
Institute

Criminology

Com
Cen

Chi

25
27

26
24

2829

54

57
54

55

60
56

59

68

86

80 8482

55

Surgery

90to92

71
to

C
R

E
D

&
W

ar
d

B
dy

CR

C
R

ED
&

W
ar

d
B

dy

U
nd

ED
&

W
ard

B
dy

C
R

ED & Ward
Bdy

E
D

&
W

ard
B

d
y

C
R

CR

E
D

&
W

a rd
B

d
y

ED & Ward Bdy

C
R

Park

Skateboard

Playground

Playground

For Girls

Area

Playground

Picnic

House
Cloughmore

Cattle Grid

Skateboard Park

Cattle Grid

1b

1a

Rectory

Posts

Posts

WARREN CLOSE

The Triangle

1a

2

31c

31d

El Sub Sta

31a

31b

S
u

rg
e ry

1a
1b

e

21

GROVE LANE

5

CR

24

H
ouse

Fisher
Square

1
to

7

12

1to7

35
to

42

(above)

43
to

53

8to9

13
to

16

12

Magistrates' Court

30 to 35

30

21

PCs

10

9to21

Multistorey Car Park

Grand Arcade

Ramp

19
to

20

22

12to29

26 to 34

(above)

16
to

25

8
to

15

45

73-79

LB

33

Cambridge Manor Care Home

90
92

94

84

100a to
102a

98a

PO

94a
92a

16

88

87

Carl
Hunter
House

52
a

52
b

Bank

58

38

39
a

18

66

68

1to12a

Fenner's

PH

136

134

130
132

Works

44

88a

Day Nursery

134b
134a

a
37

Methodist
Street

Castle

War Meml

Sta

24

Q
ueen

A
nne

H
ouse

24to 326to16

46

2

3

62

5
to

7

8

TCB

86

P
IK

E
'S

W
A

L
K

9

1

11
10

to to

20

to

to48

62a 66

97

to

to

4

91

to

99

15
to

16

17
to

19

40
a

Batim
House

18
1

18
3

PH

18a

Q
U

E
EN

A
N

N
E

TE
R

R
A

C
E

76
72

64
to

66

Car Park

2

TCB

83

TCB

S
u

rg
ery

Cambridge
Buddist
Centre

Hall

28
to

32

Posts

West Service Yard

Fitzroy Lane Service Area

Grafton West

Posts

10to13

Willow Place

TCBs1513
1

TCBs

24
to

34

57
to

61

Abbeygate House

South Service Yard

24to
25

to

1 to 4

11

8
9

10

25b

34to

101to106(above)

PCs

Posts

Posts Eden Hall

10

LB

28a

3

16c

105

(above)

TCB

Shelter

30

1

32a

25

26

School

3
to

5

(The Round

1
to

6

30

10

14a 14

24

Shelter

16a

of Visual and
Performing Arts

11

10

9a

Shelte
r

3a

Shel
te

r

1

Surg
er

y

Church)

School

FB

FB

17
16

15

28
29

34
to

35

42
to

45

41
38

TC
B

Bank 1a 1b

5
6

2

Radcliffe
Court

8

17
18

16

15

12

13
14

Court

St
Michael's

10
12

13

10to15

8

Bank

Bank

59

to

to

HILL

18

MARKET

19

25

El Sub
Sta

20a

to

9a
to

King's Lane

6

to

1

FW

CW

CF

CW

CW

C
R

FW

CW

FW

10

PH
3

59
to

63

Harrington

House

Kent

Sussex

House

House

House

Montagu

Sidney

House

Chapel of

3

Surgery

4

Library

KINGS LANE

Ramp

Fisher

14to

15

1b

Arup
Building

Science Library

Library
(above)

ESS

16

2

12

16

Robert
Bedlam
Building

7

to

to

to

The Old

1

St John

Post

G
uildhall

Cham
bers

Fisher Hall

St Columba's

4

52

48
50

TC
B

23

to
Sh

el
te

rs

65
to

67

62

57
to

58

56

60

Council Offices

K1 to
K5

Shelters

26
to 25

16
to

18

26
to

and

Hopkins
Building

Anatomy Building

Physiology Building

Ram
p

of Earth Sciences

Arup
Building

Archaeology

Anthropology

S
helters

59
(above)

to 34

FW

CW

C
P

Def

CW

C
W

CR

CW

Def

FW

FW

C
W

C
W

FW

FW
CW

CW

Und

FW
FW

C
W

FW

CW

C
R

FW

CR

C
R

Dale's
Brewery

4to6

7 to 8

1to2

3

208

212a

14a

37
to

(above)
Library

1a

Sinclair

Mumford

2a

to

1

C
om

m
un

ity

C
en

tr
e

The Old School

R
ising

B
ollard

7a

Cambridge

5

Bollard

P
o

st

Rising

23
25

FW

CF

C
W

C
W

CR

CP

ED & Ward Bdy

ED & Ward Bdy

ED
&

W
ar

d
B

dy

Guthrie Court

1to13

221

9

17 to
19

The
Lodge

2

Garden

11

M
as

on
's

Cou
rt

Mason's

56
to58

62
to

68

Garage

18
1716

67b
67a

Bishop's
Mill

ESS

ED
&

W
ar

d
B

dy

ED & Ward Bdy

ED & Ward Bdy

ED & Ward Bdy

CR

E
D

&
W

ard
B

d
y

56

3

Club

Sta

Works

212

3 3

El Sub Sta

21

15

(The
M

athem
atical B

ridge)
Yard

The Anchor

Millers

Posts

Chy

8

or Mill Pond

48

Posts

CG

Cutter Ferry Bridge

PostsCG

CG

Skateboard

Park

Bank

13

School

School

College

Bank

2a

57
a

57

72

2

52

Path

(FE)

13
to

15

9

Day
Nursery

College
Abbey

College
Abbey

(FE)

El Sub Sta

S
tA

n
d

re
w

's
C

o
lle

g
e

(F
E

)

(C
o

lle
g

e)
(F

E
)

21

2

1
to

10

11
to

22

23
to

32

72 to 106

107to129
VIN

TER
TER

R
A

C
E

Old

211a 211

191

10

27

Tennis Court

CG

Sports Court

Lodge

93

PCs

Jubilee
House

Church

3

14to21

M
ag

da
le

ne
Brid

ge

(B
ri

d
g

e
o

f
S

ig
h

s)

Kitchen or
Wren Bridge

Shelters

She
lte

rs

Shelt
er

Shelter

Post

Post

Shelter

PW

Hotel

LONGWORTH AVENUE

26

54

60

38 to 40

35 to 37

67

48

61
to

66

49
to

31

16a
18

55

51

12a
14

6 to
15

19

12

20

1

14a
16

El Sub Sta

18a 2

5

WHYTFORD CLOSE

5

14

72

69

1

73

20
to

25

LONGWORTH AVENUE

1

1a

2

1

3a

Posts

Post

Raverat

Gwen

House

Tennis
Court

Wellcome

Henry

Building

The

8

TC
B

s

PH

5

The
Yard

Little Malting

PCs

TC
Bs

Posts

76

(PH)

Tourist
Information
Centre

1

Nursery

2

Pavilion

Rugg Centre

West House

26
a

26

The Regal (PH)

23a

P

GRESHAM PLACE

abc

5

4

6

7

11

3

1

Posts

130to153

Kelsey Kerridge Sports Hall
above

Queen Anne Terrace

Multistorey Car Park

10
b

9b
9a

W
A

R
R

E
N

C
L

O
S

E

70

St Giles
Hall

1

Scout
Hall

1
to

12
14

to
16

G
ar

de
n

C
t

11
2a

Play
Area

105

107

12

6 to 11

15

43a

5
1117

31

Tel Ex

El Sub

The
P

ottery

Sta

2a 2b

26

47
a

to 26

24

83a

CRA

C
C

R
C

LO
VERS

W
ALK

C
am

br
id

ge
99

R
C

71

92

B
oa

t H
ou

se

75

1

TCB

39 to 41

7
8

70

12
11

5

41

43

House

to

Posts

Cattle Grid

15

Post

St Mary's

Junior School

13a

70

7

Cherry Trees

104

Cemetery

Old People's Club

10

Posts

152

1

5

24

41

40

20

38

1

77

2

2

23

6a

35

116

Play Area

6

1

2

7

10
22

18

FLOWER STREET

LB

67

6
to

8

2

39

Basing

15

27

21

41a

1a

36
a

28
a

52
b

40
a

52
a

Albert
Yard2

1

TCB

2a

20

60a

6

23

75

9

1

12

12

15

4

EDWARD

89

13

87

6

STREET

2

G
W

Y
D

IR
S

T
R

E
E

T

P
at

h

22

18

18

U
P

P
E

R
G

W
Y

D
IR

S
T

R
E

E
T

14.0m

26
23 24

25

B

16

1

8

NORFOLK TERRACE

1

1

9

School

4

14
12

26

The
Language

Centre

6

1

4

3

2

Christ's Court

5

Posts

Posts

TCB

TCBs

LB

Brid
ge

House

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
S

LA
N

E

B
ol

la
rd

s

R
is

in
g

Sancton

Wood

School

71a

H
o

b
so

n
's

TCB

25

C
o

n
d

u
it

H
ea

d

4a

27

24b

Day

Nursery

11
0

19

78

80

11

83

10

34

11

3

4

105

3

97

15
a

27

17a

39

17
21

PH

97

99

105

117

14
5

19

13

1

1

15
3

10

129

2 0

B
L

O
S

S
O

M
S

T
R

E
E

T

14
1

3

PH

2

1

4

5

6

7

K
IM

B
E

R
L

E
Y

R
O

A
D

Midsummer
Limes

PO

65a

65d

7

24

2218

23

20

37

2
1

14to24
25to43

44to59

1to12

60to71

Post

Cattle
Grid

Cattle
Grid

Surgery

Ramp

P
o

sts

TCBs

PH

17

14 to

P
o

st s

VIC
TORIA

ROAD

9

4

1 9

20

13

Burgess House

Garage

189

193

36
5

1

5

25

P
at

h

39

36

45
to

50

15

11

27

27
29

1

32
to

38

M
A

C
K

E
N

ZI
E

R
O

A
D

17

EMERY ROAD P
E

R
O

W
N

E
S

TR
E

E
T

E
M

E
R

Y
S

TR
E

E
T

14.9m

Cemetery

45

41

2

36

31

26

21
21

a
21

b
21

c
21

d

5

13

4

Posts

3

Building
Mong

Court
Crown

TCB

Posts

WARREN CLOSE

(Nursing Home)

22

Manor
House

13a

(Nursing Home)

St George's Court

Hostel

Cottage
Flat

PH

PH

PH

30

51
to

52

Eagle

PH

Sta

El Sub

1a

PH

8

Cromwell
Ct

TCB

LB

208a

WILLIAM
PRINCE

30
44

St David's House

18.0m

1 7

58a

198

220

12

Lodge

12

24

PH

21

13.4m

29

27

33

2

39

1

4

8

9

14

20

22
a

17

22

11

10

6

45

5

41

to
8

25
to

30

to

16
17

2d

2a to

19e

2e

54

17

Woodvale Lodge

El
Sub

9a

Sta

1
to

5

S
ta

tio
n

M
ew

s

1a

28

P
os

ts

21

54

Hughes Hall

The Gurdon Institute

Tennis Court

ESS

39

55a

Po
st

s

TCB
Posts

Post

15a
15b

13
to

1a

187

6 7

5

1 2

18.6m

26

Posts

Hostel

4 5

75a

3 7

18

Post

COURT

32

36

10

11 to 24

35

85

2

to
44

31

Posts

NORFOLK STREET

6

10

2

2
1a

63

65

37

92

45

41

12.2m

1

Ashley Court

S
TA

F
F

O
R

D
S

H
IR

E
G

A
R

D
E

N
S

2

10

PO

LB

73

6963

71

67

65

Playground

57

El
Su

b
St

a

2a

PCs

Syndicate
Buildings

19

Day

Nursery

Hostel

Gwydir

Enterprise

Centre

1
to

7

59
a

8
to

9a
10 23

to
25

TCBs

CG

Post

210

4 7

18

27

22

35

5 9

7

3 1

16

6
8

222

69a Post

6

58

12
6

6 9

10

27

3

1

B
ray

45

A
le

x
W

o
o

d
H

al
l

53

The Old School

53

5

10
3

C
arlo

w

47to51

1

4

14

12.5m

15

A
th

lo
n

e

42

a
85

25

Gwydir Cottages

2

1a

N
O

R
F

O
L

K
T

E
R

R
A

C
E

Bollards
Rising

Post

Cripps Court
(Magdalene College)

237

188

75

1

4

227

205

62 60

Cambridge General Cemetery

Bermuda Terrace

2 3

TERBURY STREET

7
6

Middle East

and

Classical Archaeology

Asia
Institute

The Mews

Civil Justice Centre

(County Court)

El Sub Sta

6 3

186a

19

18.6m

Spencer House

1

Little
Hall

Studies Centre

Museum of

Islamic

East

Library

Squire
Law

Bridgets

Haddon
Library

McDonald

Institute Tilley

Lecture

Library

Zoology
Museum

Building

Sir William

Balfour

Hardy
Building

Lecture
Theatre

Biffen

Theatre

C
raik-M

arshall

B
uilding

Old

School

West

Music

Family
Research

Theatre Mond
Building

Centre

Balfour
Building

Theatre

Melville Laboratory

Rayleigh
School

Phoenix
Building

Hopkinson
Lecture

Cockcroft
Building

Whipple Museum

Lecture

Theatre

Maxwell

Austin

Babbage
Lecture

Centre

Central

Goldsmiths
Laboratory

Godwin
Institute

Technology

1

20

14

ST BARNABAS COURT

12

8

4

Plant

Sub

Growth

Facility

Sta

El

Lecture
Theatre

Examinations
Hall

Building

Arts

The

MARKET HILL

Su
ss

ex
St

re
et

Molecular
Informatics

for
Centre

Rising Bollards

Jerwood
Library

Thornton
Bldg

Bldg

Latham

Gatehouse

Building

Bollards
Rising

18

Court

Castle

Project Location & Name:   J:\Projects\ArcGIS_Projects\Basemap; Layout Name:   n/a

Scale:

Date:

Produced by:

Section/Department:

11th June 2011

Timothy Cliff

Information Systems, Environment Dept

(c) Crown copyright and database right 2011. Ordnance Survey Licence No. 100019730.

Initial Business Improvement District Area

1:2,500 @ A0

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 135



bid  timeline

2 0 1 2

2 0 1 1

8

10

10

11

CAMBRIDGE  BUSINESSES VOTE

2 FEB
CB BID  TASK  FORCE  FORMED

AUG

CB  BID  WORKSHOP

9SEP
BUSINESS  PLAN  LAUNCHED

CB  BID  BUSINESS  FOCUS  GROUPS

BUSINESSES SURVEYED

4

1JAN

APR
15  BUSINESS  MEETINGS

5

7
JUL

BUSINESS  CONSULTATION

CB  BID  NEWSLETTER

2

Page 136



�e BID area is de�ned geographically (see map on pages 8-9 ).
Cambridge businesses / stakeholders within this area will vote on whether they wish to 
invest collectively in local improvements to enhance the Cambridge trading environment. 
Cambridge businesses / stakeholders will agree the projects and have control of the 
delivery organisation.

What  is  a  BiD?

A BID (Business Improvement District)

is an opportunity for Cambridge
 businesses to pool their resources,

   agree activities and make
                                         them happen. 

3

Page 137



170  successful  BID  Ballots  since 
the  introduction  of  BIDs  in  2004

WhaT  BIDS ARE
DOING  ELSEWHERE

Examples of projects businesses support in other BIDs including; Bath, Worcestor, Solihull, 
Lincoln, Camden, Leamington, Bury St Edmunds, Bristol, Winchester and many more 
locations.

- Evening Economy Manager

- Evening Wardens

- Retail Radio

- Pub Watch Schemes

- Fashion week

- BID area app (for smart phones)

- Events Calendar; including festivals, markets, ice rink

- Street Manager and City Centre Wardens

- Food and drink sector promotion (e.g. Dining week)

- Pop up shops - for vacant shops

- Christmas lights / campaigns

- Street entertainment

- Advertising campaigns for businesses on the radio / newspaper / bus backs / posters 

- Independence Day / Totally Locally - promoting independent businesses

night  time  economy

Marketing  &  Promotion

4

Page 138



- Retail Radio Schemes

- Pub Watch Schemes

- Rapid Response Clean Team

- Gra�ti and chewing gum removal

- Steam cleaning streets

- Shop front grants for independent businesses

- BID business insurance scheme

- Customer Service training and Mystery Shopper

- Footfall counters

- Car sharing website - �nding car share partners for people regularly travelling to work by car 

- Trade waste / recycling for BID businesses

- Discount card for city centre employees

- BIG Bus Deal - discounted bus pass for levy payer employees

CLEAN  &  SAFE

BUSINESS  SUPPORT

5

Page 139



What  does  CB bid
want  to  achieve?

WE  WANT  TO  MAKE  A  TANGIBLE 
DIFFERENCE  TO  YOUR  BUSINESS  BY:

DeliverinG  a  coordinated  and  effective  approach,
to  ensure  a  safe  and  pleasant  experience  for
your  customers.

Creating  a  friendly  well  managed  and 
vibrant  street  scene  for  your  customers  to
enjoy  encouraging  visitors  to  the  city  centre
to  stay  longer  and  spend  more.

Ensuring  that  the  BID  provides on-going 
support  to  Cambridge  businesses  continually
developing  new  projects  so  that  you   rEmain
competitive  and  sustainable.

6

Page 140



Projects  could  include:

SECTOR  PROMOTIONS

Collaborative  ProcuremenT  to save  you  money

Promoting  our  independent  businesses,  emphasising
the  diversity  of  the  Cambridge  retail  offer  

- Evening wardens & taxi marshalling 

- Evening Economy Manager

- Steam cleaning & chewing gum removal

- Street Ambassadors

- Events

- Christmas Lights

- Customer facing website

- Advertising / radio campaigns

- Voucher scheme / loyalty card

- Restaurant week

- Hair & beauty promotion

- Boutique quarters

- Reduced utility bills

- Trade waste removal

- Recycling

- Business Insurance

These  are  projects  that 
have  been  suggested  by 

local  businesses  so  far. 

What  are your  thoughts?

                              let  us  know 

      contact  Luke  Crane
info@cbbid.co.uk

7

Page 141



BID AREA PETY  CURY

CAMBRIDGE MAGDALENE  ST
MARKET  HILL

8

Page 142



ST ANDREWS STREET

TRINITY STREET

MAGDALENE  ST
MARKET  HILLBRIDGE  STREET

9

Page 143



Who will decide if the BID goes ahead?

How many other business communities
have voted for a BID in their location?

CB  BID  FAQ

A BID proposal is put to businesses and the businesses decide whether or not they want to 
support this. All businesses / stakeholders who will pay the BID levy will receive a postal 
ballot and the ballot will be conducted through a regulated electoral ballot procedure. �e 
Cambridge BID proposal will be for a 5 year period and a further full ballot process will be 
required if the BID wishes to continue beyond the 5 years.

�ere have been over 170 successful BID ballots since the legislation came in 2004.
Over 40 of these have been renewal ballots where a BID has delivered its �rst BID
Business Plan and businesses have voted a second time in favour of a further 5 years. 

Does  this  mean  the  local  authoritY
will  stop  delivering  services?

HOW WILL THE BID BE FUNDED?

NO. BID money can only be used to carry out projects/services ADDITIONAL to those 
that public agencies have to provide. Cambridge City Council is supportive of the BID 
development process and is taking a proactive role in supporting businesses and
stakeholders in investigating a BID for Cambridge.

Businesses pay an agreed levy based on the rateable value of the premises. �is is proposed 
at 1% for Cambridge for all properties with a rateable value above £20,000. �is pooled 
business resource will be managed by a newly setup Cambridge BID company. �e Board 
will be made up of levy payers and the company will be responsible for implementing the 
BID business plan and will be accountable to the BID levy payers. Businesses within the 
identi�ed BID area will pay the levy so that everyone who bene�ts will have paid towards 
the BID services and it is fair and transparent and avoids “freeloading”.

ROSE CRESCENT

CAMBRIDGE

JESUS LANE

10

Page 144



WhAT ARE THE BENEFITS OF A BID?

What  is  the  process  for 
developing  a  BID  in  Cambridge?

How  will  local  businesses  be
engaged  in  the  process? 

A business Task Force was set up early in 2012 to oversee the development of a BID. Views 
and ideas from surveys, individual and group business meetings will be fed into a BID 
Business Plan and the plan will then be put to businesses. �e businesses will vote on 
whether or not they wish to support the plan.

Every business in the BID study area was sent an initial questionnaire in summer 2011.
We had good feedback from these surveys, which showed that there are positive views on 
the city but that there are still improvements to be made. A workshop attended by over 60 
businesses was held in October. Individual meetings with businesses and further business 
groups took place in January, February and March and will continue through spring and 
summer. In April, 15 business meetings were held across the city and all businesses within 
the BID area were invited to participate in one of these meetings. We’ve had excellent input 
from those businesses that attended and we’re looking to build on this to make sure we 
deliver a Business Plan that you, the businesses want to support. For a copy of newsletters 
and further details we have a website at www.cbbid.co.uk.

BIDs can deliver any projects or services that are agreed by the businesses in the BID area. 
In most cases they include marketing and promotion activities, increasing safety and 
security for businesses and customers and enhancing the customer experience. �e 
important thing is that the BID is focused on delivering operational projects, which have a 
visible and tangible impact.

SYDNEY STREET

GREEN STREET

KINGS PARADE
JESUS LANE MAIDS CAUSEWAY

www.cbbid.co.uk
11

Page 145



BID TASK FORCE
Catherine Bolton – Sticky Beaks
“I set up Stickybeaks Café with my business partner, Lucy Robinson, in December 2010, and we've been working 
hard to play our part in increasing the reputation of Cambridge as a centre for great independent enterprises. "e 
BID is a brilliant opportunity for the business community in Cambridge to pool resources to achieve tangible 
bene#ts for the city, and we're very pleased to be a part of it.”

Michael Wiseman – "e Gra$on Centre
“I have been the Centre Director of "e Gra$on for the last eleven years and in a previous existence worked for a 
local independent based retailer for another eleven years. I am also chair of CRACA (Cambridge Retail &
Commercial Association) and play an active role in both the Kite area of the city and the historic city centre. I am 
passionate about our dynamic city centre and feel that the CBbid will enhance the attraction of Cambridge to both 
local residents and visitors alike.”

Anne Bannell – Breeze
“My husband and I have been trading in Cambridge since 1985. We have two shops, Breeze and Giles & Co, both 
on Trinity Street.  As an independent I am pleased to be part of this opportunity for Cambridge businesses, large 
and small, to make a di%erence to our city.”

Nick Allen - Sidney Sussex College
“I have been the Bursar at Sidney for the last 4 years and represent the Colleges on the Task Force.  Twice I have 
lived in areas with a BID, in London & New York, and found it made for a more vibrant, cleaner and safer area. 
I think a BID is a great way for businesses and Colleges to work together to improve the city centre.”

John O'Shea, General Manager - Grand Arcade
“My 20 year retail career began as a Sales Assistant in Cambridge M&S and it's great to be working again in our 
beautiful city. A$er 7 years in store management with M&S, I have spent the last 13 years managing shopping 
centres.”

Charlie Anderson – La Raza/Ta Bouche
“I own La Raza and Ta Bouche I’ve owned restaurants/bars and clubs in the city centre for the last 10 years. 
Representing both the night time and daytime economy I believe the BID has great potential to bene#t both.”

Nicola Buckley, Head of Public Engagement - University of Cambridge
“I’m pleased to be on the Task Force and I look forward to seeing project ideas being developed which enrich the 
social and cultural life of the City.” 

Adrian Kyndt – John Lewis
“John Lewis started trading in Cambridge in 1942 since when we have supported di%erent organisations to 
generate growth in Cambridge. John Lewis will support the BID as we have done in all the areas that we trade where 
a BID exists, it is our view that the BID's have been a real bene#t for people who trade and visit our cities.”

 12

Page 146



The  BID T ask  Force  is  overseeing  the
development  of the  BID  Business  Plan.

The  BID  Task  Force  is  made  up  oF   businesses /
stakeholders  from  different  sectors  and  areas 
within  the  BID  boundary.   All  members  of  the  BID  Task 
Force  will  be  BID  levY   payers  if  the  BID  goes  ahead. 

John Dix – Hewitsons
“Hewitsons’ origins were on Kings Parade and we are now one of the larger private sector employers in the BID area.  
A great many of our clients and sta! use Cambridge city centre o"en and in many capacities. We are committed to 
keeping our city centre clean, safe, and vibrant for businesses, residents and visitors alike.  While our city is a 
complex environment with many stakeholder interests, the BID nonetheless represents an opportunity not to be 
missed to make further targeted improvements for the city which will bene#t all.”

Christopher Powell – Powell and Bull
“I have been involved in retailing and jewellery design since moving to Cambridge in 1972. Based in Magdalene 
Street, the original Silver and Leather Workshop was one of #rst shops in Cambridge to o!er handmade original 
designer jewellery and leather accessories. A move to a larger shop in Bridge Street ended in 1998 when the original 
business partnership ceased trading. $e experience of setting up and running the Bridge Street shop taught me an 
enormous amount about the retail environment in Cambridge, a city with unique problems and opportunities in 
the business sector. When the current shop in Magdalene Street became available I decided to create Powell and Bull 
with the objective of a return to the ethos of $e Workshop of the 70’s and 80’s, namely good design and
cra"smanship with workshop facilities on site to provide a bespoke service in a retail environment with a unique 
ambience. I have always taken an interest in the independent sector in Cambridge and was on the steering
committee of Cambridge City Centre Management, an active member of CRACA and a founding member of $e 
Magdalene Street Association.”  

Emma $ornton – Cambridge City Council
“I returned to work in Cambridge in 2006 #rst as the City Centre Manager and then my role developed further to 
include tourism when I took on the role of Head of Tourism and City Centre Management in 2007. I am passionate 
about the di!erence that e!ective partnership working can make to improving town and city centres and as such am 
also a Board Director for the Association of Town Centre Management (ATCM) representing England.  $e City 
Council is supportive of providing the city centre business community with the opportunity to explore a Business 
Improvement District for Cambridge as a mechanism for delivering a sustainable model for city centre
management.”

Roger Musgrove, Goldsmith 14 years - Cellini Jewellers
“Here at Cellini, we have been running the Rose Crescent Association for over the past thirty years. $is
organisation has been a template for co-operation from the local community. I passionately believe that the BID will 
extend this spirit of co-operation throughout the city, by delivering the extra services that Cellini, and local 
businesses alike, bene#t so greatly from.”

Gayle Martin – Double Tree – Hilton
“DoubleTree by Hilton Cambridge has been part of the Cambridge landscape for many years and plays an active 
role within the hospitality arena of the city of Cambridge. We would like to see the opportunity to deliver new 
marketing and promotion activities, increasing safety and security of our guests as well as enhancing the customer 
experience so that the Cambridge residents and visitors will enjoy and revisit the city time and time again.”

13

Page 147



What  will  it  cost?

RATEABLE  VALUE
OF  PROPERTY

gross  business
rates  payable

ANNUAL
BID  LEVY

WEEKLY
 COST

DAILY
cost

Businesses within the BID area pay an agreed levy based on your rateable value, not your 
business rates. �is is proposed at 1% for Cambridge and below are examples of what you 
could expect to pay based on a range of example rateable values. 

Properties with a rateable value of or below £20,000 will be exempt from the BID levy.
 

£20,000

£50,000

£100,000

£250,000

£500,000

£9,160

£22,900

£45,800

£114,500

£229,000

£200

£500

£1000

£2500

£5000

£3.85

£9.62

£19.23

£48.08

£96.15

£0.55

£1.37

£2.74

£6.85

£13.70

14

Page 148



CONTACT

WHAT DO  I  DO  NOW?

YOUR  VIEWS 
ARE  IMPORTANT

CONTACT  LUKE  CRANE
TO  ARRANGE  A  MEETING

BID  DEVELOPMENT
MANAGER

INFO@CBBID.CO.UK
15

Page 149



Page 150



Page 1 of 7 

Cambridge City Council Item

To: Executive Councillor for Customer Services and 
Resources: Councillor Julie Smith 

Report by: Andy Muggeridge 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

STRATEGY & RESOURCES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

9 July 
2012

Wards affected: All

Project Appraisal and Scrutiny Committee Recommendation
Project Name: Large Hall – Leaded Window Refurbishment – Phase 1 

Recommendation/s

Financial recommendations –

 ! The Executive Councillor is asked to approve the 
commencement of this scheme, which is already included in 
the Council’s Capital & Revenue Project Plan (PR023 Admin 
Buildings Asset Replacement Programme).

 ! The total cost of the project is £87,500 funded from repairs 
and renewals fund contributions. 

 ! The ongoing revenue costs of the project are £1,000, funded 
from existing budget provision. 

Procurement recommendations:

 ! The Executive Councillor is asked to approve the carrying 
out and completion of the procurement of the refurbishment 
of the leaded windows to one side of the Large Hall within 
The Guildhall. 

 ! Subject to: 
- The permission of the Director of Resources being 

sought prior to proceeding if the quotation or tender 
sum exceeds the estimated contract.

- The permission from the Executive Councillor being 
sought before proceeding if the value exceeds the 
estimated contract by more than 15%. 

Agenda Item 16

Page 151



Page 2 of 7 

1 Summary

Refurbishment of five large stained glass windows to one side of the Large 
Hall located within the curtilage of The Guildhall. 

1.1 The project 

Target Dates: 

Start of procurement July 2012 

Award of Contract August 2012 

Start of project delivery August 2012 

Completion of project January 2013 

1.2 The Cost 

Total Project Cost £     87,500

Cost Funded from: 

Funding: Amount: Details:

Reserves £

Repairs & Renewals £87,500 27717 Admin Buildings 
Repairs and Renewals Fund

Developer
Contributions 

£

Other £

Ongoing Revenue Cost 

Year 1 £1,000 Maintenance contribution 
towards redecoration. 

Ongoing £1,000 pa Maintenance contribution 
towards redecoration. 

The ongoing revenue costs of the project will be funded from existing budget 
provision.

Page 152



Page 3 of 7 

1.3 The Procurement 
The procurement of the project will be in accordance with the Council’s 
Procurement strategy with three Contractors invited to tender for the works. 

The estimated costs are £85,000 for the refurbishment work, consisting of 
£75,000 for the work to the windows, £10,000 for scaffolding and £2,500 in 
the form of consultancy expertise to ensure the project is correctly specified. 

2 Project Appraisal & Procurement Report 

2.1 The Project
The project is required to refurbish the leaded windows to one side of the 
Large Hall. 

It appears that very little maintenance has been carried out to the windows for 
a significant number of years.  This has led to the deterioration of the timber 
window frames.  Access to carry out the work to this side of the Large Hall is 
very restrictive and therefore also a contributing factor. 

It has become apparent that work is urgently required to prevent the lead 
lights from actually falling out. 

Work will be carried out with guidance from the Senior Conservation & Design 
Officer to ensure that the work is carried out within the guidelines of a Grade 2 
listed building. 

The 2nd phase of the refurbishment will be planned for the near future together 
with the long term maintenance of The Guildhall. There has been work to 
these windows in the past, thus the refurbishment is not as urgent as the 
Phase 1 works. 

2.2 Aims & objectives
The Refurbishment of the windows to the Large Hall meets with the Council’s 
vision for: 

‘A city which draws inspiration from its iconic historic centre and 
achieves a sense of place in all of its parts with generous urban open 
spaces and well-designed buildings.’ 

2.3 Major issues for stakeholders & other departments
The refurbishment to the windows in The Guildhall would increase the 
opportunity for hiring out the rooms and increasing the potential income for 
the City Council. 

Failure to carry out the improvements could result in the Council not being 
able to capitalise on the usage of one of the Council’s prime community 
assets due to windows potentially being boarded up. 

Page 153



Page 4 of 7 

2.4 Summarise key risks associated with the project  
Failure to carry out the works will lead to the continual deterioration of the 
windows, in time they will become unsafe and will have to be removed and 
the opening potentially boarded up. In turn this could lead to the closure of the 
Large Hall at the worst and a loss of revenue as potentially unsightly boarded 
up windows could deter hirers. 

This would also portray a less than satisfactory image during civic events and 
functions

2.5 Financial implications 

a. Appraisal prepared on the following price base: 2012/13 

b. Specific grant funding conditions are: 

c. Other comments 

2.6 Capital & Revenue costs 
(See also Appendix A for spread across financial years) 

(a) Capital £ Comments

Building contractor / works  75,000 Window refurbishment 

Purchase of vehicles, plant & 
equipment 

Professional / Consultants fees 2,500 Professional
advice/consultation.

IT Hardware/Software 

Other capital expenditure 10,000 Scaffolding hire 

Total Capital Cost 87,500

Page 154



Page 5 of 7 

(b) Revenue £ Comments
Maintenance 1,000

Total Revenue Cost    1,000

The ongoing revenue costs of the project will be funded from existing budget 
provision.

2.7 VAT implications 
There are no adverse VAT implications to this project

2.8 Environmental Implications 

Climate Change impact 

There is nil affect on Climate change by carrying out these works. 

2.9 Other implications
Potentially there is a serious health and safety issue, should any part of the 
window fall out it could hit someone. However the external area of the building 
where the windows are located is a restricted are and no members of the 
public or staff should be in this area. 

There is a metal brace to the inside of the window that should prevent the 
glass/window falling inwards. However the window frames have rotted 
significantly and the potential risk has to be acknowledged. 

2.10 Staff required to deliver the project 
Staffing will be required from Asset Management team to manage the works. 

It is also anticipated that a certain amount of consultation will be required to 
ensure that the correct option is selected to meet the various requirements. 

Page 155



Page 6 of 7 

2.11 Dependency on other work or projects 
There is no dependency on other works in order to complete these works, 
however there are works planned to the Large Hall balcony. Ideally these 
would take place at the same time in order to reduce any disturbance. 

2.12 Background Papers 
None

2.13 Inspection of papers 

Author’s Name Andy Muggeridge 

Author’s phone No. 01223 457434 

Author’s e-mail: Andrew.Muggeridge@cambridge.gov.uk 

Date prepared: 8/6/2012

Page 156



P
ag

e 
7 

of
 7

 

C
ap

it
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 A
p

p
ra

is
al

 –
 C

ap
it

al
 C

o
st

s 
an

d
 F

u
n

d
in

g
 

P
ro

fi
lin

g
A

p
p

en
d

ix
 A

 

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£
£

£
£

£
C

ap
it

al
 C

o
st

s
B

ui
ld

in
g 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
 / 

w
or

ks
 

75
,0

00
P

ur
ch

as
e 

of
 v

eh
ic

le
s,

 p
la

nt
 a

nd
 

eq
ui

pm
en

t 
0

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l /
 c

on
su

lta
nt

s 
fe

es
 

2,
50

0
O

th
er

 c
ap

ita
l e

xp
en

di
tu

re
 

10
,0

00
T

o
ta

l C
ap

it
al

 C
o

st
 

87
,5

00

C
ap

it
al

 In
co

m
e/

F
u

n
d

in
g

G
ov

er
nm

en
t G

ra
nt

 
0

D
ev

el
op

er
 C

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 
0

R
&

R
 fu

nd
in

g 
87

,5
00

A
dm

in
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 
R

ep
ai

rs
 a

nd
 R

en
ew

al
s 

F
un

d 
27

71
7 

E
ar

m
ar

ke
d 

fu
nd

s 
0

E
xi

st
in

g 
ca

pi
ta

l p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

0
R

ev
en

ue
 c

on
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 
0

T
o

ta
l I

n
co

m
e 

87
,5

00

N
et

 C
ap

it
al

 B
id

 
0

Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: The Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy : 
Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Director of Resources 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

09/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT 2011/12

1. Executive summary

This Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 
treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2011/12. This report meets the requirements of both the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code 2011). 

2. Recommendations

The Executive Councillor is asked to recommend this report, which 
includes reporting of the Council’s actual Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators for 2011/12, for approval by Council. 

3. Background

  This report provides information on:  

 ! Capital expenditure and financing activity during the year; 
 ! The impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying 

indebtedness (the Capital Financing Requirement); 
 ! The overall treasury position identifying how the Council has 

borrowed in relation to this indebtedness, and the impact on 
deposit balances; 

 ! The required prudential and treasury indicators; 
 ! Interest rate movements in the year; 
 ! Borrowing activity relating to the Self-Financing of the Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA); and 

Report Page No: 1

Agenda Item 17

Page 159



 ! Detailed deposit activity 

3.1 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 2011/12

The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These 
activities may either be: 

 ! Financed immediately through the application of capital or 
revenue resources (capital receipts, capital grants, revenue 
contributions etc.), which has no resultant impact on the 
Council’s borrowing need; or 

 ! If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not 
to apply such resources, the capital expenditure will give rise 
to a borrowing need.

The actual capital expenditure forms one of the prudential indicators 
required to be reported.  The table below shows the Council’s actual 
capital expenditure and how this was financed. 

Report Page No: 2

(*) Per Medium Term Strategy Agreed on 20 October 2011 

3.2 The Council’s overall borrowing need

External borrowing for 2011/12 was undertaken for a capital purpose 
due to HRA Reform amounting to £213.572m. This borrowing was from 
the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) and benefited from the 
availability of preferential loan rates specifically for this Self-Financing 

2010/11
£000

Actual

2011/12
£000

Revised
Estimate (*) 

2011/12
£000

Actual

Non-HRA capital expenditure 5,032 15,260 8,194
HRA capital expenditure 9,514 20,669 9,917
HRA Reform - - 213,572
Total capital expenditure 14,546 35,929 231,683
Resourced by: 

 ! Capital receipts 3,296 6,227 4,093
 ! Other contributions 11,250 29,702 14,018
 ! Borrowing for HRA Reform - - 213,572

Total available resources for 
financing capital expenditure 14,546 35,929 231,683

Un-financed capital expenditure - - -

Page 160



transaction.  The loan portfolio consists of 20 maturity loans each for 
£10,678,600. The first loan will mature on 28 March 2038 and the last on 
28 March 2057. A table setting out the PWLB borrowing portfolio is 
included in the Treasury Management Position Statement as at 31 
March 2012 included as  Appendix A. 

3.3 Treasury Position as at 31 March 2012 

The Council’s debt and deposit position is organised by the Council’s 
own treasury management staff in order to ensure adequate liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security for deposits and to manage risks 
within all treasury management activities. Procedures and controls to 
achieve these objectives are well established both through Member 
reporting (as outlined in the summary) and through officer activity 
detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

The table below shows comparative deposit outturn for 2011/12 against 
2010/11.

Report Page No: 3

Notes:

 ! The ‘Benchmark Return’ figures are based upon Sector Treasury 
Management’s average money market 3-month London Interbank Bid 

2010/2011 2011/2012

Deposit Type Average
Deposits

Rate of 
Return

Benchmark
Return

Average
Deposits

Rate of 
Return

Benchmark
Return

 1.  Internally Managed Funds 

Fixed Short-Term
(<365 days) £56.84m 0.55% 0.61% £63.08m 0.75% 0.94%

Call/Overnight
Accounts £3.82m 0.28% 0.43% £6.52m 0.38% 0.48%

Fixed Long-Term 
(>365 days) - - - - - -

2.  Externally Managed Funds 

Managed Funds - - 0.61% - - 0.48%

3.  Overall Deposit Return 

£61.34m 0.60% - £69.60m 0.72% -

Page 161



Report Page No: 4

Rate (LIBID), for the Council’s Fixed Short-Term deposits and their 
average money market Overnight Rate, for the Council’s 
Call/Overnight deposits;

 ! All deposits were under one year. 

 ! The Council’s performance against the national benchmark is lower 
than average.  However, this is mainly due to the restrictions that the 
Council had adopted on the total balances that can be deposited with 
an individual institution or group. (These totals were increased by 
Council on 23 February 2012 to enable the authority to receive a 
better rate of return on its deposits.) In addition, the requirement to 
determine a suitable borrowing strategy for the HRA led to a decision 
to restrict the periods for which funds would be deposited to the short 
term.  This action was taken in order to retain flexibility should internal 
borrowing be utilised. This policy had an impact on the interest rate 
received on deposits. 

3.4 Interest of £494,000 has been earned on the Council’s deposits during  
2011/12 at an average rate of 0.72%.  This return compares favourably 
with the average 7 day London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) rate of 
0.61% as at 30 March 2012. The original budget for interest earned in 
2011/12 was £312,000.  Interest yield has therefore been over-achieved 
by £172,000 for the year 2011/12 although this was in part due to higher 
levels of deposit than originally forecast. 

3.5 Appendix A to this report shows the Treasury Management Position 
Statement as at the end of the financial year. 

3.6 Borrowing 

On 28 March 2012, the Council undertook borrowing of £213.572m in 
order to finance the one-off payment to central government  in relation to 
the introduction of a new HRA Self-financing regime with effect from 1 
April 2012. The overall borrowing need was detailed in paragraph 3.3 
above.  This was the only external borrowing undertaken in the year. 

3.7 The Economic Background 

The Council’s Treasury Management advisors, Sector, provide 
information on the national and world economy. This information is 
provided below to give context to the current Treasury Management 
strategy and practices, based on the position at March 2012.  

Page 162



Report Page No: 5

The outlook for the global economy remains clouded with uncertainty. 
The UK economy has struggled to generate a sustained recovery so this 
offers little hope for a strong recovery in 2012, and possibly even into 
2013. Consumer and business confidence levels are generally low and it 
is not easy to see potential for a significant increase in the growth rate in 
the short term.

 ! The Eurozone Sovereign debt crisis has abated following agreement 
on a second bailout package of €130bn for Greece in mid February; 

 ! The European Central Bank provided c. €1trn of 3yr funding to EU 
banks at 1%; 

 ! Eurozone banks used this financing at 1% to buy new sovereign debt 
issues yielding significantly higher rates; this has pushed some 
Eurozone sovereign yields down below ‘panic’ levels – notably Spain 
and Italy; 

 ! One potential problem on the horizon is various national elections; 
Germany in 2013; French presidential election result in May 2012, 
where Sarkozy lost to the Socialist front runner Francois Hollande; 

 ! Major uncertainties surround future prospects for the Eurozone. 

US
 ! Economic prospects have been encouraged by some positive news, 

but improvement is still limited; 
 ! The likelihood of a weak rate of growth going forward will mean slow 

progress in reducing the high level of unemployment which is acting 
as such a dampener on the economy; 

 ! Ben Bernanke (the Chairman of the Federal Reserve) has hinted at 
the possibility of another round of Quantative Easing (QE) aimed at 
encouraging a strong enough rate of growth to reduce the total level 
of unemployment significantly; 

 ! The US still has to address reducing the huge total of public debt and 
annual deficits by adopting austerity measures; 

 ! Presidential elections are due in November 2012. 

China
 ! Falling inflation has opened the way for relaxing credit restrictions to 

boost growth, which has been flagging; 
 ! However, current expectations are that it will maintain a reasonable 

rate of growth, though less than in previous years.   

UK
 ! Austerity measures, aimed at getting the public sector deficit into 

order over the next four years, have yet to fully impact on the 
economy;

Page 163



Report Page No: 6

 ! However, it looks likely that the private sector will not make up for the 
negative impact on employment in the public sector over the next 
year;

 ! Lack of significant progress in generating a rebalancing of the UK 
economy to manufacturing from services and an export led recovery  
- albeit some upbeat data in April has been received; 

 ! The housing market, a gauge of consumer confidence, remains weak 
and the outlook is for house prices to be little changed for a prolonged 
period;

 ! Economic forecasts for 2012 and beyond have been revised lower on 
a near quarterly basis; 

 ! Bank of England embarked on a £75bn second round of QE to 
stimulate economic activity in October 2011. Another £50bn was 
added to the programme in February 2012. The Bank of England 
Monetary Policy Committee is currently split on whether there needs 
to be another increase in QE in 2012, after some reasonably 
encouraging economic statistics, indicating that the fall in GDP in Q4 
2011 looks like being a one off, rather than the start of a new trend 
towards recession; 

 ! Inflation has eased from its peak of 5.2% (Consumer Price Index 
[CPI]) in September 2011, with strong expectation that CPI will hit the 
2% target rate within the MPC’s two year time horizon; 

 ! The UK’s AAA rating was put on negative outlook by Moody’s in 
February 2012 and by Fitch in March. Concerns over growth outlook 
and potential shocks from the Eurozone combine to also depress 
growth;

 ! However, “safe haven” status has underpinned demand for gilts and 
kept yields at historic lows. Unlikely to see material change in near 
term.

Given the volatile nature of the global economy this information is 
constantly changing.  The above paragraph includes the position reported 
by Sector in March 2012, reflecting the end point of the period reported on.  
The Council will be reviewing the latest position as part of the forthcoming 
Medium Term Strategy, together with any resulting amendments to treasury 
management practice which are deemed appropriate. 

3.8 Sector’s forward view 

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK.  Key areas of uncertainty include: 

Page 164



Report Page No: 7

The potential for the unravelling or failure of implementation of the second 
Greek bailout package causing a worsening of the Eurozone debt crisis.  
The failure of Greece to form a coalition government in May 2012.   

Inter-government agreement on how to deal with the Eurozone debt crisis 
could fragment, particularly as a result of upcoming national election results; 

The impact of the Eurozone crisis on financial markets and the banking 
sector;

The impact of the UK Government’s austerity plan on confidence and 
growth;

Potential for failure of UK inflation to fall back to near the 2% target; 

Monetary policy action failing to stimulate growth in western economies; 

 ! The potential for weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading 
partners -  the EU and US;

 ! High oil prices depressing world growth and stoking inflation; 

 ! The political situation in the Middle East, particularly over Iran’s 
nuclear ambitions; 

 ! Potential for protectionism i.e. an escalation of the currency war / 
trade dispute between the US and China; 

 ! A hard landing for slowing growth in China. 

Sector believes that the longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to 
rise due to the high volume of gilt issuance in the UK, and the high volume 
of debt issuance in other major western countries.

Given the weak outlook for economic growth, Sector sees the prospects for 
any interest rate changes before late 2013 as very limited.  There is 
potential for the start of Bank Rate increases to be even further delayed if 
growth disappoints.

3.9 Interest rates 

Sector provide the following forecast for UK interest rates: 

Jun-12 Sep-12 Dec-12 Mar-13 Jun-13 Sep-13 Dec-13 Mar-14 Jun-14 Sep-14 Dec-14 Mar-15

Bank
rate 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.50%
5yr 
PWLB
rate 2.00% 2.10% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.80% 3.00% 3.20% 3.40%
10yr 
PWLB
rate 3.00% 3.00% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 4.00% 4.20% 4.40%

Page 165



Report Page No: 8

25yr 
PWLB
rate 4.20% 4.20% 4.30% 4.30% 4.40% 4.50% 4.50% 4.60% 4.70% 4.80% 4.90% 5.00%
50yr 
PWLB
rate 4.30% 4.30% 4.40% 4.40% 4.50% 4.60% 4.60% 4.70% 4.80% 4.90% 5.00% 5.10%

The Sector central forecast is for the first increase in bank rate to be in 
March 2014. With low growth predictions for the U.K, and financial 
markets unconvinced that politicians have resolved the Eurozone 
sovereign debt crisis, we are likely to continue to experience high levels 
of volatility. 

3.10 Icelandic Bank Deposits 

 This authority had the following short term deposits in Icelandic banks 
and their UK subsidiaries at the time of the collapse of Icelandic banking 
institutions in 2008/09. 

Counterparty Principal % Rate Deposit Date
Heritable Bank Limited 1,000,000 5.65000% 09-Jan-08
Heritable Bank Limited 1,000,000 6.21000% 13-Jun-08
Landsbanki Islands hf 2,000,000 6.22000% 30-Jun-08
Heritable Bank Limited 2,000,000 6.00000% 05-Sep-08
Landsbanki Islands hf 1,000,000 6.35000% 01-Jul-08
Landsbanki Islands hf 2,000,000 6.42000% 01-Jul-08

Deposits placed in 
2008/09 9,000,000 6.14041% 

  The Icelandic Government has stated its intention to honour all its 
commitments as a result of their banks being placed into receivership.  
The U.K. Government is working with the Icelandic Government to help 
bring this about.  At the current time, the process of recovering assets is 
still ongoing with the respective administrators and winding up boards.  
The Local Government Association is co-ordinating the efforts of all UK
authorities with Icelandic deposits.

Based on the latest CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) 
Bulletin 82 (revised 14th May 2012), the Council is anticipating that it will 
recover between 86% to 90% of its claim against Heritable Bank Ltd and 
100% of its claim against Landsbanki Islands hf.  Provisions have been 
made as part of the Council’s accounts to reflect this basis. 

  Heritable Bank Limited 

Page 166



Report Page No: 9

  At the end of 2011/12, the total of dividends received from the 
administrators of Heritable Bank Plc equating to a payment of £2.766m 
which represented 67.90 pence in the pound of the total claim. In 
addition £154,328 has been received in the current financial year, 
bringing the total dividends to date to £2,920,348 (71.69 pence in the 
pound)

Page 167



Report Page No: 10

  Landsbanki Islands hf 

The Landsbanki test case appeal hearings took place in the Supreme 
Court of Iceland on 14 and 15 September 2011. On 28 October 2011 the 
Icelandic Supreme Court ruled that the deposits placed by the test case 
UK local authorities and other wholesale depositors in Landsbanki hf 
have priority status over other creditors in the winding up of the bank. 

On 19 January 2012 the Icelandic Supreme Court approved settlement 
of the claims placed by the non-test case UK local authorities in 
Landsbanki hf 

At the end of 2011/12, the Council had received one dividend of 
£1.518m from the winding-up board in respect of Landsbanki Islands hf, 
equating to approximately one third of the Council’s claim.  A further 
distribution was received on 29 May 2012 increasing the percentage 
recovered to approximately 40%.  

3.11 Compliance with Treasury Limits 

During the financial year the Council operated within the ‘authorised’ and 
‘operational’ borrowing limits contained within the approved Prudential 
Indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement. For information, the outturn for the Prudential Indicators are 
shown in Appendix B.

4. Background papers

 These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Annual Deposit Strategy – 
Budget Setting Report to Council 23rd February 2012; and; 

 Sector Treasury Services Ltd - Annual Treasury Management Report 
(template) April 2012. 

5. Appendices

 Appendix A –Treasury Management Position Statement for March 2012 
Appendix B – Prudential Indicators – outturn for 2011/12 and the PWLB 
Borrowing Portfolio for HRA Reform 

Page 168



Report Page No: 11

6.  Inspection of papers 

 To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Steve Bevis 
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 458153
Author’s Email: Stephen.bevis@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 169



Report Page No: 12

APPENDIX A 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

POSITION STATEMENT  AS AT :        31 MAR 2012 

[1]  CURRENT DEPOSITS 

 The Council’s current deposits are summarised (by counterparty) in the table below: 

Counterparty 
Principal 

(£)

*Dividends
Received 

(£)

Bank of Scotland Plc 1,000,000 

Bank of Scotland Plc 3,000,000 

Bank of Scotland Plc 2,000,000 

Lloyds TSB Bank Plc 3,000,000 

National Westminster Bank Plc 4,000,000 

Nationwide BS 1,000,000 

National Westminster Bank Plc 2,000,000 

Heritable Bank Limited 4,000,000 2,766,020 

Landsbanki Islands hf 5,000,000 1,518,168 

Lloyds TSB Bank Plc 3,000,000 

Nationwide BS 1,000,000 

National Westminster Bank Plc 2,000,000 

Nationwide BS 1,000,000 

Nationwide BS 2,000,000 

Nationwide BS 1,000,000 

Barclays Bank plc 4,000,000 

Barclays Bank plc 1,000,000 

Nationwide BS 1,000,000 

Barclays Bank plc 2,000,000 

Midlothian Council 3,000,000 

National Westminster Bank Plc 2,000,000 

Bank of Scotland Plc 3,000,000 

Nationwide BS 3,000,000 

Barclays Bank plc 3,000,000 

Blaenau Gwent Council 2,000,000 

Peterborough City Council 3,000,000 

Dumfries & Galloway Council 3,000,000 

The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc 3,000,000 
0

HSBC Bank Plc [Deposit a/c] 1,380,000 
0

TOTAL DEPOSITED 69,380,000 4,284,188 

*The dividends received include both principal and interest, and 
relate to the impaired deposits held with Icelandic banks and their 
subsidiaries. 

Page 170



Report Page No: 13

The above deposits include any forward-deals that have been agreed (i.e. deals with a 
deposit start date that is forward of the agreement date).

The total of dividends now received from the administrators of Heritable Bank Plc 
represents 67.90 pence in the pound of the total claim. The next dividend has been forecast 
for April 2012. 

[2] CURRENT MARKET EXPERIENCE 

a)  Treasury Activity 

For overnight and very short-term deposits the Council continues to make more use 
of the HSBC Deposit A/c in preference to the Government DMADF*, as the interest 
rate is marginally higher on the HSBC Deposit A/c.   

b)  Interest Rates 

A number of short-term and mid-term deposits have been placed in March, at rates 
in the range 0.32% - 1.75%. 

Counterparty Principal
(£’s) % Rate 

Maturity
Date Broker Deposit 

Date 
Period
(Days) 

Nationwide BS 2,000,000  1.00000% 01/06/2012 Direct 02/03/2012 91
Nationwide BS 1,000,000  1.00000% 07/06/2012 Direct 07/03/2012 92
National Westminster Bank Plc 2,000,000 0.96000% 15/06/2012 Direct 15/03/2012 92
Bank of Scotland Plc 3,000,000  1.75000% 17/09/2012 Direct 16/03/2012 185
Nationwide BS 3,000,000  0.52000% 19/04/2012 Direct 21/03/2012 29
Barclays Bank Plc 3,000,000  0.45000% 12/04/2012 Direct 21/03/2012 22
Bank of Scotland Plc 3,000,000  0.63000% 23/04/2012 Direct 22/03/2012 32
Barclays Bank Plc 4,000,000  0.73000% 22/05/2012 Direct 22/03/2012 61
National Westminster Bank Plc 2,000,000 0.59000% 24/04/2012 Direct 22/03/2012 33
Dumfries & Galloway Council 3,000,000  0.35000% 03/04/2012 Martins 22/03/2012 12
Lloyds TSB Bank Plc 3,000,000  1.40000% 22/06/2012 Direct 23/03/2012 91
Blaenau Gwent Council 2,000,000  0.32000% 12/04/2012 Martins 23/03/2012 20
Nationwide BS 1,000,000  0.98000% 22/06/2012 Direct 23/03/2012 91
Midlothian Council 3,000,000  0.45000% 03/05/2012 Tradition 26/03/2012 38
Bank of Scotland Plc 1,000,000  1.75000% 26/09/2012 Direct 26/03/2012 184
Lloyds TSB Bank Plc 3,000,000  1.40000% 04/07/2012 Direct 29/03/2012 97
National Westminster Bank Plc 4,000,000 0.96000% 04/07/2012 Direct 29/03/2012 97
Nationwide BS 1,000,000  0.98000% 29/06/2012 Direct 29/03/2012 92
Peterborough City Council 3,000,000  0.50000% 12/04/2012 Direct 30/03/2012 13

[3] DEPOSIT STRATEGY & COUNTERPARTY LIST 

The current practice of restricting all deposits with non-nationalised banks and building 
societies to a maximum of three months is to be continued. 

[4]  PWLB BORROWING PORTFOLIO FOR HRA REFORM 

In order to meet the required payment to the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) in relation to the self-financing of the HRA the following debt portfolio 
was determined by the Director of Resources under the appropriate delegated authority. 

Page 171



Report Page No: 14

Loan Ref: Start Date Principal (£) Interest
Maturity 

Date 
Term

(Years) 

1 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.46% 28-Mar-38 26
2 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.47% 28-Mar-39 27
3 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.48% 28-Mar-40 28
4 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.49% 28-Mar-41 29
5 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.50% 28-Mar-42 30
6 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.51% 28-Mar-43 31
7 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.52% 28-Mar-44 32
8 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.52% 28-Mar-45 33
9 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.52% 28-Mar-46 34

10 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.52% 28-Mar-47 35
11 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.53% 28-Mar-48 36
12 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.53% 28-Mar-49 37
13 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.53% 28-Mar-50 38
14 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.53% 28-Mar-51 39
15 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.52% 28-Mar-52 40
16 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.52% 28-Mar-53 41
17 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.51% 28-Mar-54 42
18 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.51% 28-Mar-55 43
19 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.51% 28-Mar-56 44
20 28-Mar-12 10,678,600 3.50% 28-Mar-57 45

Total:- 213,572,000 - -

This debt was financed entirely by fixed rate maturity loans from the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB). The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit is currently set at £250,000,000, 
this debt leaves the Council with £36,428,000 headroom to incur further debt if required. 

The borrowing transactions with the PWLB and payment of the HRA Self-Financing 
settlement to the DCLG were successfully undertaken within the timescales required by the 
Government.

Page 172



Report Page No: 15 

APPENDIX B

PRUDENTIAL & TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS 

Actual
2010/11

£’000

Original
2011/12

£’000

Revised
2011/12

£’000

Actual
2011/12

£’000

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

Capital expenditure
 - General Fund 5,032 7,177 15,260 8,194
 - HRA 9,514 10,953 234,241 223,489
Total 14,546 18,130 249,501 231,683

Incremental impact of
capital deposit decisions on: 

Band D Council Tax (City element) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Average weekly housing rent 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as 
at 31 March 
 - General Fund (894) (894) (1,177) (1,177)
 - HRA 893 1,176 215,031 215,031
Total (1) 282 213,854 213,854

Deposits at 31 March (56,437) (57,233) (63,903) (63,903)

Net borrowing Requirement (56,438) (56,951) 149,951 149,951

Change in the CFR 0 283 213,572 0

Maturity structure of new fixed rate 
borrowing during 2011/12           

10 years and above (PWLB borrowing for 
HRA Reform) 

Upper
Limit
100%

Lower
Limit
100%

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue 
stream
-General Fund (1.93%) (1.70%) (1.50%) (2.46%)
-HRA (0.12%) (0.07%) (0.06%) 0.05%
Total (2.05%) (1.77%) (1.56%) (2.41%)

Note: ‘Original’ refers to the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Report (MTS) of
October 2011 and ‘Revised’ to the BSR of February 2012. 

Page 173



Report Page No: 16 

APPENDIX B CONTINUED

PRUDENTIAL & TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS

Actual
2010/11

£’000

Original
2011/12

£’000

Revised
2011/12

£’000

Actual
2011/12

£’000

TREASURY INDICATORS

Authorised limit 
for borrowing 10,000 10,000 250,000 250,000
for other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 10,000 10,000 250,000 250,000

HRA Debt Limit 0.00 0.00 230,839 230,839

Operational boundary 
for borrowing 3,000 3,000 213,854 213,854
for other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 3,000 3,000 213,854 213,854

Upper limit for total principal sums deposited 
for over 364 days 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000

Upper limit for fixed & variable interest rate 
exposure

Net interest on fixed rate borrowing/deposits (320) (400) (412) (448)

Net interest on variable rate borrowing/deposits (120) (375) (23) (23)

Maturity structure of new fixed rate borrowing 
during 2011/12 

Upper
Limit

Lower
Limit

10 years and above (PWLB borrowing for HRA 
Reform) 100% 100%

Note: ‘Original’ refers to the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Report (MTS) of 
October 2011 and ‘Revised’ to the BSR of February 2012.

Page 174



Report Page No: 1 

Cambridge City Council Item

To Executive Councillor for Strategy  
Leader: Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by Chief Executive and Director of Resources 

Relevant Scrutiny 
Committee Strategy & Resources 9 July 2012

2011/12 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant 
Variances

Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 This report presents a summary of the 2011/12 outturn position 
(actual income and expenditure) for services within the Strategy 
(previously “& Climate Change”) portfolio, compared to the final 
budget for the year.  The position for revenue and capital is reported 
and variances from budgets are highlighted, together with 
explanations.  Requests to carry forward funding arising from certain 
budget underspends into 2012/13 and future years are identified. 

1.2 It should be noted that this report reflects the reporting structure in 
place prior to the recent changes in Executive reporting 
responsibilities.

2. Recommendations

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

a) To agree that the carry forward requests totalling £99,950, as 
detailed in Appendix C, are to be recommended to Council for 
approval.

3. Background

Revenue Outturn 

3.1 The outturn position for the Strategy (previously “& Climate Change”) 
portfolio, compared to the final revenue budget, is presented in detail 
in Appendix A. 

Agenda Item 18

Page 175



Report Page No: 2 

3.2 Appendix B to this report provides explanations of the main 
variances.

3.3 Appendix C sets out the final list of items, for this portfolio, for which 
approval is sought to carry forward unspent budget from 2011/12 to 
the next financial year, 2012/13.  

3.4 The overall revenue budget outturn position for the Strategy 
(previously “& Climate Change”) portfolio is set out in the table below: 

The variance represents 9.95% of the overall portfolio budget for the 
2011/12 financial year. 

Capital Outturn 

3.5 There are now no schemes and programmes for 2011/12 within the 
Strategy (previously “& Climate Change”) portfolio and therefore no 
requirement for explanations of variances. 

4. Implications

4.1 The net variance from the final budget, after approvals to carry 
forward budget of £99,950 from 2011/12 to the next financial year, 
2012/13, would result in a reduced use of General Fund reserves of 
£311,421.

4.2 In relation to anticipated requests to carry forward revenue budgets 
into 2012/13, the decisions made may have a number of implications.  
A decision not to approve a carry forward request will impact on 
officers’ ability to deliver the service or scheme in question and this 
could have staffing, equal opportunities, environmental and/or 
community safety implications. 

Strategy (previously “& Climate Change”) 
2011/12 Revenue Summary

£

Final Budget (3,128,320)

Outturn (2,716,949)

Variation – (Under)/Overspend for the year (411,371)

Carry Forward Requests: 99,950

Net Variance (311,421)

Page 176



Report Page No: 3 

5. Background papers

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

 ! Closedown Working Files 2011/12 
 ! Directors’ Variance Explanations – March 2012 
 ! Capital Monitoring Reports – March 2012 
 ! Budgetary Control Reports to 31 March 2012 

6. Appendices

 ! Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Outturn
 ! Appendix B - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances from Final 

Revenue Budgets 
 ! Appendix C - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests
 ! Appendix D – Not applicable (Capital Budget 2011/12 – Outturn) 

7. Inspection of papers

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Authors’ Names: John Harvey 
Authors’ Phone 
Numbers: Telephone: 01223 - 458143 

Authors’ Email:  john.harvey@cambridge.gov.uk  

O:\accounts\Committee Reports & Papers\Strategy & Resources from July 2007\2012 June\Final\S&CC\S&R 
(S&CC) Final Outturn 2011-12 Final Report.doc 

Page 177



Appendix A

Original
Budget      Final Budget  Outturn

Variation
Increase / 
(Decrease)

Carry Forward 
Requests - see 

Appendix C Net Variance
£ £ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive

Corporate Strategy 474,330 484,510 448,038 (36,472) (36,472)

Corporate & Democratic Services 2,160,840 2,063,010 2,006,757 (56,253) (56,253)

Central Services
Central Provisions and Centrally allocated 
costs

(1,503,980) 177,050 (88,819) (265,869) (265,869)

Pensions - Early Retirements capitalised costs 142,270 234,220 194,599 (39,621) 99,950 60,329

Sustainability City and Grants 188,100 169,530 156,374 (13,156) (13,156)

Total Strategy Services Net Budget 1,461,560 3,128,320 2,716,949 (411,371) 99,950 (311,421)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring
 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year
 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime
 - virements approved under the Council's constitution
 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted for

and are detailed and approved:

 - in the June committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)
 - in September (as part of the Medium Term Strategy (MTS))
 - in the January committee cycle (as part of the budget setting report)

 - and via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

Strategy & Climate Change Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Service Grouping

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Outturn

Page 178



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Central Provisions, 
Centrally allocated 
costs and 
Corporate & 
Democratic
Services

Net effect of variances on centrally allocated costs 
includes variances on IT underspending on consultancy 
services and development days £69k, clearing residual 
balance on various ex City Services rechargeable cost 
centres (including Streets, Grounds Maintenance) £38k, 
Legal services (note that charges for Legal Services 
have been changed from a historic Service Level 
Agreement to an actual time-recording basis for 2011/12 
so, although these charges have been met from Council 
budgets overall, there may be variances within individual 
services) and in this case the charges appear as a 
budget variance of £75k, Corporate Strategy £36k, Net 
Central overheads & Support Services (recharged from 
other services) £140k.

Customer Service Centre and Other Support Services 
are reported to Customer Services & Resources.

(358,594) John Harvey

Pensions - Early 
Retirements

The underspend is net of £59k in relation to 
departmental restructuring (so will offset underspends on 
other services).  Of the gross underspend £69,200 is for 
the capitalised costs for Community Development 
restructuring which was not required in 2011/12 and, in 
addition, a £30,750 provision which was met from 
Human Resources in 2011/12 to fund redundancy / 
retirement costs arising from restructuring.  There is a 
carry forward request for these provisions which will be 
required when the restructuring is implemented 
(anticipated in 2012/13).

(39,621) John Harvey

Strategy & Climate Change Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 179



Appendix C

Item Amount Contact
£

Director of Customer & Democratic Services

Director of Finance

1 Pensions - Early Retirements

Provision for capitalised costs carried forward for Community 
Development restructuring not required in 2011/12 and, in addition, 
a £30,750 provision met from Human Resources in 2011/12 to fund 
redundancy / retirement costs arising from restructuring.  Request to 
carry forward these provisions will be required when the 
restructuring is implemented (anticipated in 2012/13).

99,950 J Harvey

Total Carry Forward Requests for Strategy & Climate Change 
Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

99,950

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Strategy & Climate Change Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 180



Cambridge City Council  Item

To: Leader:  Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Director of Resources 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee: Strategy & Resources 9 July 2012

2011/12 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant 
Variances - General Fund - OVERVIEW

Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 This report presents a summary of the 2011/12 outturn position 
(actual income and expenditure) for all portfolios, compared to the 
final budget for the year.  The position for revenue and capital is 
reported and variances from budgets are highlighted.  Explanations 
have been reported to individual Executive Councillors / Scrutiny 
Committees and are reproduced here.

1.2 It should be noted that this report reflects the reporting structure in 
place prior to the recent changes in Executive reporting 
responsibilities.

1.3 Requests to carry forward funding arising from certain budget 
underspends into 2012/13 are identified. 

1.4 The outturn position for Housing Revenue Account (HRA) has been 
reported to Housing Management Board and the Executive 
Councillor for Housing on 19 June 2012. 

Revenue Outturn 

1.5 The 2011/12 final revenue budget for all portfolios is £20,728,840. 
The final outturn for the year is now £18,588,884 giving an overall 
under-spend of £2,139,956.  Of this total under-spend requests for 
carrying forward budgets into the next financial year are being sought 
for £632,970, as detailed in Appendix C. 

Agenda Item 19

Page 181



Capital Outturn 

1.6 The latest approved capital budget for all portfolios is £27,344,000.  
Actual expenditure on capital schemes and programmes during 
2011/12 is £18,092,000 giving an overall under-spend of £9,252,000.  
Of this net underspend £8,872,000 is due to net slippage and Council 
approval is sought to rephase the required capital resources from 
2011/12 into 2012/13. 

2. Recommendations 

The Executive Councillor is recommended:

Revenue:

a) To agree which of the final carry forward requests, totalling 
£632,970, as detailed in Appendix C, are to be recommended to 
Council for approval, subject to the final outturn position. 

Capital:

b) To seek approval from Council to carry forward (net) capital 
resources to fund re-phased capital spending of £8,872,000 as 
shown in Appendix D - Overview. 

3. Background 

Revenue Outturn 

3.1 The revenue budget for 2011/12, initially approved by Council on 17 
February 2011, was considered in the January 2012 Committee cycle 
and revised as appropriate.  The final outturn position for all 
portfolios, compared to final revenue budget, is presented in detail in 
Appendix A. 

3.2 Explanations for the main variances from the final budget for 2011/12 
have been reported to appropriate Executive Councillors / Scrutiny 
Committees and are reproduced as Appendix B. 

3.3 Appendix C sets out the list of items, for all portfolios, for which 
approval is sought to carry forward unspent budget from 2011/12 to 
the next financial year, 2012/13.  

Page 182



3.4 A summary of the final revenue outturn position for all portfolios is 
shown below: 

Capital Outturn 

3.5 All capital schemes were reviewed in detail in January 2012 and the 
Capital Plan amended to account for rephasing and anticipated 
over/underspends on individual schemes. 

3.6 Appendix D - Overview summarises the final outturn position against 
2011/12 final capital budgets.   Explanations for the main variances 
from final budgets for 2011/12 have been reported to appropriate 
Executive Councillors / Scrutiny Committees and are reproduced as 
Appendices D (General Fund Detail) and Appendix E (Housing).  The 
net under-spend of £9,252,000 is mainly due to slippage.   

3.7 The Capital Plan will be updated as necessary to reflect changes in 
the phasing of capital projects. 

4. Implications 

4.1 The net variance from final revenue budget, after approvals to carry 
forward £632,970 reserves from the current year into 2012/13 will 
result in a reduced use of General Fund reserves of £1,506,986. 

2011/12 General Fund 
Revenue Summary

£

Original Budget 18,672,260 

Adjustments 2,056,580 

Final Budget 20,728,840 

Outturn 18,588,884 

Net Variation / underspend for 
the year 

(2,139,956)

Carry Forward Requests: 632,970 

Net Variance and reduced use of 
General Fund Reserves 

(1,506,986)

Page 183



4.2 In relation to requests to carry forward either revenue or capital 
budgets into 2012/13 the decisions made may have a number of 
implications.  A decision not to approve a carry forward request will 
impact on officers’ ability to deliver the service or scheme in question 
and this could have staffing, equal opportunities, environmental 
and/or community safety implications. 

5. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

 ! Closedown files 2011/12 
 ! Directors variance explanations - March 2012 
 ! Capital Monitoring Report – March 2012 
 ! Budgetary control reports to 31 March 2012 

6. Appendices 

 ! Appendix A - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Outturn 
 ! Appendix B - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 

   from Final Revenue Budgets 
 ! Appendix C - Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests
 ! Appendix D - Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn – Overview 
 ! Appendix D - Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn – Detail 

   (General Fund) 
 ! Appendix E - Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn – Detail (HCIP) 
 ! Appendix E - Notes to the Housing Capital Investment Plan (HCIP) 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Contact: John Harvey 
Author’s Phone Number:  Telephone: 01223 458143 
Author’s Email:  Email:  john.harvey@cambridge.gov.uk 

O:\accounts\Committee Reports & Papers\Strategy & Resources from July 2007\2012 June\Final\Overview\FINAL\Outturn 
Overview Report FINAL 2011-12.doc 

Page 184



Appendix A

General Fund Overview / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Committee
Original
Budget

Final
Budget Outturn

Variation
Increase / 
(Decrease)

Carry
Forward

Requests - 
see Appendix 

C Net Variance
£ £ £ £ £ £

Community Services
Arts, Sports & Public Places 5,984,240 5,721,870 6,031,447 309,577 59,270 368,847
Community Development and Health 3,687,930 3,794,630 3,736,832 (57,798) 13,180 (44,618)
Housing 2,612,470 2,936,530 2,826,942 (109,588) 128,260 18,672
Total 12,284,640 12,453,030 12,595,221 142,191 200,710 342,901

Environment
Environmental & Waste Services 7,869,810 8,492,090 8,013,477 (478,613) 76,610 (402,003)

Planning & Sustainable Transport 2,276,370 1,726,490 1,627,398 (99,092) 30,270 (68,822)

Total 10,146,180 10,218,580 9,640,875 (577,705) 106,880 (470,825)

Strategy & Resources

Customer Services and Resources (5,220,120) (5,071,090) (6,364,161) (1,293,071) 225,430 (1,067,641)

Strategy & Climate Change 1,461,560 3,128,320 2,716,949 (411,371) 99,950 (311,421)
Total (3,758,560) (1,942,770) (3,647,212) (1,704,442) 325,380 (1,379,062)

Total Portfolios / Committees 18,672,260 20,728,840 18,588,884 (2,139,956) 632,970 (1,506,986)

Capital Accounting Adjustments (3,260,880) (4,565,050) (4,683,287) (118,237)

Capital / Revenue Projects Expenditure 
Financed from Revenue

3,682,000 4,511,000 2,043,794 (2,467,206)

Contributions to/(from) Earmarked 
Reserves

1,427,710 1,619,660 1,815,610 195,950

Contributions to/(from) Reserves (3,654,720) (5,044,370) (391,626) 4,652,744

(1,805,890) (3,478,760) (1,215,509) 2,263,251

Net General Fund Spending 16,866,370 17,250,080 17,373,375 123,295

Financed by:
Government Formula Grant (9,515,100) (9,515,100) (9,515,106) (6)
Other Government Grants
(includes Freeze Grant and New 
Homes Bonus)

(606,950) (990,660) (1,113,952) (123,292)

Council Tax (6,785,900) (6,785,900) (6,785,900) 0
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit 41,580 41,580 41,583 3

Total Financing (16,866,370) (17,250,080) (17,373,375) (123,295)

Net Total
0 0 0 0

Revenue Budget - 2011/12 Outturn

Page 185



Appendix A

General Fund Overview / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget - 2011/12 Outturn

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect:

 - portfolio and departmental restructuring
 - approved budget carry forwards from the previous financial year
 - technical adjustments, including changes to the capital accounting regime
 - virements approved under the Council's constitution
 - additional external revenue funding not originally budgeted for

and are detailed and approved:

 - in the June/July committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)
 - in September (as part of the Medium Term Strategy (MTS))
 - in the January committee cycle (as part of the budget setting report)

 - and via technical adjustments/virements throughout the year

Filename: O:\accounts\Committee Reports & Papers\Strategy & Resources from July 2007\2012 June\Final\Overview\FINAL\[Overview 2011-12 - Appendix A 
(Portfolio) Revenue V2.xls]App A for June 12 Report

Page 186



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Arts & Recreation

Corn Exchange 
Technical

A&R restructure has resulted in shortfall of £15,000 in 
staffing costs in this area.  Underachievement of 
temporary technical staff recharges to events - £18,000 
lower than targeted. Utility costs are £5,000 higher than 
budgeted.

36,833 Steve Bagnall

Corn Exchange 
Administration

Restructuring costs - consultancy and legal. 60,163 Steve Bagnall

Corn Exchnage 
Front of House

Overachievement of temporary staff recharges to events. (20,638) Steve Bagnall

Box Office

£18,000 overspend on temporary staff following 
implementation of A&R restructure. Online booking has 
significantly overachieved whilst payment by other 
payments has declined.

21,777 Neil Jones

Streets & Open Spaces

Arboriculture Temporary staff costs during a period of absence 22,463 Alistair Wilson

Environmental
Projects

Will be funded by managed underspend in other areas of 
Streets and Open Spaces

99,338 Andy Preston

Community Development

Grants - Leisure
Variance due to an underspend on Area Committee 
grants.

(22,012) Jackie Hanson

Arts, Sport & Public Places Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 187



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Customer & Community Services - Community Development

Community
Centres

Various small variances over the ten community facility cost 
centres.

(27,536) T Woollams

Grants

Grants budget held pending final outcome from the ChYpPS review 
and approval of new Youth Officer post.  Request to carry forward 
of £13,180 from Community Development Youth Work fund for the 
purpose of funding for the newly appointed youth officer post to 
generate projects in local areas.  Base budget for 2012/13 will be 
available through area committees grants.

(19,081) J Hanson

Customer & Community Services - Bereavement Services

Bereavement
Services Central 
Costs

Charges for Legal Services have been changed from a historic 
Service Level Agreement to an actual time-recording basis for 
2011/12 so, although these charges have been met from Council 
budgets overall, there may be variances within individual services 
and in this case the charges appear as a budget variance of £20k 
which accounts for the major variance on this service.

25,293 T Lawrence

Environment - CCTV

CCTV
Savings as a result of our new maintenance contract, proposed 
renegotiation of our cleaning contract, late bills on purchases and 
communications.

(15,297) M Beaumont

Customer & Community Services - Housing General Fund

Community Safety
There is a net underspend in grants money in the year.  There is no 
request to carry this forward.

(16,586) L Kilkelly

Other minor variances (4,591)

Total (57,798)

Community Development and Health Portfolio / Community Services 
Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 188



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

CLG
Homelessness
Grant

Underspending in DCLG Homelessness Grant for 2011/12, 
with some further expenditure committed, but not realised in 
respect of meeting identified priorities in homelessness 
prevention and support. The DCLG grant totalled £575,470 
for 2011/12 and is part of a 4 year settlement for the spending 
review period. Local authorities are free to carry over 
underspent sums between financial years. A carry forward of 
this external grant balance is requested to allow use of the 
monies in line with DCLG expectations and existing 
commitments in respect of homelessness prevention work 
and support activity to be fully met.

(100,447) D Greening

Home Aid

Underspending in 2011/12 was predominantly associated with 
the creation of a Shared HIA Service with South 
Cambridgeshire and Huntingdonshire District Councils. Fee 
income was over-achieved as fees were claimed on all work 
in progress by each authority before transfer of services. Not 
all of the costs of restructure have been fully met, with the 
need to carry forward £20,000, identified to meet redundancy 
costs, into 2012/13 when the cost will be incurred.

(67,896) D Irving

Strategic Housing 
Overheads

Overhead costs were greater than anticipated as the charges 
for Legal Services have been changed from a historic Service 
Level Agreement to an actual time-recording basis for 
2011/12 so, although these charges have been met from 
Council budgets overall, there may be variances within 
individual services and in this case the charges appear as a 
budget variance of £51,670. This is partially offset by 
underspending in other general overheads.

46,157 A Carter

Homelessness
Costs

Spending on bed and breakfast provision was higher than 
anticipated in 2011/12, despite the introduction of alternative 
provision using our own housing stock. Spending at the higher 
level was due to a marked increase in people presenting as 
homeless.

23,938 D Greening

Minor Variations 7,261

Total (90,987)

Minor Variations (18,601)

Total (18,601)

Total for Housing Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee (109,588)

Environment - Refuse and Environment

Housing Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Customer & Community Services - Housing Strategy, Development, Housing Aid / Needs, Private Sector 
Housing and Miscellaneous Housing

Page 189



Appendix B

Cost Centre Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Environment - Environmental Services

Scientific Team

The underspend is due to the delay of the appointment of a 
new air quality equipment maintenance contractor. The
negotiations were lengthy resulting in a period when we 
were not under contract and thus payments were not made 
resulting in an underspend of £11.6k. There were other 
minor variances of £8.8k.

(20,371) J Dicks

Food and 
Occupational Safety

There has been a delay in spending the budget of £16,000 
for the public health agenda. It is requested that this budget 
is carried forward to 2012/13.  There are also minor 
underspends of £9,443.

(25,443) F Harrison

Environment - Streets and Open Spaces
Rangers Underspend in salaries due to vacant posts in restructure (45,810) Y Collins 
Public Realm 
Enforcement

Underspend in salaries due to vacant posts in restructure (54,706) Y Collins 

Street Cleansing Underspend in salaries due to vacant posts in restructure (67,016) B Carter
Environment - Waste & Recycling

Trade Refuse 

Reduced expenditure due to vacant posts in advance of 
route optimisation project, reduced landfill costs due to 
increased recycling, the reduction in bin purchases due to 
an increase in refurbishment work plus additional income 
due to success of University of Cambridge waste and 
recycling contract has resulted in this underspend.

(150,994) C Hipwood

Recycling Strategy

The underspend is partly due to additional income of £31.8k 
plus the underspend of the Waste Analysis and Campaign 
to promote recycling budgets of £36,610. A request for the 
carry forward of these budgets is included in appendix C.

(64,072)
R Weymouth-

Wood

Environment - Central Support & Overheads
Recharges - Refuse & 
Environment

The underspend is due to the recharge of expenditure from 
this budget to the taxis and private hire cost centres.

(21,743) J Lally

Recharges - Streets & 
Open Spaces

Charges for Legal Services have been changed from a 
historic Service Level Agreement to an actual time-
recording basis for 2011/12 so, although these charges 
have been met from Council budgets overall, there may be 
variances within individual services and in this case the 
charges appear as a budget variance of £58,700.

58,660 T Ainley

Environment - Central Support & Overheads

Refuse & Environment 
Operational Support

In previous years IT budgets were split over different 
services within Refuse and Environment. Due to the 
amalgamation of these budgets an overall underspend of 
£26.7k is now shown within this cost centre. The overall 
budget is greater than is required and as a result will be 
reviewed as part of the revised budget. There is also an 
underspend on staff recruitment budgets of £12.6k and 
minor overspend variances of £5.2k 

(34,177) J Lally

Environmental & Waste Services Portfolio / Environment Scrutiny 
Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 190



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Environment - Parking Services

Car Parks

Parking Services were almost within target for 
2011/12 with a net overall underachievement 
of £21,434.  Income was impacted by the 
general downturn and also adversely affected 
particularly by the road works during March in 
East Road (Grafton East), Parkside closure for 
refurbishment and loss of the ice skating rink 
(Queen Anne Terrace).  This was offset to a 
large degree by increased income arising from 
changes in the County parking arrangements 
and charges at Castle Hill Car Park, whilst 
generally containing expenditure within 
planned budgets.
Note that charges for Legal Services have 
been changed from a historic Service Level 
Agreement to an actual time-recording basis 
for 2011/12 so, although these charges have 
been met from Council budgets overall, there 
may be variances within individual services 
and in this case the charges appear as a 
budget variance of £20,400. 

41,834 Paul Necus

Environment - Planning 

Recharges - Head of 
Planning

Note that charges for Legal Services have 
been changed from a historic Service Level 
Agreement to an actual time-recording basis 
for 2011/12 so, although these charges have 
been met from Council budgets overall, there 
may be variances within individual services 
and in this case the charges appear as a 
budget variance of £60,320.

(60,320) Patsy Dell

Planning & Sustainable Transport / Environment Scrutiny 
Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 191



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Planning & Sustainable Transport / Environment Scrutiny 
Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Building Control - 
Fee Earning

The Building (Local Authority Charges) 
Regulations 2010 state that where there are no 
surpluses held in the Building Control 
earmarked reserve to fund an in-year deficit, 
this must be met from General Fund reserves 
and 'replenished' the following year. Therefore 
the 2011/12 surplus offsets the deficit made in 
2010/11.  Fee income was within 1% of the 
budget forecast. Variance due to underspend 
on salaries & employee costs (vacancy of 0.3 
FTE) consultant fees, publicity, office supplies 
and IT services. 

(40,409) Patsy Dell

Building Control - 
Other

Due to underspend on salary and employee 
costs, consultant costs, office supplies and IT 
services. Income was also greater than 
forecast due to higher than expected income 
from new Street Name and Numbering 
Charges and receipt of legal costs following 
successful prosecution in 2011.

(44,063) Patsy Dell

Page 192



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Planning & Sustainable Transport / Environment Scrutiny 
Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

City Development

Variance partly due to underspends on 
employee costs, as the Principal Enforcement 
Officer post remained vacant and new 
vacancies have arisen.  Temporary staff and 
recruitment costs have exceeded budgets, 
because it has proven difficult to recruit to 
vacant posts, despite the buoyant job market.
Savings due to vacancies in the Business and 
Information Services team (BIS) have resulted 
in a reduced recharge of nearly £35k.
Note that charges for Legal Services have 
been changed from a historic Service Level 
Agreement to an actual time-recording basis 
for 2011/12 so, although these charges have 
been met from Council budgets overall, there 
may be variances within individual services 
and in this case the charges appear as a 
budget variance of £40.5k.

(110,281) Patsy Dell

New
Neighbourhoods

Under-achievement against fee income 
projections mainly due to delayed submission 
of three large reserved matters applications for 
Clay Farm (x2) and Bell School (due to 
appeal). However, these will still be submitted 
during early-mid 2012/13.

176,939 Patsy Dell

Urban Design & 
Conservation

Underspend mainly due to delays in 
completion of the Pro-Active Conservation 
programme.  A request to carry forward the 
unspent budget is included in Appendix C.

(27,899) Patsy Dell

Page 193



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount
£

Contact

Resources
Finance - General This variance is made up as follows:  £25,139 reduction in the 

contribution required for sundry debtor bad debt provision; 
£25,401 reduction in bank, giro and credit card charges 
compared with budget; £46,021 net overspend in relation to 
legal costs primarily in connection with The Belvadere S106 
action; £365,317 reduction in the impairment previously 
provided for in respect Icelandic Bank deposits (reflecting the 
latest Local Authority Account panel guidance on the timing of 
repayments and an anticipated 100% recovery of deposits 
with Landsbanki islands hf).  The remaining variance, 
£160,622 reflects additional income earned on investments as 
a consequence of higher levels of investment during the year 
and slightly higher interest levels achieved in the latter part of 
the year. 

(530,458) Julia Minns

General Properties 
and Grand Arcade

The underspend is mainly due to the receipt of backdated 
rental income following the completion of rent reviews and 
audits during the final quarter of the 2011/12 financial year.
Note that charges for Legal Services have been changed from 
a historic Service Level Agreement to an actual time-
recording basis for 2011/12 so, although these charges have 
been met from Council budgets overall, there may be 
variances within individual services and in this case the 
charges appear as a budget variance of (£63,670). 

(239,200) Phil Doggett

Land Charges and 
Searches

The variance is mainly due to over achievement of Land 
Charges fee income, which fluctuates with property market 
activity.

(24,529) Simon Pugh

Customer and 
Community

Customer Access 
Strategy

Payment protection continues into 2012/13 and final 
redundancies not yet agreed. Balance to be carried forward 
as agreed by Council 22.7.10:
item 10/41/CNLa.

(112,986) Jonathan 
James

Revenue and 
Benefit Services

The main variances are due to minor net subsidy differences 
of (£111,431) within overall expenditure of £41.4 million, 
unspent Homelessness Prevention Funding of (£44,440) for 
which a carry forward of budget is requested (see Appendix 
C), higher than forecast recovery of benefit overpayments 
from claimants no longer claiming benefits (£36,882) and 
higher than forecast Court costs recovered of (£70,742) - 
£252,252 collected against forecast of £181,510 (a one-off 
increase of £70,742).

(297,660) Alison Cole

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio / 
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 194



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance Amount
£

Contact

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio / 
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Environment
Markets Variance due to an overachievement in income of £5.7k and 

an underspend on a variety of revenue codes; including 
cleaning costs where wash downs of the market have not 
been undertaken due to bad weather or staff shortages and 
savings on electricity costs as the Council has agreed a more 
competitive tariff. 

(22,754) Emma Thornton

Support Services

Accountancy and 
Support Services

This variance relates to a net underspending on employee 
budgets as a result of not covering for staff vacancies / 
reduced working hours and an underspending of the 
recruitment budget.

(23,468) Julia Minns

Human Resources The HR service underspend includes the balance of a 
corporate budget earmarked to support organisational change 
and there is a request to carry forward the balance of £68k to 
complete the programme.  The remaining £67k arose mainly 
due to vacant posts and holding open posts that were subject 
to restructuring.  Earlier implementation of the restructuring 
resulted in £28k of the £100k anticipated savings being 
delivered ahead of schedule.

(130,575) Deborah 
Simpson

IT The variance is mainly due to minor underspends on IT 
Contract costs.

(24,177) James 
Nightingale

Property and 
Building Services

The main variance relates to an over achievement of rental 
income.

(43,470) Jim Stocker

Page 195



Appendix B

Service Grouping Reason for Variance
Amount

£
Contact

Central Provisions, 
Centrally allocated 
costs and 
Corporate & 
Democratic
Services

Net effect of variances on centrally allocated costs 
includes variances on IT underspending on consultancy 
services and development days £69k, clearing residual 
balance on various ex City Services rechargeable cost 
centres (including Streets, Grounds Maintenance) £38k, 
Legal services (note that charges for Legal Services 
have been changed from a historic Service Level 
Agreement to an actual time-recording basis for 2011/12 
so, although these charges have been met from Council 
budgets overall, there may be variances within individual 
services) and in this case the charges appear as a 
budget variance of £75k, Corporate Strategy £36k, Net 
Central overheads & Support Services (recharged from 
other services) £140k.

Customer Service Centre and Other Support Services 
are reported to Customer Services & Resources.

(358,594) John Harvey

Pensions - Early 
Retirements

The underspend is net of £59k in relation to 
departmental restructuring (so will offset underspends on 
other services).  Of the gross underspend £69,200 is for 
the capitalised costs for Community Development 
restructuring which was not required in 2011/12 and, in 
addition, a £30,750 provision which was met from 
Human Resources in 2011/12 to fund redundancy / 
retirement costs arising from restructuring.  There is a 
carry forward request for these provisions which will be 
required when the restructuring is implemented 
(anticipated in 2012/13).

(39,621) John Harvey

Strategy & Climate Change Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

 Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Major Variances 
from Final Revenue Budgets

Page 196



Appendix C

Item Request Contact
£

Streets & Open Spaces - River Frontage Management

1 Business Rates are yet to be assessed on the City's moorings 12,130 Alistair Wilson

Streets & Open Spaces - Arboriculture

2 Tree programme funds unspent 25,100 Alistair Wilson

Arts & Recreation - Leisure Contract - Client costs

3
Balance of PPF funds for consultancy support during the Leisure 
Contract tender

11,250 Ian Ross

Arts & Recreation - Arts & Events

4
Sponsorship for November 5 Fireworks carried over from 2011 
display at sponsors request.

7,290 Elaine Midgley

Community Development - Grants

5
 Leisure Youth Work Grants unspent to fund a youth officer post to 
generate projects in local areas

3,500 Trevor Woollams

Total Carry Forward Requests for Arts & Recreation Portfolio / 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee

59,270

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13

Arts, Sport & Public Places Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 197



Appendix C

Item Request Contact
£

1 Customer & Community Services - Community Development
Grants budget held pending final outcome from the ChYpPS 
review and approval of new Youth Officer post.  Request to carry 
forward of £13,180 from Community Development Youth Work 
fund for the purpose of funding for the newly appointed youth 
officer post to generate projects in local areas.  Base budget for 
2012/13 will be available through area committees grants.

13,180 T Woollams

2 Environment - Bereavement Services

No carry forwards  requested T Lawrence

3 Environment - CCTV

No carry forwards  requested M Beaumont

4 Customer & Community Services - Housing Strategy

No carry forwards  requested L Kilkelly

5 Environment - Streets and Open Spaces

No carry forwards  requested 

Total Carry Forward Requests for Community Development 
Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee

13,180

Community Development and Health Portfolio / Community 
Services Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Page 198



Appendix C

Item Request Contact
£

Director of Customer & Community Services

1

CLG Homelessness Grant - A carry forward of this external grant balance is 
requested to allow existing commitments in respect of homelessness prevention 
work and support activity to be fully met. This grant is no longer ring-fenced, but 
local authorities are strongly encouraged to utilise the resource for the purpose it 
was awarded.

100,440 D Greening

2
Following the creation of a new Shared HIA Service with South Cambridgeshire 
and Huntingdonshire District Councils, a resulting restructure will incur 
redundancy costs, which will not now be realised until early in 2012/13. 

20,000 A Carter

Director of Environment 

3
A carry forward of the underspend of the Housing Management Orders budget to 
2011/12 is requested in order to carry out CPO work, if necessary, next year. 

7,820 R Lord

Total Carry Forward Requests for Housing Portfolio / Community Services 
Scrutiny Committee

128,260

Housing Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Page 199



Appendix C

Item
Final

Request Contact
£

Director of Environment 

1

Food and Occupational Safety - The Health Improvement Strategy 
is to accommodate the council's foreseeable requirements when 
the legal responsibilities for public health are transferred from the 
Health Protection Agency to us. Although this transition has been 
in the public domain for sometime, the details of the movement or 
when it will finally occur is not yet known. It is requested that this 
budget is carried forward to 2012/13

16,000 F Harrison

2

Recycling Strategy - The waste analysis and door-knocking project 
work began in March 2012 but will not be completed until 
September 2012. Therefore a carry forward of the balance of the 
budget to 2012/13 is requested.

36,610 J Robertson

3

Head of Streets and Open Spaces - Planned training did not take 
place in 2011/12 due to continuing restructure issues. Training will 
take place in 2012/13 and therefore a carry forward of this budget 
is requested.

24,000 T Ainley

Total Carry Forward Requests for Environmental & Waste 
Services Portfolio / Environment Scrutiny Committee

76,610

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13

Environmental & Waste Services Portfolio / Environment Scrutiny 
Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 200



Appendix C

Item
Final

Request Contact
£

Director of Environment 

1

Food and Occupational Safety - The Health Improvement Strategy 
is to accommodate the council's foreseeable requirements when 
the legal responsibilities for public health are transferred from the 
Health Protection Agency to us. Although this transition has been 
in the public domain for sometime, the details of the movement or 
when it will finally occur is not yet known. It is requested that this 
budget is carried forward to 2012/13

16,000 F Harrison

2

Recycling Strategy - The waste analysis and door-knocking project 
work began in March 2012 but will not be completed until 
September 2012. Therefore a carry forward of the balance of the 
budget to 2012/13 is requested.

36,610 J Robertson

3

Head of Streets and Open Spaces - Planned training did not take 
place in 2011/12 due to continuing restructure issues. Training will 
take place in 2012/13 and therefore a carry forward of this budget 
is requested.

24,000 T Ainley

Total Carry Forward Requests for Environmental & Waste 
Services Portfolio / Environment Scrutiny Committee

76,610

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13

Environmental & Waste Services Portfolio / Environment Scrutiny 
Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 201



Appendix C

Item
Final

Request Contact
£

Director of Environment 

1

Pro-Active Conservation -To complete the remaining priorities of 
the work programme as at agreed at Environment Scrutiny 
Committee in March 2012 ref 12/123/ENV (improved use of IT for 
cataloguing Listed Building information, Conservation Area 
reviews, wall painting signage)

30,270 Patsy Dell

Total Carry Forward Requests for Planning & Sustainable 
Transport Portfolio / Environment Scrutiny Committee

30,270

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Planning & Sustainable Transport / Environment Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 202



Appendix C

Item Reason for carry forward request

Carry
Forward
Requests Contact

£

1
Customer Access Strategy
To meet the remaining estimated costs of redundancy, pay protection 
and early retirement (approved by Council on 22.7.10).

112,990
Jonathan
James

2

Revenue and Benefit Services
Request to carry forward unspent Homelessness Prevention funding 
of £44,440.

After the Budget announcement about Discretionary Housing 
Payment (DHP) funding, the Government announced some 
transitional protection measures to mitigate the effects of the Housing 
Benefit reforms. This, in turn, has led to less demand for DHPs in 
2011/12 than originally envisaged and more demand in 2012/13. 

The DWP accepts that, in these circumstances, there is a case for 
carry-over from 2011/12 to 2012/13.

44,440 Alison Cole

3

Human Resources
The HR service underspend includes the balance of a corporate 
budget earmarked to support organisational change and there is a 
request to carry forward the balance of £68k to complete the 
programme.

68,000
Deborah
Simpson

Total Carry Forward Requests for Customer Services & 
Resources Portfolio

225,430

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Customer Services & Resources Portfolio /
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 203



Appendix C

Item Amount Contact
£

Director of Customer & Democratic Services

Director of Finance

1 Pensions - Early Retirements

Provision for capitalised costs carried forward for Community 
Development restructuring not required in 2011/12 and, in addition, 
a £30,750 provision met from Human Resources in 2011/12 to fund 
redundancy / retirement costs arising from restructuring.  Request to 
carry forward these provisions will be required when the 
restructuring is implemented (anticipated in 2012/13).

99,950 J Harvey

Total Carry Forward Requests for Strategy & Climate Change 
Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

99,950

Request to Carry Forward Budgets from 2011/12 into 2012/13 and future years

Strategy & Climate Change Portfolio / Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

Revenue Budget 2011/12 - Carry Forward Requests

Page 204



Appendix D - Overview

Committee
Original
Budget

Final
Budget

Outturn Variance Rephase
Over / 

(Under)
Spend

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Community Services: 

Arts, Sports & Public Places 3,419 2,585 1,905 (680) 708 28
Community Development and Health 2,396 2,596 2,198 (398) 156 (242)
Housing 515 72 72 0 0
Total Community Services 6,330 5,253 4,175 (1,078) 864 (214)

Environment:
Environmental & Waste Services 1,157 634 151 (483) 469 (14)
Planning & Sustainable Transport 1,468 448 332 (116) 135 19
Total Environment 2,625 1,082 483 (599) 604 5

Strategy & Resources:
Customer Services & Resources 2,581 1,688 690 (998) 958 (40)
Strategy & Climate Change 224 0 0 0 0 0
Total Strategy & Resources 2,805 1,688 690 (998) 958 (40)

Total Committees 11,760 8,023 5,348 (2,675) 2,426 (249)

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 10,953 15,764 10,347 (5,417) 5,372 (45)
Housing General Fund 2,977 3,557 2,397 (1,160) 1,074 (86)
Total for Housing Capital Investment 
Programme

13,930 19,321 12,744 (6,577) 6,446 (131)

Total Capital Plan 25,690 27,344 18,092 (9,252) 8,872 (380)

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year
 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods
 - approval of new capital programmes and projects

and are detailed and approved:

 - in the June committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)
 - in September (as part of the Medium Term Strategy (MTS))
 - in the January committee cycle (as part of the budget setting report)

The above figures exclude:

 - schemes transferred to the Hold List in the Budget Setting Report 2012/13
 - schemes devolved to Area Committees in the Budget Setting Report 2012/13

Overview (Committees and Housing Capital Investment Plan) / 
Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Committee

Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn

Page 205



Appendix D

Arts, Sport & Public Places Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee

Capital
Ref

Description Lead Officer
Original
Budget

Final
Budget

Outturn

Variance - 
Outturn

compared
to Final 
Budget

Re-phase
Spend

Over / 
(Under)
Spend

Variance Explanation / Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

SC072 Poster Boards N Jones 0 4 3 (1) 1 0 Final element to be completed 2012/13

SC210
Hard Surface Cherry Hinton 
Hall Car Park

I Ross 4 0 0 0 0 0 Project complete

SC282 Kettle's Yard D Kaye 40 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

SC348
Allotment Improvements 
(S106)

A Wilson 17 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

SC350
Improvements to pump out 
facility at Jesus green

I Ross 4 0 0 0 0 0 Project complete

SC396
Ravensworth Gardens - 
Remedial & Improvement 
Work

D Kaye 25 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

SC405
Improvements to play areas 
& open space at land behind 
St Matthews Street (S106)

I Ross 61 3 3 0 0 0 Project complete

SC434
Floodlit Astroturf - Chesterton 
Community College and 
Netherhall School (S106)

I Ross 200 200 200 0 0 0 Project complete

SC436
Pye's Pitch Rec Facilities 
(S106)

I Ross 0 45 0 (45) 45 0 
Works continuing pending meeting with 
Environment Agency to conclude

SC441
Sheeps Green Canoe 
Clubhouse Extension (S106)

I Ross 195 175 201 26 0 26 
Project complete subject to contract 
retentions

SC452
Climbing Wall at Kelsey 
Kerridge Sports Centre 
(S106)

I Ross 90 52 52 0 0 0 Project complete

SC460
Kings Hedges Learners Pool 
Electricity

I Ross 25 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

SC461
Jesus Green Skatepark 
Upgrade (S106)

I Ross 65 60 61 1 0 1 
Project complete subject to contract 
retentions

SC469
Vie Public Open Space 
(S106)

I Ross 0 114 89 (25) 25 0 
Project almost complete subject to 
contract retentions

SC471 Parkside Changing Rooms D Kaye 350 390 392 2 0 2 
Project complete subject to contract 
retentions

SC474
Cherry Hinton Hall Grounds 
Improvements - Phase 1 
(S106)

A Wilson 5 0 35 35 (35) 0 Project started ahead of schedule

SC476
Water Play Area Abbey 
Paddling Pool (S106)

I Ross 125 75 0 (75) 75 0 
Pending futher allocations of available 
S106 funding Project planned for 
Winter 2012 / Spring 2013 

SC477
Coleridge Paddling Pool 
Enhancement (S106)

I Ross 85 50 0 (50) 50 0 
Pending futher allocations of available 
S106 funding Project planned for 
Winter 2012 / Spring 2013 

SC478
Water Play Area Kings 
Hedges "Pulley" (S106)

I Ross 125 50 0 (50) 50 0 
Pending futher allocations of available 
S106 funding Project planned for 
Winter 2012 / Spring 2013 

SC512
Hobbs Pavilion 
Refurbishment (S106)

I Ross 158 100 0 (100) 100 0 
Procurement complete - contract 
awarded - Works to start September 
2012 after cricket season concludes.

SC518
Corn Exchange Lighting 
Improvement

D Kaye 0 25 25 0 0 0 Project complete

-
Small Projects (under £15k) 
(S106)

I Ross 0 0 7 7 (7) 0 Section 106 funds to be allocated

SC215
Christs Piece - 
Trees/Landscaping (S106)

A French 9 6 6 0 0 0 Project complete

SC234
Histon Road Cemetery 
Landscaping (S106)

A Wilson 0 5 0 (5) 5 0 Projects to be identified

SC347
Histon Road - Refurbishment 
of play area (S106)

A Preston 12 0 0 0 0 0 Project complete

SC410 Mill Road Cemetery A Wilson 35 27 2 (25) 25 0 
Links with SC432.  Benches ordered, 
path works to be completed and 
website updates progressing

Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn

Environment

Customer & Community

Page 206



Appendix D

Arts, Sport & Public Places Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee

Capital
Ref

Description Lead Officer
Original
Budget

Final
Budget

Outturn

Variance - 
Outturn

compared
to Final 
Budget

Re-phase
Spend

Over / 
(Under)
Spend

Variance Explanation / Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn

SC432
Mill Road Cemetery Memorial 
Artwork (S106)

A Preston 62 6 4 (2) 2 0 

Continuous issues being experienced 
with the Faculty Application to the DAC 
which are causing significant delays to 
the delivery of this project which are 
outside our control.

SC433
Snowy Farr Memorial Artwork 
(S106)

A Preston 70 24 23 (1) 1 0 
Planning approval now granted. 
Fabrication of the artwork is now 
complete installation planned in July.

SC435
Biodiversity Projects Year 
2&3

G Belcher 0 0 (1) (1) 0 (1) Project complete

SC454
Logans Meadow Swift Tower 
(S106)

G Belcher 0 31 31 0 0 0 Project complete

SC456
Coldhams Common LNR 
Extension (S106)

G Belcher 46 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

SC479
Abbey Pool Play Area 
Facilities (S106)

A Preston 110 0 1 1 (1) 0 
Work undertaken by the Project 
Delivery team in advance of project

SC492
Jesus Green Play Area 
(S106)

A Preston 175 0 1 1 (1) 0 

Specific S106 contributions yet to be 
received from CB1 development. Were 
due in January 2012. Invoice currently 
being contested by developer. 
Potential to use S106 from NIAB 
instead to be investigated. ESPO call 
off play contract will be advertised from 
18th May 2012.

SC493
Jesus Green Tennis Court 
(S106)

A Preston 90 1 8 7 (7) 0 
Project on programme to be complete 
by the end of May.

SC494
Kings Hedges "Pulley" Play 
Area (S106)

A Preston 73 0 1 1 (1) 0 

Specific S106 contributions yet to be 
received from NIAB development. 
Were expected to be due in March 
2012. Invoice was issued on 3rd May 
2012.

SC496 Petersfield Play Area (S106) A Preston 76 0 1 1 (1) 0 
ESPO Play contract to be advertised 
from 18th May 2012.

SC497
Peveral Road Play Area 
(S106)

A Preston 85 0 1 1 (1) 0 
ESPO Play contract to be advertised 
from 18th May 2012.

SC499
Outdoor Fitness Equipment 
in Parks (S106)

A Preston 120 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

SC500
Trumpington Rec Outdoor 
Space (S106)

A Preston 46 0 1 1 (1) 0 
Capitalised costs of project delivery 
team

SC519
Wulfstan Way Art Project 
(S106)

N Black 0 0 2 2 (2) 0 
Project on programme for completion 
by the end of the Summer.

SC520
Community Olympic Public 
Art Commission (S106)

N Black 0 0 23 23 (23) 0 
Project on programme and within 
budget.

SC521
Creation of New Allotment 
Site

A Wilson 0 0 1 1 (1) 0 
Capitalised costs of project delivery 
team

SC544
Coleridge Recreation Ground 
Improvements (S106)

A Wilson 281 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget rephased to 2012/13 at 
January 2012 committee.

PR010
Environmental Improvements 
Programme

D Foley-Norman 200 0 0 0 0 0 
Budget now allocated to Area 
Committees

PR010a
Environmental Improvements 
Programme - North Area

D Foley-Norman 49 86 66 (20) 20 0 

PR010b
Environmental Improvements 
Programme - South Area

D Foley-Norman 83 113 1 (112) 112 0 

PR010c
Environmental Improvements 
Programme - West/Central 
Area

D Foley-Norman 85 125 18 (107) 107 0 

Due to the transfer to a new capital 
programme, the adoption process for 
new schemes was not complete until half 
way through the programme year. As 
such the completion of all schemes has 
not been possible before the end of the 
year. It is envisaged that the outstanding 
projects will be complete by the end of 
the Summer.

Page 207



Appendix D

Arts, Sport & Public Places Portfolio / Community Services Scrutiny Committee

Capital
Ref

Description Lead Officer
Original
Budget

Final
Budget

Outturn

Variance - 
Outturn

compared
to Final 
Budget

Re-phase
Spend

Over / 
(Under)
Spend

Variance Explanation / Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Budget 2011/12 - Outturn

PR010d
Environmental Improvements 
Programme - East Area

D Foley-Norman 97 267 208 (59) 59 0 

PR010di

Environmental Improvements 
Programme - 
Riverside/Abbey Road 
Junction

D Foley-Norman 0 307 282 (25) 25 0 Project complete

PR010j
Environmental Improvements 
Programme - Fitzroy/Burleigh 
Street

D Foley-Norman 0 87 0 (87) 87 0 

Remaining tree planting and 
replacement work is due to start 
imminently along with the remaining 
highway maintenance work by the 
County.

PR010k
Environmental Improvements 
Programme - Wulfstan Way 
Local Centre (S106)

A Preston 41 157 157 0 0 0 Project complete

3,419 2,585 1,905 (680) 708 28

Changes between original and final budgets may be made to reflect:

 - rephased capital spend from the previous financial year
 - rephased capital spend into future financial periods
 - approval of new capital programmes and projects

and are detailed and approved:

 - in the June committee cycle (outturn reporting and carry forward requests)
 - in September (as part of the Medium Term Strategy (MTS))
 - in the January committee cycle (as part of the budget setting report)

The above figures exclude:

 - schemes transferred to the Hold List in the Budget Setting Report 2012/13
 - schemes devolved to Area Committees in the Budget Setting Report 2012/13

Total for Arts & Recreation Portfolio

Page 208



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
&

 H
ea

lt
h

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
S

cr
u

ti
n

y 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

S
C

28
3

C
ity

 C
en

tr
e 

Y
ou

th
 V

en
ue

 (
S

10
6)

T
 W

oo
lla

m
s

10
0

0
0

0
0

0 

S
C

38
5 

E
ne

rg
y 

E
ffi

ci
en

cy
 P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
- 

M
ea

do
w

s
T

 W
oo

lla
m

s
0

6
5

(1
)

1
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 o
ng

oi
ng

. R
em

ai
ni

ng
 £

1k
 to

 b
e 

re
ph

as
ed

 to
 2

01
2/

13

S
C

44
0

K
in

g 
G

eo
rg

e 
V

th
 R

ec
 G

ro
un

d 
P

av
ili

on
 

R
ed

ev
el

op
m

en
t -

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 S
ch

em
e 

(S
10

6)
T

 W
oo

lla
m

s
0

0
1

1
(1

)
0 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 w

or
ks

 to
 b

e 
sp

ec
ifi

ed
 w

ith
 

T
ru

m
pi

ng
to

n 
R

es
id

en
ts

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n.

 
£1

k 
sp

en
t e

ar
lie

r 
th

an
 a

nt
ic

ip
at

ed
. 

B
ud

ge
t t

o 
be

 r
ep

ha
se

d 
to

 c
ov

er
 th

is
.

S
C

52
6

C
la

y 
F

ar
m

 C
om

m
un

ity
 C

en
tr

e 
- 

P
ha

se
 1

 (
S

10
6)

A
 C

ar
te

r
0

0
6

6
0

6 

P
R

02
5

N
ew

 T
ow

n 
C

om
m

un
ity

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
(S

10
6)

T
 W

oo
lla

m
s

12
4

10
8

(2
)

2
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 o
ng

oi
ng

. R
em

ai
ni

ng
 £

2k
 to

 b
e 

re
ph

as
ed

 to
 2

01
2/

13

P
R

02
6 

C
om

m
un

ity
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t G

ra
nt

s 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
(S

10
6)

T
 W

oo
lla

m
s

0
12

7
71

(5
6)

56
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 u
nd

er
w

ay
 b

ut
 fu

rt
he

r 
in

vo
ic

es
 

no
t e

xp
ec

te
d 

un
til

 2
01

2/
13

. R
ep

ha
se

 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 £
56

k 
to

 2
01

2/
13

S
C

35
1 

M
em

or
ia

l C
ho

ic
e

T
 L

aw
re

nc
e

0
5

5
0

0
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

ed

S
C

37
9 

M
er

cu
ry

 A
ba

te
m

en
t

T
 L

aw
re

nc
e

2,
00

5
1,

99
5

1,
68

3
(3

12
)

10
0

(2
12

)
P

ro
je

ct
 c

om
pl

et
e 

su
bj

ec
t t

o 
re

te
nt

io
n

S
C

51
3

C
re

m
at

or
y 

R
ef

ur
bi

sh
m

en
t

T
 L

aw
re

nc
e

0
20

6
20

6
0

0
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

ed

S
C

52
3

R
ef

ur
bi

sh
m

en
t o

f N
ew

m
ar

ke
t R

d 
C

em
et

er
y 

B
ui

ld
in

gs
T

 L
aw

re
nc

e
0

0
2

2
(2

)
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
to

 b
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 b

y 
en

d 
of

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
3

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

- 
B

er
ea

ve
m

en
t 

S
er

vi
ce

s

C
u

st
o

m
er

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

- 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t

Page 209



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
&

 H
ea

lt
h

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
S

cr
u

ti
n

y 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

S
C

50
3

C
C

T
V

 T
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

U
pg

ra
de

M
 B

ea
um

on
t

15
0

16
0

15
5

(5
)

0
(5

)
P

ro
je

ct
 c

om
pl

et
ed

 u
nd

er
 b

ud
ge

t a
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

of
 k

ee
n 

te
nd

er
in

g 
ex

er
ci

se

S
C

51
5

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t C
C

T
V

 c
am

er
as

M
 B

ea
um

on
t

0
70

43
(2

7)
0

(2
7)

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 u

nd
er

 b
ud

ge
t a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 k
ee

n 
te

nd
er

in
g 

ex
er

ci
se

P
R

00
6 

S
af

er
 C

ity
 P

ro
gr

am
m

e
L 

K
ilk

el
ly

17
17

13
(4

)
0

(4
)

2,
39

6
2,

59
6

2,
19

8
(3

98
)

15
6

(2
42

)
T

o
ta

l f
o

r 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
&

 H
ea

lt
h

 P
o

rt
fo

lio

C
u

st
o

m
er

 &
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

- 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 S

tr
at

eg
y

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

- 
C

C
T

V

Page 210



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
to

 F
in

al
 

B
u

d
g

et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

S
C

16
3

C
om

pu
ls

or
y 

P
ur

ch
as

e 
O

rd
er

s 
(C

P
O

s)
R

 L
or

d
40

0
0

0
0

0
0 

C
ur

re
nt

ly
 n

o 
pr

op
er

tie
s 

ar
e 

pr
io

rit
is

ed
 

fo
r 

C
P

O
 a

ct
io

n.
 R

ev
is

in
g 

po
lic

y 
an

d 
re

vi
ew

in
g 

lo
ng

 te
rm

 v
ac

an
ts

.

S
C

38
6

H
M

O
s 

- 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
O

rd
er

s
R

 L
or

d
50

0
0

0
0

0 

N
o 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
ar

e 
cu

rr
en

tly
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

fo
r 

ac
tio

n.
 B

as
is

 o
f p

ro
to

co
l a

gr
ee

d 
w

ith
 C

ity
 H

om
es

 w
ho

 w
ill

 m
an

ag
e 

pr
op

er
tie

s 
w

he
re

 a
ct

io
n 

is
 ta

ke
n

S
C

41
4

P
ro

pe
rt

y 
A

cc
re

di
ta

tio
n 

S
ch

em
e

J 
D

ic
ks

65
72

72
0

0
0 

51
5

72
72

0
0

0

P
R

00
1

H
ou

si
ng

 C
ap

ita
l I

nv
es

tm
en

t 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e
J 

H
ov

el
ls

13
,9

30
19

,3
21

12
,7

44
(6

,5
77

)
6,

44
6

(1
31

)
S

ee
 A

pp
en

di
x 

E
 a

nd
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
no

te
s 

in
 r

es
pe

ct
 o

f t
he

 H
ou

si
ng

 
C

ap
ita

l I
nv

es
tm

en
t P

la
n

13
,9

30
19

,3
21

12
,7

44
(6

,5
77

)
6,

44
6

(1
31

)

14
,4

45
19

,3
93

12
,8

16
(6

,5
77

)
6,

44
6

(1
31

)

C
ha

ng
es

 b
et

w
ee

n 
or

ig
in

al
 a

nd
 fi

na
l b

ud
ge

ts
 m

ay
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
:

 -
 r

ep
ha

se
d 

ca
pi

ta
l s

pe
nd

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
 -

 r
ep

ha
se

d 
ca

pi
ta

l s
pe

nd
 in

to
 fu

tu
re

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
ds

 -
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f n
ew

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
gr

am
m

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
je

ct
s

an
d 

ar
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

:

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ju
ne

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 c

yc
le

 (
ou

ttu
rn

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
an

d 
ca

rr
y 

fo
rw

ar
d 

re
qu

es
ts

)
 -

 in
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 
(a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 M
ed

iu
m

 T
er

m
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

(M
T

S
))

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 c

yc
le

 (
as

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 b

ud
ge

t s
et

tin
g 

re
po

rt
)

T
o

ta
l f

o
r 

H
o

u
si

n
g

H
o

u
si

n
g

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
S

cr
u

ti
n

y 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

T
o

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
s

T
o

ta
l P

ro
g

ra
m

m
es

Page 211



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l a
n

d
 W

as
te

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
P

o
rt

fo
lio

 / 
E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

t 
S

cr
u

ti
n

y 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

C
ap

it
al

 R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ (

U
n

d
er

) 
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

P
R

01
6

P
ub

lic
 C

on
ve

ni
en

ce
s

B
 C

ar
te

r
35

0
6

14
8

(8
)

0 

S
ilv

er
 S

tr
ee

t r
ef

ur
bi

sh
m

en
t p

ro
je

ct
 is

 u
nd

er
w

ay
 a

nd
 in

 
its

 e
ar

ly
 s

ta
ge

s.
 F

is
he

r 
S

qu
ar

e 
to

ile
t r

ef
ur

bi
sh

m
en

t i
s 

on
 h

ol
d 

un
til

 th
e 

Li
on

 Y
ar

d 
re

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t a

nd
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 p

la
nn

in
g 

is
su

es
 a

re
 r

es
ol

ve
d.

P
R

01
7

V
eh

ic
le

 R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e
D

 C
ox

61
2

45
0

21
(4

29
)

42
9

0 

T
he

 u
nd

er
sp

en
d 

is
 d

ue
 to

 th
e 

de
la

y 
w

ith
 v

eh
ic

le
 

or
de

rs
. I

t i
s 

as
ke

d 
th

at
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

 is
 r

ep
ha

se
d 

to
 

20
12

/1
3.

 T
hi

s 
in

cl
ud

es
 £

16
0K

 fo
r 

th
e 

re
pl

ac
em

en
t o

f a
 

R
C

V
 b

ut
 th

is
 m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
us

ed
 to

 d
ue

 to
 th

e 
ro

ut
e 

op
tim

is
at

io
n 

pr
oj

ec
t.

S
C

42
3

R
ec

yc
lin

g 
B

in
s 

fo
r 

F
la

ts
J 

R
ob

er
ts

on
75

85
37

(4
8)

48
0 

W
or

k 
on

 c
ov

er
in

g 
th

e 
re

m
ai

nd
er

 o
f f

la
ts

 w
ith

ou
t 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
is

 a
lm

os
t c

om
pl

et
e.

 It
 is

 a
sk

ed
 th

at
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

 is
 r

ep
ha

se
d 

to
 2

01
2/

13
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 c
on

ve
rt

 fl
at

s 
w

ith
 s

eg
re

ga
te

d 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

to
 c

om
m

in
gl

ed
 (

ie
 b

lu
e 

bi
ns

).
 

S
C

46
6

A
ir 

M
on

ito
rin

g 
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
J 

D
ic

ks
12

0
85

71
(1

4)
0

(1
4)

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

e.
 B

ud
ge

t g
re

at
er

 th
an

 r
eq

ui
re

d.

S
C

51
1

R
ou

te
 O

pt
im

is
at

io
n 

S
of

tw
ar

e
C

 H
ip

w
oo

d
0

8
8

0
0

0 

1,
15

7
63

4
15

1
(4

83
)

46
9

(1
4)

C
ha

ng
es

 b
et

w
ee

n 
or

ig
in

al
 a

nd
 fi

na
l b

ud
ge

ts
 m

ay
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
:

 -
 r

ep
ha

se
d 

ca
pi

ta
l s

pe
nd

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
 -

 r
ep

ha
se

d 
ca

pi
ta

l s
pe

nd
 in

to
 fu

tu
re

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
ds

 -
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f n
ew

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
gr

am
m

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
je

ct
s

an
d 

ar
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

:

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ju
ne

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 c

yc
le

 (
ou

ttu
rn

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
an

d 
ca

rr
y 

fo
rw

ar
d 

re
qu

es
ts

)
 -

 in
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 
(a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 M
ed

iu
m

 T
er

m
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

(M
T

S
))

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 c

yc
le

 (
as

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 b

ud
ge

t s
et

tin
g 

re
po

rt
)

T
o

ta
l f

o
r 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l a
n

d
 W

as
te

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
P

o
rt

fo
lio

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

Page 212



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

S
C

36
6

G
re

en
 P

ar
ki

ng
 B

ay
s

S
 C

le
ar

y
3

0
2

2
(2

)
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

e.
S

C
36

8
G

IS
 P

ha
se

 2
 &

 3
P

 B
ou

ch
er

0
1

0
(1

)
0

(1
)

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

e.

S
C

41
6

U
N

Ifo
rm

 e
-c

on
su

lte
e 

A
cc

es
s 

M
od

ul
e

P
 B

ou
ch

er
0

2
0

(2
)

2
0 

A
w

ai
tin

g 
fin

al
 in

vo
ic

e 
fo

r 
P

ha
se

 1
 -

 
su

pp
lie

r 
ha

s 
be

en
 c

ha
se

d.
 P

ha
se

 2
 to

 
be

 p
ro

gr
am

m
ed

, a
w

ai
tin

g 
ID

O
X

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t.

S
C

41
7

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f U

N
Ifo

rm
 

S
ys

te
m

P
 B

ou
ch

er
12

0
0

0
0

0 
B

ud
ge

t r
ep

ha
se

d 
to

 2
01

2/
13

 a
t J

an
ua

ry
 

20
12

 c
om

m
itt

ee
.

S
C

42
0

C
or

ro
si

on
 M

on
ito

rin
g 

S
ys

te
m

 
at

 P
ar

k 
S

tr
ee

t
S

 C
le

ar
y

0
1

1
0

0
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

e.
 R

es
ul

ts
 o

f m
on

ito
rin

g 
to

 b
e 

de
liv

er
ed

 o
ve

r 
ne

xt
 9

 m
on

th
s.

S
C

43
9

LE
D

 L
ig

ht
in

g 
- 

G
ra

nd
 A

rc
ad

e 
A

nn
ex

 C
ar

 P
ar

k
S

 C
le

ar
y

12
0

11
5

10
0

(1
5)

15
0 

Li
gh

ts
 in

st
al

le
d,

 a
w

ai
tin

g 
fin

al
 in

vo
ic

es
 

fr
om

 c
on

tr
ac

to
rs

.

S
C

44
5

M
on

ito
rs

 fo
r 

us
e 

w
ith

 
D

oc
um

en
t M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

ys
te

m
P

 B
ou

ch
er

0
6

4
(2

)
2

0 
P

ro
je

ct
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

en
d 

of
 M

ay
 2

01
2.

S
C

44
8

R
eb

ui
ld

 G
ra

fto
n 

W
es

t C
ar

 
P

ar
k 

W
al

l a
t S

al
m

on
 L

an
e

S
 C

le
ar

y
10

0
77

94
17

0
17

 
P

ro
je

ct
 c

om
pl

et
e.

S
C

44
9

H
ol

y 
T

rin
ity

 W
ar

 M
em

or
ia

l 
S

he
lte

r
G R

ic
ha

rd
so

n
0

23
12

(1
1)

11
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 h
as

 c
om

m
en

ce
d.

  C
on

tr
ac

to
rs

 
on

 s
ite

.  
W

or
ks

 w
ill

 ta
ke

 tw
el

ve
 w

ee
ks

.
P

ro
je

ct
 c

om
pl

et
io

n 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

to
 n

ex
t 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r.

S
C

50
5

La
nd

 E
xp

lo
re

r 
S

of
tw

ar
e

G R
ic

ha
rd

so
n

10
0

0
0

0
0 

B
ud

ge
t r

ep
ha

se
d 

to
 2

01
2/

13
 a

t J
an

ua
ry

 
20

12
 c

om
m

itt
ee

.

S
C

50
6

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t G
ra

nd
 A

rc
ad

e 
C

ar
 P

ar
k 

P
ay

 o
n 

F
oo

t 
M

ac
hi

ne
s

S
 C

le
ar

y
0

0
3

3
(3

)
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

m
en

ce
d 

an
d 

on
 s

ch
ed

ul
e.

S
C

51
0

C
hi

p 
&

 P
in

 U
pg

ra
de

 in
 C

ar
 

P
ar

ks
S

 C
le

ar
y

40
77

80
3

0
3 

P
ro

je
ct

 c
om

pl
et

e.

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

u
st

ai
n

ab
le

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

Page 213



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

u
st

ai
n

ab
le

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

S
C

51
6

R
el

oc
at

io
n 

G
ra

nd
 A

rc
ad

e 
C

ar
 

P
ar

k 
C

on
tr

ol
 R

oo
m

S
 C

le
ar

y
0

70
25

(4
5)

45
0 

P
ro

je
ct

 d
ue

 to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

Ju
ne

 
20

12
.

28
5

37
2

32
1

(5
1)

70
19

P
R

00
7

C
yc

le
w

ay
s

A
 P

re
st

on
24

0
7

7
0

0 

A
 P

ro
je

ct
 A

pp
ra

is
al

 w
ill

 b
e 

su
bm

itt
ed

 to
 

A
ss

et
 M

an
ag

em
en

t G
ro

up
 (

A
M

G
) 

an
d 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
t S

cr
ut

in
y 

C
om

m
itt

ee
 fo

r 
ap

pr
ov

al
 in

 J
un

e 
to

 c
om

m
en

ce
 th

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
D

ow
nh

am
s 

La
ne

 
an

d 
P

er
ne

 R
d/

R
ad

eg
un

d 
R

oa
d 

sc
he

m
es

, t
ot

al
lin

g 
£1

40
k.

P
R

01
4

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l S
af

et
y 

F
un

d
D

 F
ol

ey
-

N
or

m
an

0
5

0
(5

)
5

0 

£5
k 

to
 b

e 
us

ed
 fo

r 
R

ac
kh

am
 C

lo
se

 
P

ro
je

ct
 in

 2
01

2/
13

. F
ur

th
er

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
su

gg
es

te
d 

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
hi

s 
ye

ar
s 

E
IP

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
ar

e 
el

ig
ib

le
 fo

r 
fu

nd
in

g 
sh

ou
ld

 th
ey

 b
e 

ad
op

te
d 

by
 th

e 
A

re
a 

C
om

m
itt

ee
 in

 q
ue

st
io

n.

P
R

01
8 

B
us

 S
he

lte
rs

A
 P

re
st

on
22

1
64

4
(6

0)
60

0 

C
ur

re
nt

 r
es

ou
rc

e 
le

ve
ls

 m
ea

n 
th

at
 th

is
 

pr
oj

ec
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

de
la

ye
d 

an
d 

w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

ab
le

 to
 s

ta
rt

 u
nt

il 
th

e 
P

ro
je

ct
 D

el
iv

er
y 

te
am

 is
 fu

lly
 r

es
ou

rc
ed

. C
om

pl
et

io
n 

th
er

ef
or

e 
no

w
 e

nv
is

ag
ed

 b
y 

A
pr

il 
20

13
.

P
R

01
9

C
ar

 P
ar

ks
 In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 a
nd

 
E

qu
ip

m
en

t R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e
S

 C
le

ar
y

72
2

0
0

0
0

0 
B

ud
ge

t r
ep

ha
se

d 
to

 2
01

2/
13

 a
t J

an
ua

ry
 

20
12

 c
om

m
itt

ee
.

1,
18

3
76

11
(6

5)
65

0

T
o

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
s

T
o

ta
l P

ro
g

ra
m

m
es

Page 214



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

O
u

tt
u

rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

u
st

ai
n

ab
le

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

1,
46

8
44

8
33

2
(1

16
)

13
5

19

C
ha

ng
es

 b
et

w
ee

n 
or

ig
in

al
 a

nd
 fi

na
l b

ud
ge

ts
 m

ay
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
:

 -
 r

ep
ha

se
d 

ca
pi

ta
l s

pe
nd

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
 -

 r
ep

ha
se

d 
ca

pi
ta

l s
pe

nd
 in

to
 fu

tu
re

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
ds

 -
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f n
ew

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
gr

am
m

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
je

ct
s

an
d 

ar
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

:

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ju
ne

 c
om

m
itt

ee
 c

yc
le

 (
ou

ttu
rn

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
an

d 
ca

rr
y 

fo
rw

ar
d 

re
qu

es
ts

)
 -

 in
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 
(a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

 M
ed

iu
m

 T
er

m
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

(M
T

S
))

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

co
m

m
itt

ee
 c

yc
le

 (
as

 p
ar

t o
f t

he
 b

ud
ge

t s
et

tin
g 

re
po

rt
)

T
o

ta
l f

o
r 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

u
st

ai
n

ab
le

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

Page 215



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

S
C

36
1

D
is

ab
le

d 
A

cc
es

s 
an

d 
F

ac
ili

tie
s 

- 
G

ui
ld

ha
ll 

H
al

ls
S

 B
ag

na
ll

80
0

0
0

0
0

B
ud

ge
t r

e-
ph

as
ed

 to
 th

e 
20

12
/1

3 
fin

an
ci

al
 

ye
ar

.

S
C

33
5

C
us

to
m

er
 A

cc
es

s 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

- 
IT

 W
or

ks
tr

ea
m

C
 B

ol
to

n
0

12
2

23
(9

9)
76

(2
3)

C
ar

ry
 fo

rw
ar

d 
of

 b
ud

ge
t o

f £
76

k 
re

qu
ire

d 
fo

r 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
th

at
 w

ill
 b

e 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

20
12

/1
3 

fin
an

ci
al

 
ye

ar
. A

ny
 r

em
ai

ni
ng

 fu
nd

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
gi

ve
n 

ba
ck

 to
 C

A
S

 b
us

in
es

s 
ca

se
 a

t t
he

 e
nd

 o
f 

th
e 

20
12

/1
3 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r.

S
C

50
8

E
-B

en
ef

its
A

 C
ol

e
0

17
12

(5
)

5
0

C
ar

ry
 fo

rw
ar

d 
of

 £
5k

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
to

 m
ee

t 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

je
ct

 m
an

ag
em

en
t f

ee
s.

S
C

51
7

R
e-

Li
ne

 F
ue

l T
an

ks
D

 C
ox

0
30

22
(8

)
0

(8
)

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

19
2

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t L
an

d 
on

 th
e 

N
or

th
 S

id
e 

of
 K

in
gs

 H
ed

ge
s 

R
oa

d
P

 D
og

ge
tt

36
0

17
8

38
(1

40
)

14
0

0

T
he

 v
ar

ia
nc

e 
re

la
te

s 
to

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 
pr

of
ili

ng
 d

iff
er

en
ce

s 
fr

om
 th

e 
m

an
ag

in
g 

ag
en

t's
 o

rig
in

al
 e

st
im

at
es

 fo
r 

th
e 

20
11

/1
2 

fin
an

ci
al

 y
ea

r.
  B

ud
ge

t o
f £

14
0k

 n
ee

ds
 to

 
be

 r
e-

ph
as

ed
 to

 th
e 

20
14

/1
5 

fin
an

ci
al

 
ye

ar
 to

 c
or

re
sp

on
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

m
an

ag
in

g 
ag

en
t's

 r
ev

is
ed

 e
st

im
at

es
.

S
C

22
1b

Li
on

 Y
ar

d 
- 

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

 
W

or
ks

 -
 P

ha
se

 2
P

 D
og

ge
tt

63
8

80
56

(2
4)

24
0

T
he

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
co

st
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

sc
he

m
e 

ar
e 

lik
el

y 
to

 b
e 

in
cu

rr
ed

 in
 th

e 
20

12
/1

3 
fin

an
ci

al
 y

ea
r.

  B
ud

ge
t o

f £
24

k 
ne

ed
s 

to
 

be
 r

e-
ph

as
ed

 to
 th

e 
20

12
/1

3 
fin

an
ci

al
 

ye
ar

 fo
r 

fu
tu

re
 s

ch
em

e 
co

st
s.

S
C

39
1

La
 M

im
os

a 
P

un
tin

g 
S

ta
tio

n
P

 D
og

ge
tt

10
10

0
(1

0)
10

0
In

ve
st

ig
at

in
g 

po
ss

ib
le

 m
at

ch
 fu

nd
in

g 
by

 
pu

nt
 o

pe
ra

to
rs

. 
S

C
45

8
C

ap
ita

 R
e-

Li
ce

nc
e

J 
Ja

m
es

0
1

1
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

50
9

E
le

ct
ric

 C
ou

rie
r 

V
an

J 
Ja

m
es

14
0

0
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

Page 216



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

S
C

42
7

O
ra

cl
e 

F
in

an
ci

al
s 

S
er

ve
r

J 
M

in
ns

0
50

44
(6

)
6

0

T
he

 n
ew

 s
er

ve
r 

w
as

 c
om

m
is

si
on

ed
 

du
rin

g 
M

ay
 a

nd
 th

e 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 b
ud

ge
t w

ill
 

be
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

to
 m

ee
t S

E
R

C
O

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

su
pp

or
t c

ha
rg

es
.

C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

of
 th

e 
ne

w
 s

er
ve

r 
w

as
 

de
la

ye
d 

so
 a

s 
to

 h
av

e 
m

in
im

um
 im

pa
ct

 
on

 2
01

1/
12

 a
cc

ou
nt

s 
cl

os
ur

e 
w

or
k.

S
C

32
9

C
or

po
ra

te
 D

oc
um

en
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t (

D
IP

 &
 E

D
R

M
)

J 
N

ig
ht

in
ga

le
35

8
10

4
19

(8
5)

85
0

T
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

of
 w

or
k 

is
 a

pp
ro

ac
hi

ng
 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 it

s 
fir

st
 m

aj
or

 p
ha

se
, w

ith
 th

e 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
of

 c
us

to
m

er
 a

cc
es

s 
re

la
te

d 
se

rv
ic

es
.  

It 
ha

d 
al

w
ay

s 
be

en
 p

la
nn

ed
 to

 
re

-e
xa

m
in

e 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t t
im

et
ab

le
 a

t t
hi

s 
tim

e,
 a

nd
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

th
e 

pr
io

rit
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r 

th
e 

ne
xt

 p
ha

se
s.

  W
or

k 
on

 
th

e 
re

m
ai

nd
er

 o
f t

he
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
is

 
th

er
ef

or
e 

be
in

g 
re

-p
la

nn
ed

, a
nd

 w
ill

 le
ad

 
to

 s
pe

nd
 la

te
r 

in
 th

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
th

an
 

or
ig

in
al

ly
 fo

re
ca

st
.

S
C

42
9

T
el

ep
ho

ny
 S

ys
te

m
 U

pg
ra

de
J 

N
ig

ht
in

ga
le

20
23

23
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

33
8

C
us

to
m

er
 A

cc
es

s 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

- 
W

eb
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

A
 P

er
ry

12
0

0
0

0
0

S
ch

em
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

S
C

31
2

A
ut

om
at

ed
 E

ne
rg

y 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

S
ys

te
m

J 
S

to
ck

er
23

23
0

(2
3)

23
0

Is
su

es
 to

 b
e 

re
so

lv
ed

 r
eg

ar
di

ng
 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l o

bl
ig

at
io

ns
 fo

r 
da

ta
 c

ol
le

ct
io

n 
an

d 
m

on
ito

rin
g.

S
C

50
7

V
is

it 
C

am
br

id
ge

 W
eb

si
te

E
 T

ho
rn

to
n

30
30

20
(1

0)
10

0
P

ro
je

ct
 w

el
l u

nd
er

w
ay

 a
nd

 o
n 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 b
y 

en
d 

M
ay

/e
ar

ly
 J

un
e.

 

1,
54

5
66

8
25

8
(4

10
)

37
9

(3
1)

T
o

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
s

Page 217



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

C
ap

it
al

R
ef

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
L

ea
d

 O
ff

ic
er

O
ri

g
in

al
B

u
d

g
et

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

V
ar

ia
n

ce
 -

 
O

u
tt

u
rn

co
m

p
ar

ed
 t

o
 

F
in

al
 B

u
d

g
et

R
e-

p
h

as
e

S
p

en
d

O
ve

r 
/ 

(U
n

d
er

)
S

p
en

d
V

ar
ia

n
ce

 E
xp

la
n

at
io

n
 / 

C
o

m
m

en
ts

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio
 / 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 S
cr

u
ti

n
y 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e

C
ap

it
al

 B
u

d
g

et
 2

01
1/

12
 -

 O
u

tt
u

rn

P
R

02
0

IC
T

 In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

J 
N

ig
ht

in
ga

le
64

2
87

9
37

5
(5

04
)

50
4

0

T
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

is
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

in
pu

t 
fr

om
 a

 r
an

ge
 o

f s
up

pl
ie

rs
.  

T
ec

hn
ic

al
 

de
la

ys
 a

nd
 r

es
ou

rc
in

g 
is

su
es

 h
av

e 
ca

us
ed

 p
ar

ts
 o

f t
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

of
 w

or
k 

to
 

sl
ip

.  
W

or
k 

is
 u

nd
er

w
ay

 o
n 

al
l 

co
m

po
ne

nt
s.

P
R

02
3

A
dm

in
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 A
ss

et
 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

m
e

J 
S

to
ck

er
68

58
35

(2
3)

23
0

T
he

 v
ar

ia
nc

e 
is

 d
ue

 to
 m

in
or

 ti
m

in
g 

di
ffe

re
nc

es
 to

 th
e 

w
or

k 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e.

P
R

02
4

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

pe
rt

ie
s 

A
ss

et
 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

m
e

J 
S

to
ck

er
30

6
63

11
(5

2)
52

0
T

he
 v

ar
ia

nc
e 

is
 d

ue
 to

 ti
m

in
g 

di
ffe

re
nc

es
 

to
 th

e 
w

or
k 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e.

P
R

00
3

C
ity

 C
en

tr
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

E
 T

ho
rn

to
n

20
20

11
(9

)
0

(9
)

U
nd

er
sp

en
d 

du
e 

to
 tw

o 
po

te
nt

ia
l 

sc
he

m
es

 n
ot

 c
om

in
g 

fo
rw

ar
d.

  T
he

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
 to

 b
e 

pr
om

ot
ed

 
am

on
gs

t t
he

 b
us

in
es

s 
co

m
m

un
ity

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

Lo
ve

 C
am

br
id

ge
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
.

1,
03

6
1,

02
0

43
2

(5
88

)
57

9
(9

)

2,
58

1
1,

68
8

69
0

(9
98

)
95

8
(4

0)

C
ha

ng
es

 b
et

w
ee

n 
or

ig
in

al
 a

nd
 fi

na
l b

ud
ge

ts
 m

ay
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
:

 -
 r

e-
ph

as
ed

 c
ap

ita
l s

pe
nd

 fr
om

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r
 -

 r
e-

ph
as

ed
 c

ap
ita

l s
pe

nd
 in

to
 fu

tu
re

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

io
ds

 -
 a

pp
ro

va
l o

f n
ew

 c
ap

ita
l p

ro
gr

am
m

es
 a

nd
 p

ro
je

ct
s

an
d 

ar
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

:

 -
 in

 th
e 

Ju
ne

/J
ul

y 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 c
yc

le
 (

ou
ttu

rn
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

an
d 

ca
rr

y 
fo

rw
ar

d 
re

qu
es

ts
)

 -
 in

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

(a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 M

ed
iu

m
 T

er
m

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
(M

T
S

))
 -

 in
 th

e 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
co

m
m

itt
ee

 c
yc

le
 (

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 b
ud

ge
t s

et
tin

g 
re

po
rt

)

T
o

ta
l f

o
r 

C
u

st
o

m
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
&

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 P
o

rt
fo

lio

T
o

ta
l P

ro
g

ra
m

m
es

Page 218



APPENDIX E

Original
Budget

Current
Budget  Outturn Variance

Re-phase
Spend Notes 2012/13

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

General Fund Housing Capital Spend

Investment in Affordable Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other General Fund Housing 2,977 3,557 2,397 (1,160) 1,074 1 1,876

Total General Fund Housing Capital Spend 2,977 3,557 2,397 (1,160) 1,074 1,876

HRA Capital Spend

Decent Homes Programme 4,907 5,806 4,337 (1,469) 1,144 2 10,198
Other Spend on HRA Stock 3,029 3,550 2,003 (1,547) 1,980 3 5,190
HRA New Build 1,047 1,771 1,103 (668) 663 4 5,751
Cambridge Standard Works 200 455 140 (315) 306 5 506
Sheltered Housing Capital Investment 1,440 3,780 2,557 (1,223) 1,226 6 4,450
Other HRA Capital Spend 330 402 207 (195) 53 7 952

Total HRA Capital Spend 10,953 15,764 10,347 (5,417) 5,372 27,047

Total Housing Capital Spend 13,930 19,321 12,744 (6,577) 6,446 28,923

Housing Capital Resources

Right to Buy Receipts (327) (344) (488) (144) 0 8 0
Other Capital Receipts (Land and Dwellings) 0 0 (37) (37) 0 8 0
MRA / MRR (5,119) (5,119) (5,119) 0 0 (7,673)
Client Contributions 0 0 (63) (63) 0 9 0
Direct Revenue Financing of Capital (2,021) (2,972) (1,823) 1,149 (1,149) 10 (10,482)
Other Capital Resources (Grants / Shared Ownership / 
Loan Repayments)

(562) (611) (437) 174 0 11 (3,769)

Section 106 (Affordable Housing) (331) (331) (158) 173 (68) 12 (68)
Prudential Borrowing 0 (283) (283) 0 0 0

Total Housing Capital Resources (8,360) (9,660) (8,408) 1,252 (1,217) (21,992)

Net (Surplus) / Deficit of Resources 5,570 9,661 4,336 (5,325) 6,931

Capital Balances b/f (13,794) (13,794) (13,794) (9,877)

Use of / (Contribution to) Balances in Year 5,570 9,661 4,336 (5,325) 6,931

Ear-Marked for Future Investment in HRA stock 0 0 0 0 0

Ear-Marked for Future Investment in Affordable Housing (903) (903) (419) 484 13 (484)

Capital resources remaining to fund future Housing 
Investment Programme

(9,127) (5,036) (9,877) (4,841) (3,430)

2011/12 Housing Capital Investment Plan - HRA & GF

Page 219



Appendix E Notes

Note
1

2

3

4

5

Notes to the Housing Capital Investment Plan

Reason for Variance

Re-phasing is requested in relation to garage improvement works (£16,000), 
tenants incentive schemes (£7,000), hard surfacing works on HRA land 
(£62,000), hard surfacing works for recycling areas (£198,000), works to 
communal flooring (£176,000), works to balconies (£460,000), works to the 
laundry at Hanover Court (£3,000), asbestos removal (£60,000), lifts (£13,000) 
and disabled adaptations (£46,000), where works had begun but not been 
completed by 31st March 2012 due to implementation of a new contractor and a 
change in contract year. Resources of £939,000 are also required to be re-
phased in respect of fire safety works, where a large proportion of the works will 
be carried out by the secondary planned maintenance contractor.

Overspending predominantly in kitchens, bathrooms and heating installations 
due to the work package given to the new planned maintenance contractor for 
the first year of the contract from July 2011. Overspending was more than offset 
by underspending in other areas of the decent homes programme, where re-
phasing of resources is required to allow completion the annual programme to 
July 2012, which currently spans two financial years. This includes re-phasing in 
respect of PVCU (£33,000), re-wiring (£47,000), re-roofing works (£144,000), 
roof structures (£80,000), door (£163,000) wall finishes (£447,000), energy works 
(£8,000), damp works (£4,000), sulphate works (£102,000) and health and safety 
standard works (£116,000).

Resources of £554,000 are requested to be re-phased into 2012/13 in respect of 
the project to re-develop the Seymour Court site, where work was delayed while 
vacant possession of the site was achieved. Resources of £114,000 are 
requested to be carried forward in respect of the redevelopment of the Roman 
Court site, where preliminary works and discussions with a registered provider 
are progressing well. Re-phasing of the final fees and retention sums due in 
respect of the new build dwellings in Church End and Teversham Drift is also 
required, with £16,000 and £4,000 required respectively. The above is partially 
offset by the authority incurring up front costs in respect of Latimer Close, where 
£25,000 of resource was required earlier than profiled, with less now needed in 
2012/13.

The underspending of £1,160,000 is a combination of lower demand than 
anticipated in respect of Disabled Facilities Grants and Private Sector Housing 
Grants and Loans (£66,000), no requirement for use of the funding to tackle unfit 
housing in the private sector and underspending against the profile to date for 
the creation of the Assessment Centre on East Road (£1,074,000)
Work to create the Assessment Centre is now nearing completion, with a request 
to rephase £1,074,000 of resource into 2012/13, to meet a revised anticipated 
practical completion date of June 2012. 

Approval was given for the 2010/11 and 2011/12 Cambridge Standard 
allocations to be spent on a variety of environmental and parking projects across 
the city. Some of these projects are yet to be completed and resources of 
£306,000 are requested to be carried forward into 2012/13 to allow this to take 
place.

Page 220



6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13 The reduced level of resource ear-marked for future investment in affordable 
housing remains committed to meet the cost of the redevelopment of the 
Seymour Court / Street site to deliver 20 units of additional affordable housing. 
The current resource is anticipated to be fully utilised by the completion of this 
project.

Due to slippage in the housing capital plan in 2011/12, the use of revenue 
funding for capital purposes was significantly less than anticipated. A request to 
increase the use of revenue funding of capital expenditure in 2012/13 by the 
£1,149,000 not required in 2011/12, will ensure that there is sufficient funding to 
meet the rephased expenditure requested above.

Due to the need to repay an element of the interest relating to a developer 
contribution during 2011/12, funding available to be re-phased into 2012/13 will 
be less than anticipated, with £68,000 anticipated to be used towards the cost of 
the Seymour Court development, where the scheme has been delayed while 
vacant possession of the site was achieved.

Income was due from leaseholders in 2011/12 in relation to their share of the 
cost of major improvements undertaken as part of the decent homes programme 
(£28,000) and was also received from private residents in relation to 
contributions towards, or repayments of, private sector housing repair grants 
(£33,000). Other small sums of unanticipated income totalling £2,000 were also 
received in year.

The authority was able to retain less resource in respect of shared ownership 
sales than anticipated in 2011/12, with both staircasing payments (sales of 
additional property shares) and the outright sale of the balance of any share 
owned by the Council to the resident, being required to be paid to CLG as part of 
the capital receipts pooling arrangements.

Capital receipts from right to buy sales were higher than anticipated, with 12 
properties sold during 2011/12. Unanticipated receipts of £37,000 were also 
received, in respect of the granting of an easement over housing land.

Capital resources of £38,000, identified to meet the costs of upgrading the 
hardware and software that deploys the Orchard Housing Management 
Information System to pc's and the server associated with the reporting software 
that operates alongside, were not fully spent in 2011/12, with a requirement to re-
phase £21,000 into 2012/13 to complete both projects.
Resources of £32,000 are also requested to be rephased to complete the work 
to convert ECCHO House, an ex-estate office which has been let for many years 
generating minimal return, into a dwelling that can be let within the HRA as an 
affordable housing unit.

Re-phasing of £508,000 in respect of the refurbishment of Brandon Court is 
requested to allow completion of the scheme in early 2012/13. The remaining 
allocation for upgrading the emergency alarm systems in sheltered schemes 
(£96,000) and the final sum for residual works to Talbot House (£4,000) are also 
requested to be carried forward into 2012/13. Initial funding in respect of the 
refurbishment of Ditchburn Place, profiled to be spent in 2011/12, is now 
required to be re-phased in part (£618,000) into 2012/13. This will allow an 
appropriate decision to be made in respect of the refurbishment of the scheme 
following a period of planning and option appraisal, taking into consideration any 
potential alternative use for the site if required. 

Page 221



Page 222

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy:  
Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Director of Resources 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9 July 2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT RESOURCE REVIEW – BUSINESS RATES 
RETENTION POOLING OPTIONS

Key decision 

1. Executive summary

One of the outcomes of the Local Government Resource Review has 
been proposals for the reform of the current system of business rates, 
with an element of business rates collected locally being retained by local 
authorities.

Following consultation, the Government published its plans for a scheme 
of business rates retention in December 2011; with the scheme 
scheduled to come into force from 1 April 2013. 

As part of this reform the Government has included an option for 
authorities to come together to form ‘pools’ .  This was the subject of a 
‘Pooling Prospectus’, issued by DCLG in May 2012.  This requires initial 
expressions of interest to be submitted to DCLG by 27 July 2012, 
although final confirmation will not be required until later in the year. 

This paper outlines the potential implications of pooling, based on the 
information available to date, and whether being part of a countywide 
pool could be beneficial to the City Council.  

2. Recommendations

The Executive Councillor is recommended: 

 ! To confirm that the City will join with other Cambridgeshire 
authorities in submitting an expression of interest to DCLG by 27 
July 2012. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 20

Page 223



Report Page No: 2 

 ! To instruct officers, in conjunction with other authorities, to work up 
arrangements for governance, transparency, investment and 
distribution of revenues and dissolution of a Cambridgeshire pool – 
enabling a final decision on whether to take forward a pooling 
arrangement in time for the Government’s November 2012 
deadline.  

3. Background

Local Government Resource Review and Business Rates

Business Rates retention was one of the key proposals resulting from the 
Government’s Local Government Resource Review which was 
considered as part of the February 2012 Budget-Setting Report (Section 
3).

On 18 July 2011, CLG published proposals for Business Rates retention, 
as part of the Local Government Resource Review, for consultation.  This 
was followed by a series of eight technical papers, published on 19 
August 2011, which provided further detail.  The Government’s response 
to the consultation was published on 19 December 2011. 

This has been confirmed as one of the features of the Local Government 
Finance Bill, currently going through Parliament, i.e. the retention of a 
proportion of the business rates revenue generated in a local area by the 
relevant local authorities. 

Business Rates retention is intended to provide incentives for local 
authorities to drive economic growth, as the authorities will be able to 
retain a share of any growth that is generated in Business Rates revenue 
in their areas, as opposed to the current system where all Business 
Rates revenues go to central Government for distribution. 

The proposals do not include any changes to the system of business 
rates, such that businesses will not see any change to the way that the 
rates are set or how they pay. Rate-setting powers will remain under 
Central Government control and the revaluation process will remain 
unchanged.

Under the proposals the overall level of funding to each authority from 
Central Government for 2013/14 will reflect the amount which would have 
been receivable from Formula Grant (i.e. grant and share of redistributed 
business rates) had there been no change to the system.

Page 224



Report Page No: 3 

This is achieved by first splitting the business rates collected in each 
‘collection authority’ (in Cambridgeshire the District Councils, such as the 
City) in the following proportions: 

 ! 50% - to Central Government 
 ! 10% - to the County Council 
 ! 1.25% - to the Fire Authority 
 ! 38.75% - retained by the District (the District’s Business 

Rates Baseline’) 

The amount represented by the 38.75% to be retained is then compared 
against the authority’s ‘Spending Baseline’ (i.e. the level of support that 
the Government has determined that authority should receive at the 
transition point).  If the Business Rates Baseline is greater than the 
Spending Baseline then the difference will have to be paid to the Central 
Government as a ‘Tariff’.  Conversely, if the Spending Baseline is higher 
then the Government will pay the authority the difference through a ‘Top 
Up’ payment.  The Top Ups and Tariffs will automatically increase for 
inflation.  This effectively gives Top Up authorities a guaranteed increase 
on part of their resources, but means that a Tariff authority would 
effectively face a fall in resources if the business rate base falls (as the 
rate poundage is set to rise by the level of inflation).  

Authorities would then be able to keep part of any increase in growth in 
the business rates base, going forward.  Conversely, they would face a 
fall in resources if the business rate base declines. 

The system includes a ‘Levy’ on “disproportionate growth” which will be 
used to provide a safety net for those authorities experiencing little or 
negative growth, and allow the Treasury to top-slice business rates 
income.

The rate of the Levy is defined as: 

   1 – (Spending Baseline / Business Rates Baseline) 

This means that instead of keeping a 38.75% share of all growth in 
business rates a District would only get to keep a relatively small 
proportion, whilst it would lose the full 38.75% for any reduction – unless 
protected by the Safety Net. 

The Safety Net is a threshold set by Central Government designed to 
ensure that no authority can lose more than a predefined percentage of 
it’s Spending Baseline.  The Government is currently indicating that it 
intends to set the Safety Net between 7.5% and 10% below the Spending 
Baseline.

Page 225



Report Page No: 4 

A reset mechanism will be in place with a period of ten years between 
resets (although expected to be 7 years to 2020 in the first instance) but 
with flexibility for more frequent resets in exceptional circumstances. 
“Economic action zones” and large pre-agreed tax increment financing 
schemes are to be excluded from the reset mechanism and the levy. 

Pooling Arrangements

The Local Government Finance Bill also allows local authorities to form 
pools for the purposes of business rates retention. It is expected that 
pooling will offer many local authorities an opportunity to retain more of 
the rates generated in their areas, due to the way in which the process is 
expected to operate, and to use that revenue more effectively to drive 
economic growth. 

When authorities decide to enter into a pooling arrangement, a single 
funding baseline and single business rates baseline will be calculated for 
the whole pool, meaning that a combined tariff and levy is applied to the 
pool’s rates revenue as opposed to this being applied to each individual 
authority.

If a pool is dissolved then the member authorities would revert to their 
individual baselines, tariffs and levies. 

Potential Benefits of Pooling in Cambridgeshire

The County Council has undertaken modelling which demonstrates that, 
under the majority of scenarios, a pool that incorporates all 6 
Cambridgeshire local authorities would see a greater total amount of 
business rates revenue retained than if no pool were formed. 

In general terms, the key benefits to local authorities of pooling business 
rates are that it can: 

 ! provide a new tool to deliver what is needed to promote growth 
and jobs, allowing investment decisions to support economic 
priorities; 

 ! encourage collaborative working across local authorities, rather 
than constraining activity within administrative boundaries; 

Page 226



Report Page No: 5 

 ! allow the benefits from investment in economic growth to be 
shared across the wider area, providing a growth dividend to 
the partners; and 

 ! help local authorities to manage volatility in income by sharing 
fluctuations across budgets. 

Pooling would also place authorities in a more beneficial collective 
position than would otherwise be the case as it would see the Tariffs and 
Levy rates reduced, allowing the members of the pool to benefit from 
additional retained income. 

The modelling that officers have carried out for Cambridgeshire 
(Appendix A) demonstrates that, if all six local authorities in 
Cambridgeshire form a pool, the Levy on business rates growth that is 
payable to central government would be 36%, rather than around 75% 
without pooling. 

Under a 0% growth scenario, modelling shows that such a pool would be 
£0.363m better off in 2013/14 compared to the sum of individual 
authorities – using the growth assumptions from Insight East’s last 
forecasts this would increase to around £4.5m. This additional revenue 
would benefit all residents and businesses in Cambridgeshire and would 
suggest an improved position to drive future sustainable economic 
growth than if each authority were to go it alone. 

The current Government proposals are that the funding baseline for each 
authority would be reviewed every 10 years.  This means that 
consideration needs to be given to the potential trend in terms of growth 
over that period.  However, it is not easy to accurately assess the 
potential for increases and decreases over such a period from the 
information readily available to authorities at present.  It should also be 
noted that this would make it most advantageous for authorities to have 
growth in business rates in the early years of each revaluation period and 
least towards the end (when it would be quickly removed through 
rebasing).  The opposite would, of course, be true for reductions in the 
base position.  

The modelling shows that, as long as Cambridgeshire can at least retain 
business rates at their existing levels, the county would benefit from 
pooling. As the county is expected to experience economic growth, there 
is a strong case for the six local authorities to form a pool and benefit 
from this additional revenue. 

Page 227



Report Page No: 6 

Safety Net

As part of the new business rates retention regime, an authority whose 
rates drop below a set percentage of their funding baseline (likely to be 
90%) would trigger a ‘Safety Net’ payment from central government to 
make up the difference to that set percentage.  This would be funded 
through national Levy revenue. 

Under a pooling arrangement, a Safety Net payment will be triggered 
according to the baselines of the pool rather than the individual 
authorities, so it is important to consider the costs and benefits of this 
where an authority would be eligible for a Safety Net payment. Since 
none of the Cambridgeshire authorities are expected to trigger a Safety 
Net payment, this should not be an issue for a Cambridgeshire pool. 

Issues Concerning the Operation of a Pool

Geographical coverage 

Pools are expected to operate on the basis of a whole local authority 
area – an authority cannot be in two pools. The most obvious geographic 
alignment in a two-tier area such as Cambridgeshire this could be to 
operate a countywide pool. A smaller pool, say of the County Council and 
some District Councils, could however still be beneficial. It could also be 
possible, though complex, to operate on a different area, e.g. a LEP-wide 
basis.

Investment and distribution of revenues 

Under pooling arrangements, it will be left to the pools themselves to 
decide how to invest and distribute revenues within the pool, and how 
best to support shared economic priorities across the pool.  This is likely 
to be a key factor in determining the acceptability of any pooling 
proposal.

Lead authority 

Under pooling arrangements, one member authority must be nominated 
to act as a lead authority. Payments from and to the pool would be 
channelled through this lead authority, and the lead authority would be 
responsible for supplying any information on behalf of the pool in 
connection with the operation of the rates retention regime. 

Page 228



Report Page No: 7 

Dissolution 

If any of the conditions set when a pool is designated are breached, 
DCLG will be able to dissolve a pool, following consultation with its 
members and other relevant people. DCLG must dissolve a pool when a 
member authority requests its dissolution. A pool will only be dissolved at 
the end of the financial year in which such a request is made. Provision 
for dissolution is expected to be made as part of pooling proposals. 

Transparency

In any pooling arrangement, transparency will be important. As such, 
Government expects pools to publish their pooling arrangements along 
with financial information on the operation of the pool. 

Process

Local authorities are invited to submit expressions of interest to DCLG by 
Friday, 27 July 2012. However, this is not binding and can be withdrawn 
over the months preceding the designation of pooling proposals if it is 
subsequently not considered to be appropriate. 

DCLG will have to make a pooling designation for a pool to come into 
effect before local authorities are notified of the basis on which they 
intend to calculate tariffs and top-ups – i.e. before the publication of the 
draft Local Government Finance Report, which is expected to be 
published in late November or early December. 

In order to ensure that pools come into effect in time for the start of the 
business rates retention regime, the timetable anticipated by DCLG for 
pooling is: 

 ! 17 May 2012:  Invitation to bring forward pooling   
    proposals 

 ! 27 July 2012:  Deadline for submission of expressions
    of interest 

 ! September 2012: Develop proposals for consultation 
 ! October 2012:  Consult on pooling proposals 
 ! November 2012: Designation of pooling proposals 
 ! April 2013:  Business rates retention begins 

Following submission of an expression of interest, a formal pooling 
proposal would need to be submitted based on a template form.  

The key questions that are asked in the template application form, and 
will therefore need to be considered, are: 

Page 229



Report Page No: 8 

 ! What is the aim/rationale for the pool? 

 ! How, if at all, does the pool support the area’s growth priorities 
(including LEP strategy and priorities)? 

 ! Is there a pooling agreement setting out governance structures 
for management of the pool, decision making structures, how 
investment decisions will be made, and how the pool will 
handle dissolution? 

 ! Has the pooling agreement been signed off by the Chief 
Executive and Section 151 officer for each local authority within 
the pool? 

 ! Is there a lead authority that has been agreed by the pool? If 
so, which? 

 ! Briefly set out how the pool will provide transparency to its 
decision making. 

There is time between submitting an expression of interest and 
committing to a pooling arrangement to work through these questions 
and come up with a governance arrangement that would be fit for 
purpose.

Conclusion

Based on the modelling work and other evidence available to date it 
would appear to be beneficial to Cambridgeshire authorities to consider 
further the creation of a countywide pool. 

On this basis, and to facilitate that consideration, it is recommended that: 

 ! the City joins with other Cambridgeshire authorities in 
submitting an expression of interest to DCLG by 27 July 
2012.

 ! officers are instructed, in conjunction with other authorities,  
to work up arrangements for governance, transparency,
investment and distribution of revenues and dissolution of a 
Cambridgeshire pool – enabling a final decision on whether 
to take forward a pooling arrangement in time for the 
Government’s November 2012 deadline.  

Page 230



Report Page No: 9 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications
   

Initial modelling indicates that pooling would be financially 
advantageous for a countywide pool as a whole.  Further detailed 
work will be required, based on the development of a mutually agreed 
investment and distribution mechanism for the pool to determine the 
specific financial implication for the City under a range of realistic 
scenarios.

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

Resources will need to be committed to ensure that appropriate work 
can be completed within the Government’s timescales.

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

No direct implications..

(d) Environmental Implications

No direct implications. 

(e) Consultation

Consultation would be a formal part of any final pooling proposal. 

(f) Community Safety

No direct implications. 

5. Background papers

DCLG Papers:   
- Business rates retention scheme:  The economic benefits of 

local authority rates retention (May 2012). 
- Business rates retention scheme:  Pooling Prospectus (May 

2012)

6. Appendices

Annex A – LGSS Modelling Report 

Page 231



Report Page No: 10 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: David Horspool
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457007
Author’s Email: david.horspool@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 232



Report Page No: 11 

Annex A : LGSS Modelling Report 

Pooling – To pool or not to pool 

Introduction
This paper looks at how levies and safety nets operate for single authorities and then 
how they would operate in a pooling scenario.  It will look at the potential benefits or 
disadvantages of pooling with some basic scenario modelling to illustrate where a pool 
would be beneficial for the county. 

Calculating the Levy for Individual Authorities.
The Levy is calculated as follows:  

1 - (Spending Baseline / Business Rates Baseline) 

So for an authority with a spending baseline of £3.614m and a business rates baseline of 
£20.408m their levy rate would be calculated as

1 – (3.614 / 20.408) = 82.3% 

This means that everything that the authority collects (and keeps – after the central 
share, any precepting authority payments and their tariff payment) would be subject to 
the levy. In other words, they could only keep 17.7% of any increases above their 
spending baseline.

For example:
If this authority grew their rates by 10% from £20.408m to £22.449m, an increase of 
£2.041m, they would pay 82.3% of the increase as a levy and keep just 17.7%

82.3% of £2.041m = £1.680m: Given to Central Government 
17.7% of £2.041m = £0.361m: Kept by the authority 

We know this is correct as £0.361m is 10% of their spending baseline (£3.614m) and 
enforces the levy rule that a 10% increase in business rates must not exceed 10% of 
spending baseline.

Calculating the Safety Net for Individual Authorities 
The Safety Net is only triggered when an authority’s business rates income (i.e. after 
central share, precepting authority payments and tariff/top-up) falls by more that x% 
below the baseline funding level. 

So, for the above example authority, assuming an 8% safety net, they would only receive 
a safety net payment if their income fell below £3.325m (£3.614 minus 8%). 

What Happens When You Form a Pool? 
When authorities decide to enter a pooling arrangement the DCLG will calculate a single 
funding baseline and a single business rates baseline for the whole pool. This will simply 
be a sum of all the pool members’ individual baselines. 

Page 233



 

Authority A 
Business Rates 
Baseline: £100m 

 
Funding Baseline: 

£50m 
 

Tariff £50m 

+ 

Authority B 
Business Rates 
Baseline: £50m 

 
Funding Baseline: 

£150m 
 

Top!up £100m 

+ 

Authority C 
Business Rates 
Baseline: £100m 

 
Funding Baseline: 

£75m 
 

Tariff £25m 

      

   =   

      

   

POOL 
Business Rates 
Baseline: £250m 

 
Funding Baseline: 

£275m 
 

Top!up £25m   

In this example, local authorities A and C benefit by being part of the pool as the pool 
becomes a top-up authority so local authorities A and C no longer pay a tariff. 

Cambridgeshire example; if the county council and all the districts in Cambridgeshire 
decided to form a pool the new baselines would be as follows: 

Authority Business Rates 
Baseline

Spending
Baseline

Tariff (Red) / 
Top-up

£m £m £m
Cambridgeshire 25.950 61.740 35.791
Cambridge City 34.958 4.689 -30.269
East Cambridgeshire 6.957 2.747 -4.210
Fenland 8.812 3.897 -4.915
Huntingdonshire 23.202 5.166 -18.036
South Cambridgeshire 26.626 2.951 -23.675
POOL 126.505 81.191 -45.314

Calculation of baselines are shown in Appendix A below. 

The Pool’s Business Rates Baseline would be £126.505m, the Pool’s Funding Baseline 
would be £81.191m and then the Pool would be required to pay a tariff of £45.314m  to 
Central Government. 

Calculating the Levy for the Pool 
For the purposes of calculating the levy (and eligibility for receiving any safety net 
payments) the pool is treated as a single entity by Central Government. Therefore, using 
the same formula as before, the pool’s levy rate would be: 

%36)505.126191.81(1  !"

This means that 36% of any growth in income above £81.191m must be paid to Central 
Government as a levy.

Report Page No: 12 Page 234



Report Page No: 13 

Comparing the pool’s levy rate with some of the individual authorities’ previous levy rates 
it becomes clearer where some of the financial benefit of forming a pool comes from.  

Authority 
Business

Rates
Baseline

Spending
Baseline

Tariff (Red) / 
Top-up Levy Rate 

£m £m £m % 
Cambridgeshire 25.950 61.740 35.791
Cambridge City 34.958 4.689 -30.269 -87%
East Cambridgeshire 6.957 2.747 -4.210 -61%
Fenland 8.812 3.897 -4.915 -56%
Huntingdonshire 23.202 5.166 -18.036 -78%
South Cambridgeshire 26.626 2.951 -23.675 -89%
POOL 126.505 81.191 -45.314 -36%

Rather than pay a levy on growth of around 75% the rate falls to just 36%.

Depending on the make-up of the growth patterns in the pool’s authorities it may be 
possible to have some authorities growing very healthily whilst others grow at a slower 
pace or decline and not result in any levy payment.

However, this does mean that the county council, who never paid a levy (as a top-up 
authority) will now become levy-able. 

Calculating the Safety Net for the Pool 
As explained above, for the purposes of levy and safety net calculations a pool is treated 
as a single body. The result is that the pool will only receive a safety net payment if the 
pool’s income falls more than x% below £81.191m.

Individual authorities will not receive safety net payments if they see significant decline – 
only if it is enough to push the whole pool below the safety net threshold.

Pooling – Positives and Negatives 
There are some rough guidelines to forming pools: 

 ! Authorities who tend to pay high tariffs (frequently districts) will need to pool with a 
top-up authority (frequently a county council) in order to see the significant 
reduction in the levy rate 

 ! Authorities who would have received a safety net payment will need to consider 
whether the benefits of joining the pool would outweigh the loss of the safety net 
payment

 ! Similarly, authorities forming a pool will also need to consider whether they are 
able to “support” an authority who would individually have triggered the safety net 

 ! The only direct financial benefit to shire counties to forming a pool is any 
agreement reached within the pool to share some of the gains with the upper tier 
authority.

Depending on the growth predictions in each area there could be significant gains to 
pooling – aside from the obvious benefits of joint working and collaboration. As illustrated 
above, much of these gains will tend to come from the reduced levy rate.  

Page 235



Report Page No: 14 

However, if it is felt that the pool’s area, or some members of a pool, could be heading 
for significant falls in income then it may be worth carefully considering whether they and 
the pool are better off separate, at least until the period of decline has passed.

This means that growth forecasting will be a key factor in deciding whether areas will 
benefit from pooling.

The tables in Appendix B show the potential gains / losses that could be expected from 
pooling across Cambridgeshire for growth levels of 0%, 2%, 5% and 10% over the 4 
years.  The appendix also shows the impact of pooling using growth figures obtained 
from Insight East which were used for the modelling exercise undertaken in October last 
year.

Risks
These figures come with some very large caveats. 

 ! There are still many unknowns and decisions to be made nationally which will impact 
on the outcome of future modelling. 

 ! The figures have been calculated using the Society of County Treasurers model 
which is yet to be updated following the announcements from 17th May.  (This should 
be ready shortly). 

 ! Impact of Enterprise Zones could be significant but have not been included here for 
simplicity’s sake. 

 ! A risk analysis has not been undertaken to determine the potential impact of an 
authority in the pool losing a large employer which forms a large proportion of their 
collected business rates. 

These figures come with some very large caveats (see risks above).  Taking those 
into account this basic modelling exercise shows that as long as Cambridgeshire 
can retain business rates close to their existing levels the county would benefit 
from pooling. 

Sharon Gregory 
Group Accountant
LGSS
30th May 2012 

Page 236



Cambridge City Council Item

To: LEADER: TIM BICK 

Report by: HEAD OF PLANNING SERVICES

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

9 July 
2012

Wards affected: CASTLE/ALL AND GIRTON PARISH 

NORTH WEST CAMBRIDGE DEVELOPMENT – MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY FOR OPEN SPACES, SPORTS AND COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 

Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The outline planning applications for the North West Cambridge 
development were submitted to Cambridge City Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) in September 2011. The 
proposed development straddles the district council boundary between 
the two local authority areas. Negotiations on the planning applications 
are now at an advanced stage and it is hoped to report the application to 
the Joint Development Control Committee (JDCC) in the near future. 

1.2 This is a mixed use development, comprising a mixture of market and 
University key worker housing, student accommodation, academic, 
research and development uses. A number of new open spaces, sports 
and community facilities are included and it is important that the 
management strategy agreed for these provides the maximum benefits 
and degree of public access for all types of residential occupiers of the 
development and the wider Cambridge community. 

1.3 Following negotiations over several months, the University of Cambridge 
has agreed in principle a proposal to set up a Joint Management Vehicle 
(JV) with the City Council for the management of Storey’s Field open 
space (which includes the SSSI) and the proposed North West 
Cambridge community centre, both of which lie within the City boundary 
part of the development. Subject to the principle of the establishment of a 
JV being formally agreed by Members, further negotiations will be 
necessary to finalise the detailed arrangements.  

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 21

Page 237



Report Page No: 2 

1.4 The University propose that the remainder of the open space, sports 
and community facilities within the development would be managed by 
the University itself, subject to the detailed provisions being agreed and 
finalised through the S106 agreement associated within the planning 
applications.

2. Recommendations 

The Leader is recommended to agree: 

a) The principle of the City Council entering into a Joint Management 
Vehicle arrangement with the University of Cambridge for the 
management of Storey’s Field informal open space (including the 
SSSI) and the North West Cambridge community centre, on the basis 
of the objectives as set out in 3.4 to 3.8 of this report. 

b) That the Chief Executive should be delegated to agree and finalise the 
details of the proposed JV arrangements, including that the JV meets 
the objectives and principles set out in paragraphs 3.4 –3.8 of this 
report.

c) To recommend that Council on 19 July approve a budget allocation for 
the proposed Joint Vehicle of up to £100k from 2027 onwards and that 
this be included in the Council’s Medium Term Strategy.

d) The University should manage the remaining open space, sports and 
community facilities within the North West Cambridge development, 
according to the principles set out in paragraphs 3.9 – 3.11 of this 
report, subject to the detailed provisions being agreed and finalised 
within the S106 agreement associated with the outline planning 
applications.

3. Background 

The outline planning application 
3.1. The outline planning applications for the North West Cambridge 

development were submitted to Cambridge City Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council (SCDC) in September 2011. The 
proposals are for a mixed use urban extension development, 
comprising 3000 dwellings (1500 market and 1500 key worker), 2,000 
student units, 100, 000m2 of research and academic uses. The 
development straddles the administrative boundaries of the City and 
SCDC.

Page 238



Report Page No: 3 

Open Space, sports and community facilities provision 
3.2. A number of new open spaces, sports and community facilities are 

included within the proposed development. These comprise informal 
open spaces, play areas, allotments, indoor sports facilities (at West 
Cambridge), sports pitches and a community centre. For further 
details refer to Appendix 1. 

University management approach 
3.3. Whilst most developers prefer to transfer open spaces and community 

facilities (either on a freehold or long leasehold basis) to the City 
Council to adopt, then manage and maintain thereafter, along with a 
12 year commuted sum, the University has expressed a strong wish to 
retain ownership of its community assets and to manage and maintain 
these itself.  Land transfer in these circumstances can only take place 
when both parties are in agreement and the Council cannot therefore 
compel the University to transfer the community assets to the local 
authority.  This is not unusual and is the approach that has been 
agreed with the new country park associated with the Trumpington 
Meadows development that forms part of the Southern Fringe.

3.4. Given the large scale of the development and the need to ensure that 
key facilities located within the City boundary are managed to ensure 
optimum benefits and access for all sectors of the residential 
population of the development and the wider community, extensive 
negotiations have been taking place with the University over the last 
six months to ensure that the City Council achieves an appropriate 
level of democratic control and influence over the use and 
management of the large open space known as Storey’s Field and the 
community centre, both within the City boundary. 

Strategic Management Objectives 
3.5. Discussions with relevant City Council Executive Councillors in 

relation to securing the best management strategy for Storey’s Field 
and the community centre have established a number of key 
objectives that need to be met: 

 ! Equality of access for all type of residents within the 
development;

 ! Access to facilities for the wider Cambridge community in the 
same way that they have access to other comparable open 
spaces and community facilities/public assets within the City; 

 ! Facilities that are sustainable in the long-term; 
 ! Facilities managed and maintained to a good standard 

comparable to at least the standard that the City Council 
manages and maintains equivalent facilities; 

Page 239



Report Page No: 4 

 ! Management and maintenance arrangements that are cost-
effective but which avoid large service charges being imposed 
on residents of the development to fund the ongoing revenue 
costs.

3.6. It is within this context that the proposal has emerged to set up a Joint 
Management Vehicle (JV) with the City Council for Storey’s Field and 
the proposed community centre.

Proposed Joint Management Vehicle Arrangements for Storey’s 
Field and Community Centre and associated principles 
The JV would potentially take the form of a company limited by 
guarantee or most probably a charitable company and would be a 
legal entity separate from the Council. It is proposed that the JV body 
would have control over the two assets, based on a 50: 50 split of 
governance control between the University and the City Council and 
that a 101 year lease of the assets would be vested in it, at a 
peppercorn rent. In terms of the ongoing costs of the managing and 
maintaining the JV assets (less income generated), it has been 
agreed between the parties that they would be split 50:50, (including 
the administrative costs associated within the set up and running of 
the JV) but that the City Council would not contribute towards the 
costs until Year 13, so that the structure agreed effectively provides 
for a twelve year commuted sum period, similar to more standard 
management and maintenance arrangements where assets are 
transferred to the City Council. The University would therefore cover 
all the costs for the first twelve years. 

In addition it is important that the following principles are addressed 
through the further detailed negotiations between the parties in due 
course:

 ! Both parties would have the right to leave the agreement by 
giving their shares to the other party. 

 ! Appropriate mechanisms will need to be put in place for 
resolving disputes between the JV partners. 

 ! The JV would need to submit a business plan to both parties for 
agreement given that they will be underwriting the costs of the 
JV.

 ! The structure will need to address public accountability and 
transparency requirements. 

 ! There needs to be a means for the JV to engage with other 
stakeholders, particularly SCDC and Girton Parish Council. 

Page 240



Report Page No: 5 

3.7. Fall back arrangements for the management of the facilities would still 
need to be provided for through the S106 agreement, in the event that 
the JV arrangements are disbanded. 

3.8. Before proceeding with any further detailed negotiations on the 
structure and funding of the JV, agreement is therefore being sought 
to the principle of the proposed arrangements. The timing of this is key 
given that the outline planning application is due to be reported to the 
JDCC in the near future and the agreed principles of the proposed 
management strategy for the community facilities need to be included 
in the officer report and S106 heads of terms that will be appended to 
it.

Management strategy for other open space, sports and 
community facilities 
University Community Strategy

3.9. Extensive negotiations have been taking place over several months to 
make sure that the University management proposals for the 
remainder of the open spaces and sports facilities meet as many of 
the Council’s strategic objectives (as set out in paragraph 3.4. above) 
as possible. In this respect, the University has submitted a Community 
Strategy document to support the outline planning application that sets 
out key principles in relation to each type of facility proposed. This has 
been subject to review and negotiation with the City Council’s Heads 
of Community Development, Arts and Recreation and Streets and 
Open Spaces, as well as relevant officers from SCDC. The final 
agreed version of Strategy would be appended to the S106 
agreement. Appendix 1 provides a breakdown of the proposed 
management approach by type of facility.

Indoor sports strategy
3.10. Originally, the University proposed new indoor sports provision within 

the development site itself. This strategy has now been amended so 
that the indoor sports provision for the North West Cambridge 
development would be provided as part of the University’s previously 
approved West Cambridge indoor sports facilities development 
currently being progressed. This would provide a wide range of indoor 
sports facilities, including a swimming pool in Phase 2. Although no 
additional facilities are being created within the West Cambridge 
development to serve North West Cambridge, more extensive public 
access is to be secured to the facilities which would secure increased 
benefits for the community in this area of the City and SCDC, as well 
as the wider City and SCDC as a whole. The details of the proposed 
West Cambridge strategy are still being finalised. The City Council’s 
Head of Arts and Recreation is broadly supportive of the approach, 
subject to some points of detailed clarification in relation to public 

Page 241



Report Page No: 6 

access. Once agreed, the details would be secured through a Deed of 
Variation to the existing West Cambridge S106 agreement (which 
would need to be reported to the City Council’s Planning Committee) 
and via the discharge of condition attached to the 2010 West 
Cambridge permission. Improved access arrangements, in terms of 
enhanced walking and cycling routes between North West Cambridge 
and the West Cambridge site are also being negotiated through the 
S106 process. There would, however, still need to be a fall back 
requirement within the NWC S106 agreement to provide indoor sports 
facilities on site, in the event that the West Cambridge facilities were 
not completed. 

Funding arrangements
3.11. The University proposed to fund a significant proportion of 

management and maintenance costs through an estate management 
charge that will be levied on most types of occupiers of the 
development, including the University and commercial elements as 
well as the housing elements. See Appendix 1 for funding approach to 
each type of community infrastructure provision. Following 
negotiations, it has been agreed that the community centre, primary 
school and proposed police offices will not be subject to the estate 
management charge and the Community Strategy document has been 
amended to reflect this. 

3.12. All the detailed provisions would be secured through the S106 
agreement associated with the outline planning applications. 

S106 obligations 
3.13. The S106 agreement would include obligations associated with the 

community infrastructure provision as follows: 
 ! Space requirements (hectares) and standards to be adhered to. 
 ! Timing and phasing of provision. 
 ! Contributions to local authorities in relation to provision of 

community development workers, sports development workers 
and community chest. 

 ! Terms of hire of community centre. 
 ! Community access agreement to be appended to the S106, 

including opening hours, prioritisation if any, bookings policy, 
events management. 

 ! Management and maintenance specifications
 ! Design brief, procurement and delivery process for community 

centre
 ! Fall back provisions for indoor sports 
 ! Community engagement strategy 
 ! JV principles 
 ! Fall back provisions should JV be disbanded 

Page 242



Report Page No: 7 

Conclusions
3.14. Negotiations over an extended period in relation to the proposed NWC 

community infrastructure provision have sought to secure optimum 
benefits and maximum public access for the residents of the 
development itself and the wider community. 

3.15. In the context of the University’s preferred approach to “self-manage” 
facilities within the development, negotiations have focused on 
ensuring that the University’s management approach will result in 
community provision that will be managed and maintained to a 
standard and include a degree of public access that are comparable to 
other similar facilities within the City, managed by the City Council. In 
addition, to ensure that the City Council secures a greater degree of 
influence and control over key facilities within the City, namely 
Storey’s Field and the community centre. This could be achieved 
through the proposed JV arrangements. 

3.16. The Leader’s agreement is therefore now sought to the principle of the 
City Council setting up a JV for Storey’s Field and the community 
centre, subject to further detailed negotiations with the University on 
the structure and funding of it.  

3.17. In addition, the Leader is asked to agree that University should 
manage the remaining open space, sports and community facilities 
within the North West Cambridge development, according to the 
principles set out in paragraphs 3.9 – 3.11 of this report,  subject to 
the detailed provisions being agreed and finalised within the S106 
agreement associated with the outline planning applications. 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

It is proposed that the revenue costs associated with the JV facilities are 
split between the JV parties on a 50: 50 basis but that the University will 
fund the total costs for the first twelve years and the City Council 
contributing towards 50% of costs from Year 13 onwards.   

The approximate completion date for the open space, Storey’s Field, is the 
end of 2014. The trigger for the opening of the community facility is still 
being negotiated but potentially at 250 residential occupations (mid 2014). 
This would make year thirteen of the agreement 2027. 

Estimated management and maintenance costs for the proposed JV
Facilities, including the costs associated with the JV itself, are estimated to 

Page 243



Report Page No: 8 

be within the range of £160,000 to £200,000 (net of income). The Council’s
contribution would therefore be between £80,000 to £100,000.  Actual net
cost will depend upon the design of the building and the type of use/
activities that are promoted at the centre. Both of these elements will be
informed by stakeholder and community engagement and agreed by 
the JV partners. 

On average, the Council-run community facilities generate an income of
around 30% of their costs depending on their location and community focus.  
In 2011-12 Brown’s Field Youth and Community Centre generated an 
income equivalent to 8% of its total running cost. This is primarily due to its 
focus on youth and its location in an area of relatively low income. In  
contrast, Ross Street Community Centre generated an income equivalent to  
61% of its total running cost. The income projection for the North West  
Cambridge facility is based on 35% of its estimated cost.

The model also assumes that activities at the centre will receive some 
support in the short term from the Community Development Workers paid 
for by the University.  

Although it has been agreed between the parties that the City Council will 
not incur any expenditure in relation to the JV until Year 13, the budget 
allocation will still need to be agreed by Council in July in order to feed into 
the Medium Term Strategy now, so that financial assumptions can be made 
on the basis of the future expenditure that will be incurred in due course. 

Further detailed advice on any VAT and tax implications will be taken before 
the final arrangements are put in place. 

It is therefore recommended to Council that a provisional revenue budget  
allocation of up to £100k is made for this purpose.

(b) Staffing Implications

There will be no additional staffing implications for the local authority arising 
from these proposals. 

There will be a need for the local authorities to monitor compliance with the  
S106 obligations and any associated planning conditions imposed on the 
University relating to the provision of and delivery of open space, sports and
community facilities over the build out period of the overall development.
However, S106 monitoring contributions have been agreed for this purpose  
through the negotiations on the outline planning applications.  

Page 244



Report Page No: 9 

In addition, contributions towards the provision of community development  
workers and sports development workers are also being negotiated through 
the S106 agreement. 

These will all be set out in the draft S106 heads of terms that will 
form part of the outline planning application Committee report that will be 
determined by the Joint Development Control Committee in due course. 

 (c) Equal Opportunities Implications

The negotiations on the management strategy for the proposed community 
infrastructure within the NWC development have had equality of access for 
all types of residents within the development and access for the wider 
Cambridge community as key strategic objectives. 

The principles agreed so far are therefore aimed at ensuring the maximum 
degree of public access both for all types residents within the development 
and the wider community.

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been carried out.  

(d) Environmental Implications

There are no direct environmental implications. However, the JV 
arrangements will secure a greater degree of control and influence for the 
City Council over the management and maintenance of Storey’s Field and 
the community centre that would include environmental standards, strategy 
and policy. This is therefore considered to have a LOW positive rating.

(e)     Consultation 

There has been extensive public consultation on the outline planning 
application.

The JV facilities are located within the City boundary but would serve the 
whole development, including those areas of the development within SCDC.  
SCDC officers have been closely involved in negotiations with the City 
Council and the University on the submitted Community Strategy document. 

SCDC and Girton Parish Council would need to be involved in future 
detailed discussions on the community centre design and management 
arrangements generally. 

Page 245



Report Page No: 10 

A community engagement strategy for the North West Quadrant 
developments as a whole has been developed, informally agreed by 
relevant City and SCDC chief officers and discussed with relevant portfolio 
holders within both local authorities. The final structure and resource 
implications associated with this will be the subject of a separate report to 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee later this year.

(f)    Community Safety 

There are no community safety implications arising from the proposals set 
out in this report. 

(g) Legal Implications 

Legal advice will be taken by officers as required.

5. Background papers 

None.

6. Appendices 

Appendix 1 –schedule of community facilities and management proposals 
Appendix 2 –site plans showing locations of key community facilities 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Patsy Dell 
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457103 
Author’s Email: Patsy. Dell@cambridge.gov.uk 

Page 246



Report Page No: 11 

Appendix 1 
Schedule of community infrastructure within North West Cambridge 
development

 a) Storey’s Field informal open space (including SSSI  but excluding cricket 
pitch and pavilion) 
Location –City 
Management strategy –proposed JV 
Funding arrangements –University and City Council 
Public access – general public access to informal open space elements. 

b) Other informal open spaces
Location –throughout the development, both City and SCDC.
The large Western Edge informal open space lies within SCDC. 
Management strategy –University led 
Funding arrangements –estate management charge (except Western Edge 
landscaping) 
Public access –general public access

c) Sports pitches (including cricket pitch) and pavilions
Location -City 
Management strategy –University led by University Sports Syndicate via a 
Sport Management Company 
Funding arrangements – University to cover costs 
Public access  -general public access but prioritisation to occupiers of 
development. Booking arrangements to be put in place. 

d) Play areas
Location –throughout the development, both City and SCDC. 
Management strategy –University led 
Funding arrangements – estate management charge 
Public access –general public access 

e) Allotments
Location -largest area within City, smaller area within SCDC. 
Management strategy –University led, in accordance with Cambridge 
Allotments Management Policy for Growth Areas. 
Funding arrangements – University to cover costs
Public access – in accordance with the above policy.

Page 247



Report Page No: 12 

f) Community centre
Location –City 
Management strategy –proposed JV 
Funding arrangements –University and City Council 
Public access – general public access. Booking and prioritisation to be 
agreed through S106/JV arrangements. 

g) Indoor sports facilities (including swimming pool provision) 
Location City, West Cambridge site 
Management strategy –University led/strategy to be agreed through 
discharge of condition to W Cambridge planning permission 
Funding arrangements – University will cover costs. 
Public access – To be secured through Deed of Variation to existing West 
Cambridge S106. Prioritisation to NWC occupiers but facilities accessible to 
general public. 

Page 248



Report Page No: 13 

Appendix 2 –Site location plans showing locations of community 
infrastructure 

Page 249



Page 250

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 251



Page 252



Cambridge City Council Item

To: Leader of the Council Tim Bick 

Report by: Liz Bisset 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

09/07/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

RESTORATIVE JUSTICE SCHEME FOR CAMBRIDGE
Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary 

In the report presented on 15 March 2012 to the then Executive Councillor for 
Community Development and Health, it was agreed that a further report 
would be made in due course detailing the progress made to establish the 
restorative justice scheme for Cambridge. 

This report advises on the progress made between the date of that earlier 
report and the present time.  The detail can be found in Appendix 1. 

Members are requested to note that a further, final, report will be made 
following the conclusion of the extensive programme of consultation with 
internal and external parties that is presently underway.

2. Recommendations 

The Leader of the Council is recommended: 

1. to take note of the report attached as Appendix 1; and 
2. to note the steps taken so far to establish the scheme and endorse the 

actions proposed in the report that will conclude the preparatory 
stages of the scheme.

3. Background 

Please see Appendix 1.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 22

Page 253



Report Page No: 2 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

None

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

None

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

An equalities impact assessment has been carried out and has found that, 
with appropriate mitigation, there are no differential impacts on any of the 
protected categories of people.   

(d) Environmental Implications

A climate change impact assessment has been carried out on this project 
and it has been rated as having a NIL impact.

(e) Consultation

Please see Appendix 1

(f) Community Safety

As shown in Appendix 1, it is anticipated that this project will have a positive 
impact on community safety. 

5. Background papers 

None

6. Appendices 

Appendix 1:  Restorative Justice:  A proposal for Cambridge 
Appendix 2:  Restorative Justice – Neighbourhood Resolution Panels:  A 
leaflet for prospective volunteer facilitators 

Page 254



Report Page No: 3 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: James McWilliams  
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457838
Author’s Email: James.McWilliams@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 255



Page 256

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX ONE:  Restorative Justice - Neighbourhood 
Resolution Panels

Progress report 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1At the community services scrutiny committee held on 15 
March 2012, the committee endorsed the scheme for a 
restorative justice project as outlined in the paper 
accompanying the committee report.

1.2In the period since, considerable progress has been made 
toward the realisation of the scheme. 

1.3This document details that progress and, in a final section, says 
what steps yet need to be taken. 

2.0Consultation, and work with partners 

2.1Good progress has been made with regard to shaping the detail 
of the scheme in consultation with partners. 

2.2 In April a presentation was made before the Cambridgeshire 
criminal justice board.  The board is composed of all the 
agencies working within the criminal justice system in 
Cambridgeshire and includes the police, the probation service 
and the youth offending service.  The board is chaired by the 
chief constable for Cambridgeshire.  The board expressed 
considerable interest in the Cambridge scheme and was 
supportive of the scheme’s two principal aims, that is, to give 
victims of crime a greater voice within the criminal justice 
system and to reduce the rate of re-offending.  An invitation 
was extended to report back on the scheme once sufficient 
cases had been referred and completed to enable a proper 
evaluation of the scheme. 

2.3An outline programme of work has been drawn up and agreed 
between the Cambridge safer neighbourhoods inspector (for 
the police) and the council. The principal items agreed are as 
follows:

Page 257



 ! the kinds of offences that will be eligible to be referred to the 
scheme.  (i.e. offences suitable for a reprimand or a final 
warning for a minor, or a caution for an adult  and which 
have a score of 1 – 2 on the police gravity matrix); 

 ! the process for receiving and returning referrals; 
 ! the need for a service level agreement between police and 

council;
 ! the need for, and the broad composition of, an advisory 

board.

2.4 The Cambridgeshire restorative approaches group is made up 
of all the county agencies with an active or developing 
restorative justice scheme.  It includes the youth offending 
service (YOS) and officers with a variety of educational and 
other social responsibilities from the Cambridgeshire children 
and young people’s service (CYPS).  The Cambridge scheme 
co-ordinator is a member of this group and through it has 
ensured that the Cambridge scheme is complementary to these 
other schemes and is benefiting from their experience. 

2.5Consultation is underway with City Homes and the council’s 
anti-social behaviour team with a view to establishing the 
scheme as the default approach for dealing with suitable ASB, 
neighbour nuisance and neighbour dispute cases as a 
complement to using the Mediation Service. 

2.6 Consultation is underway with other sections within the council 
with a view to realising the objective of the council’s 
enforcement policy to consider the use of restorative justice 
“where appropriate and available”.

3.0Staffing

3.1A scheme co-ordinator has been appointed, and started in post 
on 1 June 2012.

4.0Advisory board

4.1 It is proposed to form a Board constituted of individuals 
bringing a mix of the key relevant perspectives and/or 
expertise which can add value to the management of the 
scheme. It is anticipated that the board will meet to monitor 
and advise the scheme on a quarterly basis and on any other 

Page 258



occasions in the interim when it is necessary. It will contribute 
to an annual report on the progress of the scheme to the 
scrutiny committee. In keeping with the tenor of the scheme, 
governance arrangements will be comprehensive but also 
"light touch" so that the scheme proceeds with the minimum of 
bureaucracy and the maximum 'ownership' by victims and 
ordinary members of the community.

4.2 The board will necessarily include representatives of criminal 
justice partners, organisations running complementary RJ 
schemes and referral bodies. Accordingly approaches will 
shortly be made to the Police, the Youth Offending Service, the 
Probation Service and the county Children and Young People's 
Service. Discussions are also proposed to gain representation 
from housing providers, local businesses and Victim Support 
and to establish whether the scheme might benefit from an 
academic in the field of Restorative Justice, which is an area of 
expertise in the city's universities. 

4.3 The terms of reference for the board have been drafted and 
will be presented for discussion at the inaugural meeting of the 
board planned for September 2012. The terms will then be 
presented to committee for final approval. 

5.0Recruitment and training of volunteer facilitators 

5.1Neighbourhood resolution panels will be conducted by 
volunteer facilitators.  An advert has been placed on the 
volunteer website Do It and applications are being received and 
logged.  It is anticipated that interviews will be carried out 
during August and early September. 

5.2A leaflet for would-be facilitators has been prepared and is 
included here as Appendix Two as general information about 
the scheme. 

5.3Free training for 22 people has been secured through a bid to 
the Ministry of Justice.  It will be provided by Restorative 
Solutions, a social enterprise. Training will be for one day with 
an option for a further two days training for 12 of the 22.  Three-
day training and the satisfactory completion of several cases 
will enable people to undertake further training that will equip 

Page 259



them to train another cohort of facilitators.  In this way we 
anticipate that the scheme will become self-sustaining.

5.4Training will commence in late September and will complete 
(for three-day trainees) in October. 

5.5It is anticipated that the first restorative conferences will take 
place in October 2012.

6.0Other areas of progress 

6.1A session has been arranged that will explain the scheme to 
local housing associations with a view to associations referring 
both ‘at fault’ and ‘no fault’ cases into the scheme.  The initial 
emphasis will be on seeking the referral of ‘at fault’ cases. 

7.0Next steps 

7.1The following work will be carried out in the coming period: 

 ! Further consultation within the council with City Homes and the 
various services with an enforcement duty, with a view to 
adding a restorative option to the range of currently existing 
options.

 ! Agree a formal launch date for the scheme with attendant 
publicity.

 ! Complete the resource pack for facilitators.  (This is a major 
piece of work which will include instructions about receiving and 
processing referrals; how to set up meetings, ensuring the 
personal safety of facilitators and participants, the limits to the 
facilitator’s authority and the scope of their responsibility, 
preserving confidentially, the limits to any reparation that may 
be agreed; writing up and delivering case notes, claiming 
necessary expenses, and so on).

Page 260



 

�
�
��
�
��
��
	
�



��
��
�
�



�
�

�
� �

�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�



�
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��




 
 
 


 
 
 
 


�
�
�
�

��

�
�
�
��
��
��
	
�

�
�
��
�
�
�




 ��
�
��
�
�	
�

��

�
�
��

�
�
��
��
��

�
��
�

�
�
��
��

�
	
�
�
�

�
	
���
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
	
�
�
��
	
��
�

��
�
��

�


�
	
��
�
��

�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�

�
�
��

	
�

�
�
��
�
�
��

�
�
��

	
��
�
��
�
��
�
��

	
��

��

�
�
�

	
�
��
�
�
�
��

�

�
��
��
��
�
���
��
�
��

��
�
�
�
�
�
��

	
�
�

��
��
�
��

	
�
	
�

�
�
��

��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�

�
�

	
��

�
�
��
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
	
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
��

�
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
�
��
�
��
��
��
	
��
�	
��
	
��

�
��

�
	
��

��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
��

�	
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
	
 �
�

	
�
�
�
�
��
��
!
��
��
�
�"

�
�
�
�#

��

�
�
��
	
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
��
	�

�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�

�
	�
�	
��
�

�

��
�


�
$�
��

�
�

��
�
��
�
��
��
	�


��
��
�
�

��


�


�
��
�
��



�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
��
�

�
��
�


�


��
�
��


��


�


��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�


�
���
�
�	
�
��


��
��
�	
�


�
�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�

�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��

�
�

��
�


�
��
�
�
�


�
�
�


��
�

��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�

��
�

��
�


��
��
��
��



� �
�
��
�
�	
�

��

�
�
��

�
�
�

�
�
	
�
�
	
�
�
��
	
��
�

�	
��
�
��
��
	
�
�
	
�
�

�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
	
��

�
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�

��
�

�
�
� 
�


�
�

�
	
�
�
�

�

�
��
��
�
��

 

�
�
��

�
��

�

�
	
�

�
�
%�

��
�
�
�

�

�
�
��
	
�
�

&�
�
�

	
��
�
�
�
	
�

�

��
��
��

�
�
�

��
��
�
�

�

��
��

�


�
	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�


�
�	
��
�

��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��

�
�
��
�
�

�
�

��
�
�
�
��
�
��

�
�
��
�

�
�
�
	
��

�
�
�
�
�
��

��
�

�
��
�
��
�
��

�
�
�
�
	
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

���

�
�
�'
�


�
�

��
�
�

�
�
� 
�
�	
��
'�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

��

�

�
�

��
��
	
�
�
�	
��
�
��

��
��
�
��

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�
�

��

�


�
	
��

�
��

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
%�


�
��

�

�
�
�

�
�
��
&�
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
�	
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�

��
�

�

��

 

�
�
�
�
(
�
�
��
�
�
��

�
	
��

�
�
�
�
�

��

�
�
�

�
�
��

�


�
	
��

�	
��
��

��
�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
	
��

��
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
��

�	
�

��
	
��

�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�

��

�

�
�
��
��

�

�
�

	
�
�
�
	
�
��
�

��
�
�
�
 
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��

��
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
	
��
��
�

��
��
�
&�
��
�
�
�
��
��

� �
�
�
�


��



�



�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�



��
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��




 )
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

��
�
�

��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

��
��

�

�
��

�
��

�
��
�
�
��
�

�
��
%�
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
��

�

��
��


�
�
��
�
�
��

�
��
�%
�
��
�

��
�
��
�
�

��
�

�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�

��
��
�
�

�
�
�

�
	
�
�
���

�
�
�
�
��
��
�

� !
��

�

�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��

	
�
�
��

�
�

�
�
��
	
�
�
�
�

�

�
�
&�

	
 

�
�
�
��
�
�
$�


�
�

�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
	
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�


��
��
��

�
��
	
��
	
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
�
�
�	
�
�

�
��
�
�


�
�
�	
��
�	

��
��
�	
��
��
%�
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
	
�

��
�
�

�

�
�
�
�
	
 �

��
�
�
��
��

�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
�
�

��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�

	
��
��
�
�
	
��
��
��
��
��
�
	
�
%�
	
�

�
	
�
�
��

�
�	
��

�
�
�

�
�
��

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
��

��
�

�
�
��
�
�
�

	
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��

	
�
�
�

��
�
�
��

��
�
��
	
�
��
�
�

��
�	

�
�	
�
�
��
�
	
��
�
	
�
��
��
��
�
�

Page 261



	
��
�

�

�
	
��
�	
��
��
�
	
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��

)
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
%�

��

�
�
�

�
�
��

�
�
�

	
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
�
	
�
�

�
�
��
�
	
�
�
��
�
��

��
��

�
�
��
�
�	
�
��
�

�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��

�
�
�

��
�
�

��

��

�
�
��

�

�
�
��

�
��

�
��
�
��


�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�
�	
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
	
��

��
�
�
�
��
��
�	
�

�
�

�
�
�
�

��

�

�
�

��
�

��
�
�

�

��
�
�
��

�

�
�
��
�
�
�
	
�
�
	
�
�
��
�
�
�
	
�
�
�
	
�
�
�

��
�
�
�


�
�
�
��
	
 

�
�
��
��
��

� *
	
��
��
�

�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
	
�
�
��

�

��
��
�
��
��
	
�

+
�
�
�	
�
�
��
��

��
�
�
�
��
��
	�

��
	

�
�
�
�

��
�
�

�

�
��

��
�
�
��
�
��

�	
�

�
�
	
��
��
�
�
,
�
�
�
�
	

�
�
��
�
�
�
��

��
��

�	
�

�
�
	
��
��
�

��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
	
��
�
	
�
�	
��

�
	
�
�
�
�

�
�

�

�
�
�
	
��

�
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�

	
��
�

	
�
��
�

��
�

�
-�

��
��
�

��
�
�
��
��
�
��

�

�
�
�

��

	
�
�
��
��

�
�
�
�
��

��
	
��
��
��
��


��
�	

��
�
��

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��

��
��
��

�	
�

�
�
	
��
��
��
��
�

��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
��

�
�
�
�

�
�
�	
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
��

��
�
�
�
��
�!
�

��
�
�
�
�
�

��
�
��

�
	
��
��

�	
�

��

�
�

��

�
�
�
��
��

�
��
�

��
�
��
��

	
���
�
��
�

�
��
��
��
�
�

�

��
�
�
�
�	
�
�
��

�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
�
	
�
��
��
!
�

�	

�
��
�

��
�

��
�
�
��
�

�

�
�
�

	
�
�
�


�
�
�
��
	
 

�
�
�
�

��
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
��
�
�
�	
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��

�
	
� 
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
��

�
�
�

	
�
�
�
��
�	
��

�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��

��
��
	

��
�
�

��

�


�
	
��
�	
��
��

��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
�
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
	
�	


�	
�
��
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
��
�

�
�
�
�


�
��
�
�


�
�


�
�
�
�


�
��
�


��
�



�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�




 ,
�
�
�)
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��


��
��
�
	
��
�

�
�
�

��
�
��
�
���
�

�
�
� 

�
�
��
�
��
�	
��
�$
�

� .
��
)
�

�

�
	
��
�	
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
��
�
��


�
�
�

��
�
��
�


�
�

	
�

�	

�

�
�
��
�
��
	
�
�	
�

��
��
��
�
�
�
�
�%
��
��
	�

��
�
�

�
	
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	
��
�
	
��

�
�
�
��
��
	
�

�

�
�
��
��
,
�
�
��

��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

��
��
	
��
�

	
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	
��

�
��
�

��
��
	
��

�	
�
��
�
�
��
�
��

�
�
��

�	
��
&�
�
&�
	
��
��
�/

�
�

�
�

��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�	
 �

�
�
	
��
�
	
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��

�
	
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
�

��
�
�
�	
�
�	

�
�	
�
�
�

��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
��
��

�
��
�
��

��
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

��
��
�
	
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��
��

� ,
�
�
��
�
 

�
�
��

�
��

�	
��
��

�

��
�
�
�
�

��
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��

��
��

�
�
�
�
�
��

�
0
��
!
�
�

&�
�
�

	
��
�
�
�
	
�

�

��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


�
�
	
�
��
�
	
��

�
�
��
�
��
	
��
��

	
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
��
	
��
��

�
	
��

	
�
�

�
��
�
�
�	

��
��
�

,
�
�
��
�
 

�
�
��

�
��

�	
��
��

�

��
�
�
�
�

��
��
��
�
�
�

��
�

��
�
�

��
�
�
�
��

�
��

�
�

�

�
�
�

�
��
�

�
�
��
�

	
�
�
�

��
��

)
�

�
�

���
�

	
�
�

&�
�
�

	
��

�
�
�
	
�

�

��

��
	
�
�	
�
�
%�
	
��
�

�
�
��
�

�

�
	
��
�	
��
�%
�

�
	
��

�

�
	
�

�
�
�

��
��

�
�
�	
��
��

� 1
��
2

�
�
��

�

�
�

��
��

�
�
��

�
��

�
�
�

�
�
�
�

��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
	
��
��
	
�
�

�
��

�	

��
��
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
-�
�

��

�
��

�
��
�

��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
	
 �
�
��
	�
��
�
��
�
�	
�

��

�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�	
��
�
��

��
	
�
�
��
��
�
�	
�

��

�
�
��

�
�
%�
�

��
��
�
��
�

��
��
�
��
	
�
�
��

��
��
�
��

�
�
�
�	
��
&�
�
&�
	
��
�
�

�
�
��

�
�
�

	
�
�

��
�
�
	
��
�
	
��
�
�
	
��
��

�
�
�
�
��
��
�

�
�
�
��
��

�
�
��

�
�
��

��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��

�
��
�
��
�
��

�
,
�
�
�

�

��
�
�
�
�

�

��
�


�
	
���
��
�
�	
��
�

��
�
�
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
�

� ��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
���
�
��

��
�
�
�	
�
��

�
	
��
�
��
�
	
��

�
-

��

�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
%�

�
��

	
�
�

�

�
	
��
�
��
	
��

�
�
��

�
�
�
�
�

��
��

	
�
�
�

��
��

�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��

�
��

�	
��
��

�

��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
	
�
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�	

��
��

�	
��
��

�

��
%�
	
��
��
	
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
%�

��
��

�	
��


�
�
��
�
	
��
��
��
��
�	
��
�
�
�
&�
�
�
�
�
�

��
��
��
	
��
��

� (
�
�
�
�

��
�
	
��
�
�
�
 
�
�
�
��

�
�
	
���
�
��
�


�
��

�
�
�
�	
��
��

��
	
��
	�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��

)
�

�
�

���
�
��

�


�
	
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�

��
�

��
��
�
	
��
�
��
�
�
 
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
%�
��
�&
�

�
�

�
�
�

	
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
��
�
�
��
�%
�	
�
�
��
�

�
��


��
��
�
�

	
�

�
�
��
��
�

��
��

��
�
�
��
	
�

�
�
�

	
�
�
�

�

�
�
��

�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��

Page 262



� � ��
��
�

��
	
��

�	
�
��
3

�
��

�
�
��
	
�
�

��
��
�
�

)
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�

�
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
%�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�	
��
$�

� �
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�



�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�


�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
 

�
�
�
�
�
�


�
!

"
�
#

$
%
%



�
"
&

%
�'




 %
&
(
(
)

*
+
$
,
)
,




 ��
�
�
�-
�
�

��
��
�
�
�.

�
�
�
��
�
�
�
-�
�
	
-�
�



� �

Page 263



Page 264

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: The Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy: 
Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Director of Community Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee 9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

APPOINTMENT TO THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

The Leader is asked to make decisions concerning the establishment of, 
nomination to, and arrangements for the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Panel required under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  
This report is being submitted for consideration and decision in June and 
July to the seven local authorities of Cambridgeshire (Cambridge City, East 
Cambridgeshire, South Cambridgeshire, Fenland, Huntingdonshire, 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire County). 

2. Recommendations 

The Leader is recommended to: 

(i) agree to establish the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel as a 
joint committee of the local authorities as defined in Section 28 of the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and set out in this 
report.

(ii) nominate and appoint one member and one substitute member to the 
panel.

(iii) agree the panel arrangements in accordance with schedule 6 of the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and set out in this 
report.

(iv) agree that the panel when convened should ensure that its 
proceedings are open to the public (see 4.2). 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 23

Page 265



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background 

3.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 introduced 
significant changes in police governance and accountability, in 
particular replacing the Police Authorities with directly elected Police 
and Crime Commissioners (commissioners).   

3.2 The public accountability for the delivery and performance of the 
police service within each force area will be placed into the hands of 
the commissioner on behalf of their electorate.  The commissioner will 
draw on their mandate to set and shape the strategic objectives of 
their force area in consultation with the chief constable.  The 
commissioner will be accountable to their electorate; the chief 
constable will be accountable to the commissioner.

3.3 The Act also requires the local authorities in each police force area to 
establish a police and crime panel (panel), as a joint committee, 
primarily to scrutinise the commissioner.  The Act also prescribes 
many of the arrangements with regard to the panel and the way in 
which it conducts its business. 

3.4 According to the Home Office, “Panels are not a replacement for the 
police authority.  They will fulfil an important role in scrutinising the 
commissioner but we need to be clear that this reform is about 
reconnecting the police and the people.  This will be achieved through 
a directly elected police and crime commissioner not through the 
police and crime panel.  The panel will have an important scrutiny role 
in relation to the commissioner, however it is the commissioner who is 
taking on the role of the police authority and who the public will hold to 
account for the performance of their force.” 

3.5 The panel will have the following duties and powers which must be 
exercised in accordance with the Act and associated Regulations: 

 ! the power of veto, by two-thirds majority, over the 
commissioner’s proposed budget and precept; 

 ! the power of veto, by two-thirds majority, over the 
commissioner’s proposed candidate for chief constable; 

 ! the power to ask Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary 
(HMIC) for a professional view when the commissioner intends 
to dismiss a chief constable; 

 ! the power to review the commissioner’s draft police and crime 
plan and make recommendations to the commissioner who must 
take account of them; 

Page 266



Report Page No: 3 

 ! the power to review the commissioner’s annual report and make 
reports and recommendations at a public meeting, which the 
commissioner must attend; 

 ! the power to require any papers in the commissioner’s 
possession (except those which are operationally sensitive); 

 ! the power to require the commissioner to attend the panel to 
answer questions; 

 ! the power to appoint an acting commissioner (from within the 
commissioner’s staff) when the elected commissioner is 
incapacitated or suspended (until she/he is no longer 
incapacitated or suspended),  or resigns or is disqualified (until a 
new commissioner is elected); and

 ! responsibility for all complaints about the commissioner, 
although serious issues must be passed to the Independent 
Police Complaints Commission (IPCC). 

3.6 Terms of reference for the panel are included at appendix 1 however 
until the commissioner takes office on 22 November 2012, following 
the election on 15 November 2012, the panel's powers will be limited 
to those necessary to prepare itself.  The various constitutions of the 
Cambridgeshire authorities will require amendment in due course to 
incorporate the terms of reference although this will be a subsequent 
decision for Council 

3.7 The Home Secretary has reserve powers to establish a panel and to 
appoint members to the panel, if any local authority fails to do so.  The 
authorities are required to notify the Secretary of State of their 
nominations and appointment of their various councillors to the panel 
by 16 July 2012.  

4. Developing the panel arrangements  

4.1 It is proposed in this report that the seven Cambridgeshire local 
authorities each agree the panel arrangements, establishing it as a 
joint committee, and appoint their member(s) of the panel in 
accordance with the panel arrangements.  This will allow time for the 
panel, before the commissioner is elected, to appoint co-opted 
independent members; agree the panel’s rules of procedure; be 
briefed on relevant issues; and agree the panel’s work programme for 
its first year.

4.2 This Council would wish to make it clear that the panel holds its 
meetings in public.  Officers have been advised by the Head of Legal 
Services at Peterborough City Council (the Host Authority) that 
meetings of the (shadow) panel between now and the appointment of 
the Police Commissioner are likely to be a mixture of formal and 

Page 267



Report Page No: 4 

informal hearings to ensure that its membership is properly inducted.  
The detailed arrangements for the panel’s meetings are not yet 
agreed and will be a matter for the panel itself to determine.   From
November, it would be expected that its meetings will be in public 
(including, for the first time, confirmatory hearings of appointment to 
senior posts, such is the move towards openness and transparency).

4.3 The arrangements for the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 
take the form of an agreement setting out the manner in which the 
authorities will provide support to the panel and are included at 
appendix 2.  Schedule 6 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 largely prescribes the terms of the panel 
arrangements

5. Panel membership 

5.1 The lead local authority for this process, Cambridgeshire County 
Council, has facilitated discussions between the local authorities to 
enable them to fulfil their duty to secure (as far as is reasonably 
practicable) that the appointed members represent the political make-
up of the local authorities within the police area (when taken together). 

5.2 In Cambridgeshire, it has been agreed that the panel should comprise 
eleven councillors: one from each of the district or borough councils, 
three members each from the County and Peterborough City Council.

5.3 Under the terms of the Act if the panel is greater than the 10 members 
required, the additional member is considered to be a co-opted 
members and will require the approval of the Secretary for State.  If 
approved, a subsequent resolution of the panel will also be required.  
Cambridgeshire County Council and Peterborough City Council are 
making a joint application for consent for the additional member to the 
Secretary for State. 

5.4 A further two independent members (not councillors) must be co-
opted by the panel.  When co-opting the independent members, the 
panel must ensure that, as far as is reasonably practicable, the 
appointed and co-opted members together have the skills, knowledge 
and experience necessary for the panel to discharge its functions 
effectively. 

Page 268



Report Page No: 5 

5.5 The proportionality arrangements proposed after discussions between 
Cambridgeshire authorities and the proposed panel agreement 
envisage that the City Council will appoint a member from the largest 
group on the Council in accordance with political balance principles, 
although these do not apply as a matter of law to the City Council’s 
appointment of a representative. 

6. Support for the Panel 

6.1 It has been agreed that Peterborough City Council will be the host 
local authority for the panel and, within the overall budget agreed 
annually by the seven local authorities, will support the panel and its 
members.  This support will be led by a lead officer from the host 
authority supplemented as required by additional specialist officers (eg 
finance officers when advising the panel on the commissioner’s 
proposed budget and precept, legal officers when advising the panel 
on dealing with any complaints against the commissioner). 

6.2 It is proposed that the costs of the panel, including support for the 
panel, will be contained as far as possible within the grant to be 
provided by the Home Secretary to the host local authority but if that 
grant is exceeded the excess be shared equally.  The annual grant will 
be £53,330 plus £920 towards expenses per panel member, subject to 
review by the Home Secretary in future.  The LGA has lobbied the 
Home Office to make a transparent level of funding available on a 
permanent basis to ensure that there is no burden on local authorities.  
However, the Act requires that panel arrangements make provision 
about how the local authorities are to share the costs of the panel. 

6.3 To avoid a burden on the budget of the panel it is proposed that each 
authority determine whether and if so what allowance should be paid 
to its representative on the panel. 

6.4 The Act requires that the panel arrangements set out how support and 
guidance will be given to elected members and officers of the local 
authorities in relation to the functions of the panel.  It is proposed that 
this will comprise initial briefing sessions for all elected members and 
relevant officers of the local authorities before the commissioner is 
elected and annual briefing sessions in each following year 

Page 269



Report Page No: 6 

7. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications and (b) Staffing Implications
 These are both covered in the report. 

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications
No Equality Impact Assessment has been conducted by the City 
Council.  The Council is required to comply as required under the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011  

(d) Environmental Implications
 ! Nil: to indicate that the proposal has no climate change impact. 

(e) Consultation - none

(f) Community Safety
These proposals are part of the Government’s changes to policing in 
England and Wales. 

8. Background papers 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Draft report by the Head of Legal Services of Peterborough City Council 
19.6.12

9. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – proposed Terms of Reference of Police and Crime Panel 
Appendix 2 – Panel arrangements and Schedule

10. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Liz Bisset
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457852
Author’s Email: liz.bisset@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 270



Report Page No: 7 

Cambridgeshire police and crime panel

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1) To review and make a report or recommendation on the draft police and 
crime plan, or draft variation, by the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

2) To review, put questions to the Police and Crime Commissioner at a 
public meeting, and make a report or recommendation (as necessary) on 
the annual report. 

3) To hold a confirmation hearing and review, make a report, and 
recommendation (as necessary) in respect of proposed senior appointments 
made by the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

4) To review and make a report on the proposed appointment of the Chief 
Constable. 

5) To review and make a report and recommendation (as necessary) on the 
proposed precept. 

6) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner in connection with the discharge of the 
commissioner’s functions. 

7) To make reports or recommendations to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner with respect to the discharge of the commissioner’s 
functions. 

8) To support the effective exercise of the functions of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.

9) To fulfil functions in relation to complaints about conduct matters, in 
accordance with the responsibilities accorded to the panel by the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

10) To appoint an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner if necessary. 

11) To suspend the Police and Crime Commissioner if it appears to the 
panel that the Commissioner has been charged in the United Kingdom or 
Isle of Man with an offence which carries a maximum term of imprisonment 
exceeding two years. 

Page 271



Report Page No: 8 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - PANEL 
ARRANGEMENTS

This Agreement is dated the           day of  July  2012 

The Agreement is made between the following:

1. Cambridge City Council 

2. Cambridgeshire County Council 

3. East Cambridgeshire District Council 

4. Fenland District Council 

5. Huntingdonshire District Council 

6. Peterborough City Council 

7. South Cambridgeshire District Council 

In this Agreement the above Councils are referred to together as ‘the 
Authorities’.

Interpretation:

“ Act” 
means the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

“Host Authority” 
means Peterborough City Council 

“Lead Authority” 
means Cambridgeshire County Council 

“Panel”
means the Police and Crime Panel 

“Panel Arrangements” 
means the arrangements set out in this Agreement 

“PCC”
means the Police and Crime Commissioner” 

Page 272



Report Page No: 9 

1. 0 Background  

1. 1 The Act introduces new structural arrangements for national policing, 
strategic police decision making, neighbourhood policing and police 
accountability.

1. 2 The Act provides for the election of a PCC for a police force area, 
responsible for securing an efficient and effective police force for their 
area, producing a police and crime plan, recruiting the Chief Constable 
for an area, and holding him/her to account, publishing certain 
information including an annual report, setting the force budget and 
police precept and requiring the Chief Constable to prepare reports on 
police matters.  The PCC must co-operate with local community safety 
partners and criminal justice bodies.   

1. 3 The Act requires the local authorities in each police force area to 
establish and maintain a Panel for its police force area.  It is the 
responsibility of the Authorities for the police force area to make Panel 
Arrangements.

1. 4 Cambridgeshire is a multi authority police force area.  The Authorities, 
as the relevant local authorities within the area must agree to the 
making and modification of the Panel Arrangements.

1. 5 Each Authority and each Member of the Panel must comply with the 
Panel Arrangements.

1. 6 The functions of the Panel (to be known as the Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel) must be exercised with a view to supporting the 
effective exercise of the functions of the PCC for that police force 
area.

1. 7 The Panel must have regard to the Policing Protocol issued by the 
Home Secretary, which sets out the ways in which the Home 
Secretary, the PCC, the Chief Constable and the Panel should 
exercise, or refrain from exercising, functions so as to encourage, 
maintain or improve working relationships (including co-operative 
working); and limit or prevent the overlapping or conflicting exercise of 
functions.  

1. 8 The Panel is a scrutiny body with responsibility for scrutinising the 
PCC and promoting openness in the transaction of police business in 
the police force area.  

1. 9 The Panel is a joint committee of the Authorities.   

Page 273



Report Page No: 10 

1. 10 The Authorities agree the Panel Arrangements.

2. 0 Functions of the Police and Crime Panel 

2. 1 The Panel may not exercise any functions other than those conferred 
by the Act.

2. 2 The functions of the Panel set out at paragraphs 2.3 - 2.8 below may 
not be discharged by a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Panel.  

2. 3 The Panel is a statutory consultee on the development of the PCC’s 
Police and Crime Plan and must: 

 a) review the draft Police and Crime Plan (and a variation to it); 
and,

b) report or make recommendations on the draft Plan which the 
PCC must take into account.

2. 4 The Panel must comment upon the Annual Report of the PCC, and for 
that purpose must: 

a) arrange for a public meeting of the Panel to be held as soon as 
practicable after the Panel is sent an Annual Report under 
Section 12 of the Act; 

b) ask the PCC at that meeting such questions about the Annual 
Report as the Members of the Panel think appropriate;

c) review the Annual Report; and, 
d)  make a report or recommendations on the Annual Report to the 

PCC.

2. 5 The Panel must undertake a review of a precept proposed by the PCC 
in accordance with the requirements set out in Schedule 5 of the Act, 
and will have a right of veto in respect of the precept in accordance 
with the Act and Regulations made under the Act.

2. 6 The Panel must review, make a report to and make recommendations 
to the PCC in relation to the appointment of a Chief Constable by the 
PCC in accordance with the requirements set out in Schedule 8 of the 
Act and will have a right of veto in respect of the appointment in 
accordance with the Act and Regulations made under the Act.  

2. 7 The right of veto in paragraphs 2.5 and 2.6 will require that at least 
two-thirds of the persons who are Members of the Panel at the time 
when the decision is made vote in favour of making that decision.  

Page 274



Report Page No: 11 

2. 8 The Panel must review, make a report to and make recommendations 
to the PCC in relation to the appointment of the PCC’s Chief 
Executive, Chief Finance Officer and the Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner in accordance with the requirements set out in 
Schedule 1 of the Act.

2. 9 The following functions must also be undertaken by the Panel but may 
be delegated to a Sub-Committee of the Panel: 

2. 10 The Panel shall receive notification from the PCC of any suspension of 
the Chief Constable, or any proposal to call upon a Chief Constable to 
retire or resign, and in the case of the latter must make a 
recommendation to the PCC as to whether or not the PCC should call 
for the retirement or resignation in accordance with the procedures set 
out in Schedule 8 of the Act.

2. 11 The Panel must review or scrutinise the decisions or actions of the 
PCC in the discharge of his/her functions and make reports or 
recommendations to the  PCC with respect to the discharge of the 
PCC’s functions.  The Panel may carry out investigations into the 
decisions of the PCC, and into matters of particular interest or public 
concern.

2. 12 The Panel must publish any reports or recommendations made by it to 
the PCC in a manner which the Panel will determine and must also 
send copies to the Authorities.  

2. 13 The Panel may require the PCC or a member of his/her staff to attend 
the Panel to answer questions necessary for the Panel to undertake 
its functions, provided that such questions shall not: 

 a) relate to advice provided to the PCC by his/her staff;

b) in the view of the PCC: 

 i) be against the interests of national safety; 
 ii) jeopardise the safety of any person; or, 

iii) prejudice the prevention or detection of crime, the 
apprehension or prosecution of offenders, or the 
administration of justice; or, 

 c) be prohibited by any other enactment.  

Page 275



Report Page No: 12 

2. 14 If the Panel requires the PCC to attend the Panel, the Panel may (at 
reasonable notice) request the Chief Constable to attend before the 
Panel on the same occasion to answer any question which appears to 
the Panel to be necessary in order for it to carry out its functions.  

2. 15 The Panel may require the PCC to respond in writing to a report or 
recommendation from the Panel to the PCC.

2. 16 The Panel may suspend the PCC if he/she is charged with an offence 
carrying a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years.

2. 17 The Panel will have any other powers and duties set out in the Act or 
Regulations made in accordance with the Act.

3. 0 Membership 

 General 

3. 1 Cambridgeshire is a police force area comprising seven (7) 
Authorities.  The Authorities have each agreed to provide one elected 
member together with the Lead Authority and the Host Authority 
having the power to appoint the extra Members of the Panel.   

3.2 Appointments of elected members to the Panel shall be made by each 
of the Authorities in accordance with their own procedures and with a 
view to ensuring that the balanced appointment objective is met so far 
as is reasonably practicable.

3.3 The Lead Authority has taken steps to coordinate the Authorities with 
a view to ensuring that the balanced appointment objective is 
achieved.  The balanced appointment objective requires that the local 
authority Members of the Panel (which includes Members appointed 
by the Authorities and co-opted Members who are elected Members of 
any of the Authorities) should: 

 a) represent all parts of the police force area; 
 b) represent the political make-up of the Authorities; and,

c) taken together have the skills, knowledge and experience 
necessary for the Panel to discharge its functions effectively.  

3. 4 The Authorities have agreed that the Panel shall consist of eleven (11) 
Members appointed by each of the Authorities as set out in the 
attached Schedule.

Page 276



Report Page No: 13 

3.5 The appointment of the eleventh Member requires  
(a) the consent of the Secretary of State and
(b) resolution of the Panel  

3.6 The Lead Authority and the Host Authority have jointly agreed to seek 
the consent of the Secretary of State to the appointment of the 
eleventh Member 

3.7  The Panel shall also include two (2) independent Members co-opted 
by the Panel. 

3.8 In appointing co-opted Members who are not elected members of any 
of the Authorities the Panel must secure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable that the appointed and co-opted Members of the Panel, 
together have the skills, knowledge and experience necessary for the 
Panel to discharge its functions effectively.   

3.9 The Panel may also resolve to co-opt further Members provided that
(a) the further agreement of the Secretary of State is sought, and 
(b) the number of co-opted Members included in the Membership of 
the Panel shall not exceed twenty (20) in total.

3. 10 Authorities may appoint a named substitute Member for each 
nominated Member in the event that their Appointed Member is 
unable to attend a meeting.

 Appointed Members 

3. 11 If a nominated Member agrees to the appointment the Authority may 
appoint the Member as a Member of the Panel.   

3.12 In the event that an Authority does not appoint a Member in 
accordance with these requirements, the Secretary of State must 
appoint a Member to the panel from the defaulting authority in 
accordance with the provisions in the Act.  

3. 13 With a view to ensuring continuity of membership as far as possible, 
an appointed Member shall be a Member of the Panel for four years 
unless s/he ceases to be an elected Member, or is removed by their 
Authority.

3. 14 An Authority may decide in accordance with their procedures to 
remove their appointed Member from the Panel at any point and on 
doing so shall give notice to the Solicitor to the Council at the Host 
Authority.

Page 277



Report Page No: 14 

3. 15 An appointed Member may resign from the Panel by giving written 
notice to the Solicitor to the Council at the Host Authority on behalf of 
the Panel and to the proper officer at their Authority.

3. 16 In the event that any appointed Member resigns from the Panel, or is 
removed from the Panel by an Authority, the Authority shall 
immediately take steps to nominate and appoint an alternative 
Member to the Panel.

3. 17 Members appointed to the Panel may be re-appointed to the Panel for 
a further term of four years.

3. 18 Co-opted Members 

3. 19 The following may not be co-opted Members of the Panel: 

 a) the PCC for the Police Area.   
 b) a member of staff of the PCC for the area.  
 c)  a member of the civilian staff of the Police Force for the area.
 d) a Member of Parliament.  
 e)  a Member of the National Assembly for Wales.
 f) a Member of the Scottish Parliament.  
 g) a Member of the European Parliament.

3. 20 An elected member of any of the Authorities may not be a co-opted 
Member of the Panel where the number of co-opted Members is two.

3. 21 If the Panel has three or more co-opted Members an elected member 
of any of the Authorities may be a co-opted Member of the Panel 
provided that at least two of the other co-opted Members are not 
elected members of any of the Authorities.

3. 22 A co-opted Member shall be a Member of the Panel for four years.

3. 23 The Panel shall put in place arrangements to ensure that 
appointments of co-opted Members are undertaken following public 
advertisement in accordance with the following principles: 

a) The appointment will be made on merit of candidates whose 
skills, experience and qualities are considered best to ensure 
the effective functioning of the Panel; 

b) The selection process must be fair, objective, impartial and 
consistently applied to all candidates who will be assessed 
against the same pre determined criteria; and, 

Page 278



Report Page No: 15 

c) The selection process will be conducted transparently with 
information about the requirements for the appointment and the 
process being publicly advertised and made available with a 
view to attracting a strong and diverse field of suitable 
candidates.

3. 24 A co-opted Member of the Panel may resign from the Panel by giving 
written notice to the Solicitor to the Council at the Host Authority on 
behalf of the Panel.  

3. 25 The Panel must from time to time decide whether the Panel should 
exercise its power to change the number of co-opted Members of the 
Panel to enable the balanced appointment objective to be met, or be 
more effectively met, and if so, it must exercise that power 
accordingly.

3. 26 The Panel may decide to terminate the appointment of a co-opted 
Member of the Panel if at least two-thirds of the persons who are 
Members of the Panel at the time when the decision is made vote in 
favour of making that decision at any time for the reasons set out 
below and on doing so shall give written notice to the co-opted 
Member:

a) if the co-opted Member has been absent from the Panel for 
more than three months without the consent of the Panel; 

b) if the co-opted Member has been convicted of a criminal offence 
but not automatically disqualified; 

c) if the co-opted Member is deemed to be incapacitated by 
physical or mental illness or is otherwise unable or unfit to 
discharge his or her functions as a co-opted Member of the 
Panel; or, 

d) if the co-opted Member’s membership of the Panel no longer 
achieves the balanced appointment objective. 

3. 27 In the event that a co-opted Member resigns from the Panel or is 
removed from the Panel following a decision of the Panel, the Panel 
shall ensure that at least two independent co-opted Members remain 
appointed to the Panel, and in the absence of two such Members shall 
make arrangements to ensure that two co-opted Members are 
appointed.

3. 28 Co-opted Members appointed to the Panel may be re-appointed for a 
further term of four years provided that the balanced appointment 
objective is met by that re-appointment.

Page 279



Report Page No: 16 

4. 0 Budget and Costs of the Panel 

4. 1 The annual costs of the Panel, reduced by the figure of any grant from 
the Home Office or any other source, shall be borne between the 
Authorities equally. 

4. 2 A draft budget for the operation of the Panel shall be drawn up by the 
Host Authority in February each year, and shall be approved by the 
Authorities.  All costs will be contained within the budget.

5. 0 Host Authority

5. 1 A Host Authority shall be determined by mutual agreement of the 
Authorities for the Panel and shall provide such administrative and 
other support as will be necessary to enable the Panel to undertake its 
functions.  The Host Authority may be changed by agreement of the 
Authorities providing 12 months notice expiring on 31 March in any 
year is given. 

6. 0 Rules of Procedure 

The Panel shall determine its Rules of Procedure which shall include 
arrangements in relation to the: 

 a) the appointment and removal of the Chairman; 
 b) the formation of sub-committees; 
 c) the making of decisions; 
 d) the arrangements for convening meetings; and, 
 e) the circulation of information. 

7. 0  Allowances 

7. 1 Members shall be entitled to claim expenses incurred as a result of 
membership of the Panel in accordance with the allowances appendix.

8. 0 Promotion of the Panel 

8. 1 The Panel arrangements shall be promoted by: 

 a) the establishment and maintenance of a dedicated open-access  
website including information about the role and work of the 
Panel, Panel Membership, all non-confidential Panel and sub-

Page 280



Report Page No: 17 

committee meeting papers, press releases and other 
publications;

b) the issuing of regular press releases about the Panel and its 
work; and, 

c) the Authorities will each include information about the Panel on 
their websites, and will also include a link to the Panel website.

8. 2 Support and guidance shall be provided to executive and non-
executive elected members and officers of the Authorities in relation to 
the functions of the Panel as follows: 

a) by the provision of initial briefing sessions for elected members 
and relevant officers of the Authorities before the election of the 
PCC, and the provision of annual briefing sessions following the 
PCC’s appointment; and, 

b) by the provision of written briefing notes for elected members 
and relevant officers of the Authorities at least three times per 
year.

9. 0 Validity of Proceedings 

9. 1 The validity of the proceedings of the Panel shall not be affected by a 
vacancy in the Membership of the Panel or a defect in appointment.  

9. 2 The conduct of the Panel and the content of these arrangements shall 
be subject to the legislative provisions in the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011, and any Regulations made in accordance 
with that Act, and in the event of any conflict between the Act or 
Regulations, and these arrangements, the requirements of the 
legislation will prevail.

SIGNED BY THE AUTHORITIES AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 281



Page 282

This page is intentionally left blank



SC
H
ED

U
LE

C
A
M
B
R
ID
G
ES
H
IR
E 
P
O
LI
C
E 
A
N
D

 C
R
IM

E 
P
A
N
EL

E
le

ct
ed

T
o

ta
l

P
o

lit
ic

al
M

em
b

er
s

M
em

b
er

s
C

o
n

s
%

L
/D

%
L

ab
%

U
K

IP
%

G
re

en
%

In
d

%
P

C
P

 S
ea

ts
S

p
lit

C
am

bs
 C

C
69

41
59

.4
21

30
.4

3
4.

3
2

2.
9

1
1.

4
1

1.
4

3
2C

o
n

s 
+ 

1L
/D

C
am

b 
C

ity
42

1
2.

4
21

50
.0

19
45

.2
0.

0
0.

0
1

2.
4

1
1L

/D
S

 C
am

bs
57

33
57

.9
16

28
.1

1
1.

8
0.

0
0.

0
7

12
.3

1
1C

o
n

s
H

un
ts

52
38

73
.1

7
13

.5
1

1.
9

3
5.

8
0.

0
2

3.
8

1
1C

o
n

s
F

en
la

nd
40

34
85

.0
3

7.
5

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

3
7.

5
1

1C
o

n
s

E
as

t C
am

bs
39

25
64

.1
10

25
.6

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

4
10

.3
1

1C
o

n
s

P
et

'b
or

o 
C

C
57

32
56

.1
4

7.
0

10
17

.5
0.

0
0.

0
11

19
.3

3
2C

o
n

s 
+ 

1o
th

er
T

ot
al

 s
ea

ts
 &

 a
vg

e 
%

35
6

20
4

56
.9

82
23

.2
34

10
.1

5
1.

2
1

0.
2

29
8.

1
11

* 
re

qu
ire

s 
S

ec
re

ta
ry

 o
f S

ta
te

 c
on

se
nt

A
ss

u
m

es
 P

C
P

 s
iz

e 
= 

13
 M

em
b

er
s 

m
ad

e 
u

p
 o

f 
11

 e
le

ct
ed

 m
em

b
er

s*
 +

 2
 c

o
-o

p
te

es
 (

n
o

n
 -

co
u

n
ci

llo
rs

)

Page 283



Page 284

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: The Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy: 
Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Chris Williams, Strategy Officer 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE ON CONSULTATION AND COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT
Not a Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 Understanding the needs of our communities and residents is essential 
to sound decision-making and the provision of efficient and effective 
public services. Consultation and community engagement can increase 
our understanding of community needs.

1.2 In July 2011 the City Council approved a Code of Best Practice on 
Consultation and Community Engagement in order to establish clear 
principles to guide council departments to ensure a more structured, 
proportionate and appropriate approach to consultation. This report 
reviews the impact that the Code of Practice has had on the way the 
City Council conducts consultation. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Executive Councillor is recommended:  

a) To endorse this review of the progress made with the implementation 
of the Code of Practice.

3. Background 

3.1 The intention to develop a Code of Best Practice on Consultation and 
Community Engagement was announced in Cambridge City Council’s 
annual statement 2010-11.  

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 24

Page 285



Report Page No: 2 

3.2 This intention was consistent with both local and national political 
ambitions to improve decision making by increasing transparency and 
involving service users and residents more actively in the policy-
formation and decision-making processes.

3.3 The Council has been carrying out consultation work and engaging 
with the community for many years, and there is much good practice 
to learn from and build on within the authority. The purpose of 
developing a code was to ensure a more structured, proportionate and 
appropriate approach to consultation across the organisation. It would 
support the delivery of the Council’s vision of:  

‘A city whose citizens feel they can influence public decision making 
and are equally keen to pursue individual and community initiatives.’

3.4 The City Council approved a Code of Best Practice on Consultation 
and Community Engagement in July 2011. At the time officers 
committed to reviewing the impact and content of this Code of 
Practice after one year of operation, in consultation with ward 
councillors, council staff, partner organisations, residents and 
community groups. 

Implementation of the Code of Practice

3.5 All staff and councillors involved in consultation and community 
engagement are required to have regard to the Code of Practice. In 
order to ensure the successful implementation of the Code, the 
following steps have been taken:

a) Copies of the Code have been sent to relevant staff and councillors, 
and the document is available on the Council’s intranet and website. 
An article was included in the staff newsletter ‘Insight’ to raise the 
awareness of staff.

b) The officer working group on consultation has continued to meet in 
order to share and compare experience of consultations, learn lessons 
from each other and in particular to identify and address any 
unnecessary inconsistencies in the ways that we consult.

c) The officer consultation toolkit that was developed by the Community 
Services department in 2009 has been reviewed, refreshed and 
promoted to staff across the Council.

Page 286



Report Page No: 3 

d) A managers briefing on ‘Good Consultations’ was held in February 
2012. Case studies were used to promote examples of good practice, 
explore lessons learnt, share tips and set out the benefits of 
consultation to managers.  

e) Training on how to write effective questions for surveys and 
consultations has been held for staff working in different services 
across the organisation.

f) A forward plan of consultations has been produced so that officers can 
identify opportunities for working together, rather than consulting the 
same people twice.

g) The consultation database, which includes contact details for 
residents associations and community groups, has been updated and 
promoted to staff.

h) A range of Facebook pages and a Twitter account have been 
established to improve how we communicate with residents, and they 
have been used to promote consultations.  

i) North Area Committee has tried new ways of engaging and consulting 
residents, including through social media. Nearly 700 people input into 
the North Area Committee pilot consultation, which included 
engagement with young people and minority groups. Members used 
the consultation responses to agree local priorities and the City 
Council has developed a plan to address the issues that were raised. 
It has also been agreed to delegate further decisions to the Area 
Committees, for example Safer City Grants and elements of priority 
setting and decisions for capital work to develop community facilities.

Impact of the Code of Practice

3.6 The purpose of developing a code was to ensure a more structured, 
proportionate and appropriate approach to consultation across the 
organisation. It was not expected that the number of consultations run 
by the City Council would change significantly as a result of the 
introduction of the Code of Practice, and this has so far proved to be 
the case. The more important question is whether there has been an 
improvement in the way in which the authority conducts consultation.

3.7 A range of methods have been used to assess the impact of the Code 
of Practice, including: a self-assessment by officers, the use of case 
studies and the feedback from two focus groups that were held to 
discuss the City Council’s approach to consultation. The first focus 

Page 287



Report Page No: 4 

group was held with residents associations on the 16th of June and the 
second was with representatives of community groups on the 18th of 
June. In total, 30 people shared their views and experiences with us.

3.8 The impact of the code has been assessed against the guiding 
principles for undertaking consultation and community engagement, 
which are set out in the Code of Practice. These guiding principles are 
openness, accessibility and inclusiveness, and transparency and 
accountability.

Openness

3.9 The City Council recognises it must be clear about which decisions 
and actions have already been decided and which are open to 
consultation and debate. The Code of Practice guides officers to be 
clear at the outset about how and when residents and community 
groups can get involved and make their views known; how their views 
will be used; and (wherever possible) how the decision will be made, 
when and by whom.  

3.10 Feedback from the focus groups was that there is still more to do on 
this. Whilst there are some examples of good practice such as the 
case study of the Waste Strategy below, it is not always clear to 
residents what is within the scope of a consultation. Attendees at the 
focus groups cited some examples where the authority has published 
a long document and asked at the end of it whether the reader agrees 
or not. They asked that the authority consistently adopts a more 
sophisticated approach that makes it clearer what is open for debate 
and asks relevant questions that elicit responses which then inform 
council decisions. The Consultation Working Group will continue to 
highlight to colleagues throughout the organisation the importance of 
producing clear consultation documents that ask appropriate 
questions.  

Page 288



Report Page No: 5 

Case study: Waste Strategy  

Purpose: To find out what residents thought about possible changes to their 
bin collections, and to find out what would encourage residents to recycle 
more.

Methodology: telephone survey of 1,000 residents, across all wards and 
socio-economic groups within the city, and a survey on our website.  

In line with the Code of Practice we asked questions around where there 
was a choice to be made, and on a subject that residents were interested in. 
The consultation has enabled us to improve the service we provide and 
make significant savings in a way that the majority of residents consulted 
will support. As a result of the feedback received we won’t collect bins on a 
Sunday, and we will continue to collect the different bins that resident’s have 
on the same day.

The local media took an interest in the consultation which generated 
increased public debate on the matter. This provided the City Council with 
an opportunity to promote how people could have their say, and after the 
consultation had closed, to feedback to residents how they had influenced 
the final decision.

One lesson that was learnt from the consultation was the importance of 
ensuring that web versions of surveys are tested robustly before being 
promoted to the public. 

Accessibility and inclusiveness 

3.11 It is paramount that all our residents and community groups have the 
opportunity to take part in our consultation and community 
engagement activities, regardless of their background. This means 
ensuring that the venues used are accessible to all who wish to 
participate. The times when consultation activities take place and the 
time given to respond to consultations must also be reasonable and 
appropriate.

3.12 The Code of Practice encourages officers to engage residents and 
community groups sufficiently early in the decision-making process to 
enable their views to genuinely inform the final decision. The Code 
and the toolkit direct officers to pay particular attention to methods 
likely to engage vulnerable and socially excluded residents or groups 
where those groups are potentially affected by decisions.  

Page 289



Report Page No: 6 

3.13 The focus groups highlighted the success of the approach that has 
been adopted by the City Council’s North Area Committee to engage 
with a wider range of people living and working in Cambridge. The 
changes that have been made were felt to have encouraged greater 
and more direct interaction between residents and councillors. The 
agenda has been focussed more on issues that really matter to local 
people, and this in particular was stressed as a real achievement.  

3.14 The feedback included that consultation does not always have to 
involve big set piece events, but that more regular engagement works 
well, for example the way the North Area Committee has operated 
recently. Attendees at the focus groups encouraged the City Council 
to make greater use of a community engagement approach alongside 
consultation techniques, and to utilise the skills of the Community 
Development officers. It was suggested that using this approach more 
consistently would enable the authority to engage with an even wider 
range of people. The Consultation Working Group will continue to 
highlight to colleagues the need to use a range of methods to ensure 
that the authority is obtaining, and listening to, the views of people 
from all the different communities of Cambridge.

Case study: CB4 consultation

Purpose: To better understand the views and priorities of residents living in 
North Area.

Methodology: distributed freepost postcards with two key questions on; went 
to community events, such as the Arbury Carnival; targeted hard to reach 
groups, such as young people by using the Dec Bus; and attended 
meetings of community groups, such as an Asian women’s group.

The approach was centred on the principle that people don’t have to go to a 
City Council meeting to have their say. We combined a variety of methods 
to get a more complete picture of local priorities, so that we could use our 
resources to make improvements that really matter to the people living in 
the area.

Over 650 people responded. Councillors used the consultation to agree 
local priorities. Street scene issues were a clear priority, and the Head of 
Streets and Open Spaces recently fed back to the North Area Committee on 
the significant progress in tackling the issues raised, in order to maintain the 
‘You said, we did’ approach.

Page 290



Report Page No: 7 

Case study: Parkside Pools changing facilities  

Purpose: To shape the £350,000 refurbishment of Parkside Pools changing 
facilities, and in particular to inform the tender specification.

Methodology: information and paper based copies of consultation 
documents around the pool, at reception and in the foyer; online survey 
available to anyone and promoted to the pools clients, including clubs and 
schools; face-to-face consultation with users, clubs and staff; and targeted 
consultation with equalities groups.  

The local media took an interest in the consultation, which was successful at 
engaging with a wide range of stakeholders. For example, feedback from 
the city’s transgender community revealed that some individuals felt 
uncomfortable changing in the family cubicles or the disabled changing 
rooms as they did not fall into either category. Consequently the refurbished 
changing area now consists of cubicles allocated within male, female and 
gender neutral areas. The new layout also takes into account the needs of 
the city’s Muslim women, who would not want to change in a unisex area.  

Transparency and accountability 

3.15 It is important that information provided to support consultation and 
community engagement is clear, accessible and tells people how and 
when they can get involved and make their views known; how their 
views will be used; and (wherever possible) how the decision will be 
made, when and by whom.

3.16 The City Council ensures that all consultations we run provide clear 
contact details so that people can find out further information or ask 
questions. Wherever possible, officers are setting out when and where 
the consultation results will be considered and who will make the final 
decision about the issue.  

3.17 We updated our consultation toolkit in September 2011. The 
document supports City Council staff consult and involve communities 
effectively. It is located on the Council’s intranet and has been 
promoted to staff, including at the Manager’s Briefing in February 
2012. Training has also been provided to help officers to develop the 
appropriate skills, for example training on writing effective questions 
was commissioned and delivered in April 2012. The Consultation 
Working Group will continue to promote the Code of Practice and the 
toolkit, as well as identify any training needs.  

Page 291



Report Page No: 8 

3.18 The consultation database, which includes contact details for 
residents associations and community groups, has been updated and 
promoted to staff. However, feedback from the focus groups included 
that we need to do more to ensure that people are aware of the 
consultations we are running, in particular the smaller, more local 
consultations. The redevelopment of the City Council’s website will 
offer new opportunities for achieving this, for example it will include 
the functionality to enable people to sign up to receive regular emails 
about current and upcoming consultations. It is recognised though that 
the authority cannot rely on technology to make people aware of what 
it is doing, so officers will need to continue to consider different ways 
of promoting consultations.

3.19 Key to successful consultation is to ensure that feedback is available 
to participants on the results of their involvement and the decisions 
made, as well as to keep them informed of progress in implementing 
the decisions. The consultation section on our website now includes 
links from each closed consultation to the reports showing the 
findings, and where possible, the appropriate committee report. As 
well as putting the results of consultations on our website and in 
committee reports, officers are, with increasing consistency, sharing 
these directly with the people that have been consulted. Feedback 
from both focus groups was that this is of paramount importance; 
otherwise people will stop responding to consultations if they cannot 
see what difference sharing their views makes.

Case study: Single Equality Scheme 2012-15 

Purpose: To shape the new Single Equality Scheme, which incorporated the 
City Council’s equality objectives that are required by the Equality Act 2010.

Methodology: discussion at the City Council’s Diversity Forum with a wide 
range of relevant local organisations; online consultation response form 
promoted to local equality groups; and consultation with partner 
organisations.   

The consultation was promoted on our website and in an article in 
Cambridge Matters. The consultation ran for thirteen weeks – the additional 
week was included to take into account that the consultation ran over 
Christmas.

Page 292



Report Page No: 9 

In line with the Code of Practice we produced a summary of the consultation 
responses received and explained how these responses were used to 
influence the final document. The summary was not only published on our 
website, but also sent to everyone that had responded to the consultation. 
To keep residents informed we will be providing regular updates to the 
people that responded to the consultation on the progress with 
implementing the Single Equality Scheme.

Conclusions and next steps

3.20 Overall, the Code of Practice and accompanying consultation toolkit 
have supported officers to conduct, in many instances, high quality 
consultation and community engagement activity. The case studies 
outlined in this report demonstrate good practice from across the 
organisation. The challenge for the City Council, as for any other 
public body, is to ensure that the public involvement work it 
undertakes is consistently of a high standard and appropriate to the 
matter at hand.

3.21 The authority continues to learn lessons from the consultation and 
engagement activity that it carries out in order to improve what it does 
next time. For example, in response to a need identified by officers 
from different parts of the organisation, the training on how to write 
effective questions for surveys and consultations was commissioned. 
The Consultation Working Group will give serious consideration to the 
feedback obtained from residents associations and community 
groups, and put in place actions to respond to the areas for 
improvement that were identified, within the resources available.

3.22 The consultation register provides a way for officers to share the 
consultation activity they are planning, so that services can identify 
opportunities to work together. It is felt that further work needs to be 
done to ensure this tool is utilised and that we work as one Council 
when consulting. Similarly, we need to ensure that we work with our 
partner organisations to undertake consultation and community 
engagement activities when this is the most appropriate and efficient 
way of using our collective resources. The City Council must also 
ensure that the results of our consultations are widely shared and 
acted upon in order to ensure that we achieve the best value for 
money from our consultation and engagement activity.  

Page 293



Report Page No: 10 

3.23 Officers need to continue to work to ensure that all councillors are 
notified of all major consultations, and that ward councillors, as 
representatives of their communities, are advised of any consultation 
or community engagement activities that affect their wards.  

3.24 The Code of Practice will continue to be promoted to officers and the 
Consultation Working Group will continue to meet to share best 
practice. The Strategy and Partnerships team will be reviewing options 
for the City Council’s corporate consultation programme in the coming 
months. This work will include exploring alternative approaches to 
public consultation on budget issues and satisfaction with Council 
services.  

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications

4.1 Few services have dedicated consultation budgets. It was estimated 
that in the 2010-11 the City Council spent approximately £77,000 on 
specific consultation activity across a wide range of services.  The 
bulk of this was statutory consultation on planning matters, including 
advertising costs. This figure does not include the costs associated 
with consultation on conservation areas. Nor does it include the cost 
of staff time for managing these exercises or for undertaking the wide 
variety of informal consultation that takes place as part of officers’ 
normal duties. 

4.2 Council Departments need to be conscious of cost when planning 
consultations, and take care to be proportionate and appropriate in 
what they plan, taking advantage of low cost options wherever 
possible, including existing fora such as ward councillor surgeries, 
area committees, Cambridge Matters and the Council’s website. 

(b) Staffing Implications   (if not covered in Consultations Section) 

4.3 All staff and councillors involved in consultation and community 
engagement are required to have regard to the code of practice. A 
number of staff in the Council are highly skilled at consultation and 
community engagement, and the network of officers with experience 
of consultation provides a fora for sharing experience and expertise to 
raise the quality of consultation and community engagement across 
the Council.

Page 294



Report Page No: 11 

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

4.4 An equality impact assessment of the Code of Practice was 
completed. In summary, the Code of Practice was intended to have a 
positive impact by ensuring that the Council considers (and takes 
steps to address) accessibility issues when undertaking consultations. 
All the case studies in this report demonstrate the accessibility and 
inclusiveness are being considered in our consultation and community 
engagement activity.  

(d) Environmental Implications

4.5 There are limited environmental implications resulting from the Code 
of Practice. Engaging through face-to-face meetings or providing 
paper copies of consultation documents, for instance, may consume 
more resources than relying solely on electronic forms of consultation, 
but the social benefits are considered to outweigh any environmental 
disbenefits.

(e) Consultation

4.6 Consultation is the subject of this report.  

(f) Community Safety

4.7 There are no direct implications for community safety arising from this 
report.

5. Background papers 

5.1 These background papers were used in the preparation of this report:  

 ! Code of Best Practice on Consultation and Community Engagement 
and its Equality Impact Assessment.  

6. Appendices 

Appendix A: Code of Best Practice on Consultation and Community 
Engagement

Page 295



Report Page No: 12 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Chris Williams
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457063
Author’s Email: Chris.Williams@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 296



CODE OF BEST PRACTICE ON CONSULTATION AND 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

1. Purpose 

1.1 Understanding the needs of our communities and residents 
is essential to sound decision-making and the provision of efficient
and effective public services.  Consultation and community 
engagement can increase our understanding of community needs.

1.2 This code of practice aims to establish clear principles to 
guide Council Departments in ensuring a more structured, 
proportionate and appropriate approach to consultation.

2. What is Community Engagement?

2.1 Community engagement is the active participation of our 
local residents and community groups in the decisions that affect 
their lives. These decisions may include issues related to the 
improvement, delivery and evaluation of services. They can also 
be about giving our residents a voice both as individuals within
their communities and by building sustainable and empowered 
community groups.

2.2 Community engagement is about listening and learning, 
engaging in meaningful dialogue with our residents and community 
groups, including those people who are already using our services 
and those who are not.

2.3 It is an opportunity to find out what is important to them and 
to explore more fully why they feel the way they do about their
lives, their neighbourhood, their local area, their city.

Page 297



3. What is Consultation? 

3.1 Consultation is the process by which the Council will seek 
advice, information and opinions about strategies, policies and 
services to inform our decision-making and help design good 
services.  

3.2 Consultation may include, for example, surveys, 
questionnaires, focus groups, public meetings, user and resident 
forums - different techniques will be appropriate in different 
circumstances.  Consultation is a key process in community 
engagement. 

4. Why does Community Engagement matter? 

4.1 Establishing effective working relationships between the 
Council and its residents and local community groups will ensure 
that that the aspirations and needs of local people are understood 
and, where possible, acted upon.  

4.2 Strengthened relationships with the Council and its partners 
may also lead to an increase in local citizen activity and active 
democracy, building a sense of civic responsibility in those who get 
involved.

4.3 Effective community engagement and consultation can help 
ensure the Council is providing the services that residents really 
need, in the way that residents want to access them.  It can help 
inform investment and spending decisions to help make sure 
services and scarce resources are targeted most effectively where 
need and demand exist. 

5. The Duty to Involve 

5.1 Section138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement 
in Health Act came into effect on 1 April 2009. It imposes a duty on 
all councils to involve ‘local representatives’ when carrying out any 
of its functions by providing information, consulting or ‘involving in 
another way’. 

Page 298



6. Statement of Community Involvement 

6.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 made it a 
requirement for local authorities to prepare a Statement of 
Community Involvement. The Council introduced its statement 
called ‘A Consultation Strategy for Planning in Cambridge’ in 2007.

6.2 This Code of Practice is intended to complement and not 
override this statement of community involvement or the legal 
requirements to consult on planning policies and applications, or 
any other statutorily determined consultation processes and 
requirements, for instance those relating to the Council’s tenants 
and its housing and planning functions. 

7. The Cambridgeshire Compact 

7.1 In February 2007 the City Council signed up to the 
Cambridgeshire Compact. This is a partnership agreement 
between statutory bodies and the voluntary and community sector 
designed to improve relationships and set a framework for 
effective consultation, representation and partnership working. 
This Code of Practice is intended to complement and not override 
the Compact. 

8. The Council’s Vision 

8.1 The Council introduced a new vision for the future of the City 
in 2010, which we share with Cambridge citizens and with partner 
organisations. In particular, two elements of this vision relate to the 
Council’s approach to consultation and community engagement: 

 ! A city whose citizens feel they can influence public 
decision-making and are equally keen to pursue individual 
and community initiatives. 

 ! A city which is diverse and tolerant, values activities which 
bring people together and where everyone has a stake in 
the community. 

8.2 More effective consultation and community engagement is 
one important strand of the Council’s ambitions to be transparent 
and accountable to Cambridge’s residents. 

Page 299



9. Guiding principles for undertaking Consultation and 
Community Engagement 

9.1 In conducting consultation and engaging with the community 
the City Council will focus on openness; accessibility and 
inclusiveness; and transparency and accountability.  The City 
Council will: 

Openness
i. be clear about which issues/decisions/actions are already 

decided and which are open to consultation and debate (and 
on which we are therefore seeking residents’, community 
groups’ and other stakeholders’ views).

ii. be clear at the outset about how and when residents and 
community groups can get involved and make their views 
known; how their views and involvement will be used; and 
(wherever possible) how the decision will be made, when 
and by whom

iii. engage residents and community groups sufficiently early in 
the decision-making process to enable their views to 
genuinely inform the final decision, wherever possible 

Accountability 
iv. provide a named contact person for further information 

v. ensure that all councillors are notified of all major 
consultations, and that ward councillors, as representatives 
of their communities, are advised of any consultation or 
community engagement activities that affect their wards 

vi. work jointly with our partner organisations to undertake 
consultation and community engagement activities when this 
is the most appropriate and efficient way of using collective 
resources

Accessibility and inclusiveness 
vii. ensure that all our residents and community groups have the 

opportunity to take part in our consultation and community 
engagement activities regardless of age, gender, gender 
reassignment, disability, ethnicity, race, religion or belief or 
sexual orientation 

Page 300



viii. listen to, learn from, respect and value the views of all 
participants

ix. make paper copies of consultation documents available at 
council buildings and not rely solely on electronic methods of 
consulting and reporting consultation results 

x. ensure that the venues used for consultation and community 
engagement activities are accessible to all who wish to 
participate

xi. ensure that the times when consultation and community 
engagement activities take place and the time given to 
respond to consultation are reasonable and appropriate 

xii. use appropriate consultation and community engagement 
methods, including electronic methods where appropriate, 
according to the issues being addressed and the nature of 
the consultee group.  We will pay particular attention to 
methods likely to engage vulnerable and socially excluded 
residents or groups where those groups are potentially 
affected by decisions.   

xiii. aim for our consultation and community engagement to be 
participant-driven whenever possible  

Transparency 
xiv. be able to explain why consultation was undertaken in a 

certain way (or not undertaken), making this clear for 
instance in committee reports where appropriate. 

xv. support Council staff involved in planning and running 
consultation and community events to develop the 
appropriate skills to do so effectively 

xvi. ensure that information provided to support community 
engagement in decision-making is clear, accessible and 
sufficient to tell people what they need to know, promoting 
consultations through press notices, the Council’s website 
and other media as appropriate. 

Page 301



xvii. publish a summary of consultation responses received and 
explain how these responses have been used in informing 
the final decision (and if not, why not) as far as possible. 

xviii. ensure that feedback is available to participants on the 
results of their involvement and the decisions made and 
keep them informed of progress in implementing the 
decisions 

9.2 In certain circumstances it may not be appropriate for the 
City Council to undertake consultation or community engagement 
activities.  Such circumstances include: 

  if the decision(s) has actually already been made 

  if the decision(s) relate to things that the law requires that 
the Council does in a particular way (i.e. where the 
Council has no choice on whether / how something is 
done)

 ! if the Council needs to make decisions very quickly and 
does not have time for consultation and engagement 

 ! if limited resources mean that the Council has little or no 
option about a decision or course of action 

 ! if the size or nature of the decision is such that 
consultation or community engagement would not be cost 
effective, proportionate or reasonable  

 ! if the Council’s purpose is simply to convey information 
and it is not seeking a response. 

9.3 The Council will make it clear why it is not consulting in any 
circumstances where it might decide it would not be proportionate 
or appropriate to consult widely on decisions with a significant 
impact on residents. 

10. Reviewing the Implementation of the Code of Practice 

10.1 The Council will review the impact and content of this Code 
of Practice after one year of operation, in consultation with Ward 
Councillors, council staff, partner organisations and residents and 
community groups. 

Page 302



11. For Further Information 

Section138 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/section/138

‘A Consultation Strategy for Planning in Cambridge’ - September 
2007
http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/ccm/content/planning-and-building-
control/planning-policy/local-development-framework/statement-of-
community-involvement.en

The Cambridgeshire Compact – February 2007 
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/council/depts/community/engag
ement/compact/

HM Government Code of Practice on Consultation – July 2008 
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf

This Code of Practice has been prepared in consultation with a 
variety of consultees including Ward Councillors, council staff, 
partner organisations and residents and community groups. 

June 2011 

Page 303



Page 304

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: The Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy: 
Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Andrew Limb 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

AREA WORKING: REVIEW OF PARTICIPATION PILOT
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 This report reviews progress made with area working during the year 
of the participation pilot, and sets out the next steps.  It describes the 
approaches to community engagement that were piloted with the 
North Area Committee, and assesses which have proved most fruitful.  
It describes in broad terms the process to devolve further decision 
making to area committees. And it suggests how the Council can build 
on these developments to further the goal of greater community 
involvement in decisions that affect local areas. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1    The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 

i. endorse the assessment of the North Area Committee participation 
pilot set out in Appendix 1;

ii. promote area committee member and community engagement with 
devolved decision making particularly in relation to the development of 
the Area Needs Assessment and prioritisation of related local priority 
projects; and

iii. support the proposed community engagement mapping exercise. 

3. Background 

3.1 The participation pilot covering North Area Committee in 2011-12 set 
out to explore ways of engaging residents further in the business of 
the committee and its decision making.  Officers were also tasked with 
exploring options for devolving further decisions to area committees. 

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 25

Page 305



Report Page No: 2 

3.2 Officers and leading members invested considerable time over the 
course of the year developing and trialling a variety of approaches to 
community engagement and meeting organisation.  The key aim was 
to ensure that the meetings gave opportunities for residents to raise 
issues of genuine local concern, and to discuss them in a more 
engaging and inclusive way with members, stakeholders and other 
residents.

Learning the lessons 

3.3 Some approaches were more successful than others, and Appendix 1 
contains an assessment of  

 ! what we set out to achieve; 
 ! what we did; 
 ! what worked well; 
 ! what have we learned; and 
 ! how have we said this could be rolled out. 

3.4 What is clear is that the feel of the meetings evolved over the course 
of the year, with the January and March meetings having a 
significantly more engaging feel to them with many residents attending 
and participating.  It is important to note that developing these more 
complex and inclusive meetings did require significantly more officer 
time than the previous style of meetings, particularly (but not 
exclusively) on the part of the committee manager and senior lead 
officer (as well as the Chair). 

3.5 An interim review of the Participation Pilot was presented to Strategy 
and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 10 October 2011. It showed 
what the pilot had set out to achieve, both in reshaping the meetings 
and engaging people outside of meetings; what had been done and 
worked well in practice; the learning we had gained; and how the 
project could be developed over the remainder of the year.

3.6 Views were gathered from those attending the meeting throughout the 
year, via feedback sheets and other less formal contact.  A Facebook 
page and web page were also developed during the year to help 
communicate with residents.  Committee members were asked at the 
March meeting to provide their views on the effectiveness of the pilot. 

Page 306



Report Page No: 3 

Successes and Challenges 

3.7 For the January and March meetings, the Committee moved to a 
different venue (Shirley School), which seemed to be more amenable 
to a larger number of residents to attend.  Crucially, the main agenda 
items for those two meetings (Fen Road and the Science Park station) 
seemed to capture the public’s interest and generated very well 
attended meetings with vibrant public discussion.   

3.8 The May meeting moved back to the previous venue (Manor 
Community College), as this was felt to be appropriate for the issues 
being discussed (which included youth engagement).  This venue now 
has a strict finish time for room bookings, and the May meeting 
demonstrated the need for active agenda management in such 
circumstances.

3.9 Over the course of the year of the pilot, people attending North Area 
Committee meetings generally said that they preferred the new 
approach and found it more welcoming, informal and interesting.  
Numbers at meetings increased for the later meetings, where it 
became clear that the issues on the agenda were key to increased 
attendance and engagement. 

3.10 Once people had come to meetings, they expected agenda to be well 
managed and not to have to stay too long before their issue was dealt 
with. Efforts were made to finish meetings earlier during the pilot 
period and this was generally achieved for most, although not all, 
meetings.  The principle of running agenda more efficiently, including 
the timing of items, was adopted by the area committee, partly to 
improve its capacity but also to signal to people what it wanted to 
achieve.

3.11 The role of the lead officer (Jonathan James, Head of Customer 
Services) and his relationship with the chair was important in the 
success that was achieved on agenda management.  As mentioned 
above, the May meeting further highlighted the importance of this 
discipline.  It is now proposed that a lead officer be appointed for each 
area committee, to assist the Chair and committee manager in agenda 
management and related issues. 

Page 307



Report Page No: 4 

Engaging the communities 

3.12 The Pilot has not been all about getting people to formal committee 
meetings.  A good deal of officer work on the pilot has been about 
engaging residents outside of meetings during the pilot to try and raise 
awareness of the committee’s work and to allow people to shape the 
meetings and contribute without having to attend.

3.13 One important factor that influences people’s perceptions about 
engagement, revealed in previous Citizen’s Surveys, is that having an 
opportunity to get involved is highly valued, so that if an issue does 
arise they have an outlet where it can be aired and addressed. 

3.14 One of the most significant innovations during the year was the 
community engagement activity brigaded around the “CB4” survey of 
residents’ priorities.   

3.15 The discussion at the March meeting of how the Streets & Open 
Spaces service had sought to respond to the priorities raised through 
this consultation illustrated that these street scene-type matters were 
indeed issues of significant importance to residents.  However, the 
engagement process had been very resource-intensive, and relied to 
some extent on community infrastructure that is not replicated to the 
same degree in other areas of the city. 

Working with partners 

3.16 The County Council have engaged in the pilot process, with cabinet 
members and/or senior officers attending to speak and take questions 
on key topics such as libraries, Fen Road, the Science Park Station, 
primary school places and transport investment projects.   

3.17 The Police have continued to attend to discuss community safety 
priorities, and their engagement evolved during the year as differing 
approaches were tried.  This has generally been successful in 
providing a more effective way of highlighting and agreeing issues, 
although the May meeting was not successful in this respect. 

Summary 

3.18 Overall, looking at what we set out to achieve, it does seem that the 
Pilot has been broadly successful in finding ways to engage and 
involve more residents, particularly in the January and March 
meetings.  The crucial importance of agenda management and 
chairing skills has been re-emphasised. 

Page 308



Report Page No: 5 

Transferability 

3.19 Individual Area Committee Chairs have the discretion to choose the 
successful aspects of the Pilot, that could be “rolled out”, recognising 
that what might be appropriate for one area committee may not be 
appropriate for another – this has been one of the learning points 
during the pilot year.

3.20 These themes have been discussed both at the October Strategy & 
Resources committee meeting and at subsequent member working 
group meetings.  Area Committee chairs may wish to discuss with 
officers whether they would like to trial any of the approaches piloted 
at North Area, although the resource constraints need to be borne in 
mind (as noted above the more engaging approaches in the North 
have required significant additional input of officer time). 

Looking Forward 

Devolved decision-making 

3.21 As part of the pilot project, officers agreed a set of principles for 
devolving decision making with Executive Councillors and Area 
Committee Chairs.  These principles were applied to the decisions 
that had been taken by the council in preceding years, and a group of 
decisions that could be devolved was agreed with the relevant 
Executive Councillors.   

3.22 As a result, the Council has agreed a process for devolving decision-
making for projects to be funded by particular types of developer 
contributions from Section 106 agreements. The aim is for area 
committees, in consultation with residents, to identify local needs 
through Area Needs Assessments and then produce a list of priority 
projects to address those needs within funding available. 

3.23 Through the Local Government Association and its “Keeping it Real”
initiative, the Council is hoping to receive additional support to 
strengthen the inclusiveness and impact of the Area Needs 
Assessment and devolved decision-making process.  

Page 309



Report Page No: 6 

3.24 Following a report to Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 12 
January on the broad approach to devolved decision-making, the 
same committee on 28 June 2012 has considered more detailed 
proposals over the funding from developer contributions to be 
devolved, the transitional arrangements for developing needs 
assessments and priority projects, and the process for this devolved 
decision-making. 

Community engagement 

3.25 A new community engagement officer post has been created and 
filled. One of the aims for the post is to make connections between 
local voluntary sector and community groups, in the areas where less 
engagement activity currently takes place, and the area committees.  

3.26 This could include raising awareness about the area committee’s work 
and suggesting issues that the area committee could look at (subject 
to agenda management considerations) and will help promote 
community interest in meetings. The post will also have a role in 
ensuring that council services engage with area committees and local 
residents, and respond to local priority issues, subject to capacity and 
any other constraints on variance of service. 

Community Mapping 

3.27 One key piece of work over the next few months will be in 
understanding the community engagement opportunities in each area 
(e.g. community centres, community forums, ChYPPS activity etc.).  
The product of this work will be an “engagement map” that gives a 
snap-shot picture of engagement activity in each of the four areas.

3.28 This will help area committees and stakeholders set their formal 
decision-making role, and community involvement in the context of a 
wider set of community engagement and participation activities.  It will 
also identify any gaps in engagement which the Council may seek to 
address, subject to resources and capacity. 

Page 310



Report Page No: 7 

Community Rights 

3.29  In connection with Community Rights under the Localism Act, Area 
committees may also wish to take a view about what community 
assets they have in their areas, who delivers services to the 
community and who is best equipped to ensure benefits are provided 
to the local community.  We will need to ensure this process dovetails 
with the Area Needs Assessment process as far as appropriate, as we 
come to understand more about the Community Rights approach. 

Conclusions

3.30

 ! The North Area Pilot has helped the Council to learn some useful 
lessons about making meetings more engaging and participative, and 
ended the pilot year with two very successful meetings in January and 
March.  The role of the committee chair was key.  They May meeting 
continued in a similar vein, but also reinforced the importance of 
effective agenda management. 

 ! The issues which matter most to residents are not exclusively those 
within the gift of the City Council, but area committees can provide a 
useful forum for community debate, if the relevant partners are willing 
to participate and engage, as the County Council have done on 
libraries, Fen Road and the Science Park Station.  We should 
continue to engage partners in area committee discussions (and/or 
other community engagement opportunities) as appropriate. 

 ! The Council should map community engagement opportunities in 
each area, to identify any gaps. 

 ! The Council needs to ensure the process for decisions on developer 
contributions (and other devolved decision processes) are clear, 
consistent and not unnecessarily bureaucratic. This is being 
addressed, not least via the report to Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee on 28 June 2012. 

 ! We need to continue to monitor emerging policies such as community 
rights and neighbourhood plans to spot and exploit any synergies with 
the work of area committees, both to ensure efficiency and 
transparency of process, and to extend community engagement 
wherever appropriate. 

Page 311



Report Page No: 8 

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications

The Community Engagement post was supported in the budget process, 
and creates capacity to support an extension of some of the engagement 
approaches trialled in the North Area participation pilot.   

The proposed community engagement mapping work can be undertaken 
within existing resources, but consideration of resources would be required 
if this work identified any major gaps in engagement activity in the city.   

Any new meetings or engagement activity (such as additional committee 
meetings, area committee sub-groups or working groups) that require 
venues, minute-takers and other support also need to be monitored to 
ensure they can be resourced adequately.

(b) Staffing Implications

The primary implications are for committee managers, senior lead officers, 
the community development service and those working with area 
committees on providing local services and facilities, particularly those 
funded by developer contributions. 

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

The intention of the pilot has been to increase engagement with (and 
access to) decision-making processes at the local level.  This report 
recommends a continuation of that direction of travel, and is not expected to 
have adverse impacts on any section of the community. 

(d) Environmental Implications

The issues raised in this report are not expected to have significant 
environmental implications. 

(e) Consultation

Residents of the North area were consulted during the participation pilot 
primarily through the “CB4” community priorities process, which asked 
people to say what they liked most about the area and what they wanted to 
see changed.  Around seven thousand postcards were distributed at a 
range of venues and events, and nearly seven hundred replies were 
received.   

Page 312



Report Page No: 9 

These replies were analysed and informed the development of an “action 
plan” – progress on key actions, for instance on street scene, have been 
reported to the committee meetings subsequently. 

The open forum section of the meetings also provided a consultation route, 
ensuring there was space in the meetings for residents to raise issues and 
ask questions of officers and members. 

During the pilot, evaluation forms were distributed at each meeting.  At the 
March meeting, Committee members were asked to provide their views.  
Feedback was also sought through a North Area Facebook page and web 
page.  Replies received have helped shape the development of the pilot 
through the year, and informed the assessments in this report. 

Lead Executive Councillors and area committee chairs were consulted as 
the pilot developed through an informal member working group.  Their input 
helped shape the development of the pilot and prompted some discussions 
about different approaches in other area committees. 

(f) Community Safety
During the pilot, the regular discussions of community safety priorities 
continued, and various ways of making these discussions more 
businesslike, engaging or inclusive were trialled.  It was through this 
process that the strength of community feeling around Fen Road issues was 
highlighted, leading to the most participative meeting of the pilot year. 

6. Appendices 

Appendix 1  Summary of North Area Committee pilot lessons learned 

7. Inspection of papers 

If you have a query on the report please contact: 

Author’s Name: Andrew Limb
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457004
Author’s Email: andrew.limb@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 313



Appendix 1 

Report Page No: 10 

North Area Committee Participation Pilot: Final Review 

North Area Committee has been trying out new approaches over the past 
year as a “participation pilot” for the Council. This has been about running 
the meetings in a different way but also looking to engage people outside of 
the meetings, to increase engagement and participation.

What did we set out to achieve with the Pilot? 
 ! Provide positive experiences for local people by making the 

 meetings more informal, welcoming and interesting  
 ! Provide more opportunities for local people to have their say by 

 introducing a community forum 
 ! Improve the management of agenda, so people know what to 

 expect and the meetings don’t go on too long 
 ! Engage the local community outside of meetings, so that they can 

 help shape the work of the committee
 ! Devolve more decision-making to area committees 
 ! Work closer with partners to help set agendas.

What have we done in the Pilot? 
 ! Partitioned agenda into distinct, timed, sections so that people can 

attend the part that interests them
 ! Moved members out from behind the “top table” to join local people 

around tables in discussions in a “community forum”, encouraging 
emphasis on listening 

 ! Tried to manage meetings more efficiently, sometimes restricting 
feedback from table discussions to one person per table, reducing 
repetition and giving more space for local people to have a say   

 ! Assigned a lead officer to give more support to the chair 
 ! Carried out a “CB4” survey so that the committee’s future work 

(forward plan) can be shaped by local people – trying to get issues 
that interest people onto agenda 

 ! The “CB4” work involved: 

"! Face-to-face conversations with local people 
"! Discussions with groups in community centres 
"! Stalls at Arbury Carnival and Chesterton Festival  
"! A ‘CB4’ postcard survey, which attracted over 600 
 responses.  
"! Use of ‘The Dec’ bus to involve and consult young people
"! A community event at The Meadows Community Centre 
 where attendees were asked to prioritise the issues 
 arising from the CB4 survey. 

Page 314



Appendix 1 

Report Page No: 11 

 ! Encouraged local partners to contribute to the meetings, in the 
spirit of the pilot

 ! Given local people opportunities to follow the area committee’s 
work without having to attend meetings by improving the 
committee’s web-page, setting up a Facebook page and a contact 
list

 ! Trialled a Customer Services desk in the foyer of the committee
 ! Ensured refreshments are available to promote informality and a 

more welcoming atmosphere.

What has worked well in the Pilot? 
 ! The portioning of the agenda does seem to have lead to less 

confusion overall about the type of engagement being offered. The 
pilot considers planning at the start of the meetings, so it feels like 
a separate meeting.

 ! Members in the committee have supported the approach - moving 
out from behind the “top table” and joining local people in 
discussions during the community forum, which has allowed more 
of a listening / engaging approach.  Some members would 
welcome greater differentiation between these discussion sessions 
and the decision-taking items on the agenda. 

 ! The Chair has exercised facilitation skills in controlling the sessions 
and summarising contributions and the lead officer has been able 
to improve the management of meetings, albeit with some specific 
challenges in the May 2012 meeting. 

 ! Local residents attending the meetings have generally found the 
meetings more welcoming, have had a greater opportunity to 
contribute and found the content of the meetings interesting.  

 ! Partners from the county council, police and health services have 
actively contributed to community forum sessions and found the 
views expressed by residents useful in assessing local need 
(although the May 2012 meeting highlighted the need to ensure 
sufficient time is allowed for proper discussion of partner items). 

 ! The CB4” consultation led to a forward plan based on what local 
people are interested in. This helped shape the agenda of future 
committee meetings and led to some service improvements. 

 ! The webpage and Facebook page for the Committee has been 
developed and allows people to contribute outside of meetings, 
although not greatly used by residents to date 

 ! Some meetings have been well-attended, in particular those which 
discussed the future of the library service, issues at Fen Road, the 
proposed Science Park station, street scene & trees, youth 
engagement, primary school capacity and proposed transport 
projects.  These issues involved and engaged local people. 

Page 315



Appendix 1 

Report Page No: 12 

What have we learnt from the Pilot? 
 ! It can take a lot of effort to attract a limited number of additional 

people to evening meetings – people will come to meetings if the 
items are of particular interest to them. 

 ! Community engagement outside of the meetings has allowed a 
more diverse range of people than currently attend Area 
Committee meetings, including young people, to inform debate at 
meetings. This has consumed a significant additional amount of 
officer time for the pilot, so there would be resource implications of 
extending this approach.  The new Community Engagement Officer 
will have a key role. 

 ! The open forum and community forum need to be well-managed to 
ensure each contribution adds new / relevant input to the debate. 

 ! The role of the senior lead officer for the Committee has proved 
valuable, particularly in supporting the Chair in facilitating and 
preparing for the meeting. 

 ! The open forum elements of the meeting worked best when 
members adopted a listening and facilitating approach, to create a 
setting where residents felt able to bring ideas and issues forward. 

 ! To ensure business can be conducted promptly and efficiently may 
require robust agenda management to ensure that only essential 
items come forward onto area committee agendas, and may 
require chairs enforcing agenda timing strictly (potentially 
guillotining speakers on individual items where there is a risk of 
over-run).

How have we said the Pilot could be “Rolled Out”? 
Whilst recognising that area committees rightly have autonomy in how they 
operate, officers recommended that: 

 ! Each Area Committee be offered a senior lead officer;  
 ! The lead officer support the chair in ensuring agendas are kept to 

relevant and essential items, providing more effective forward 
planning of area committee agendas, and following-up actions;

 ! Committee chairs chair the meetings in a manner which balances the 
aspiration for greater public participation with the need to conclude 
business at a reasonable hour;

 ! Area committees consider how / whether to develop more inclusive 
modes of operating for the non-regulatory discussions (bearing in 
mind space constraints in some venues and time constraints on busy 
agendas).

Page 316



Cambridge City Council Item

To: The Leader and Executive Councillor for Strategy: 
Councillor Tim Bick 

Report by: Andrew Limb, Head of Corporate Strategy 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy & Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

9/7/2012

Wards affected: All Wards 

THE COMMUNITY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE
Key Decision 

1. Executive summary

1.1 The Localism Act includes a new ‘Community Right to Challenge’, 
which came into force on 27 June 2012. The Right to Challenge will 
allow voluntary and community bodies, charities, parish councils, and 
groups of 2 or more local authority staff to express an interest in the 
running of services that the Council currently provides. This report 
sets out a proposed process for responding to Expressions of Interest 
(EOIs) from relevant bodies. There is limited scope for local flexibility 
in implementing the Right to Challenge, other than in setting a 
‘window’ when the authority will accept the submission of EOIs. It is 
recommended that the Council adopts an annual window in June and 
July, commencing in 2013. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Executive Councillor is recommended to: 

a) Approve the process set out at Appendix 2 for responding to 
Expressions of Interest under the Right to Challenge. 

b) Agree an annual window in June and July for accepting submission 
of Expressions of Interest under the Right to Challenge, 
commencing in June 2013.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 26

Page 317



Report Page No: 2 

3. Background 

The Community Right to Challenge  

3.1 The Localism Act became law in November 2011. The Act includes a 
new  ‘Community Right to Challenge’, which will allow voluntary and 
community bodies, charities, parish councils, and groups of 2 or more 
local authority staff to bid to express an interest in the running of 
services that the Council currently provides.  

3.2 The proposed implementation date for the Right to Challenge has 
changed on a number of occasions, but the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) announced on 27 May 
2012 that the Right will come into force on 27 June 2012.  On the 
same date it published statutory guidance and laid regulations 
Parliament, which define key aspects of the scheme. 

3.3 Under the Right to Challenge, relevant bodies can submit a written 
Expression of Interest (EOI) in running a service, which the local 
authority is required to consider and respond to. If the local authority 
accepts the EOI, it must run an open procurement exercise, which the 
challenging body can participate in, alongside other organisations, 
including private companies. This procurement exercise must comply 
with existing legislation and requirements regarding procurement. 

3.4 The Right to Challenge applies to both services that a local authority 
delivers directly itself and those which it delivers through contracts 
with external providers. The Right to Challenge applies to all local 
authority services, with the exception of:  

 ! services provided by the authority for named individuals with 
complex individual health or social care needs.  

 ! services commissioned in conjunction with the health service and 
services commissioned by an NHS body on behalf of the local 
authority, which are excluded until April 2014 to allow NHS 
commissioners to become operational.  

3.5 The statutory guidance draws a distinction between services provided 
by local authorities, which are subject to the Right, and statutory 
decision-making functions, which are not. It gives the example of the 
determination of planning applications as a function that would be 
excluded, but suggests that the processing of planning applications 
would not be. 

Page 318



Report Page No: 3 

3.6 The legislation permits challenges relating to whole services or 
elements of existing services.  Challenges could therefore relate to 
parts of a service, services delivered within a specific geographical 
area, or services accessed by particular user groups.

3.7 The regulations specify a number of grounds under which a local 
authority can reject an EOI, and defines the information that must be 
provided in an EOI to enable the Council to reach a decision. These 
are listed at Appendix 1. 

3.8 If the local authority believes it would otherwise reject an EOI, it can 
ask for further information to inform its decision or seek to agree a 
modification to the EOI with the challenging body. For example, if the 
EOI includes an element of a service that the Council has already 
agreed to stop, the Council may wish to modify the EOI so that it 
relates to those elements of the service that will be continued.  

A Cambridge City Council approach to the Right to Challenge

3.9 The Right to Challenge coincides with the interest the Council has had 
in strengthening local communities by devolving responsibilities to 
them for managing community facilities. On this basis, for example, 
the Trumpington Residents Association currently manages King 
George V Pavilion on behalf of the Council.  The Council will continue 
to explore such opportunities in future and the Right to Challenge may 
help to highlight the potential for other similar ventures. 

3.10 The Council has also historically chosen to invite tenders from the 
open market, i.e. from commercial and not-for-profit providers, for the 
delivery of selected other services, where the overall gain in terms of 
cost, service or the access to specialist expertise has been judged to 
justify it. Such proactive initiatives remain open to the Council in the 
future. EOIs under the Right to Challenge have the potential to trigger 
a process of open-market tendering in the same way, but only if the 
instigating organisation (which must be a voluntary or community 
body, charity or group of local authority employees) has the necessary 
capacity and financial resources to deliver the service, which will 
require careful evaluation first. 

3.11 Further to this, the Right to Challenge regulations require EOIs to 
include details of how the proposal will "promote the social, economic 
or environmental wellbeing of the authority's area", which must be 
taken into account both in considering whether to accept an EOI, and 
as part of any procurement process which may follow. Local 
authorities are already obliged to consider social, environmental and 
economic impacts under the existing Best Value Duty and the Public 

Page 319



Report Page No: 4 

Services (Social Value) Act 2012 allows Councils to include these 
benefits in tender specifications. 

3.12 As has been the case in the past, the Council will carefully consider 
the potential impact of an EOI on its ability to achieve Best Value, 
taking into account the council-wide costs that could result from any 
fragmentation of individual services or operations.

A process for responding to the Right to Challenge 

3.13 The provisions relating to the Right to Challenge are very prescriptive 
and there is limited scope for local flexibility in implementing the 
scheme. One area where the legislation allows the Council discretion 
is in specifying periods when it will accept the submission of EOIs. If a 
local authority does not specify such a ‘window’, then it must consider 
challenges whenever they are submitted. The Council can specify a 
single window for all services, or different windows for different 
services.  

3.14 It is recommended that the Council should specify an annual window 
for all services, because this would: 

 ! provide clarity for challenging bodies and Council services on when 
EOIs will be accepted. 

 ! allow the Council to manage the flow of EOIs that it receives and 
ensure that it has the capacity to respond to them. 

 ! ensure that the decision-making timetable for EOIs is aligned with 
the Council’s budget setting, decision-making and procurement 
cycles.

 ! allow services to consider the merits or impact of all the EOIs 
alongside one another. This would be particularly important in the 
event that a number of EOIs are submitted for the same service, or 
different elements of the same service. 

3.15 Following consideration of a number of options, it is recommended 
that the annual window should be in June and July, as this would align 
best with existing budgetary, procurement and decision-making 
cycles. It is proposed that the first ‘window’ would be in June and July 
2013, as it is too late to set window in June and July 2012, and this 
will give the Council and challenging bodies an opportunity to prepare.

Page 320



Report Page No: 5 

3.16 More detailed proposals for a process for responding to Expressions 
of Interest are set out at Appendix 2, but it is recommended that the 
key stages would include:  

1. An annual two-month window for submission of EOIs in June and 
July.

2. Decisions to be reached on EOIs by the Executive Councillor in the 
following January Committee cycle. For simpler EOIs, it may be 
possible to reach a decision sooner than this, potentially in the 
October Committee cycle. This decision-making timetable would 
allow consideration of an EOI to be factored into the budget 
process during the Autumn.

3. If an EOI is accepted in the January Committee cycle for a service 
which is currently delivered directly by the Council, the procurement 
exercise would begin in the following April. Where the Council has 
an existing contract with a third party to deliver the service on its 
behalf, the procurement exercise would begin at an appropriate 
date before the end of the contract. Depending on the length of the 
contract, there might be a period of a number of years between the 
decision to accept an EOI and the commencement of a 
procurement exercise. 

3.17 In the event that a procurement process is triggered for a service that 
the Council currently provides directly, the existing service will not be 
able to submit a legal tender or enter into a contract with the council 
because it is not an independent legal entity. However, in this 
situation, Council services will be advised to submit a proposal setting 
out how they would meet the criteria in the tender specification for the 
new service. This will enable tenders from other providers to be 
compared with the cost and standards of service offered by the 
existing Council-run service.  

4. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications

4.1 The Right to Challenge could have significant financial implications for 
the Council. Depending on the number of EOIs that the Council 
receives, a large amount of staff time could be devoted to processing 
and assessing EOIs and administering procurement exercises 
resulting from the acceptance of EOIs. The Right to Challenge could 
also result in a greater number of Council services being subject to 
procurement exercises in which external providers are able to bid. It is 
difficult to predict the financial impact of accepting any of these 
tenders, but as outlined at 3.12, the Council would need to give due 

Page 321



Report Page No: 6 

consideration to achieving Best Value when making decisions on 
future service delivery. 

(b) Staffing Implications

4.2 As outlined at 4.1, depending on the number of EOIs that the Council 
receives an annual basis, a significant amount of staff time could be  
required to process and assess EOIs and administer procurement 
exercises resulting from the acceptance of an EOIs. If the Council 
adopts an annual window for accepting submissions, this would 
particularly impact on staff capacity across the organisation, as all 
EOIs would need to be assessed over the same period.  

4.3 If an EOI submitted under the Right to Challenge is accepted, it will be 
important to engage with local authority employees in the existing 
service. Existing staff communication and engagement channels 
would need to be used and the level of engagement would need to be 
proportionate to the size of the service and number of employees 
potentially affected.  

(c) Equal Opportunities Implications

4.4 An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and no specific 
negative impacts have been identified for the proposed process for 
responding to the Right to Challenge. The key assessment findings 
included:

 ! The equalities impacts of individual EOIs will need to be considered 
on a case-by-case basis. As part of the decision-making process 
for each proposal an EqIA will be completed which would include 
an assessment of the proposed changes to a service. 

 ! Some voluntary and community bodies will have greater expertise 
and capacity to submit EOIs than others, so the Council will need to 
work with some groups that submit EOIs to improve them. 

 ! The proposed two-month annual window for submission of EOIs 
would not disadvantage particular equalities groups. It would not 
come into effect until June 2013, which will allow all interested 
groups enough time to prepare responses.

 ! The proposed administrative processes would not impact 
disproportionately on any equalities groups. All guidance and forms 
will be made available via the Council’s website and in hard copy, 
in alternative formats or in community languages on request. Any 
correspondence with relevant bodies will also be made available in 
alternative formats or community languages on request. 

Page 322



Report Page No: 7 

(d) Environmental Implications

4.5 The proposed process for responding to the Right to Challenge will 
have a low environmental impact. 

(e) Consultation

4.6 The proposed process for responding to the Right to Challenge has 
been developed in consultation with the Leader and Executive Council 
for Strategy and Council Officers, including members of the Strategic 
Leadership Team, the Head of Legal Services and the Strategic 
Procurement Advisor. Once the Right to Challenge has been 
implemented, Council officers will attend relevant voluntary and 
community sector events to outline the City Council’s approach. 

(f) Community Safety

4.7 There are no direct community safety implications of the proposed 
process for responding to the Right to Challenge, but there is the 
potential for relevant bodies to express an interest in delivering 
community safety services provided by the Council. 

5. Background papers 

5.1 These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
 ! The Localism Act 
 ! Community Right to Challenge Statutory Guidance 
 ! The Community Right to Challenge (Fire and Rescue Authorities 

and Rejection of Expressions of Interest) Regulations 2012 
 ! The Community Right to Challenge (Expressions of Interest and 

Excluded Services) (England) Regulations 2012 

6. Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Key regulations relating to the Right to Challenge 
Appendix 2 – Proposed process for responding to the Right to Challenge 

7. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: David Kidston
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 - 457043
Author’s Email: david.kidston@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 323



Report Page No: 8 

Appendix 1 – Key regulations relating to the Right to Challenge 

Grounds for rejecting an Expression of Interest (EOI)

 ! The local authority considers that the EOI is frivolous or vexatious. 
 ! The service is integrated with a service provided by the NHS and the 

continued integration of the service is critical to the well-being of service 
users.

 ! The service is already the subject of a procurement exercise. 
 ! The local authority has entered into negotiations with a third party to 

provide a service, and at least part of these negotiations has been 
conducted in writing. 

 ! The service has been stopped, or a decision has been taken in writing to 
do this. 

 ! The local authority considers, based on the information in the EOI, that 
the relevant body or any sub-contractors are not suitable to provide or 
assist in the provision of the service. 

 ! The relevant body provides inadequate or incorrect information in the 
expression of interest.

 ! The local authority considers that accepting the EOI would contravene 
the rule of law or a breach of a statutory duty. 

Information that must be contained in an EOI

 ! Information about the financial resources of the relevant body submitting 
the expression of interest. 

 ! Evidence that demonstrates that by the time of any procurement exercise 
the relevant body submitting the EOI will be capable of providing or 
assisting in providing the relevant service. 

 ! Information about the relevant service and the geographical area that the 
EOI relates to. 

 ! Information about the outcomes to be achieved by the relevant body, 
including:

 ! How the provision will promote or improve the social, economic or 
environmental well-being of the relevant authority’s area 

 ! How it will meet the needs of the users of the relevant service. 
 ! Where the relevant body consists of local authority employees, how the 

relevant body proposes toe engage other employees of the local 
authority who are affected by the EOI. 

Page 324



C
am

br
id

ge
 C

ity
 C

ou
nc

il 
“C

om
m

un
ity

 R
ig

ht
 to

 C
ha

lle
ng

e”
 P

ro
ce

ss
.

1 2 3

E
xp

re
ss

io
n 

of
 In

te
re

st
 (

E
O

I)
 s

ub
m

itt
ed

 to
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
by

 a
n 

el
ig

ib
le

 b
od

y,
 v

ia
 a

 c
or

po
ra

te
“C

om
m

un
ity

 R
ig

ht
 to

 C
ha

lle
ng

e”
 e

m
ai

l a
dd

re
ss

, w
ith

in
 th

e 
‘w

in
do

w
’ s

et
 b

y 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il.

C
ou

nc
il 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 in
 th

e 
af

fe
ct

ed
 s

er
vi

ce
 a

ss
es

s 
th

e 
E

O
I a

ga
in

st
 a

gr
ee

d 
cr

ite
ria

.

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

/ a
dv

ic
e 

is
 g

iv
en

 to
 th

e 
E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

C
ou

nc
ill

or
.

R
ep

or
t t

ak
en

 to
 th

e 
S

tr
at

eg
ic

 L
ea

de
rs

hi
p 

T
ea

m
,

w
ith

 a
 c

le
ar

 r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

on
 th

e 
co

ur
se

 o
f a

ct
io

n
w

hi
ch

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 ta

ke
n 

in
 r

es
po

ns
e 

to
 th

e 
E

O
I.

O
ffi

ce
r 

re
po

rt
 ta

ke
n 

to
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

C
om

m
itt

ee
, s

et
tin

g 
ou

t t
he

 r
ec

om
m

en
de

d 
de

ci
si

on
s 

on
 th

e 
E

O
I.

D
ec

is
io

n 
ta

ke
n 

by
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

C
ou

nc
ill

or
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n 
/ d

is
cu

ss
io

n 
by

 S
cr

ut
in

y 
C

om
m

itt
ee

 M
em

be
rs

.

A
cc

ep
t E

O
I /

 C
ha

lle
ng

e.
A

cc
ep

t c
ha

lle
ng

e 
w

ith
 m

od
ifi

ca
tio

n.
R

ej
ec

t c
ha

lle
ng

e.

T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

co
nd

uc
ts

 a
 s

ta
nd

ar
d 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t e

xe
rc

is
e 

fo
r 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

w
hi

ch
 m

ee
ts

 
ex

is
tin

g 
le

ga
l r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 fo
r 

su
ch

 e
xe

rc
is

es
.

N
o 

su
ch

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t e
xe

rc
is

e 
re

qu
ire

d.
  

C
ou

nc
il 

pu
bl

is
he

s 
re

as
on

 fo
r 

re
je

ct
io

n.

C
en

tr
al

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

te
am

 c
he

ck
s 

th
e 

in
-b

ox
, l

og
s 

de
ta

ils
 o

f t
he

 E
O

Is
 r

ec
ei

ve
d,

 s
en

ds
 E

O
Is

to
 r

el
ev

an
t H

ea
d 

of
 S

er
vi

ce
 a

nd
 in

fo
rm

s 
th

e 
el

ig
ib

le
 b

od
y 

in
 w

rit
in

g 
w

ith
in

 3
0 

da
ys

 o
f t

he
 c

lo
su

re
 o

f t
he

 w
in

do
w

 o
f t

he
 d

at
e 

by
 w

hi
ch

 it
 w

ill
 r

ec
ei

ve
 a

 d
ec

is
io

n.

H
ea

d 
of

 S
er

vi
ce

 c
on

du
ct

s 
an

 in
iti

al
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t o
f t

he
 E

O
I.

If 
th

e 
E

O
I i

s 
fr

iv
ol

ou
s,

 o
r 

ve
xa

tio
us

, t
he

 e
lig

ib
le

 b
od

y 
is

 in
fo

rm
ed

 
th

at
 n

o 
fu

rt
he

r 
ac

tio
n 

is
 to

 b
e 

ta
ke

n.
If 

th
e 

E
O

I i
s 

no
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
to

 b
e 

ei
th

er
 fr

iv
ol

ou
s,

 o
r 

ve
xa

tio
us

, 
th

en
 th

e 
E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

C
ou

nc
ill

or
, a

nd
 th

e 
tr

ad
e 

un
io

ns
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

in
fo

rm
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

H
ea

d 
of

 S
er

vi
ce

 th
at

 a
n 

E
O

I h
as

 b
ee

n 
re

ce
iv

ed
.

4 5 6

Ju
ne

to Ju
ly

.

O
JE

U
 n

ot
ic

e 
su

bm
itt

ed
, a

nd
 te

nd
er

 s
pe

ci
fic

at
io

n 
do

cu
m

en
ts

 a
re

 d
ra

fte
d.

P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t p
ro

ce
ss

 is
 c

on
du

ct
ed

, l
as

tin
g 

a 
pe

rio
d 

of
 u

p 
to

 tw
el

ve
 m

on
th

s,
to

 a
pp

oi
nt

 a
n 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r.

A
ug

us
t

to N
ov

em
be

r.

D
ec

em
be

r.

Ja
nu

ar
y.

F
eb

ru
ar

y

to M
ar

ch
.

7
A

pr
il

to M
ar

ch
.

If 
th

e 
E

O
I d

oe
s 

no
t m

ee
t o

ne
 o

r 
m

or
e 

of
 th

e 
cr

ite
ria

, C
ou

nc
il 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 to
 id

en
tif

y 
an

y 
po

te
nt

ia
l m

od
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 w

hi
ch

 w
ou

ld
 in

cr
ea

se
 th

e 
lik

el
ih

oo
d 

of
 it

 m
ee

tin
g 

th
e 

cr
ite

ria
, a

nd
 a

gr
ee

 th
es

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
el

ig
ib

le
 b

od
y.

 

Page 325



Page 326

This page is intentionally left blank



Cambridge City Council Item

To: The Leader; Executive Councillor for Planning and 
Climate Change and the Executive Councillor for 
Community Development and Health

Report by: Patsy Dell, Head of Planning Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny 
Committee

09/07/2012

Wards affected: All

Localism Act 2011: Community Right to Bid  

Key Decision 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 Using new community rights enabled under the Localism Act 2011, 
local community, voluntary bodies and parish councils will be able to 
identify land and buildings such as a: 

 ! Local shop 
 ! Local pub 
 ! Community centre 
 ! Library
 ! Swimming pool 
 ! Playground

1.2 These can then be nominated for inclusion on a list of assets 
maintained by the City Council. If an asset on the list comes up for 
sale, community groups will be able to trigger a pause for up to six 
months, in order to raise capital and bid to purchase the asset before 
it goes on to the open market.

1.3 The City Council is responsible for operating the Right to Bid for 
assets of community value process. Much of the process will be 
determined by Government Regulations but some elements of the 
process can be locally determined. These are discussed and 
recommendations made in the body of this report.

Report Page No: 1 

Agenda Item 27

Page 327



Report Page No: 2 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Leader is recommended: 

1) To note the new requirements under the Localism Act; 
2) To agree the Council’s approach to this new duty as set out in 

the report; 
3) To delegate responsibility for determining whether assets are 

listed on the register of assets or not to a panel of three senior 
officers from Property Services, Planning and Community 
Development convened by the Head of Planning Services;  

4) To delegate responsibility for determining reviews against 
listing of assets by the owners concerned jointly to the Head of 
Planning Services and the Head of Community Development 
(or deputy); 

5) To delegate approval to the Head of Planning Services, in 
consultation with the Executive Councillor for Planning and 
Strategic Transport and the Executive Councillor for 
Community Development and Health, to amend and agree the 
Council’s final approach to this duty once Regulations have 
been published.

3. Background 

Introduction 

3.1 It is expected that Government will shortly publish Regulations to 
enable new community rights under the Localism Act 2011. This will 
allow local community, voluntary organisations, neighbourhood forums 
and parish councils to identify land and buildings that provide an 
important service in their community and nominate these for inclusion 
on a list of assets of community value maintained by the City Council. 
If an asset on the list comes up for sale, these organisations will have 
up to six months in which to raise capital and bid to buy the asset, 
before it goes on to the open market. This new right is called the 
‘Community Right to Bid’.

3.2 These new provisions do not restrict in any way decisions by the 
owner of the asset about whom they can sell their property to, or at 
what price, and they do not confer a right of first refusal to community 
interest groups.

Page 328



Report Page No: 3 

The Role of the City Council

3.3 Under the ‘Community Right to Bid’ provisions, the City Council is 
required to: 

 ! Set up a process to enable local community and voluntary 
groups to nominate assets; 

 ! To adjudicate in accordance with Government Regulations on 
whether the assets can be included in a list of assets of 
community value; 

 ! Publish the list of assets of community value and also details of 
those assets that were nominated but unsuccessful, including 
the reason why the nomination was unsuccessful; 

 ! Implement an internal review process should the owner of the 
nominated asset disagree with the Council’s decision that the 
nomination be successful; 

 ! Set up and monitor a moratorium process so that when an 
asset from the list comes on to the market, community groups 
have time to register their intent to bid and raise the necessary 
capital, and preventing the owner from selling the asset during 
the moratorium period; and

 ! Operate a compensation scheme to compensate owners for 
loss or expense incurred as a result of listing and complying 
with any of the procedures required by the scheme.

3.4 It is proposed that the Community Right to Bid scheme will be 
managed and administered by Planning Services within the 
Environment Department.  

3.5 Much of the fine detail of how the Community Right to Bid is to be 
operated will be set out in Regulations. These are not now anticipated 
to be published until September. Given that community and other 
groups are already preparing for the commencement of the provisions 
it is considered appropriate that work starts on the internal preparation 
for the procedures. There are, however, some aspects of the process 
where the Council may make it’s own decisions. These are as follows: 

1) An asset is of community value if the Council judges that; 

a. Current use of the building or land, or its use in the recent 
past, furthers the social well-being or social interests of the 
local community;  

b. That use is the main one and not ancillary; and 

Page 329



Report Page No: 4 

c. It is realistic to think that the building or land will continue to 
be used in a way which will further the social well-being and 
social interests of the community; and  

d. It does not fall within the list of exemptions 

The Council may determine it’s own definition of ‘recent past’. 
Officers recommend that this be defined at ‘in the past five years 
prior to the ‘date of nomination’’. This period might reasonably 
cover any building or land that was previously in community use but 
that is now empty or derelict and those assets that may temporarily 
have had some other use, such as a former library that had been 
used for office accommodation. Officers also consider it reasonable 
for the City Council to have accurate records of property usage and 
to be able to check this over a five year period without this being an 
undue administrative burden.  

2) The Council has to publish a list of both ‘successful’ and 
‘unsuccessful’ nominations to the list of assets of community value. 
These may be published as a single list or two separate lists. It is 
recommended that the asset register be published as a single list 
on a City Council ‘Community Right to Bid’ web page. This will 
enable community groups who wish to propose an asset for 
inclusion to see more easily which assets are already on the list 
and which have already been proposed but were unsuccessful.

The frequency of publication can also be locally determined and it 
is recommended that the Council update the list of assets of 
community value monthly. Experience with the publication of 
Freedom of Information requests has shown that monthly 
publication is sufficiently frequent to meet public information needs 
and is not unduly administratively burdensome.

3) The Council may choose how the decision-making process, with 
regard to a nomination, is made. The criteria for inclusion are 
defined in detail by Government Regulation and the decision-
making is, therefore, essentially an administrative process but with 
judgement being made in the application of the criteria for inclusion 
on the nomination list. Officers propose that a decision-making 
panel of three senior officers (one each from Planning, Community 
Development and Property Services) be convened on a regular 
basis to review nominations.

The owner of the asset has the right of appeal against the City 
Council’s decision to include an asset on the assets of community 
value list. Officers recommend that the review be an officer process 
delegated jointly to the Head of Planning Services and the Head of 
Community Development.

Page 330



Report Page No: 5 

4) Arrangements for the adjudication and payment of any 
compensation claimed by owners for loss or expense incurred as a 
result of listing and complying with any of the procedures required 
by the scheme are to be administered by the City Council. The 
scheme must include an initial decision-making process and an 
internal review process.

4. Implications 

Financial Implications

4.1 The Government recognises the Community Right to Bid provisions 
place an administrative burden on Local Authorities required to 
maintain a list of assets of community value and is committed to 
meeting these costs. No indication of what this means in practice has 
been published to date.

 Staffing Implications 

4.2 The Community Right to Bid provisions are largely an administrative 
process that will be managed and administered by the Planning 
Service with the day-to-day administration undertaken by the Guildhall 
Business Administration Unit. At this stage, it is unclear as to the 
staffing capacity that will need to be put towards this activity. It is 
expected that there will be a significant number of initial nominations 
that will need to be processed.

Equal Opportunities Implications 

4.3 Equalities Impact Assessment: Not applicable. The Community 
Right to Bid scheme is primarily an administrative process defined by 
legislation and regulation with very little scope for the Council to 
exercise discretion or introduce change,

Environmental Implications 

4.4 Climate change rating: Nil.  

Consultation

4.5 Consultation has been undertaken with officers from the Planning 
Service, Community Development, Property Services, Legal Services 
and Corporate Strategy on those aspects of the Community Right to 
Bid provisions that are at the discretion of the Council as to how they 
are implemented.

Page 331



Report Page No: 6 

Community Safety 

4.6 There are no community safety implications.  

5. Background Papers 

5.1 These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

a) Localism Act 2011 

6. Appendices 

6.1 Appendix A – Frequently Asked Questions  

7. Inspection of Papers  

7.1 To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 

Author’s Name: Patsy Dell, Head of Planning Services  
Author’s Phone Number: 01223 457103 
Author’s Email: patsy.dell@cambridge.gov.uk

Page 332



Appendix A – Community Right to Bid – Frequently Asked 
Questions

What does “nominating” an asset of community value 
mean?

Nominating an asset of community value means proposing that a 
building or land is included in a list of buildings and land of 
community value maintained by the local authority. This type of 
listing should not be confused with the listing of buildings of 
special architectural or historic interest. Local authorities will be 
required to maintain a list of land and buildings which meet the 
definition of an ‘asset of community value’. 

What is an ‘asset of community value’

An ‘asset of community value’ is an asset that furthers the social 
well-being or social interests of the local community (or has done 
in the recent past). ‘Social Interests’ can include cultural, 
recreational and sporting interests. So, for example, sets of 
community value could be village pubs and shops, community 
centres and library buildings. 

Can any local community group nominate assets? 

Groups nominating an asset should be local and should a parish 
council or a voluntary or community body with a local connection. 
Regulations will define the types of voluntary and community 
body that can nominate assets. 

What does the Localism Act mean by disposal? 

Disposal means either a freehold sale or disposal on a long lease 
of more than 25 years or more. Shorter leases do not count as 
disposal.

If an asset is surplus to the council’s requirements, why 
does the council need to look at options? Surely there is 
only one option – getting the best price? 

In reviewing the future of any asset, it is important to look at all 
the options, to be sure that the council gets best value. Options 
include using it in a different way, disposing of it on the open 
market or transferring it to a voluntary or community organisation 
at less than best consideration to achieve wider social benefits. 

Page 333



Surely it’s only fair to our council taxpayers that the council 
sells any surplus assets for the best price it can get? 

Local authorities are usually required to dispose of land and 
building on the basis of the best ‘consideration’ reasonably 
obtainable. However, best consideration means achieving 
maximum ‘value’ from the disposal, not just maximum price.  
Disposal at less than market value must contribute to the 
‘promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing of the area’. 

Why should we assume that a community organisation can 
run a building profitably, when the Council isn’t able to? 

Community organisations operate on a different business model, 
often using volunteer effort, community intelligence about local 
needs and sources of funding not available to local authorities. 
They are in a position to run a community asset as a social 
enterprise.  The business plan for the community asset transfer 
should demonstrate financial viability. 

The council offers the same terms and conditions to all 
leaseholders. Why should it treat community organisations 
differently? 

A community asset transfer brings benefit to the council, which 
makes it value for money. To gain those advantages, the lease 
terms need to be appropriate and proportionate. 

How should the Council deal with competing interests in 
respect of a particular asset? 

The first test is which proposals are viable and sustainable in the 
long term. Community asset transfer should contribute to the 
policies and targets of your authority. Deal with competition for a 
specific building by identifying the Council’s key objectives in that 
area –using, for example, deprivation indices, local priorities and 
the current mix of buildings and services in the area – and assess 
which bid best meets those objectives.  Many authorities use a 
scoring system. 

Page 334



Should there be a competitive process for every asset 
transfer? 

Some local authorities advertise all community asset transfer 
opportunities to ensure fairness.  Others will consider transfer 
requests from organisations, which currently manage a property 
without seeking other bids. The council’s approach should be set 
out in its Community Asset Transfer Strategy. 

Why should the Council develop a Community Asset 
Transfer strategy? 

Developing a strategy should ensure consistency and fairness. 
Linked processes should detail the application process and likely 
timescales. Consultation with the local community and voluntary 
sector on the development of the strategy should ensure that it 
meets local needs. 

How can the Council be sure it’s getting value for money if it 
transfers an asset at less than market value – Why should it 
forego a capital receipt? 

The Government’s Best Value guidance recognises the 
importance of social as well as economic and environmental 
value in the achievement of best value. Community asset transfer 
can contribute to achieving the policy objectives of the local 
authority.  Disposal to secure a capital receipt must therefore be 
considered alongside other options in order to secure best value. 

How do we know the community organisation won’t just 
collapse, and hand the building back, when the current 
leaders move on? 

Any disposal carries risk – but the risks can be minimized through 
good policies, procedures and support.  Robust assessment of 
the business plan for a community asset transfer will give 
confidence about financial sustainability, management and 
community support.  Maintaining a supportive long-term 
partnership with transfer organisations will enable problems to be 
identified early and dealt with. 

Page 335



How do we know that an organisation will not simply sell the 
asset on and pocket the proceeds? How do we protect 
against that? 

Community asset transfers are usually only made to 
organisations which have an ‘asset lock’ – that is a clause in their 
governance which restricts asset disposal.  Generally this would 
apply to registered charities, community interest companies and 
charitable community benefit societies (a type of Industrial & 
Provident Society.  Restrictions may also be written into the 
lease.

We have requested a community asset transfer. The local 
authority has agreed but will only offer us a 5-year lease. We 
think it should be longer. What can we do? 

Find out why the council is offering a 5-year lease – this will allow 
you to address any issues. Length of lease can be very important 
if you need to raise capital funding.  Many funders will expect a 
lease of 20 or 25 years – some even longer.   Some councils offer 
a short lease so that the community or voluntary organisation can 
test out managing the building with the option of moving to a 
longer lease if it works well. 

Our local authority has suggested that we take a community 
asset transfer of our local resource centre but we are worried 
about taking on more responsibility. What are the key issues 
that we should be thinking about? 

You need to consider whether your organisation has the skills, 
enthusiasm and person power to own and manage the building 
and whether there is strong community support.  You will need to 
look at the finances – what is the likely income, what are the 
running costs, how will you repair and refurbish the building in the 
long term. There is extensive written information to help you to 
think through these issues. 

What is an exempt disposal? 

An exempt disposal is exempt from the moratorium periods set 
out in the Act. It is the responsibility of the owner not the local 
authority to decide whether a particular disposal is exempt. 

Page 336



Does listing an asset place a restriction on what the owner 
can do with it, while it remains in his ownership? 

No, because planning policy determines permitted uses for 
particular sites. However, the fact that the site is listed may affect 
planning decisions – it is open to the Local Planning Authority to 
decide that listing as an asset of community value is a material 
consideration if an application for change of use is submitted, 
considering all the circumstances of the case. 

What happens if an asset is nominated which includes land 
within more than one local authority area? 

The Act requires the local authorities concerned to co-operate in 
fulfilling the requirements of the Act, but leaves it to their 
discretion to decide how to do this in their local situation. It is 
likely that one of the authorities will act as the lead and manage 
the nomination process. 

What does the Localism Act mean by the owner? 

The owner is the person who holds the freehold unless there is a 
long leasehold in place, in which case the long leaseholder would 
be seen as the owner in terms of the Act. 

Page 337



Page 338

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	May Mins

	5a Intelligent Energy Europe Bid re. Cambridge City District Heating Scheme
	6 2011/12 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant Variances - Customer Services and Resources Portfolio
	7 Localisation of support for council tax
	Localisation of Council Tax - App 1

	8 Clay Farm Land Disposal Project - Delivery of Affordable Housing by the City Council
	Clay Farm App 1

	9 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 and Response to Council Motion about the Council's use of Contractors
	10 Risk based verification
	11 Cambridge City Council Revenues & Benefits eServices procurement
	12 ICT Facilities Management Contract Re-Tender
	13 Urban Broadband Fund - Phase 2 Grant Application
	14 Annual update from the Love Cambridge Partnership
	15 Update on the CBbid, Business Improvement District Project (BID)
	CBid Report Ap A
	CBid Report Ap B

	16 Large Hall Œ Leaded Window Refurbishment Œ Phase 1
	17 Annual Treasury Management Report 2011/12
	18 2011/12 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant Variances - Strategy
	19 2011/12 Revenue and Capital Outturn, Carry Forwards and Significant Variances - Overview
	20 Local Government Resource Review - Business Rates retention pooling options
	21 North West Cambridge Development - Management Strategy for Open Spaces, Sports and Community Facilities
	North West - Ap

	22 Restorative Justice Progress Report
	Restorative Justice - Ap 1
	Restorative Justice - Ap 2

	23 Appointment to the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel
	Police and Crime Panel - Ap

	24 Code of Best Practice on Consultation and Community Engagement
	Consultation - Ap

	25 Area working - Review of Participation Pilot
	26 Community Right to Challenge under the Localism Act
	Right to Challenge Ap

	27 Community Right to Bid under the Localism Act
	Community Right to Bid - Ap A


